Pakistani women in the labour market: Exploring structure, choice, and constraint

Daisy Payne

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of PhD

The University of Leeds
School of Sociology and Social Policy

September 2017

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his/her own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2017 The University of Leeds and Daisy Payne

Acknowledgements

With thanks to:

The School of Sociology and Social Policy at the University of Leeds, as well as the Economic and Social Research Council for giving me the opportunity to pursue a PhD.

My supervisors past and present: Dr Lisa Buckner, Dr Nick Emmel, and Dr Andrea Wigfield, for encouragement, feedback and support.

My family, who have helped me enormously with pep talks, proof reading, and wine.

Ferg, who has managed to put up with me for the duration of my studies, and provided me with a calming influence, a regular supply of gin and Space Raiders, and has been more patient with me than I have been.

My cats, for their constant presence, and providing a welcome (usually) distraction.

My friends for keeping me entertained and putting up with my moaning. An extra special thanks goes to the Post Grad Study Gang: School of Hard Thinkin' for allowing me space to vent; huge thanks to those of you who proof read bits of my thesis.

And finally, a huge thank you to all of my participants, and those who helped me to recruit them. Without you I would have no research at all, so I will forever be grateful that you gave up your time to talk to me.

Abstract

This research uses a mixed-method approach to build on previous research which has shown Pakistani women have low rates of labour market participation. In doing so, this thesis contributes to the argument that intersectionality is crucial when exploring labour market participation, whilst contributing to a body of research that continues to problematise the gendered nature of labour market participation in the UK. Through the exploration of factors relating to life-stage, education, and skills, this thesis demonstrates a variety of ways Pakistani women might seek to participate in the labour market, and therefore differ in the types of support they need. Although cultural preferences do have an impact, this thesis characterises Pakistani women's labour market participation as heavily constrained by structural factors, shaped by a climate of Islamophobia as well as a labour market that is persistently gendered, and therefore challenges lay conceptions of Muslim women as 'submissive' and 'oppressed'. This thesis makes policy suggestions that aim to support Pakistani women who wish to participate in the labour market, as well as those who are distanced from the labour market, and suggests that future research could consider Pakistani women's experiences in the work place, and could also explore the experiences of a wider range of ethnic groups.

Table of Contents

Paki		women in the labour market: Exploring structure, choice, and straint	i			
Ackı	nowle	edgements	. iii			
Abst	tract.		. iv			
Tabl	e of C	Contents	v			
List	of Tal	bles	. ix			
1	Intro	duction	11			
	1.1	Context: Paid work as a route out of poverty	11			
	1.2	Gender and the labour market	13			
	1.3	South Asian women in the labour market: Intersectionality	14			
	1.4	Geographical context: Pakistani migration to Britain; Leeds and Kirklees	16			
		1.4.1 Pakistani migration to Britain	17			
		1.4.2 Location profiles: Leeds and Kirklees	20			
	1.5	Structure, choice and constraint	23			
	1.6	Research questions	24			
	1.7	Thesis overview	25			
		1.7.1 Methods	26			
		1.7.2 Life-stage, family formation, and domestic labour	27			
		1.7.3 Marriage and gendered behaviours	27			
		1.7.4 Children	28			
		1.7.5 Education, qualifications, and English proficiency	28			
		1.7.6 Skills for the labour market	29			
		1.7.7 Conclusion	29			
	1.8	Conclusion	30			
2	Meth	ethods				
	2.1	Introduction				
	2.2	Applying intersectionality to social research				
	2.3	Mixed methods				
		2.3.1 Using the 2011 Census	36			
		2.3.1.1 The 2011 Census: Standard Releases and Microdata	37			
		2.3.1.2 Working with Census variables	39			

		2.3.1.3 Issues with using Household F a unit of analysis		42
		2.3.2 Qualitative Research Methods		43
		2.3.2.1 Focus groups and semi-struct	ured interviews	44
		2.3.2.2 Sampling		
		2.3.2.3 Semi-structured interviews		48
		2.3.2.4 Sampling, qualitative data collepositionality		49
	2.4	Secondary data analysis		51
	2.5	Qualitative data analysis		51
		2.5.1.1 Qualitative data collection		53
	2.6	Ethical considerations		55
	2.7	Conclusion		58
3	Life	e-stage, family formation, and domestic labo	ur	59
	3.1	Introduction		59
	3.2	The British context: Male breadwinner or adul	t worker model?	60
	3.3	The Pakistani context: Izzat and Purdah		64
		3.3.1 Physical segregation of women from me	en	66
		3.3.2 The covering of women's bodies		67
		3.3.3 Izzat, purdah and the male breadwinner parallels	_	69
	3.4	Marriage		70
		3.4.1 Arranged marriage and choice		71
		3.4.2 Marriage Migration		73
	3.5	Work-care consolidation		75
		3.5.1 Formal and informal childcare		77
		3.5.2 Part-time and flexible working		81
	3.6	Conclusion		83
4	Mar	rriage and gendered behaviours		85
	4.1	Introduction		85
	4.2	Gender, ethnicity, marriage, and the labour m	arket	85
		4.2.1 Marriage and dependent children		92
	4.3	Women in paid employment		95
	4.4	Discrimination and perceptions of Pakistani w market		100
	4.5	Marriage Migration		105
		4.5.1 Female marriage migrants and labour m	narket participation	110

		4.5.2 Male marriage migrants	111
	4.6	Conclusion	114
5	Chil	dren	116
	5.1	Introduction	116
	5.2	Dependent children and labour market participation	118
	5.3	'Preferences', perceptions of motherhood, and the division of domestic labour	125
	5.4	Flexible work	128
	5.5	Formal and Informal Childcare	133
		5.5.1 Childcare costs	134
		5.5.2 Informal childcare and culturally sensitive childcare	137
		5.5.3 Accessibility and awareness of childcare facilities	138
	5.6	Conclusion	140
6	Edu	cation, qualifications, and English proficiency	141
	6.1	Introduction	141
	6.2	Subject choice	142
	6.3	Gender and attainment	146
	6.4	Pakistani women and academic attainment	148
	6.5	Utilising qualifications and over-education	152
		6.5.1 Ethnicity and over-education	154
		6.5.2 Spatial flexibility	156
		6.5.3 Discrimination in the labour market	157
	6.6	Under-qualification	158
	6.7	Language proficiency, economic activity, and migration policy	160
		6.7.1 Accessing language classes	161
	6.8	Conclusion	164
7	Skil	ls for the labour market	166
	7.1	Introduction	166
	7.2	Education and qualification levels	167
		7.2.1 Education, attainment, and 'marriageability'	172
		7.2.2 Perceptions of Pakistani students	179
	7.3	Education as an asset	181
	7.4	Translating qualifications into jobs	183
		7.4.1 University attendance and the under-valuing of post-1992 universities	183
		7.4.2 Discrimination in the labour market	184

	7.5	Migration and academic attainment	185
		7.5.1 Language: ability and ESOL access	188
		7.5.2 Accessing ESOL classes	192
	7.6	Other (employability) skills	194
	7.7	Conclusion	196
8	Cond	clusion	198
	8.1	Introduction	198
	8.2	Key factors affecting labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees	198
		8.2.1 Culture	199
		8.2.2 Marriage	200
		8.2.3 Children and work-care consolidation	201
		8.2.4 Migration	202
		8.2.5 Skills and qualifications	202
		8.2.6 Language proficiency and ESOL access	203
		8.2.7 Discrimination	204
	8.3	Structure and choice	205
	8.4	Policy implications and recommendations	206
	8.5	Contribution	207
	8.6	Limitations and scope for future research	208
Bibli	ograp	bhy	210
App		A Participants recruited: pseudonym, location, data collection and occupation	235
App	endix	B Interview schedules	237
App	endix	C Information sheet	241
App	endix	D Consent form	243
Appe	endix	E Demographic Questionnaire	245

List of Tables

Table 1: Labour market participation rates of women aged 16-64 in England and Wales	16
Table 2: Wards with high Pakistani populations in Leeds	20
Table 3: Wards with high Pakistani populations in Kirklees	21
Table 4: 2011 Census ethnicity categories and re-coded ethnicity categories	
Table 5: Marital status in England and Wales for all ethnic groups according to age group and gender	87
Table 6: Living arrangements according to ethnicity for all adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales	88
Table 7: Economic activity for married and non-married white British and Pakistani adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales	90
Table 8: Economic activity for married and non-married white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 with and without dependent children in England and Wales	93
Table 9: Occupation type for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales	97
Table 10: Economic activity for white British and Pakistani Muslim and non-Muslim men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales 1	102
Table 11: Place of birth and economic activity for men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales1	108
Table 12: Place of birth for white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales1	108
Table 13: Place of birth and economic activity for Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales1	109
Table 14: Occupational categories for Pakistani men aged 16-64 born in England and in the Middle East/Asia1	113
Table 15: Economic activity according to ethnicity, and the presence of dependent children for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales	119
Table 16: Economic activity for white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales with dependent children, according to age	121
Table 17: Women's economic activity according to age and number of dependent children 1	
Table 18: Age and number of dependent children for all white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales	124

Table 19: Part-time working rates for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 with and without dependent children 129
Table 20: Qualification levels and economic activity for all adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales
Table 21: Qualification levels for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales
Table 22: Economic activity according to qualification level for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales
Table 23: Ethnicity and marital status according to age category for all men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales
Table 24: Qualifications and marital status for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales, according to age category
Table 25: Qualification levels for adults aged 16-64 born in the UK and outside the UK
Table 26: Qualifications according to gender, ethnicity, and place of birth for white British and Pakistani women in England and Wales 187
Table 27: Place of birth and English proficiency according to gender and ethnicity for white British and Pakistani men aged 16-64 in England and Wales
Table 28: Economic activity for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales, according to English proficiency
Table 29: Occupation type for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales according to English proficiency

1 Introduction

1.1 Context: Paid work as a route out of poverty

Currently, a great deal of value is placed on paid work as a key route out of poverty (e.g. Kemp et al., 2004; Newman, 2011). In this vein, welfare reforms are commonly based on, and their success measured by, a decrease in worklessness (Department for Work and Pensions, The Rt Hon Stephen Crabb, 2016). More specifically, the former Work and Pensions secretary Stephen Crabb related the decrease in worklessness to 'Universal Credit, the Claimant Commitment and the benefit cap', concluding that:

'There are now nearly half a million fewer children living in households where no one works; where they can see one or both their parents benefitting from the dignity of a job and the value of work is related to both economic security and a reduction in child poverty, the security that a pay cheque brings.' (Department for Work and Pensions, The Rt Hon Stephen Crabb, 2016)

In relation to this, in 2010 the Conservative and Liberal Democrat government pledged to create 'more flexible, family friendly workplaces.' (Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, hereafter BIS, 2010). This indicates that they recognise family commitments as a barrier to labour market participation, and intend to alleviate such constraints. In so doing, they have created a climate in which it is increasingly difficult not to participate in the labour market, since it is evident that the purpose of welfare reforms is to get as many people into employment as possible; indeed in a recent research briefing, Kennedy et al. (2016) reported that the purpose of the benefit cap is to increase incentives to work, as well as incentives to reduce benefit dependency. This is in keeping with a policy shift from the male breadwinner model, which Lewis (2001; 153) describes as: '...based on a set of assumptions about male and female contributions at the household level: men having the primary responsibility to earn and women to care for the young and the old', and in which, therefore, 'female dependence was inscribed.' By contrast, Lewis characterizes the subsequent shift to an adult worker model as a way of dividing household labour '...whereby it is assumed that all adults are in the labour market.' (Lewis, 2001; 154).

As well as being a key focus for the government, ideas about work, worklessness, and welfare claimants are prevalent within mainstream media and public opinion. For example, Baumberg et al. (2012) conducted research on perceptions of benefit claimants in Britain, finding that participants over-estimated instances of false benefits claims and benefit fraud,

and that one aspect of being a 'deserving' benefit claimant was the extent to which people were perceived as taking responsibility for their circumstances. The idea that people should take responsibility for their circumstances understates the role of structural inequalities whilst overstating the extent to which people have the power to choose. Furthermore it creates a context in which further research is essential in order to explore the role of choice in the face of such structural inequalities. Therefore this research in part aims to challenge lay perceptions that everyone has unhindered access to the labour market.

Although a decrease in worklessness is presented by the DWP (2015) as a success story, the reality is more complex. Firstly, it is not necessarily accurate to suggest that participating in paid employment decreases poverty. Many of those in poverty are also employed. For example, when researching experiences of poverty in Bradford (with poverty '...defined as those who have precarious livelihoods or restricted lives'), Athwal et al. (2011; 12) found that:

Although not having paid work was seen as problematic in many cases (and several informants felt or saw pride in working), paid employment was not necessarily always seen as resolving financial difficulties, and may bring with it other kinds of household stresses. These potential stresses included the need to organise appropriate childcare and transport to work.

In short, it is possible to be both in paid employment, and in poverty. Indeed, Collingwood (2012) states that less than half of the people living in poverty do so in workless households.

Secondly, statistics on decreased worklessness are misleading. Wright and Case (2016) argue that job growth is most prevalent in London, whilst in contrast, employment in Yorkshire and the Humber has actually fallen. This geographical variation is one example of how changes to welfare and employment policy do not necessarily serve to lift everyone out of poverty. Indeed, it could be argued that the government's focus on worklessness, and 'making work pay', as well as the aforementioned association between gaining paid employment and dignity, assumes that most people of working age have equal access to the labour market. However, there is much evidence to the contrary: The Office for National Statistics (hereafter ONS, 2013a) reports lower employment rates for women compared to men, while Bell and Casebourne (2008) report higher unemployment rates among ethnic minority groups. This is before taking into account penalties incurred by having children (Joshi, 1998), access to education (McGuiness, 2003), or living in certain areas (Simpson et al., 2009), amongst other factors that might affect access to the labour market. Brah (1993; 151) states that: 'It is crucial, in my view, to conceptualise the labour market as mediated by 'race', class, gender, ethnicity, age, disability, and sexuality', and furthermore that

"...structure, culture and agency are...inextricably linked...". Consequently, labour market participation should be viewed as the outcome of numerous interconnected factors, and the complex process of negotiating between them within the constraints associated with belonging to certain groups.

Having argued that the extent to which labour market participation might draw people out of poverty is overstated, it is evident that employment *is* a key route out of poverty for many people (Kemp et al., 2004). Furthermore, there are other perceived, non-financial, benefits to participating in the labour market. For example, Athwal et al. (2011; 20) found that their participants placed a great deal of value on work, and that this '...contradicts the widespread impression that many people make an active choice to remain on benefits and avoid working'. In particular, participating in paid employment was linked to self-worth, self-esteem, and the opportunity to have a 'life outside the household', as well as financial independence (Athwal et al., 2011). Consequently, this research seeks to explore how and why certain decisions are made regarding labour market participation. Participating in paid work may not be the right choice for everybody, but there are many people who wish to take part in paid work but are not able to do so.

This introductory section has outlined the importance of continued research on labour market participation, given an increased policy focus on encouraging all adults to participate in paid work. Further, it has argued that adults of working age might face numerous constraining factors that complicate and constrain their access to the labour market. Therefore, the next section of this chapter discusses the incorporation of intersectionality theory into labour market research, arguing for approaches that highlight the complexity of experiences. Following this, Section 1.3 outlines the geographical context of this research, which takes place in Leeds and Kirklees, West Yorkshire. Next, the specific research questions to be answered within this thesis are discussed. Finally, the thesis structure is outlined, with a brief synopsis of each chapter.

1.2 Gender and the labour market

In Section 1.1 it was argued that not everyone has equal access to the labour market, and before discussing the specific experiences of Pakistani women in the labour market, and how this research seeks to explore these, it is prudent to outline, briefly, the ways in which the labour market is gendered. As argued by Brah and Shaw (1992; 4), 'The position of Asian women within and outside employment is located within this broader social context in Britain.'

In the 20th Century, women's participation in the labour market has fluctuated, in response to two world wars, as well as changing opinion about the importance of the mother in their children's upbringing. Brah and Shaw (1992; 4) state that, with the growth of certain sectors of industrial work, women's employment declined, and further, '...to have a wife doing paid work outside the home came to constitute a social stigma', with this becoming '...much more generalised a phenomenon across different socio-economic groups.' However, World War I, and World War II even more so, brought about a shortage of male labour that drew women into the labour market out of necessity (e.g. Bakker, 1988; Briar, 1997). Since 1950, women's participation in paid employment has continued to increase, with a slight levelling off in the 1980s (Bakker, 1988). ONS (2017; 7) report that 70.2% of women aged 16-64 are in employment, stating that this is '...the joint highest female employment rate since comparable records began in 1971'.

Nonetheless, women's employment continues to be characteristically different to that of their male counterparts. Women are more likely to work part-time, in less senior roles, for less pay (e.g. ONS, 2013). Grant et al. (2005; 2) found that their participants in Wakefield, West Yorkshire, identified a lack of higher level part-time jobs, and furthermore some women worked 'below potential' '...because of the intensity of work in senior level, full-time jobs and because of the absence of effective work-life balance policies and practices within workplaces.' The nature of women's participation in the labour market may be an indication that women are still expected to take on a 'dual role', combining care giving with paid labour (Briar, 1997). Indeed Briar (1997) argues that the rise in women's labour market participation was not reflective of any policy changes, whilst Daly (2010) argues that policy designed to support women in the labour market remains gendered. This is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3, but an understanding of this context is intrinsic to an understanding of how gender and ethnicity intersect in the labour market, in that it explicates the ways in which women's choices are constrained in the first place, irrespective of other factors.

1.3 South Asian women in the labour market: Intersectionality

The focus of this thesis is Pakistani women in the labour market, and the rationale for this is given in Section 1.4. The purpose of this section is to outline what is meant by intersectionality, what this means when researching labour market participation, and what this means when exploring the experiences of South Asian, and more specifically Pakistani women, in the labour market.

The premise of intersectionality theory is that race, sex, and other social categories, are viewed as inter-connected, rather than separate. Crenshaw (e.g. 1991) is often credited with

bringing intersectionality to the fore, by critiquing the focus on relationships *between* groups at the expense of exploring relationships *within* groups. Consequently, social inequality must be investigated in a 'non-additive' way (Choo and Ferree, 2010), meaning that different social categories are viewed as being interrelated with, rather than superseding, one another. To assume that adults have equal access to, and opportunities within the labour market is to overlook the heterogeneity and diversity of experience.

Indeed, there is a great deal of recent research indicating that the intersection of gender and ethnicity is associated with specific labour market outcomes. For example, much of Angela Dale's work focuses specifically on the experiences of South Asian women in the labour market (e.g. Dale et al., 2002a; Dale et al., 2002b; Dale, 2008; Dale and Ahmed, 2011), and demonstrates that the experiences of these women are distinct from the experiences of women of other ethnic groups. In particular, Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in the UK are commonly found to have the lowest levels of labour market participation compared to women of other ethnicities. Other examples of work specifically exploring labour market participation among South Asian women come from West and Pilgrim (1995), Salway (2007), and Turner and Wigfield (2012), all of which serve to highlight ways in which both gender and ethnicity shape women's experiences of the labour market. Some research discusses intersectionality more explicitly. For example, Bhopal (1998) compared South Asian women to Afro-Caribbean and white women to explore the impact of marriage for different ethnic groups, concluding that marital status has a greater impact on economic activity for Pakistani and Bangladeshi women compared to women of other ethnic groups. Brah (1993) discussed the 'Racialised Gendering of Labour Markets', whilst Browne and Misra (2003) explored existing research on the intersection of race and gender in the labour market, with a particular focus on the US labour market, finding that race and gender intersect 'under certain conditions', and arguing in favour of an intersectional approach to labour market research.

Having reviewed other related research (e.g. Dale, 2005; Botcherby, 2006 Salway 2007; Turner and Wigfield, 2012), it is evident that South Asian, and specifically Bangladeshi and Pakistani women, differ from women of other ethnic groups in their labour market participation in the UK. This is demonstrated in Table 1, which shows labour market participation rates for women belonging to 10 different ethnic groups (some ethnic groups have been grouped together in line with the 2001 Census, this is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 2, Section 2.3.1.2), aged 16-64, living in England and Wales. In Table 1, it is evident that labour market participation differs between ethnic groups. Further, Table 1 shows that Pakistani and Bangladeshi women have the lowest rates of participation in paid employment, along with the highest rates of inactivity due to looking after home or family.

Table 1: Labour market participation rates of women aged 16-64 in England and Wales¹

	White British	White Other	Mixed/multi-ethnicity	Indian	Pakistani	Bangladeshi	Chinese	Other	African	Caribbean
In employment	74.1	78.2	71.4	72.0	40.1	36.3	74.1	64.2	69.8	74.2
Unemployed	3.9	4.9	9.0	5.7	7.9	9.3	5.0	6.3	12.7	9.9
Retired	8.3	3.5	2.2	4.5	2.7	3.7	5.9	3.2	1.4	2.9
Looking after home/family	8.7	10.9	11.7	13.9	42.0	44.6	13.5	22.3	12.4	7.8
Sick or disabled	5.0	2.5	5.7	3.9	7.3	6.0	1.4	4.0	3.7	5.2
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

The findings in Table 1 demonstrate the importance of exploring labour market participation through an intersectional lens that recognises, rather than obscures, diversity of experiences. Within a context that is already gendered, it is evident that both Pakistani and Bangladeshi women engage in the labour market differently to women of other ethnic groups. Given the increasing policy focus on dual-earner households, a focus on those who are not engaged with the labour market serves to highlight a diversity of experiences and the importance of different types of policy interventions and different types of support.

1.4 Geographical context: Pakistani migration to Britain; Leeds and Kirklees

For practical reasons, this research took place in West Yorkshire. Within West Yorkshire, Leeds and Kirklees were chosen since they provide a contrast between a city (Leeds) and a conurbation made up of small towns (Kirklees), while being easily accessible. Having established in Table 1 that both Pakistani and Bangladeshi women are characterised by lower levels of labour market participation, the 2011 Census was consulted in order to ascertain the Pakistani and Bangladeshi populations in both areas. Kirklees has a much higher than average Pakistani population, whilst Leeds has a slightly higher than average Pakistani population (9.6% and 2.9% respectively, compared to 2.0% for England and Wales

_

¹ All tables use data from the 2011 Census Microdata Individual Safeguarded Sample (Local Authority), unless otherwise stated.

as a whole). Conversely, both areas (and Kirklees in particular) have very small Bangladeshi populations, at 0.6% for Leeds, and 0.2% for Kirklees (compared to 0.8% for England and Wales as a whole). In light of the practical issues – resources and access to participants – the decision was taken to focus this research on the experiences of Pakistani women of working age (16-64) living in Leeds and Kirklees. Section 1.4.1 summarises the processes of Pakistani migration to Britain, and then more specifically West Yorkshire, whilst Section 1.4.2 provides demographic profiles of Leeds and Kirklees.

1.4.1 Pakistani migration to Britain

As well as understanding the characteristics of the areas from which research participants were recruited, an understanding of the context in which Pakistanis first began migrating to Britain will facilitate an understanding of divisions of labour amongst Pakistani communities. This section begins with a broad overview of Pakistani migration to England, before focusing more specifically on migration to West Yorkshire.

A key factor in Pakistani migration was the displacement of men who had worked in the allied armies and navies during World War II and subsequently sought work in munitions factories in Britain, as well as participating in other types of war work (Anwar, 1979). News of economic success, as well as the creation of an 'environment of migration' began a process of chain migration, whereby a few pioneer migrants sponsor further migrants, and assist them with housing and jobs (Kalra, 2000; Dahya, 2013). Simultaneously, three key events, or 'push' factors (factors leading to out-migration), led to further displacement of Pakistanis: the partition of India into India and Pakistan, the partition of East and West Pakistan into Pakistan and Bangladesh, and the building of the Mangla Dam (Anwar, 1979; Kalra, 2000; Shaw, 2000; Peach, 2006a). These events, as well as poor job opportunities in certain parts of Pakistan, made migration to Britain an attractive prospect (Dahya, 2013; Kalra, 2000).

While employment prospects in Pakistan were poor, the British textile industry was flourishing, with insufficient indigenous labour to meet production demand (Kalra, 2000), and post-war labour shortages in Britain led employers to recruit from further afield (Fevre, 1984). Simultaneously, more jobs were created in the light industrial and engineering sector, and in some sectors wages increased too, which led many white British men and women to leave the textile industry in favour of more attractive, non-manual work (Fevre, 1984). Furthermore, women were not allowed to work certain shifts, thus creating a gap that needed to be filled (e.g. Fevre, 1984). Consequently many vacancies were created that were eventually filled by South Asian migrant workers (Brah, 1993).

The 1962 Commonwealth Immigrants Act stipulated that those seeking to enter the UK should either:

Have a job to come to; Possess special skills which were in short supply or; Be part of a large undifferentiated group whose numbers would be set according to the labour needs of the United Kingdom economy. (Spencer, 1997; 129).

This led to an increase in immigration from those wishing to move before the Act could place limits on mobility (Spencer, 1997), and meant that

South Asian single male sojourners were faced with the decision of whether to bring their wives to join them or to return to their homeland (with little certainty of being able to regain admission to Britain). (Peach, 2006; 136-137)

This led to more permanent settlement in Britain. While initially many workers planned to return home, this change in immigration law forced economic migrants to choose between staying in Britain and returning to Pakistan, with the risk of losing earnings. The arrival of Pakistani women joining their husbands signified the start of more permanent settlements in Britain (Shaw, 2000).

It has been suggested that, at this time, female migrants joined their husbands with no expectation of participating in the labour market themselves (e.g. Leslie and Lindley, 2000). This should be borne in mind when considering the labour market activity of Pakistani women today, given that many will only be one generation removed from this first group of female migrants.² For example, Leslie and Lindley (2000; 588) link female Pakistani migrants' work expectations to their lower levels of English fluency, arguing that 'women are less fluent than men...because many join their husbands and language ability may not be a crucial factor in their migration decision.' Also of importance is the economic position female migrants would have found themselves in upon relocating. Brah (1993; 445) states that:

In the early phase of post-war migration Pakistani men had arrived predominantly without their female kin. The class position of these men as low wage workers resident in declining inner areas of British cities was to have a crucial effect on the nature and type of employment on offer to Pakistani women as they began to arrive.

Furthermore, the employment of Pakistani men within the manufacturing industry meant that its collapse in the 1980s had a disproportionate effect on migrant workers, particularly given their lower human capital in the form of qualifications and English proficiency (Dale et al.,

² For the purposes of this thesis, first generation refers to women who received their secondary education outside Britain, whilst second generation refers to those who received their secondary education in Britain (Evans and Bowlby, 2000).

2002b). As well as considering women's labour market participation as a function of '...cultural expectations and family and community pressures' (Dale, 2002; 9), the lasting effects of economic migration and precarious employment are likely to have had a sustained impact on many Pakistani families in Britain.

Due to the types of work available, the migration of Pakistanis initially saw them concentrated within certain parts of the UK. There is little research that focuses specifically on migration to Leeds and Kirklees, but a concentration of Pakistanis in West Yorkshire is well documented. For example, Husband and Alam (2011; 2) argue that 'the towns and cities of West Yorkshire have a centuries-old history of in-migration', and that the presence of existing migrant communities meant that West Yorkshire remained an appealing prospect for migrants. Having already stated that many Pakistanis initially came to Britain as economic migrants, it is highly relevant that three quarters of the wool textile industry was located in West Yorkshire (Cohen and Jenner, 1968). Similarly, Fieldhouse and Gould (1998) cite high labour demand as a reason for in-migration to West Yorkshire in the 1950s and 1960s, while Peach (2007; 11) states that 'Pakistanis were drawn to the Manchester and Leeds/Bradford conurbations in the 1950s and 1960s to prop up the failing textile mills.'

Leeds has a rich history of migration, which can be explained by its industrial history, with the textile industry attracting Jewish and Russo-Polish migrants in the 19th Century (Honeyman, 2000). While Pakistanis represent a relatively recent group of migrants, it could be argued that, just as poor work prospects and displacement lead to a culture of outmigration in Pakistan, the existence of already established migrant communities in Leeds, as well as the availability of work, created a culture of in-migration to Leeds. Phillips et al. (2007; 224) state that Pakistani post-war migrants to Leeds moved to the poorer inner city areas, '...shaped by the availability of cheap housing, proximity to work, and the presence of other migrant households.' Further, it has been suggested that close connections in specific parts of a city replicate the structure of Pakistani village communities (Phillips et al., 2007), which may in part explain the persistence of these clusters, as illustrated in Tables 2 and 3. Kirklees also hosted a large number of mills, particularly in Huddersfield, which saw many Pakistanis join the textile industry there (Scott, 1972).

In sum, the availability of textile work in Kirklees and Leeds, as well as the pre-existing migrant population in Leeds, would have made both areas attractive to Pakistani migrants in the second half of the 20th Century. Section 1.4.2 outlines some of the key characteristics of Leeds and Kirklees.

1.4.2 Location profiles: Leeds and Kirklees

Having outlined why this research will be conducted in Leeds and Kirklees, this section will briefly summarise some of the key characteristics of both areas, in particular as they pertain to the nature of their labour markets.

Leeds is a city in West Yorkshire with a population of 774,100. Within this population, 78.8 % are white British, whilst 2.9% are Pakistani. Kirklees is a conurbation in West Yorkshire that consists of small towns and villages; the main town in Kirklees is Huddersfield. The population of Kirklees is 434,300, 74.6% of whom are white British, and 9.6% of whom are Pakistani. There is clustering of the Pakistani populations of Leeds and Kirklees at ward level, as illustrated in Tables 2 and 3, which show the wards in Leeds and Kirklees with the highest Pakistani populations, in comparison to the white British populations in those wards. A Pakistani population of above 6.0% was considered high, given that the average for England and Wales is 2.0%.

Table 2: Wards with high Pakistani populations in Leeds

Ward	All	White British	Pakistani
Chapel Allerton	23,536	51.2	6.9
City and Hunslet	33,705	60.8	6.6
Gipton and Harehills	27,078	35.8	20.9
Moortown	22,792	68.9	6.1
Roundhay	22,546	65.9	9.8

Source: 2011 Census aggregate data, Crown Copyright, 2011

Table 3: Wards with high Pakistani populations in Kirklees

Ward	Total	White British	Pakistani
Batley East	19,189	41.2	15.6
Batley West	19,384	63.0	17.0
Crosland Moor	18,723	55.4	27.0
Dewsbury South	18,793	52.0	20.2
Dewsbury West	20,021	45.2	40.7
Greenhead	19,912	49.6	28.6
Heckmondwike	16,986	74.3	20.4

Source: 2011 Census aggregate data, Crown Copyright, 2011

The majority of the populations of Leeds and Kirklees are of working age; 65.8% and 62.9% respectively are aged 16-64 (ONS Population Estimates, 2015). However, there are variations in economic activity rates. In Leeds, overall economic activity is 77.8%, compared to 74.2% in Kirklees (Annual Population Survey, 2016). This is compared to 76.8% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 77.8% in Great Britain. In both areas there is a gender difference in economic activity. In Leeds, 81.9% of men and 73.9% of women are economically active, whilst in Kirklees, 81.7% of men, compared to 66.7% of women are economically active. There is, therefore, a larger gender gap in economic activity in Kirklees, compared to Leeds, of 15 percentage points, compared to 8.1 percentage points. The gender gap in Kirklees is also 10.1 percentage points higher than the gender gap in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 10.5 percentage points higher than in Great Britain. Overall, women in Leeds are more likely, and women in Kirklees less likely, to be economically active compared to women in Yorkshire and the Humber, and Great Britain.

Economic inactivity in Leeds is 22.2%, compared to 25.8% in Kirklees, 23.2% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 22.2% in Great Britain (Annual Population Survey, 2016). The majority of those who are economically inactive in Leeds are students, at 39.0% (compared to 22.2% in Kirklees), whilst in Kirklees the majority of those who are economically inactive are 'looking after family/home' (31.7% compared to 20.8% in Leeds). Therefore, as well as having differing levels of economic inactivity, those living in Leeds and Kirklees are likely to be economically inactive for different reasons. Of those who are not economically inactive in Leeds, 26.0% want a job, whilst 74.0% do not want a job. In Kirklees, 17.6% of those who

are economically inactive want a job, compared to 82.4% who do not (Annual Population Survey, 2016).

As well as differences in economic activity and inactivity in Leeds and Kirklees, there is also a difference in the occupational levels of those who are economically active. The Annual Population Survey (ONS, 2016) shows that the majority of those in paid employment in both Leeds and Kirklees are concentrated in the higher occupational levels, with 47.2% in Leeds, and 39.6% in Kirklees in managerial and professional occupations. This is compared to 40.6% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 45.1% in Great Britain. 17.3% of those in Leeds and 21.6% of those in Kirklees are employed in administrative and secretarial or skilled trade jobs, compared to 21.1% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 20.9% in Great Britain. Residents of Leeds are more likely than residents of Kirklees to be in caring, leisure, other service, sales and customer service occupations, at 17.7% compared to 15.6% in Kirklees, 17.9% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 16.8% in Great Britain. In contrast, people in Kirklees are more likely than people in Leeds to work in elementary occupations or work as process, plant or machine operatives, at 23.3% compared to 17.9% in Leeds, 20.4% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 17.3% in Great Britain. There is also variation in education and qualification levels in Leeds and Kirklees. 33.0% of those in Leeds, compared to 32.6% of those in Kirklees, have qualifications at NVQ4 (degree level) or above. In both areas this is slightly higher than the average of 30.6% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and lower than the average of 37.1% for Great Britain. People in Kirklees are more likely than people in Leeds to have no qualifications, at 10.5% compared to 8.8% in Leeds, 9.8% in Yorkshire and the Humber, and 8.6% in Great Britain (Annual Population Survey, 2016).

In sum, Leeds and Kirklees differ in terms of population size, Pakistani population size, and economic activity and inactivity. Economic activity is higher in Leeds. There is a gender gap in economic activity in both Leeds and Kirklees, but this is higher in Kirklees. Women in Leeds are more likely, and women in Kirklees less likely, to be in employment compared to women in Yorkshire and the Humber, and Great Britain. Economic inactivity in Leeds and Kirklees is likely to be for different reasons, with those who are economically inactive in Leeds more likely to be students, and those who are economically inactive in Kirklees more likely to be looking after home/family. Economically active people in both Leeds and Kirklees are more likely to be concentrated in the higher occupational levels, but this number is greater in Leeds than in Kirklees. Furthermore, people in Kirklees are more likely to work as process, plant and machine operatives than those in Leeds, Yorkshire and the Humber, or Great Britain. This indicates a variation in the type of labour market, and should be borne in mind when considering participants' experiences in either area. In terms of qualification levels, there is a small difference between those qualified at NVQ4 or above in Leeds and

Kirklees, but it is noteworthy that people in Kirklees are more likely to have no qualifications than people in Leeds, Yorkshire and the Humber, or Great Britain.

1.5 Structure, choice and constraint

So far, this introduction has outlined the necessity of research that explores labour market participation in the UK, through an intersectional lens. Whilst the gendered nature of the labour market is well established, focusing purely on gender overlooks the extent to which this intersects with other factors such as ethnicity in shaping labour market outcomes. Other key concepts when considering labour market participation are those of structure, choice, and constraint. Commonly held perceptions of benefit claimants as not participating in paid employment through choice (e.g. Baumberg et al., 2012), ignore the role of structure in shaping labour market participation. Specifically, Giddens (1984; 24) states that

The most important aspects of structure are rules and resources recursively involved in institutions. Institutions by definition are the more enduring features of social life. In speaking of the structural properties of social systems I mean their institutionalized features, giving 'solidity' across time and space.

Within this, agents are viewed as '...skilled, reflexive and knowledgeable in their interactions and negotiations with other individuals and social structures' (Tomlinson, 2006; 368) whilst 'agency concerns events of which an individual is the perpetrator' (Giddens, 1984; 9). Giddens's emphasis on reflexivity, knowledge, and agency is also inherent in Hakim's (2000) 'preference theory'. This argues that women's labour market participation is an expression of their preferences, and Hakim categorises women into those who prioritise their careers (work-centred), those who prioritise family life (home-centred), and those who combine both whilst prioritising neither (adaptive). Hakim argues that these decisions take place within the context of socio-economic conditions that afford women greater choice over their life-styles, such as the contraceptive revolution, and the increase in white-collar, and part-time, work.

Tomlinson (2006) critiques both Hakim and Giddens (1984) on the grounds that they both fail to consider the amount of information available to women when making decisions about their participation in the labour market. Further, she argues that, while Giddens (1984) views structure as simultaneously constraining and enabling, he fails to consider the circumstances under which structures are more, or less, constraining. Instead, Tomlinson (2006; 368) argues that women make

...decisions with regards to their local contexts, and what they believe to be possible courses of action within their structural settings. It is not the case that individuals are

equally skilled and will always factor in all potential courses of action. Thus, individuals often act within a more restricted framework and rather than acting with full information, act only on what they think their options and choices are.

Expanding upon work by Crompton and Harris (1998), Tomlinson (2006; 380) suggests that:

Constraint is evident in both reactive and compromised choice transitions and outcomes lead to dilemmas and trade-offs in attempts to reconciling work and family life. Reactive and compromised choice transitions demonstrate that women differ in their capacity to overcome constraints and make preferential choices in the labour market. The different transitions also highlight the significance of care networks, work status and the welfare policy context in shaping women's abilities to carry out preferences....

Similarly, Crompton and Harris (1998; 121) argue that although women *can* choose, their choices are constrained, and that this '…lies at the root of sociological explanations of behaviour.' Indeed, Crompton and Harris (1998; 131) also criticise Hakim for under-stating the role of structure and providing voluntaristic explanations of behaviour. They state that:

We have seen that whilst women do indeed make choices, these choices are not necessarily between the alternatives of home-centredness and career-centredness. Some women want both - that is, their work orientations are not single-stranded - and they choose accordingly.

Tomlinson (2006) and Crompton and Harris (1998) are clear that women differ from men in the extent to which they are able to make choices, and the extent to which these choices are constrained. However, within this, it is likely that different women have different access to information, different support networks, and must contend with differing forms of structural inequality. Pakistani women have access to a labour market that is gendered (Brah, 1993) but the nature of constraints they experience is likely to differ, and their engagement with the labour market is therefore an outcome of their status both as women operating within a structure that is already gendered, and as Pakistani women. This thesis therefore seeks, through the lens of intersectionality, to explore the ways in which Pakistani women's labour market participation is constrained.

1.6 Research questions

So far, this chapter has outlined the rationale for continued labour market research, given increased pressures to participate in the labour market despite the fact that not everyone has equal access to it. Further, it has highlighted the importance of intersectionality and the

contribution that this can make to such research, in recognising heterogeneity, diversity, and complexity of experiences. Given the rationale, discussed in Section 1.4, for conducting this research in Leeds and Kirklees, this research considers the following questions:

- What are the key factors affecting labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees?
- What is the influence of structure on labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees?
 - To what extent are Pakistani women able to exercise choice within the labour market?
- What are the policy implications of these findings for local, regional, and national policy makers?

In aiming to explore 'the key factors affecting labour market participation', this research will draw, loosely, on distinctions made between 'life-stage' and 'human capital' factors, as per Salway (2007) who suggests that:

In seeking explanations for the low levels of participation by Bangladeshi and Pakistani women, particular attention has been given to two sets of factors: firstly the influence of life-stage factors relating to marriage and childbearing; and secondly, the relatively poor human capital possessed by these groups. (Salway 2007; 826)

Consequently, Pakistani women's experiences of the labour market can be viewed as diverging in relation to these two sets of factors (Salway, 2007), where 'poor human capital' is taken to reflect skills pertaining to labour market participation, such as educational attainment, participation in non-compulsory education, and language proficiency. Although these factors are inter-related, they are utilised as a means of structuring this thesis. Having outlined the rationale for the proposed research questions, Section 1.7 provides an overview of this thesis.

1.7 Thesis overview

This section outlines the structure of this thesis, providing summaries of what will be covered in each chapter. Each chapter is now introduced in relation to the content it will cover. Although placing the Methods chapter second is perhaps unconventional, it makes sense since this thesis contains two literature based chapters, from which the related analysis chapters follow directly.

1.7.1 Methods

As previously highlighted in this chapter, the idea that gender and ethnicity intersect, and influence specific labour market outcomes (e.g. Crenshaw, 1991; Browne and Misra, 2003), is central to this research. As such, this chapter discusses debates surrounding intersectionality, specifically in terms of the practicalities of applying this approach to social research. Such debate particularly focuses on the formulation of social categories and what this means in terms of research methods. Therefore this section details decisions regarding the relevant categories in this research and their conceptualisation, drawing on the work of McCall (2005), Hancock (2007) and Walby et al. (2012). Specifically, it argues in favour of what McCall (2005) terms 'intercategorical complexity' whereby pre-existing groups (in this case white British men and women, and Pakistani men and women) are used to measure between-group inequality. Additionally, by placing Pakistani women at the forefront of this research, the approach taken is also 'group centred' (Choo and Feree, 2010).

In order to explore the labour market participation of Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees, this research used a mixed method approach, drawing on quantitative data from the 2011 Census, as well as data collected through interviews and focus groups conducted with Pakistani women in both areas, and interviews with two ESOL teachers. Therefore, this chapter also puts forward a case for using mixed methods. In this research specifically, the theoretical issues associated with using mixed methods are twofold. Firstly, a commonly held critique of mixed methods is the blending of two conflicting ontological and epistemological perspectives (e.g. Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004). Secondly, the appropriateness of quantitative methods to conduct research focusing on women is a contentious issue (e.g. Oakley, 1998; Westmarland, 2001). Given the strength of quantitative research in informing policy decisions (e.g. Jayaratne, 1999), it is argued in this chapter that the strengths outweigh the ontological issues. Also, using qualitative methods in addition to quantitative methods means that a critical approach can be taken to the data obtained from the Census, adding complexity to a picture that risks being overly simplistic (e.g. Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004), despite the fact that intersectional research should instead embrace complexity.

In addition to dealing with the theoretical aspects of the methodological approach adopted, this chapter considers more practical issues. In terms of the use of 2011 Census data, this chapter argues that using microdata (which is defined in Chapter 2) is appropriate since it facilitates more control over the data analysis, whilst being a large enough data sample to look at an ethnic minority group. Further practical issues relate to the collection of qualitative data, through the use of interviews and focus groups, and these are discussed with specific

consideration of research positionality and how this is likely to have affected the data collection and recruitment processes. Finally, this chapter will outline the ethical implications of this research.

1.7.2 Life-stage, family formation, and domestic labour

Chapter 3 explores literature that focuses on life-stage factors, specifically in terms of their role in shaping Pakistani women's labour market participation. It begins with a broader discussion of women's participation in paid and unpaid work, and how this is shaped by ideas about gender. In particular, this chapter draws on literature that critically explores the prevalence of the male breadwinner model and the adult-worker model (e.g. Lewis, 2001; Daly, 2011). This chapter explores Pakistani, and more specifically Pakistani Muslim, cultural preferences, specifically focusing on what is meant by izzat and purdah and how they might shape the experiences of Pakistani women. Central to this is the idea that women are responsible for family honour (izzat), and are protected by adhering to purdah, which translates to 'curtain' and seeks to maintain female modesty (Papanek, 1971); women's behaviour serves to maintain a family's izzat (e.g. Papanek, 1973). Linked to this are ideas about the segregation of men from women, as well as an emphasis on marriage and the impact that might have on women's behaviour leading up to it. Further, parallels are drawn, in this chapter, between *izzat* and the male breadwinner model, of which Lalani et al. (2014) argue that a preference for the male breadwinner model is likely to be reinforced by other aspects of belonging to a migrant community.

Next, this chapter considers marriage, exploring the extent to which, for Pakistani women, marriage affects labour market participation in-and-of-itself. This chapter outlines the role of marriage within Pakistani culture, as well as the particularities of marriage that are more strongly associated with the experiences of Pakistani women than other women, such as arranged marriage and the process of marriage migration. Finally, this chapter will outline literature that explores how women, and how Pakistani women in particular, seek to consolidate work and care. This discussion focuses specifically on the use of formal and informal childcare, and the availability of flexible and part-time working arrangements. More specifically it considers the utility of such arrangements, how accessible they are, and who uses them.

1.7.3 Marriage and gendered behaviours

Chapter 4 is the first of two analysis chapters exploring issues related to the life-stage factors outlined in Chapter 3, which presented marriage as a key issue in understanding labour market participation for Pakistani women, and as an issue that affects their experiences irrespective of childcare responsibilities.

The relationship between domestic partnerships and labour market participation is not something that is exclusive to Pakistani women. In Hakim's (e.g. 2006) 'preference theory', home-centred women are postulated as being those who give up paid work after marriage. Nonetheless, this chapter demonstrates that marriage has a greater affect on labour market participation for Pakistani women than for their white British counterparts, and therefore explores some of the reasons for this, drawing on data from the 2011 Census, as well as qualitative data from Pakistani women living in Leeds and Kirklees.

1.7.4 Children

Chapter 5 explores the relationship between motherhood and labour market participation, exploring prior research that has found that the presence of dependent children has a greater effect on women than on men (e.g. McRae, 2003; Hardill and Watson, 2004). Not only do dependent children make women less likely to work in general, but they affect the types of work women participate in (ONS, 2013). This chapter demonstrates that the affect of dependent children on labour market participation is greater for Pakistani women than it is for white British women.

Following this, this chapter explores how motherhood affects labour market participation for Pakistani women, and whether they differ from other women in terms of the ways they seek to consolidate work and childcare. In doing so, this chapter returns once more to Hakim's (2006) preference theory, and considers perceptions of motherhood. Finally, this chapter explores how Pakistani women use flexible working, and informal and formal childcare, to enable themselves to participate in the labour market.

1.7.5 Education, qualifications, and English proficiency

Chapter 6 explores the relationships between education, qualifications, language proficiency, and labour market participation. Formal education serves as a key route into the labour market in the UK, and ONS (2013b) report greater employment levels and higher earnings amongst graduates in comparison to non-graduates. Initially, this chapter focuses on gender more broadly. It begins with a consideration of subject choice, which, according to Thomas (1990) shapes and is shaped by expectations of how women will participate in the labour market. Following this, it explores the complex relationship between gender and academic attainment. Having established that education is gendered, and also suggested that the relationship between education and academic attainment, and labour market participation, is gendered, this chapter then considers academic attainment for Pakistani women specifically.

Following this, discussion turns to how Pakistani women utilise their qualifications, focusing on over-education, spatial flexibility, and discrimination in the labour market, all of which are

argued to constrain the abilities of Pakistani women to capitalise on their qualifications. Although this chapter argues that under-education is a less prevalent issue, this is also considered particularly in relation to first generation migrants who may arrive in the UK with no qualifications beyond compulsory level. Finally, language proficiency is identified as another key issue affecting access to the labour market for Pakistani women. This is firstly considered in relation to migration, and secondly to potential issues with accessing ESOL (English for Speakers of Other Languages) classes.

1.7.6 Skills for the labour market

Chapter 7 explores the themes addressed in Chapter 6, beginning with education and qualifications. This initial analysis ties experiences of education to the themes outlined in the earlier chapters, in considering the link between educational attainment and 'marriageability' (e.g. Shaw, 2000), as well as how common understandings and misconceptions of Pakistani women affect and shape experiences throughout the education process, and the extent to which education is, in fact, often viewed as an asset. This chapter highlights the extent to which participation in non-compulsory education, in particular, is complex for Pakistani women. Related to this, is the complexity surrounding translating qualifications into jobs which, this section argues, is constrained by both the nature of university attendance, and discrimination in the labour market.

The next section of this chapter considers issues that might have a greater affect on first-generation migrants; academic attainment, language proficiency, and accessing ESOL classes. The final section departs from formal qualifications and language proficiency, in considering how women might benefit from the opportunity to develop other types of skills. This was identified by the participants and is in line with prior research by Turner and Wigfield (2012).

1.7.7 Conclusion

The concluding chapter offers a synthesis of the findings of this research, and outlines how the key findings answer the research questions that were introduced in Section 1.6. It reiterates the key issues affecting the labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees, explores the roles of choice and constraint, and, based on the findings of this research it offers a series of policy suggestions. Finally, this chapter revisits some of the limitations of this research, and offers scope for future research.

1.8 Conclusion

This introductory chapter has outlined the rationale and need for research that considers the intersection of gender and ethnicity, and what this means for Pakistani women's participation in the labour market in the UK. It has argued that, although work does not always pay, it is valuable as a route out of poverty, and can be enjoyed for non-financial reasons, too. It has outlined the ways in which, despite increases in women's labour market participation, the labour market remains gendered and the nature of women's participation differs to men's. Within this context, it has also outlined the ways in which South Asian, and more specifically Pakistani women participate in the labour market differently to women of other ethnic groups. Having established that this research will focus on the labour market participation of Pakistani women, this chapter has also considered the geographical context: it has outlined the reasons for and timing of Pakistani migration to Britain, and then provided profiles of Leeds and Kirklees, the two areas in West Yorkshire from which participants were recruited. This chapter has argued that Pakistani women's labour market participation should be considered in terms of structure, choice, and constraint, and the research questions are formulated as such. Finally, an overview was provided of the remaining chapters of this thesis.

Chapter 2 outlines the methods that were used in this research, beginning with a consideration of the theoretical issues surrounding intersectionality and mixed methods in social research, before detailing the practical aspects of conducting this study.

2 Methods

2.1 Introduction

The previous chapter introduced the rationale for and focus of this research, which explores labour market participation among Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees, with specific reference to intersectionality, structure, choice, and constraint. The research questions centre on exploring the key factors affecting Pakistani women's labour market participation, the influence of structure (which is defined in Section 1.5), the extent to which Pakistani women *choose* how they participate in the labour market, and the policy implications of the findings of this research.

This chapter outlines the methods that were employed to answer the research questions. It begins with a discussion of the application of intersectionality to social research. Following this, key debates surrounding the use of mixed methods in social research are discussed, and, drawing on Mason's (2006) identification of six approaches to mixing qualitative and quantitative research methods, the use of a mixed method approach in this research is justified.

Having identified how an understanding of intersectionality will be applied to this research, and having justified the use of a mixed method approach, Section 2.4 focuses on secondary analysis of Census data, with specific reference to several key issues: a critique of secondary data analysis; justification of using the Census over other, similar datasets; and issues with the use of Census variables.

Section 2.3.2.2 discusses firstly the sampling approach used for the Census, as well as the exclusion of certain cases from the dataset for the purposes of this research, and secondly the sampling strategy used for obtaining focus group participants, and issues therein, which led to some changes in the data collection process. Related to this, Section 2.3.2.4 provides a discussion of the positionality of the researcher, and the use of gatekeepers to recruit participants.

The penultimate section outlines the data analysis process, firstly focusing on the quantitative analysis and secondly the qualitative analysis. The final section considers the ethical issues that arose in this research, and the steps that were taken to mitigate against these issues, as well as a consideration of how such issues might have affected the outcomes of this research.

2.2 Applying intersectionality to social research

As discussed in Chapter 1, central to this research is the argument that gender and ethnicity intersect, and that this shapes the ways in which people participate in the labour market (Browne and Misra, 2003). Intersectionality theory takes a distinctive stance, whereby race and sex (along with other social categories, such as class) are viewed as being interconnected, rather than separate; social inequality is investigated, therefore, in a 'nonadditive' way (Choo and Ferree, 2010). This means that different social categories are viewed as being interrelated to, rather than superseding, one another. As such, research that focuses on the experiences of women in the labour market cannot be applied to the experiences of all women. The treatment of social categories within intersectionality theory necessitates some consideration of how such categories were conceived of and treated in this research, since although its popularity within the social sciences is increasing, "...intersectionality as a research paradigm has yet to gain a wide foothold in political science' (Hancock, 2007; 63). Subsequently, there has been much debate regarding how it can be applied methodologically to studies of inequality (e.g. McCall, 2005; Walby, 2009; Choo and Ferree, 2010). The purpose of this section is to consider different approaches to the methodological application of intersectionality, and to outline how intersectionality will inform the methods used in the research.

Discussion of the methodological applications of intersectionality has largely focussed on the treatment of different categories and the implications of this for social research. McCall (2005) differentiates between anticategorical, intracategorical, and intercategorical complexity, which each have different implications for research in terms of the conceptualisation of categories and the relationships between them. Anticategorical complexity views social life as too complex to be viewed as categorical, and deconstructs analytical categories (rejecting categorisation altogether). Intercategorical complexity (which is the approach advocated by McCall) involves the adaptation of existing categories to examine the nature of inequality in social groups, thus comparing the experiences of different groups. Finally, intracategorical complexity focuses on groups at the points of intersection (looking at experiences within a category). McCall also argues that not all research can be classified as belonging firmly to one of these approaches, and may instead cross-cut them.

Choo and Ferree (2010) also suggest three routes through which intersectionality might be applied to social research. The *group centred* route places marginalised groups at the forefront of the research; the *process centred* route is concerned with the intersections, and how these reveal the structural processes that organise power; and the *system centred*

approach is concerned with interactions between groups, rather than main effects. Like McCall (2005), Choo and Ferree (2010) suggest that each approach will have different implications for the way the research is conducted.

McBride et al. (2014; 1) argue that, within the field of work and employment relations '...the intersectional approach contains an important caution against over-generalization that has been obscured', and that research benefits simply from an understanding of intersectionality, at the stages of both design and interpretation. In discussing McCall's (2005) proposition of the different ways in which research might be intersectional, McBride et al. (2014; 5) argue that researchers of work and employment relations are reminded:

...that individuals within an intersectional space (i.e. of two overlapping categories) may be experiencing something significantly different to those occupying one of the categories.

McBride et al. (2014) appear to advocate a slightly softer approach than Choo and Ferree (2010) or McCall (2005), whereby they call for researchers to be 'intersectionally sensitive' at each stage of their research, so as not to obscure the experiences of those 'within an intersectional space.'

In this research, therefore, Pakistani women are perceived as occupying an 'intersectional space', whereby both their ethnicity and their gender are central to their experiences of the labour market. By focusing on the experiences of those within a category, this research could best be described as utilising McCall's (2005) 'intracategorical' approach, or Choo and Ferree's (2010) 'group centred' approach. McBride et al. (2014; 7) caution against essentialism when using the intracategorical approach; specifically, they highlight the risk of taking insights '...as representative of all workers who might fall within the same intersectional categories.' However it was hoped that the methods used in this research would highlight the diversity of experiences, by drawing the focus away from 'typical' experiences of Pakistani women, and towards other forms of structural inequality.

2.3 Mixed methods

Mixed methods research is '...a synthesis that includes ideas from quantitative and qualitative research' (Johnson et al., 2007; 113). This research used a mixed methods approach, combining analysis of quantitative data from the 2011 Census with analysis of primary qualitative data collected from focus groups and semi-structured interviews with Pakistani women of working age, as well as two ESOL teachers, in Leeds and Kirklees. This

section considers the theoretical issues associated with the use of mixed methods, and justifies why such an approach was selected for this project.

Perhaps the most common critique of the use of mixed methods is that quantitative and qualitative research methods are associated with conflicting epistemological and ontological stances (e.g. Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004). Quantitative research has traditionally been associated with positivism, whereby observations about the social world are treated in a more scientific manner, with a focus on objectivity, reliability, and validity (Johnson and Onwuebuzie, 2004). By contrast, qualitative research rejects positivism in favour of constructivism, whereby '...knower and known cannot be separated because the subjective knower is the only source of reality' (Johnson and Onwuebuzie, 2004; 14). Whilst quantitative research, in valuing objectivity, maintains a separation between the 'knower and the known', this is not deemed possible within qualitative research, which instead recognises and accepts subjectivity (e.g. Guba and Lincoln, 1994). Therefore, positivism and constructivism, and in turn quantitative and qualitative research methods, are associated with conflicting ways of viewing the social world, and conflicting views of the nature of social reality.

However, it has also been argued that these different approaches need not contradict one-another. Kelle (2001) argues that specific methods of research do not have to be associated with specific epistemological assumptions, while Irwin (2011) suggests that the use of mixed methods depends on specific research questions, and how well they link theory and data. Hammersley (1992; 51) suggests that '...there can be multiple, non-contradictory and valid descriptions and explanations of the same phenomenon.' Indeed, Johnson et al. (2007; 129) suggest that mixed methods research '...offers a powerful third paradigm choice that often will provide the most informative, complete, balanced, and useful research results', and further, that:

This type of research should be used when the nexus of contingencies in a situation, in relation to one's research question(s), suggests that mixed methods research is likely to provide superior research findings and outcomes.

For this research, the use of mixed methods was deemed appropriate for the research questions, in particular given that this research seeks to ultimately make policy suggestions: here, the use of some quantitative data is deemed invaluable (e.g. Johnson and Onwuebuzie; Jayaratne, 1999). As such, the decision to use mixed methods in this research was a pragmatic one, whereby methodological decisions were made unconstrained by an adherence to specific paradigms (e.g. Feilzer, 2009).

Aside from the debates surrounding the mixing of qualitative and quantitative methods in terms of conflicting ontological and epistemological standpoints, the use of quantitative methods in this research is contentious for other reasons. Firstly, the association between quantitative research methods and positivism presents a conflict with feminist epistemologies and ontologies (e.g. Westmarland, 2001), having been criticised for 'ignoring' women (Oakley, 1998), or 'adding women to male knowledge' (Westmarland, 2001; 2). Further, the grounding of quantitative methods within theory that has historically privileged white men, as highlighted by Oakley (1998) and Westmarland (2001) is viewed as potentially contentious within this research, which seeks to explore the experiences of Pakistani women.

Nonetheless, Hancock (2007) argues that the conflicting ontological assumptions underlying feminist theory do not mean that the use of rich data sets (such as the Census) should be abandoned, whilst Oakley (2004; 107) argues that 'what matters most is the fit between research question and research method.' Furthermore, due to its appeal to policy makers, some view the use of quantitative methods as invaluable in feminist research (Jayaratne, 1999). The use of mixed methods in this research in part mitigated against the issues associated with using purely quantitative research to study women, with the qualitative data invaluable in highlighting the complexity of the issues studied (the strengths of qualitative research are discussed in greater detail in Section 2.3.2). Additionally, the use of quantitative analysis of Census data is used to strengthen its appeal outside of academia, as suggested by Jayaratne (1999).

In combining qualitative and quantitative methods, Mason (2006) suggests six strategies that are commonly used. The first uses what she terms 'rhetorical logic' (Mason, 2006; 2), combining two methods to obtain a 'fuller picture', and is often used by those who tend towards either a qualitative or quantitative orientation. The second approach uses 'parallel logic', whereby different research methods are suited to different parts of the study; indeed Mason (2006; 5) suggests that within this approach, each different element of the research might be treated as its own 'mini-study.' The third approach uses 'integrative logic' (Mason, 2006; 6), whereby different methods are suited to different elements of the research, and contribute to the full 'picture'. The fourth approach suggested by Mason (2006; 8) uses 'corroborative logic', where '...different forms of data are used to corroborate what they are measuring'. The fifth approach uses a 'multi-dimensional logic' (Mason, 2006; 9) where different methods are used for different questions and there is a dialogue between them, so that explanations of a research problem are based on multiple ways of seeing them. The sixth and final approach is to mix methods 'opportunistically' and with 'no intrinsic logic', whereby different methods are combined accidentally (Mason, 2006; 11).

This research adopted Mason's (2006) 'integrative logic', whereby different research methods were viewed as best suited to different parts of the research, and contributed to a fuller picture of the overall research problem. In exploring the experiences of Pakistani women in the labour market, it was deemed necessary to use Census data in order to ascertain overall patterns of labour market participation, particularly given the appeal to policy makers of using official statistics (e.g. Jayaratne, 1999). However such data does not explain people's motivations or reasoning behind their actions, it shows 'what' happens but not why. Furthermore, although some motivations for particular decisions vis a vis the labour market could be analysed quantitatively with the aid of prior literature, such data fails to show any complexity in decision making processes, nor does it illustrate how choices and decisions are constrained. Finally, since this research drew on intersectionality, it was deemed essential to place Pakistani women at the forefront of the research (e.g. Choo and Ferree, 2010), and this was achieved by speaking to them about their experiences. Therefore the decision to combine qualitative and quantitative methods partially stemmed from the theoretical underpinnings of this research, being grounded in intersectionality. Having outlined the issues inherent in using mixed methods research, justified its use for this project, and stated how the methods will be mixed, Section 2.3.1 describes the quantitative data that was used for this research.

2.3.1 Using the 2011 Census

Smith (2008; 331) views the use of official data as integral to enabling social scientists to describe the world around them, arguing that:

Without the official data we cannot produce the national picture to put alongside these localised reports – and, if there are injustices, to enable social scientists to challenge policy and demand equity.

In this research, the analysis of data from the 2011 Census was perceived as providing valuable context to the qualitative data that was collected, consistent with Smith's (2008; 331) argument that official data enables researchers to '...produce the national picture to put alongside...localised reports'. Therefore, exploratory analysis using the Safeguarded Microdata (discussed in Section 2.3.1.1) was used to provide an overview of the key issues affecting Pakistani women's labour market participation, whilst a qualitative approach was deemed better suited to exploring choice and constraint, as well as considering potential policy interventions. This is in line with Mason's (2006) 'Integrative logic', which was discussed in Section 2.3.

Because secondary data analysis involves the analysis of data collected by someone else, and for a different purpose, a common critique levelled at secondary data analysis is the lack

of control it affords the researcher. Since it involves using data that was not collected with the specific research project in mind, those working with secondary data must work with the questions that have already been asked (e.g. Vartanian, 2010). This necessitates flexibility on the researcher's part, including exploration of the data set prior to developing research questions. This lack of control was most evident when it came to deciding which variables to use, and how they ought to be re-coded, which is discussed in Sections 2.3.1.2 and 2.3.1.3. Nonetheless, using the Individual Safeguarded Microdata, as outlined in Section 2.3.1.1, did provide some degree of flexibility. Furthermore, the use of mixed methods meant that the qualitative data was collected for the specific purpose of this research; a combination of both sources of data meant that the questions could be answered. Having justified the use of secondary data analysis for this research, Sections 2.3.1.1 to 2.3.1.3 describe the specific dataset that was used, how the dataset was prepared, and key analysis decisions that were made based on the dataset used.

2.3.1.1 The 2011 Census: Standard Releases and Microdata

This research used data from the 2011 Census – both the standard releases and the Individual Safeguarded Microdata, which is a 5% sample of all Census returns at local authority level (UK Data Service, 2014). The Census is collected every 10 years, therefore at the time of writing the most recent Census was collected in 2011, and this should be borne in mind when considering the data analysis. It is also recognised here that other datasets could have been used instead, and as such this section begins by considering (and rejecting) these alternatives, before describing in more detail the specific Census products that were used for this research.

Since the Annual Population Survey is collected annually, and the Labour Force Survey is collected quarterly, both could have been used in this research and would have provided more up-to-date data, whilst containing variables relevant to the project. However, neither dataset was available at local authority level, and, although no notable differences were found within the different local authorities, initially the Census, and in particular the Individual Safeguarded Microdata, were selected because they provided that level of detail. Aside from this, the Census is based on a population count of 56,075,912, therefore the sample size for the Individual Safeguarded Microdata is 2,803,796 compared to 320,000 for the Annual Population Survey, and 40,000 households or 100,000 individuals per quarter for the Labour Force Survey. Therefore the Census was also selected on the basis of its considerably bigger sample size.

The purpose of the Census is to provide an overall picture of the UK population (ONS, 2017). It aims to collect data from the entire population, asking core questions so that data

can be compared nationally (ONS, 2017). Since some cases are missed, the counts are adjusted to take this into account. The standard releases consist of four table types: Key Statistics cover the full range of Census topics at output area level (where the minimum size is 40 households or 100 people); Quick Statistics provide 'the most detailed information available from the Census about a single topic', also at output area level; Detailed Characteristics are cross-tabulations of two or more topics for middle layer super output areas (where the minimum size is 2,000 households or 5,000 people); Local Characteristics provide the most detailed results for all output areas, and contain two or more variables. In sum, the data that is readily available using the whole Census comes from these four different table types, which contain differing amounts of detail.

Whilst the standard Census releases consist of tables, the microdata provide an alternative source where data is available at individual level and can be used in researchers' own analyses (UK Data Service, 2016). Not all cases are available, and the number of topics is limited. There are several different 'microdata products' that balance sample size and detail of the available data, with access to the larger files less restrictive than for the smaller files.

The Individual Safeguarded Microdata, which was used for this research, is a random sample of 5% of all Census returns (ONS, 2017), and must be accessed through the UK Data Service. This dataset includes variables on the full range of Census topics, and they could be used for more complex data analyses than the aggregate Census data (Li, 2004). Unlike the aggregate data, the Individual Safeguarded Microdata consists of a dataset that can be downloaded to a statistical programme (SPSS in this case) and analysed in detail by the researcher.

Data analysis took the form of cross-tabulations to illustrate key themes and patterns pertaining to Pakistani women's participation in the labour market, and the themes that were analysed in this way were drawn from reviews of prior literature, as well as from the qualitative data that was generated (discussed in Sections 2.3.2 and 2.5). Cross-tabulations are a technique commonly used in exploratory data analysis, of which Seltman (2012; 61) states that '...loosely speaking, any method of looking at data that does not include formal statistical modelling and inference falls under the term exploratory data analysis.' Further, Seltman (2012; 61) states that exploratory data analysis can be used for 'determining relationships among the explanatory variables.' In sum, therefore, the Census data was explored using cross-tabulations to assess relationships between variables that were selected on the basis of prior research, and the primary qualitative data. Having outlined the reasoning behind choosing this dataset, as well as how the data was analysed, section 2.3.1.2 describes how the dataset was prepared for analysis.

2.3.1.2 Working with Census variables

As previously stated, an issue when analysing secondary data is that the researcher is confined to the variables that already exist in the dataset. However, using the Individual Safeguarded Microdata allows for some manipulation of the variables to better tailor them to the research being undertaken. Even so, some decisions must be made about how to use the pre-existing variables, and whether any changes need to be made to them. This section will discuss issues with using Census variables, and how the data was prepared to best suit this research.

Firstly, it is important to consider how ethnicity is operationalised in the Census, since it has been argued that the Census definition of ethnicity is limited (Iqbal et al., 2009). It has also been argued that measures of ethnicity should simultaneously be consistent, and take into account people's own perceptions of their ethnic identities (Burton et al., 2008). Therefore, the use of the ethnic categories provided by the Census should be approached with caution, since they potentially over-simplify ethnic identity.

However, the ethnicity classifications in the Census are the result of a wide ranging consultation process (ONS, 2007). Furthermore, it was anticipated that, in this research, other aspects of ethnic identity, such as religion, would be important discussion points in the focus groups, based on previous research (e.g. Brah, 1993; Khattab, 2012); thus using a mixed methods approach would help to take account of the complexity of ethnic identity by giving participants the opportunity to discuss it. Additionally, due to its influence on social policy (Killick et al., 2015), there are benefits to using the Census to research ethnicity.

Another issue regarding the ethnicity question in the Census is the change in ethnicity categories over time, which can make it difficult to compare ethnicity data from different years. This means that researchers using the Census to study ethnicity need to make decisions about how many categories are used. Between the 1991 and 2001 Censuses there was an increase from 9 to 18 ethnicity categories. The ESRC Centre on Dynamics of Ethnicity (hereafter, CoDE; 2014a) suggests that for those wishing to compare 1991-2001-2011 Census data, a 9 category comparison is sufficient, because these categories are stable across all three censuses. This research used the 2011 data, so an argument could have been made in favour of using a greater number of ethnicity categories. However, since this research focused on Pakistani women, the ethnicity categories provided in the 2011 Census were reduced to 10, to simplify the analysis. Unlike the categorisations suggested by CoDE (2014a), this separates the 'white British' from 'white other' categories; the quantitative analysis in this research compares Pakistani men and women of working age to their white British counterparts; including 'white other' in this category would obscure the

experiences of those who are white but not British. Table 4 shows the ethnicity categories in the 2011 Census, alongside the re-coded categories that were used for this research.

Table 4: 2011 Census ethnicity categories and re-coded ethnicity categories

Re-coded category	Original ethnicity category
White British White other	White: English/Scottish/Welsh/Northern Irish White Irish White Other
Mixed/multi-ethnic group	Mixed/multi-ethnic group White/Black Caribbean White/Black other Mixed/multi-ethnic group White + Asian/Other mix
Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Chinese Other	Asian/Asian British Indian Asian/Asian British Pakistani Asian/Asian British Bangladeshi Asian/Asian British Chinese Asian/Asian British Other Asian Other ethnic group: Any other ethnic group
African Other Black	Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African Black/African/ Caribbean/Black British: Other Black

Source: 2011 Census; Crown Copyright

Gender is potentially another contentious issue, since it is not the same as sex; the World Health Organisation (2014) associates sex with biological characteristics, and gender with 'socially constructed roles'. In failing to distinguish between gender and sex, when using Census data it is necessary to use sex as a proxy for gender. This is further complicated by the fact that 'sex' has only two possible responses in the Census in England and Wales; male or female. Those who identify as non-gender binary, or who do not identify as the 'sex' they were assigned at birth may have difficulty answering this question, since responding according to the pre-specified answers might not truly reflect their gender (e.g. Mitchell and Howarth, 2009). Some countries have included an additional option for gender to account for this. For example, the Australian Bureau of Statistics (2016) released a 'Standard for Sex and Gender Variables', where they identify sex and gender as distinct concepts, and recommend the use of an 'other' category, with the option for users to further specify their gender in a way they feel comfortable with .

The limitations of Census variables are also part of the reasoning behind the exclusion of social class as a main analytical variable in this research despite the argument that:

...it remains important to...consider the intersection between class, ethnic and gender divisions...in the development of particular forms of political consciousness and action (Anthias and Yuval Davis, 1983; 63).

Using the Census to analyse social class would have meant using either the National Statistics Socio-economic Classification (hereafter NS-SEC; ONS, 2010; Rose and Pevalin, 2005) or Social Grade (ONS, 2010; Lambert and Moy, 2013) variables. The NS-SEC was developed from the Goldthorpe Schema (e.g. Goldthorpe, 1987), which bases social class on occupational status. It measures employment relations and conditions of occupations, and places respondents into one of 8 analytic classes depending on whether they are an employer, self-employed, or an employee; whether they are a supervisor; and the number of employees at their workplace (ONS, 2010). The ONS (2010) states that the unit of analysis for the NS-SEC should be the household rather than the individual, due to the 'interdependence and shared conditions of family members'. Therefore, a classification is assigned to households based on the occupational status of the Household Reference Person (hereafter HRP; ONS, 2010). The use of HRP as a unit of analysis is an important issue that will be discussed in more detail in Section 2.3.1.3.

The concentration of women in certain sectors of employment also brings into question the occupational categories that are used to ascertain class; the Goldthorpe Schema has been criticised due to its focus on male dominated occupations, and relative insensitivity to female dominated occupations (Oesch, 2003). Indeed, Evans (1996) argued that the Goldthorpe Schema is less able to account for variation in women's occupations, compared to men's. Brauns et al. (1997) found that, in Germany, Britain, and France, women were concentrated in only two classes, which Crompton (2008) viewed as demonstrating the inadequacy of the Goldthorpe Schema (and subsequently the NS-SEC) when applied to women. Thus, the very structure of the NS-SEC is difficult to apply to women, indicating that it may not be appropriate in this research.

In response to the application of NS-SEC to a HRP, Dale (1985) suggests occupational status should be considered at an individual level. However, an issue with this is the treatment of people who have been placed in the 'never worked and long-term unemployed' category, since the HRP is not likely to fall into this category. Two issues arise here: 'never worked and long-term unemployed' is not really a 'proper' class category within the NS-SEC, and more generally, occupational status cannot be used as a proxy for class for people who do not have an occupation. Indeed, ONS (2010) suggests excluding this category and

classifying long-term unemployed people according to their last jobs; however the use of secondary data analysis means relinquishing this kind of control over the data, and in any case ONS (2010) agrees that both these groups are hard to define. Another concern with this category is that it conflates never having worked with long-term unemployment, when there is arguably a difference. Furthermore it overlooks reasons for long-term unemployment, a group that contains a large proportion of those with long-term life-limiting illnesses.

An alternative to using the NS-SEC is the Social Grade variable, which is used in marketing and market research and '...differentiates groups of people with regards to some attitudes and behaviours, as well as discriminating well on the types of goods and services consumed' (Lambert and Moy, 2013; 2). Ordinarily, Social Grade is calculated based on a complex set of questions. However,

These questions would be too long to include in the Census questionnaire, and instead a model can be used to assign respondents to a Social Grade category, based on a restricted set of questions common to both the data on which the model is built and the Census (Lambert and Moy, 2013; 2).

Therefore Social Grade is based on: employment status, qualifications, tenure and full or part-time working. As with the NS-SEC, Social Grade is assigned to the HRP. Just as Lambert and Moy (2013) suggest Social Grade can only be based on a limited number of questions, ONS (2013b) argues that is not possible to allocate Social Grade precisely using Census data, and advocates the use of the NS-SEC instead. However, by focussing on employment, the NS-SEC does not account for all the things that class might consist of, such as social and cultural processes (e.g. Bourdieu, 1984; Bourdieu, 1986; Savage et al., 2013).

Therefore, there is no ideal way of identifying class using the Census, particularly where the focus of the research is on women, who, as argued by Dale (1985), and Oesch (2003) are not well represented using the NS-SEC. Because of these issues, the decision was made not to use class as a main analytical variable in this research, despite arguments in favour of incorporating class into intersectional research (e.g. Anthias and Yuval-Davis, 1983).

2.3.1.3 Issues with using Household Reference Person as a unit of analysis

Some of the key variables that were used in this analysis could be analysed using either the HRP, or the respondent as a unit of analysis. For the 2011 Census, the status of HRP applies to lone occupants, but if the household is occupied by a family, the HRP is the same as the Family Reference Person (hereafter FRP). Families with no generational divide do not have a FRP; each member is treated as a lone occupant. In households occupied by

more than one family, the HRP is selected from among the different FRPs using the criteria that are used to select a FRP. Selection of HRPs and FRPs is based on economic activity, so that those who are employed full-time are prioritised over those who are in part-time employment, followed by those who are economically active but unemployed, and then those who are economically inactive (ONS, 2014).

The choice between HRP and respondent as a unit of analysis presents a challenge given that HRP status is assigned on the basis of economic activity, which means that those who are employed full-time are prioritised over those who work part-time, who, in turn, are prioritised over those who are unemployed or economically inactive. On the whole, men earn more than women (ONS, 2013), both in terms of salary and their lesser likelihood of participating in part-time work (e.g. Grant et al., 2005). As a result, the HRP is most likely to be a male household member. This is perhaps an even more pertinent issue given the lower levels of economic activity amongst Pakistani women; using HRP as a unit of analysis would obscure their experiences. As such, where relevant this research used the respondent rather than the HRP as the unit of analysis.

This section and sub-sections have justified the use of the 2011 Census and explained how the data was used in this research, in order to conduct exploratory analysis, largely using cross-tabulations, to explore variables identified in the relevant literature, and also in the qualitative data that was generated. It has also explained and justified how the dataset was used, and certain decisions that were made when working with this dataset. Section 2.3.2 begins with a general discussion of qualitative research methods, before outlining the specific methods that were used for this research.

2.3.2 Qualitative Research Methods

Section 2.3, in discussing the use of mixed methods in this research, referred to the tension between quantitative and qualitative research methodologies. Whilst arguing that it '...cannot be neatly pigeonholed and reduced to a simple and prescriptive set of principles...', Mason (1997; 4) offers a working definition of qualitative research. Firstly, she states that qualitative methods should usually be '...grounded in a philosophical position which is broadly 'interpretivist'. This contrasts with the philosophical position associated with quantitative research, which tends to be associated with positivism (e.g. Guba and Lincoln, 1994). Secondly, Mason (1997; 4) suggests that qualitative research should be 'based on methods of data generation which are flexible and sensitive to the social context in which data are produced (rather than rigidly standardized or structured...)'. Therefore it follows that qualitative research is associated with different methods of data collection than quantitative research. In the context of this research, the Census data used, as outlined in Section 2.3.1,

represents the rigidly standardised or structured data that might ordinarily be rejected by qualitative researchers. Thirdly, and finally, Mason (1997; 4) suggests that qualitative research should be:

...based on methods of analysis and explanation building which involve understandings of complexity, detail, and context...There is more emphasis on 'holistic' forms of analysis and explanation in this sense, than on charting surface patterns, trends and correlations.

Therefore, as well as being associated with different methods of data collection, qualitative research is associated with different ways of understanding and interpreting the data.

Similarly to Mason's (1997) third tenet of qualitative research, Guba and Lincoln (1994), as well as Oakley (2004) argue that qualitative methods, unlike quantitative methods, are valuable to the extent that they provide context. The ability of qualitative research to add complexity and context meant that, in this research, it was a crucial way of building on the findings gained through analysis of the Census. Additionally, qualitative methods are often favoured by feminist researchers who deem them appropriate for researching oppressed groups (Metso and Le Feuvre, 2006), by ensuring that the relationship between the researcher and the researched is not exploitative, and by rejecting oppressive power relations that are viewed as intrinsic to quantitative research (Oakley, 1998).

In Section 2.3 it was argued that the aims of quantitative research are not necessarily in tension with those of qualitative research (e.g. Westmarland, 2001), and that there is a strong case for combining the two methods. Nonetheless, the role of qualitative methods in the provision of context was considered invaluable when exploring the roles of choice and constraint in Pakistani women's labour market participation. Having briefly addressed the tenets of qualitative research methods as put forth by Mason (1997), and having justified the use of qualitative methods for this research, the remainder of this section will discuss explicitly the methods that were used in this research and why.

2.3.2.1 Focus groups and semi-structured interviews

The two methods of primary data collection used in this research were semi-structured interviews and focus groups. This section begins by outlining the rationale for using focus groups, before highlighting some of the issues that arose due to this method of data collection, which ultimately necessitated using semi-structured interviews in addition (this is discussed in greater detail in Sections 2.3.2.2 and 2.3.2.3). 'Focus groups are a form of group interview that capitalises on communication between research participants in order to generate data' (Kitzinger, 1995; 299). They are a quick and easy way to collect data, they benefit methodologically from group interaction, and '...group processes can help people to

explore and clarify their views in ways that would be less easily accessible in a one-to-one interview' (Kitzinger, 1995; 299).

There are several aspects of focus groups that make them complementary to quantitative methods, and therefore appropriate for use in mixed methods research. Focus groups are a useful way of interpreting survey results, or for providing meanings to reports of attitudes or behaviour (Bloor et al., 2001), which indicates that they are an appropriate means of expanding upon findings from the Census, and adding context to the findings that is lacking from the quantitative data analysis (e.g. Mason, 1997). In this way, the use of focus groups enabled me to capitalise on the benefits of both data collection strategies.

Another strength of using focus groups lies in the interactions between participants, and the types of data this elicits. By creating a supportive environment, and by empowering participants to speak about their experiences (Kitzinger, 1995), focus groups provide privileged access to in-group conversations (Bloor et al., 2001), and are a good way of addressing sensitive topics, since

... the less inhibited members of the group break the ice for shyer participants. Participants can also provide mutual support in expressing feelings that are common to their group but which they consider to deviate from mainstream culture (or the assumed culture of the researcher). (Kitzinger, 1995; 300)

Focus groups are also identified as being a valuable technique by feminist methodologists. For example, Wilkinson (1998; 23) suggests that they '...shift the balance of power away from the researcher towards the participants.' Furthermore, in keeping with the call from McBride et al. (2014) for 'intersectional sensitivity', in-depth interviewing techniques such as focus groups can also be a way of challenging 'the assumption of typicality/normality of one group's experience' (Cuádraz and Uttal, 1999; 163). Given that Cuádraz and Uttal (1999; 161) describe in-depth interviewing as an approach that entails '...the collection of extensive and rich data from a few interviewees, rather than collecting responses to a set of closeended questions from a large sample', focus groups can be viewed as a form of in-depth interviewing under this definition. In this respect, focus groups provide an important challenge to quantitative methodologies, which run the risk of homogenising the experiences of different groups. This reflects the suggestion that focus groups are a way of learning about feelings that '...deviate from mainstream culture' (Bloor et al., 2001). In short, focus groups can be a means of demonstrating the heterogeneity of group experiences. Kitzinger (1995) also considers the heterogeneity of focus group members to be a strength, viewing disagreements as both likely and of importance in the data collection process.

A further benefit of using focus groups lies in the shift of power away from the researcher and towards the participants (e.g. Kitzinger, 1994), which I hoped would enable participants to discuss experiences that diverged from my own. Related to this is the way that 'group work ensures that priority is given to respondents' hierarchy of importance, *their* language and concepts, *their* frameworks for understanding the world' (Kitzinger, 1994; 108, original emphasis). As such, focus groups can be viewed as having the ability to challenge any preconceptions that might be held by a researcher, despite the fact that questions and prompts used in such research are likely to be based on prior literature and ideas about what the focus groups might view as important.

As well as their strength in eliciting a certain type of data, and placing participants at the forefront of the research, focus groups were chosen for practical reasons too. Specifically, they enable the researcher to obtain a large amount of data, within a short time-scale (Gibbs, 1997). This was beneficial firstly because I was working with two sets of data, and secondly due to limited time and financial resources; both my own and those of the organisations I was working with to recruit participants.

There were also some weaknesses associated with the use of focus groups, some of which were anticipated and some of which were not. One criticism of focus groups is that they risk merely capturing processes of existing groups (Bloor et al., 2001; Kitzinger, 1994). This issue was pertinent given that the sampling strategy (outlined in Section 2.3.2.2) meant that the participants were likely to already know each other. Furthermore, some issues emerged in relation to the sampling strategy used, and this meant that ultimately not all of the data was collected from focus groups. In particular, the use of gatekeepers, as well as the places I recruited from (community centres and charities) affected the types of participants I spoke to initially, so that, at first, my qualitative data extensively reflected the experiences of women who were not currently economically active. Furthermore, it was quite difficult to garner interest from potential organisations or indeed from potential participants. These issues related to my sampling strategy and ultimately led me to adjust my data collection techniques slightly. Therefore, the next section discusses sampling, and this precedes the section outlining the use of semi-structured interviews.

2.3.2.2 Sampling

The rationale behind focusing on Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees was outlined in Chapter 1; I wanted to focus specifically on a group with lower levels of engagement with the labour market compared to the majority (white British) population. This meant either researching Bangladeshi or Pakistani women; however, because the research was to take place in Leeds and Kirklees for practical reasons, and because both areas have very small

Bangladeshi communities, I decided to focus on Pakistani women. This approach might best be described as 'extreme case sampling', which involves identifying cases of interest, under the premise that they will enable researchers to learn more about a given phenomenon (Patton, 1990; Emmel, 2013). In this sense, the under-representation of Pakistani women in the labour market means that they serve as an 'extreme case' amongst women. Emmel (2013; 37) states that those who use extreme case sampling begin with an understanding of the phenomenon they are investigating, and that 'the logic underlying the selection of cases is that lessons may be learned about unusual conditions or extreme outcomes that are relevant to the research.' I began this research with the knowledge that Pakistani women experience the labour market in ways that differ considerably from other groups of women, and, as such, by selecting this group I hoped to learn more about the conditions under which Pakistani women make decisions about their participation in the labour market.

Extreme case sampling is one strategy of purposive sampling, which '...is instrumental in the research to search out information rich cases to be studied in-depth' (Emmel, 2013; 33). Because this research focused on the labour market participation of Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees, in order to address the research questions the participants had to be Pakistani women of working age (16-64) who lived in either area. As well as ensuring the participants selected were relevant to the questions being asked, this sampling approach was the most appropriate for practical reasons too. Purposeful sampling has been identified as an appropriate way of obtaining data relevant to specific research questions where there are significant time or financial constraints. 'It is not driven forward by theoretical categories but practical and pragmatic considerations' (Emmel, 2013; 33).

In their research on Pakistani-Kashmiri women, McLean and Campbell (2003) found the use of a third person contact, or gatekeeper, to be crucial in accessing potential participants. Similarly, in this research participants were recruited via gatekeepers, who could liaise with potential participants on my behalf. Organisations in Leeds and Kirklees that worked closely with Pakistani women were contacted via a standard email where I introduced myself, explained the purpose and aims of my research, and asked for assistance with identifying participants who might be willing to discuss their experiences. These organisations ranged from charities and community centres to local mosques and schools in areas with large Pakistani communities identified through preliminary analysis of the Census aggregate data (see Section 1.4.2). Drawing on the aggregate data in this way is consistent with McLean and Campbell's (2003; 44) suggestion, in relation to their own research, that 'the contribution of local knowledge to framing the research questions and identifying appropriate ethnic groups was vital to the design and implementation of the project.'

This approach to recruiting participants yielded mixed results; positive responses were received from two community centres and two ESOL providers in Leeds, and one community centre in Kirklees - specific locations will not be discussed here in order to protect the anonymity of the participants. However, it should be noted here that the respondents only represented a small number of the organisations I contacted. This may have reflected my ability to adequately 'sell' the project to potential gatekeepers. However, one community centre contacted informed me that they had participated in research projects before, so there is the potential that other organisations that were contacted experienced what Sanghera and Thapar-Bjorkert (2008) term 'research weariness'. Further, Sanghera and Thapar-Bjorkert (2008) link the wariness to participate to the socio-political context, which is currently characterised by heightened Islamophobia (e.g. Hussain and Bagguley, 2012).

Aside from not yielding as many responses as I had hoped, there were also issues with the use of gatekeepers to assist in the recruitment of participants. Sanghera and Thapar-Bjorkert (2008) suggest that when recruiting marginalised groups via gatekeepers, the way that gatekeepers identify and select participants is likely to have an effect on the data collected, based on their ideas about the research. This was largely the case in this research; after running the focus groups, the participant demographics (outlined in Appendix A) were reviewed and it was apparent that the majority were either unemployed or economically inactive, and many did not have English as their first language. Although data from these participants was invaluable, I felt that the data were skewed in favour of a particular type of participant; in particular because the focus groups took place in community centres during the day, and because of the types of people more likely to visit community centres, my research lacked data from people in employment. As such, the sampling strategy was adjusted in order to include the perspectives of women in paid employment. This is discussed in Section 2.3.2.3, which also discusses the use of semi-structured interviews.

2.3.2.3 Semi-structured interviews

For the next wave of recruitment I wanted to focus on workplaces in Leeds and Kirklees, in order to recruit women who were in employment. Therefore I contacted Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) groups at three large employers in Leeds and Kirklees; one in the education sector and two in the public sector. As with my first wave of recruitment, I sent a standard email introducing myself, outlining my research, and requesting assistance with recruiting participants. Again, this elicited mixed results, and I recruited one participant in Leeds and two in Kirklees using this method. Finally, a further two participants in employment were recruited through personal contacts.

Because the participants did not know one-another and were recruited from a variety of locations, they participated in one-to-one semi-structured interviews rather than focus groups. This method benefited from a looser structure, as well as an informal, conversational style, and a focus on interaction with participants, with 'the assumption that data are generated via the interaction' (Mason, 1997; 38). As discussed previously, Cuadrez and Uttal (1999) suggest that in-depth interviewing should be used for research that focuses on intersectionality.

Indeed, the use of one-to-one semi-structured interviews mitigated against some of the issues with conducting focus groups, particularly relating to the danger of focus groups merely reflecting existing group processes (.e.g Bloor et al., 2001). Another related issue is that:

Personal information may most likely be disclosed when assurances of privacy, confidentiality and a non-condemnatory attitude can be provided. The focus group format guarantees none of these (Wellings et al., 2000; 255).

It is likely, therefore, that the focus group participants were guarded with the information they gave, and as such the semi-structured interview participants might have been more candid in terms of the types of information they gave me. The issue of disclosure in focus groups is also highlighted by Hollander (2004; 610), who also suggests social desirability might be more of an issue in focus groups, whereby 'social desirability pressures induce participants to offer information or play particular roles, either to fulfil the perceived expectations of the facilitator or other participants'. This may have been a particularly pertinent issue within the context of perceived differences between me as the researcher, and my participants, which is discussed in greater detail in Section 2.5.

Given the potential benefits of conducting semi-structured interviews, in both practical and theoretical terms, this method was deemed the best approach when working with the second wave of research participants. Nonetheless the use of focus groups in the first wave is likely to have made participation in the research more accessible for some participants, as discussed in Section 2.3.2.1. Data collection processes are discussed in Section 2.3.2.4.

2.3.2.4 Sampling, qualitative data collection, and positionality

Throughout the qualitative data collection process, my own positionality as a white, female, university researcher, as well as my use of gatekeepers to recruit participants, will have affected the research outcomes. Therefore this section considers more specifically how my research will have been shaped by my own positionality, and in particular focuses on my use of gatekeepers.

The use of gatekeepers is something that was considered at length by Sanghera and Thapar-Bjorkert (2008; 543) in their research on members of Pakistani communities in Bradford. They view the relationship between gatekeeper and researcher as one which '...may facilitate, constrain or transform the research process by opening and/or closing the gate'. Willingness to facilitate the research may have depended on gatekeepers' perceptions of both me and the nature of the research I was conducting. Sanghera and Thapar-Bjorkert (2008; 549) also suggest that 'gatekeepers sometimes attempt to control who does research on what topic, who you speak to, and the research findings'. The research that I was doing on labour market participation might not have been perceived as valuable by gatekeepers, and furthermore, ideas about the division of paid versus domestic labour might potentially be culturally sensitive; this may well have had an effect on both the types of participant I was able to recruit, and the data I was able to collect. Another effect of recruiting via gatekeepers, and their interpretations of my research, might have been that they selected participants they felt would best fit my research. In this way, recruiting via gatekeepers will undoubtedly have shaped my research findings, and may ultimately be why I had to adjust my strategy for a second wave of recruitment. Nonetheless, gatekeepers proved to be invaluable in enabling me to access a potentially difficult-to-recruit group of participants, though it should be noted here that my research lacked any engagement with participants who were not either involved in specific organisations or employed in one of the workplaces I contacted.

Another issue stems from heightened Islamophobia and the effect of this on recruiting predominantly Muslim participants. Bolognani (2007; 279) states that:

In what is a critical moment for multicultural relations in Britain after September 11th and July 2005 bombings in London, however, social researchers are allegedly struggling in gaining access.

Furthermore, Bolognani (2007; 287) states that

I experienced how the religious identity and its perceptions by outsiders strongly influenced the contribution of the interviewees and access to the sample. I found that many interviewees were concerned about the effects of what they had to say, as they felt they were seen as representatives of Islam.

As a white, British researcher, it is likely that some of the participants were wary of me, and understandably so. This may partially explain participants' reluctance to be recorded, and the lack of response I received from the community organisations I contacted to aid participant recruitment. Ultimately, it is crucial, when reading and interpreting my research, to recognise the ways in which the outcomes will have been affected by my knowledge and

understanding of the communities I was researching, and how gatekeepers and participants responded to me as a white, female, university researcher.

2.4 Secondary data analysis

The labour market activity of Pakistani and white British women was explored using the aggregate data from the 2011 Census, and my own analysis of the Individual Safeguarded Microdata. The analysis of the Individual Safeguarded Microdata entailed some preparation of the dataset prior to analysis. Firstly, any respondents who were under 16 or 65 and over were removed from the dataset, as well as all students. This was done to ensure that the data analysed reflected experiences of people who were likely to be participating in the labour market. Ethnicity was re-coded into fewer categories to simplify the analysis, as illustrated in Table 4. Finally, a second dataset was created that contained records for just white British and Pakistani men and women. This meant that clear comparisons could be drawn between Pakistani men and women and their counterparts in the majority white British population. As well as recoding ethnicity, some of the other key variables were re-coded for ease of analysis, which will be highlighted in the analysis chapters (Chapters 4, 5 and 7), where relevant.

Analysis of the Individual Safeguarded Microdata was largely undertaken using descriptive statistics and bivariate analysis, which was discussed in Section 2.3.1. Such statistics were obtained in SPSS, and any tables or graphs were made in Excel. The variables analysed were initially selected on the basis of common themes identified through reviewing relevant literature. Following the analysis of the qualitative data, further quantitative analysis was conducted where relevant, if new themes or ideas were discussed by the participants. For example, some participants for whom English was not their first language, perceived certain types of jobs as being more readily available to them than others, and consequently further analysis explored potential clustering in certain occupational sectors according to language proficiency. As such, both the literature and the qualitative data were used to provide a critique of the quantitative analysis, in line with Mason's (2006) 'integrative logic', discussed in Section 2.3.

2.5 Qualitative data analysis

Some participants expressed concern about being audio-recorded, and therefore none of the interviews were audio-recorded or transcribed (this is discussed in greater detail in Section 2.5.1.1). Instead, hand-written notes were taken of the discussions, which were typed up directly after they had taken place. It was important to type up the notes as close to the

interviews as possible, to ensure that I was able to remember enough contextual detail. In addition to this, field notes were written, reflecting on the running of the focus groups and interviews. This was a useful practice because it enabled me to reflect on what did and did not work, and also enabled me to adjust any questions before the next interview was conducted. Care was taken to write down direct quotes where possible, although simultaneously facilitating the group and doing this was a challenge, and was another reason why the notes were written up as soon as possible, since I was partially reliant on my memory. For consistency, and because I thought it might encourage more people to participate, all interviews were recorded in the same manner.

The data were then analysed thematically. Boyatzis (1998; vii) describes a theme as '...a pattern found in the information that at the minimum describes and organises possible observations or at the maximum interprets aspects of the phenomenon.' Further, Boyatzis (1998, vi) describes thematic analysis as '...a process for encoding qualitative information' requiring an 'explicit code' which may be a 'list of themes'. Similarly, Fereday and Muir-Cochrane (2006) describe thematic analysis as:

...a search for themes that emerge as being important to the description of the phenomenon...It is a form of pattern recognition within the data, where emerging themes become the categories for analysis.

The aim of collecting primary qualitative data for this research was to allow the research themes to emerge according to what was deemed important by the participants, which is in keeping with an inductive approach to analysis; Thomas (2006; 238) states that:

The primary purpose of the inductive approach is to allow research findings to emerge from the frequent, dominant, or significant themes inherent in raw data, without the restraints imposed by structured methodologies.

With this in mind, I read through the interview notes and detected themes that commonly occurred, and constructed a table in which I recorded evidence of the themes arising. I repeated this process several times as my writing and analysis of quantitative data lead me to consider other explanations for my findings.

Having discussed the rationale behind each research method used, as well as identifying practical issues and how these were overcome, and having also outlined how the data was analysed, Section 2.5.1.1 outlines the more practical aspects of the qualitative data collection process. Following this, Section 2.6 outlines the ethical considerations inherent in this research and how they were addressed. In order to do this, it addresses each of the ESRC's minimum ethical requirements (ESRC, 2015), and states how they were adhered to.

2.5.1.1 Qualitative data collection

In total, I recruited 28 participants for this project, details of which are in Appendix A. The interviews and focus groups were largely conducted on-site, and refreshments provided, with the exception of two of the semi-structured interviews that were held in locations convenient to the participants. Participants were not remunerated for their time, though I hoped that they would find it a rewarding and enjoyable experience, and I also offered to make my results available to them by means of a written report.

Various numbers of focus groups and interviews have been suggested as sufficient within a qualitative study. For example, Morgan (1997; 17) suggests that 3-5 is enough participants for a focus group, dependent on the '...variability of participants between and within groups.' Despite some issues with recruitment, I did achieve this, by making my cut-off point for data-collection slightly later than I had initially anticipated. In terms of focus group size, Krueger (2009) suggests they should be small enough to enable all participants to share their insights, and large enough to allow for diversity between participants, and proposes recruiting 8-10 participants to each group, with common characteristics. None of my focus groups exceeded 8 participants, and I made it clear to the gatekeepers that helped me with the set-up and running of the focus groups that I did not want them to exceed 10 participants. Keeping the sizes small was particularly important given that translators were used in each of the focus groups; having large numbers of participants would have made my task as facilitator and note-taker extremely difficult where questions and responses were also being translated from English to Urdu and back again.

Literature on labour market participation, as well as preliminary analysis of the 2011 Census, was used to create loose interview schedules (included in Appendix B), with key questions and prompts. The questions covered particular themes: domestic life; education, training, and qualifications; perceptions of the local labour market; and specific barriers to the labour market. A different interview schedule was used for the two ESOL co-ordinators who were interviewed, which focused on the services they provided, their knowledge of Pakistani women's labour market participation, the barriers they perceived Pakistani women as facing, and ways they felt Pakistani women could be assisted to participate in the labour market. Because of my desire to place participants at the forefront of the research, and because I was very aware of time constraints, particularly as many of my participants had young children, not all of the questions in the schedule were asked in each interview or focus group. Furthermore, some of the questions proved quite difficult for my participants to answer. In particular, questions about participating in employment were not relevant to one of the Leeds-based focus groups, who had very little engagement with the labour market. Therefore I often had to adapt my questions slightly once I learned more about each group,

which in any case is a strength of using qualitative interviews as a data collection technique. This could perhaps have been avoided had I collected demographic information from all of my participants prior to data collection, however because we did not always know who would attend the focus group, this was logistically impossible.

Prior to participating in focus groups or interviews, participants were given an information sheet and a consent form to sign, both of which are included as Appendices C and D respectively. Additionally they were provided with a short questionnaire, the aim of which was to collect demographic information, included in Appendix E. All the forms were filled out directly before the focus group or interview, with the help of a translator where necessary. For one of the focus groups and one of the interviews I was unable, due to time constraints, to obtain demographic data from the participants, and had to obtain verbal, rather than written, consent. As such, I made clear the aims of my research, and that the answers the participants gave were being written down and would be used in this research. All participants agreed that they were happy for me to use the data I obtained from them in this way. Further, Guillemin and Gillam (2004) argue that signed consent forms do not necessarily constitute informed consent, providing participants are aware of what the research is about and what participation in the research constitutes. As such, I was satisfied that, although these participants did not sign consent forms, they had still given informed consent.

Another issue that arose related to recording the focus groups and interviews. I had initially planned to audio-record and transcribe each session. However, when I was invited to a community centre in Kirklees to recruit participants, it became evident that some were not comfortable with being recorded in this way. This included one participant who seemed extremely keen to be involved in the research, but said that her husband might not be comfortable with her being recorded. As such, I decided to take notes instead of audio-recording; given that recruiting participants was quite difficult I did not want to risk losing any because they were not comfortable with being audio-recorded. For most of the interviews and focus groups I took notes alone; however, for one of the larger focus groups I was accompanied by a colleague who took additional notes. This issue has been noted in other research too: Exley et al. (1996) conducted focus groups as a white research team with Asian participants, who were suspicious of being audio-recorded, and therefore the authors opted to take hand written notes.

2.6 Ethical considerations

This research received ethical approval from the University of Leeds ethical committee, and the ethical issues associated with this research will be discussed here in relation to the ESRC ethical guidelines (2015), since they were the funding body for this research, and they stipulate that their framework should be adhered to by ESRC funded researchers. The ESRC specify 6 core principles for social research, and each will be discussed in turn, in relation to the implications these principles had for my own research.

The first principle is that 'research should aim to maximise benefits for individuals and society and minimise risk and harm'. Steps to maximise benefits and limit harm have already been taken by ONS when collecting and disseminating data from the Census; Section 2.3.1.1 detailed the ways in which anonymity is protected by the amount of data available at different geographical levels, which ensures that individuals cannot be identified. Further, this thesis has already outlined, in Chapter 1, the potential benefits of this research in furthering understanding of labour market participation and how this might be constrained. Also, although I did not anticipate labour market participation to be a particularly sensitive topic, it could not be discounted that it might be for the participants, especially given that some of my questions touched on the division of household labour and therefore their relationships with significant others. In order to minimise risk and harm to the participants, steps were first taken to ensure that informed consent was gained from the participants, and that they were fully aware of what participation in the research would entail.

The complexity of obtaining informed consent is an issue identified by Mason (1997). This was further complicated by the language barrier between me and some of my participants, and the fact that the focus groups were run with the aid of facilitators who, in some instances, translated both questions and answers. An information sheet was prepared detailing the aims of the research and inviting participants to contact me with any questions they had (Appendix C). Furthermore, care was taken to write the information sheets in a way that was easy to follow for the participants, free of academic language, and also straightforward for facilitators to translate if necessary. It should not be discounted that in some instances it was the gatekeepers who gave initial consent on behalf of their participants, and indeed selected participants to take part. Therefore, it was important to be clear about the research to everyone involved in it, from the initial recruitment process onwards. In addition, it was made clear to the participants that they were free to leave at any point and did not have to answer any questions that they were uncomfortable answering. A strength of both focus groups and semi-structured interviews is that the loose structure makes it easier to tailor the sessions to what the participants wish to speak about. This

helped to mitigate against participants discussing subjects that they were not comfortable with, whilst enabling them to discuss topics that they felt were important. As well as minimising harm to participants, obtaining informed consent also adheres to the third point in the ESRC's ethical framework, whereby participation in research should be voluntary and appropriately informed.

In addition to obtaining informed consent from the participants, steps were taken to ensure that they would not be identifiable. Participants were given pseudonyms, and in addition, other identifiable information was excluded from the data analysis. Furthermore, minimal information was provided regarding the organisations I approached to recruit participants, as well as their precise locations. Maintaining confidentiality is slightly more difficult when conducting focus groups, since I was also reliant on the participants not to disclose information about each other. To mitigate against this I obtained agreement from the participants that they would not discuss anything that had arisen in the focus group outside the research setting. It should be noted though that this may have affected the amount of information focus group participants were willing to give, nonetheless, as outlined in Section 2.3.2.1, the benefits of conducting focus groups outweighed potential issues.

The ESRC also stipulate that 'the rights and dignity of individuals and groups should be respected'. In doing this, I ensured that participants were clear that they could leave at any point, withdraw from the research after participation, and understood that they did not have to respond to questions that they were uncomfortable with. This was detailed on the consent form that was given to participants prior to participating in this research, which was, where relevant, verbally translated into Urdu. As mentioned in Section 2.3.2.4, I also took further steps to ensure my participants' rights were respected by not audio-recording the interviews. Finally, participants were all given my contact details should any concerns arise, and informed that they could request a copy of my notes to review.

The fourth ESRC ethical principle is that 'research should be conducted with integrity and transparency.' They refer to a checklist from the UK Research Integrity Office (hereafter, UKRIO, no date). This checklist refers to the overall quality of the research that is conducted. They stipulate that research should contribute to existing knowledge, with questions suitable for the purpose, and that researchers should have the appropriate skills and resources to conduct the research. The contribution of this research to existing knowledge has been outlined in Chapter 1, whilst the research questions have been refined over the course of this project, and are appropriate to the research. The use of secondary data analysis, and the decision to conduct the qualitative research in Leeds and Kirklees, means that this research was conducted within my range of skills and resources. UKRIO also outline the need for ethical review, and, as mentioned at the beginning of this section, this research

received ethical approval from the University of Leeds, as well as being subject to a risk assessment, prior to its commencement. Where practical, this research followed the proposed design; any changes to the design were discussed with my supervisory team and were not deemed to place the participants at risk – indeed one of the changes to the research design was to take notes rather than audio-record interviews, which further protected the participants' anonymity.

Another aspect of research integrity, as stipulated by UKRIO, relates to the storage of data. As such, the Census data needed to be treated in accordance with the terms of the data supplier. The analysis was also conducted in accordance with the 8 principles of the 1998 Data Protection Act. Therefore, steps were taken to ensure that the analysis was: fairly and lawfully processed; processed for limited purposes; adequate, relevant and not excessive; accurate and up-to-date; not kept for longer than necessary; processed in line with the researcher's rights; secure; and not transferred to other countries without adequate protection (SRA, 2005). This was largely achieved by adhering to the data storage guidelines provided by the University of Leeds, and ensuring that my data was only accessible to me, and that I was clear about data storage timeframes, as well as the aims of my research, which ensured that my data collection and analysis fulfilled these aims. Since the Safeguarded File is only accessible for research purposes, the data were stored securely and only accessible to me. Notes from interviews were typed up and stored in a folder only accessible to me, whilst hard copies of forms and notes were stored in a file in a locked cabinet, in an office only accessible to other research post-graduate students.

After completion of the research, UKRIO state that research and findings should be reported 'accurately, honestly, within a reasonable time-frame.' To ensure accuracy, participants were given the opportunity to read through interview notes, though only one requested them. However, care was taken to ensure that participants' accounts were not misrepresented in this research. Furthermore, I agreed to send a research report to the organisations I worked with, in order to ensure honesty and transparency. I was also clear with all involved in this research project about my expected time-frame for completion. Contributions to the research project will be acknowledged where appropriate, however specific community centres will not be named since this poses a threat to participants' anonymity. The research must also be retained in a 'secure and accessible form and for the required duration.' PhD theses are published online and a copy will also be held in the University library, furthermore participants will have access to a report based on my research.

The fifth ethical principle of the ESRC is that 'Lines of responsibility and accountability should be clearly defined.' They state that 'researchers have a responsibility to respect the rights and dignity of research participants and users who, in turn, should treat researchers

and the research process with appropriate respect, and not attempt to influence either in a way that would distort the research.' As the sole researcher on this project, I was aware that I was responsible for all decisions pertaining to ethics. In turn, before conducting any interviews I was clear with participants about the ethical implications of my research. Furthermore, all those involved with my research were given my contact details and encouraged to contact me should they have any concerns about the ethical implications of my research.

The sixth and final ethical principle of the ESRC relates to maintaining the independence of the research and making explicit any conflicts of interest, where relevant. This meant, for this research, that care was taken when constructing topic guides, to maintain an objective stance when interacting with participants. Furthermore, I was clear about the aims of my research and the fact that it would contribute to me receiving a PhD.

2.7 Conclusion

This chapter has described, in depth, the methods that were used in this research. It has explained the contribution of intersectionality theory to this research, and justified the use of a mixed-method approach to data generation and analysis. It has discussed issues inherent in using Census data, particularly relating to the limitations that come from working with Census variables. It has outlined the rationale behind using focus groups and semi-structured interviews to generate qualitative data, as well as discussing issues to do with recruitment processes and researcher positionality, and it has explained how the quantitative and qualitative data were analysed. Finally, making reference to the ESRC minimum ethical requirements, it has outlined how different ethical issues were approached in this research, particularly when working with participants rather than secondary quantitative data. Chapter 3 considers literature on life-stage, family formation, domestic labour, and labour market participation.

3 Life-stage, family formation, and domestic labour

3.1 Introduction

Having highlighted, in Chapter 1, the role of life-stage factors in shaping labour market participation (e.g. Salway, 2007), this chapter examines existing literature that explores these relationships. Further, it considers how these factors might relate to structural constraints, and how they might impact upon choice. Salway (2007) states that life-stage factors relate to 'marriage and childbearing', while Giele and Elder (1998) outlined the key elements of the 'life-course framework' as

...location in time and place, which includes the cultural background experienced by individuals; linked lives, referring to family norms and cultural expectations, for example with respect to women's roles concerning employment and childcare; and individual agency, the decisions that an individual makes and the priority they give to different aspects of their lives (Dale et al., 2005; 2).

Chapter 1 outlined the process of Pakistani migration to the UK, but 'location in time and place' should consider both the context in which individuals are living and making decisions, and their own, often more complex, cultural backgrounds. This links to Brah's (1993; 448) argument that Pakistani women in Britain must negotiate between both the Pakistani (and Muslim) context, and the British context:

...Asian patriarchal discourses and practices in Britain do not exist outside discursive and material practices that are endogenous to British society...British Asian cultures are not simply a carry-over from the subcontinent, but rather, they are organically rooted in regional and local specificities within Britain.

Therefore, this chapter begins by considering these 'discursive and material practices', by considering the ways in which labour is divided along gender lines in Britain, and how this links to, and is affected by, family formation. Having done this, Pakistani, British-Pakistani, and Muslim gender norms are discussed. More specifically, Section 3.3 outlines, through discussion of *izzat* and *purdah*, practices that seek to segregate women from men, the position of women in the family, and the implications of such practices and norms for the division of labour, and women's participation in domestic and paid labour. Following this, Section 3.4 explores marriage and how this might affect labour market participation, focussing both on common marital processes amongst the Pakistani community, and the prevalence of arranged marriage. Finally, Section 3.5 examines the ways in which women

(and in particular mothers) might seek to consolidate work and care, through using formal and informal childcare, as well as flexible and part-time working arrangements. Whilst parallels are drawn between Pakistani women and white British women, ultimately this chapter demonstrates some of the many complexities Pakistani women face when engaging with the British labour market.

3.2 The British context: Male breadwinner or adult worker model?

As highlighted in Chapter 1, labour market participation in Britain has consistently been gendered, in terms of pay, hours, and occupation types (e.g. ONS, 2015), demonstrating that paid labour and domestic labour remain divided along gender lines. This section will begin by outlining the history of women's labour market participation in Britain, arguing that, although it has gradually increased, it remains qualitatively different to men's labour market participation. Further, this section describes how women's labour market histories are often characterised by periods out of work for childbirth, and returning to work after maternity leave, or sometimes later (e.g. Joshi et al., 1996).

Since the mid-19th Century, women's labour market participation has steadily risen, aside from a slight levelling off during the recession in the 1980s (Bakker, 1988). The labour shortage created by the World War II produced an immediate demand for women's labour, and '...could potentially have altered long-term patterns of women's employment.' (Briar, 1997; 70). More recently, ONS (2013b) has reported an increase in women's labour market participation of 9.3 percentage points between 1994 and 2015, as well as a decrease in women's economic activity due to looking after the family or the home, which could be taken to signify a shift in assumptions regarding the types of labour that should be performed by women. Nonetheless, Briar (1997; 36) suggested that the post-war increase in women's labour market participation '...took place within prescribed limits', whereby women continued to occupy a '...subordinate and supportive role.' As such, the increase in women's participation in paid labour arguably shaped the labour market in other ways beyond merely shifting the gender balance; perhaps fearing that no-one would be able to look after the children or do the housework, employers and policy makers sought out ways to ensure that women were able to combine both paid and unpaid labour. Thus, in spite of increased labour market participation, women were still perceived as secondary, rather than primary, earners, whilst men were perceived as the main 'breadwinners.' In this vein, Dale and Holdsworth (1998) relate the rise in women's employment to an increase in part-time work as a way of ensuring work '...would fit in with what was seen as women's primary responsibility - home and children' (Dale and Holdsworth, 1998; 79). As well as taking steps to ensure that women

did *less* paid work, assumptions were also made about the *types* of work women should and should not be doing. For example, Fevre (1984) links the influx of migrant workers in the textile industry to the fact that women were not permitted to do shift-work, or work long hours.

Even now, women's labour market participation is qualitatively different to men's. ONS (2013b) reports that, in spite of rising employment for women and falling employment for men, men have higher employment rates than women over the age of 22. Furthermore, ONS (2013b) states that men are more likely to work in occupations associated with higher pay than women, while women dominate caring and leisure occupations. Finally, women are consistently more likely than men to work part-time; indeed the concentration of women in part-time work has been explored extensively (e.g. Dale and Holdsworth, 1998; Warren, 2004; Grant et al., 2005; Tomlinson, 2006).

Women's patterns of labour market participation must also be understood in terms of how their employment trajectories are likely to differ from men's if they have children, since having dependent children is likely to influence participation in part-time, as opposed to full-time work:

Alongside a few (no more than one in ten) balancing their babies and their briefcases, there are many more for whom childbearing modifies employment more radically (Joshi et al., 1996; 342).

The effect of motherhood on labour market participation is well documented in more recent research, too. For example, ONS (2014) report that mothers of dependent children are less likely to participate in the labour market than women without dependent children. Therefore, despite notable increases, motherhood and the way women seek to combine this with paid work, or decide not to, continues to shape women's labour market participation.

The male breadwinner model, which serves as a descriptor of the way families divide labour, is defined by Lewis (2001: 153) as follows:

The male breadwinner model was based on a set of assumptions about male and female contributions at the household level: men having the primary responsibility to earn and women to care for the young and the old. Female dependence was inscribed in the model. The male breadwinner model built into the post-war settlement assumed regular and full male employment and stable families in which women would be provided for largely via their husbands' earnings and social contributions.

Dale and Holdsworth (1998) link the male breadwinner model to the work of John Bowlby, who emphasised the importance of the mother-child bond in a child's development. For example, in his book 'Maternal Care and Mental Health', Bowlby (1952; 59) states that '...maternal care in infancy and childhood is essential for mental health.' This emphasis on *maternal*, as opposed to *paternal*, or even just *parental*, care was in tension with the labour market opportunities brought about by the post-war labour shortage. Women were simultaneously expected to provide paid labour in response to the shortage, and provide unpaid labour to ensure the wellbeing of their children (Dale and Holdsworth, 1998); women's participation in paid work was increasing, but within these constraints.

Nonetheless, the shifting social climate and the steady increase of women's employment has led to debate about the possibility of a shift from the male breadwinner model to an adult worker model (e.g. Lewis, 2001), whereby it is assumed that all adults in a household will participate in the labour market. Indeed, this assumption is highlighted in Chapter 1, which outlined the negative connotations of not being in paid employment, as well as an increasing emphasis on all adults in a household participating in the labour market. Lewis (2001; 153) states that:

...in the United Kingdom and in The Netherlands there is evidence of a pendulum shift toward what might be termed an "adult-worker model family", whereby it is assumed that all adults are in the labor market.

Such a shift is reflected in policy changes that aim to facilitate women to participate in the labour market. For example, Stadelmann-Steffen (2008) highlights the role of childcare arrangements in increasing women's labour market participation (although the efficacy of this is discussed in greater detail in Sections 3.5.1 and 5.5). Daly (2011; 4-5) argues that:

The adult worker model thesis holds that social policy is increasingly treating women and men as individual (actual or potential) workers. Individual agency – "choice" in everyday terms – is both valued and assumed and labor market participation is promoted as an expression of this "choice".

Daly's (2011) connection between the adult worker model and 'choice' is worth highlighting because this model operates under the assumption that all adults in a household are able to *choose* whether to participate in the labour market or not; throughout this chapter, it is suggested that there are numerous ways in which women's choices are constrained. Nonetheless, some policy changes appear to rest on the assumptions of an adult worker model.

The introduction, in 2015, of shared parental leave, which enables both parents to share their leave following the birth or adoption of a child (Gov.UK, 2017a), could signify a change in assumptions about the importance of maternal care. However, in April 2016, the Guardian reported that, a year after its introduction, a 'tiny proportion of men are opting for shared parental leave' (Osborne, 2016). For fathers, the opportunity to take shared parental leave is at the discretion of their employer; after 6 weeks statutory leave is capped at 90% of the parents' average earnings before tax, or £139.78, whichever is lower (Gov.UK, 2017a). This should be considered within the context of men's average weekly earnings in Britain being £580.6, compared to £480.8 for women (Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2016). Therefore, financial decisions are likely to depend on the generosity of employers, who may *choose* to pay more, and also the earnings of each parent. Given that women are likely to earn less than men, the likelihood is that they will be sacrificing less income by taking an extended period of maternity leave.

Parents' attitudes, as well as others' attitudes towards parenting, are also likely to have an impact on the uptake of shared parental leave (e.g. Duncan et al., 2003). Osborne (2016) reports that 55% of mothers state that they do not wish to share their maternity leave, while fathers choosing to take parental leave may feel stigmatised. This suggests a mismatch between policy changes and assumptions, and social reality, as argued by Lewis (2001; 153), who states that, in relation to the possibility of an adult worker family model replacing the male breadwinner model '...this shift in assumptions has outrun the social reality.' Daly (2011; 5) suggests policy reforms, particularly relating to '...benefits, tax allowances, and access to services...' serve to disincentivise single-earner families, and in doing so, promote a dual-earner family. In this way, '...family and other institutions are treated as a backdrop to individual functioning.' Here, Daly (2011) is suggesting that policy reforms promote dualearner families without considering the impact of 'family and other institutions' on a person's ability to make unconstrained decisions. Nonetheless, the persistence of gender inequality in the labour market, as well as deeply entrenched moral obligations for women to 'care' (Duncan, et al., 2003) indicates that this cannot be the case; for women, labour market participation continues to be shaped by commitments to domestic labour.

Indeed, whilst some policy reforms appear to support an adult worker model, Daly (2011) argues that others contribute to the persistence of a male breadwinner model. For example, '...the support for and promotion of part-time work', which is also 'implicit, and sometimes explicit, in social policies' is, Daly (2011; 12) argues, a way of supporting the family as an institution. Although the assumption that women, rather than men, will participate in part-time, rather than full-time work, is implicit, it should not be overlooked that '...mothers'

gendered moral rationalities still involve their primary responsibility for their children' (Duncan et al., 2003; 327). As such, policy reforms that place the family at the forefront implicitly prioritise men's earnings over women's earnings. The result is that a one-and-a-half earner model may be a more accurate descriptor of familial labour divisions than an adult worker model (Lewis, 2001; Daly, 2011), whereby men are the primary earners and women are expected to combine work with care.

This section has explored how, despite a steady rise in women's labour market participation, and despite policy changes that aim to promote an adult worker model, rather than a male breadwinner model, women's labour market participation is likely to remain constrained by family commitments and assumptions about male, rather than female earnings. It has highlighted a tension between policy changes and the increasing requirement for all adults to be in employment, and a persistent norm for women to care and perform domestic labour whilst men work, which is further complicated by women's moral obligations to care (Duncan et al., 2003). In this way, the British labour market is gendered, and, as argued by Brah (1993) it is within this context that Pakistani and British Pakistani women make decisions about if and how they will participate in it. Section 3.3 explores the Pakistani context, considering the ways in which Muslim³ and Pakistani cultures have sought to segregate women from men, and the role of women in Pakistani families.

3.3 The Pakistani context: Izzat and Purdah

This section will review literature that demonstrates the extent to which life-stage factors are, for many Pakistani women, underpinned by *izzat* and *purdah*, whilst also drawing parallels between these seemingly more formalised processes and the gendered divisions of labour discussed in Section 3.2. *Izzat* refers to the process of honour, and '…is closely related to the nature and function of the kin unit…' (Papanek, 1971; 528). Further, 'Pakistani females are considered the 'repositories' of izzat of khanedan (family) and biraderi (community)' (Basit, 2012; 5). *Purdah* is a mechanism through which *izzat* can be maintained and,

...meaning curtain, is the word most commonly used to describe the system of secluding women and enforcing high standards of female modesty in South Asia, particularly Pakistan and India (Papanek, 1971; 517).

³ It should be noted here that, according to the 2011 Census, 91.5% of Pakistanis living in England or Wales are Muslims, and therefore this research will largely refer to Pakistani Muslims.

Furthermore, Ahmad (2001; 143) states that 'Muslim families are often observed as placing strict cultural or 'patriarchal constraints' on the movement of women ('purdah')'.

These mechanisms should not be seen as central to all Muslim women's experiences – indeed Ahmad (2001; 143) refers to '...the heterogeneity of Muslim expression.' Further, while notions of *izzat* and *purdah*, depending how strictly they are applied, are likely to exert a great influence on the behaviour of female family members, it should also be noted that men's behaviour plays a central role in maintaining them. Particularly post-marriage, Pakistani men are expected to contribute to their families financially, and in-so-doing, ensure that female family members do not *have* to work (e.g. Charsley, 2005). Indeed, Werbner (2007; 166) states that: 'Defending familial honour in feuding relations and protecting the chastity of its women endows a person, as he grows older, with izzat...' In this way, men and women might best be viewed as interdependent. Nonetheless,

...women who are sheltered become important demonstrators of the status of their protectors, and their behaviour becomes important in terms of honor and family pride for an entire kin group (Papanek (1973; 293).

The emphasis on female modesty is central to the practice of *purdah*, and this is achieved through two mechanisms, which Papanek (1971; 518) refers to as 'separate worlds' and 'provision of symbolic shelter'. 'Separate worlds' refers to the different spaces occupied by men and women under a *purdah* system. Papanek (1971; 518) suggests that this separation of worlds

...relates most closely to the division of labor, in terms of actual work allocated to different categories of people, which underlies the distinctions made between the men's and women's separate worlds through the institution of purdah.

'Symbolic shelter' reflects the asymmetrical separation of the sexes, and relates to impulse control and control of women's sexuality, both of which are linked to *izzat* (Papanek, 1973). Central to the idea of symbolic shelter is the '...strongly felt tension between the kin unit and the outside world', and the idea that 'women become vulnerable when they move outside the home, but men do not suffer a corresponding vulnerability when they move from the outside world into the home' (Papanek, 1973; 315).

This quote explicitly describes the ways in which the separation of sexes is asymmetrical, and relates to the 'separate worlds' occupied by men and women. While men are safe in women's 'worlds', the reverse is not true, and this limits women's mobility outside the home. Papanek (1971; 1973) suggests two different instruments that are used in the observance of *purdah*: physical segregation of women from men, and the covering of women's faces and bodies. These will now be discussed in greater detail with specific reference to the impact

they might have on labour market participation, given that *purdah* has been described as imposing 'tighter limits on women's spatial mobility' (Ballard, 1990; 240).

3.3.1 Physical segregation of women from men

Where *purdah* is strictly observed, men and women occupy separate spaces (Papanek, 1971). In Pakistan, the physical segregation of women from men is reflected in the layout of houses, whereby a *purdah* curtain means that women may speak to men to whom they are not related without actually seeing them or being seen by them. Furthermore, living rooms may have a separate entrance, so that male visitors to the household might never encounter any of its female members (Shaw, 2000). However, the practical implications of physically separating men from women vary, and may depend on wealth;

Within any village, strict observance of purdah is generally associated with families wealthy enough to allow their women not to work. In poorer families, women have to work in the fields alongside men and usually their contribution to the household economy...is essential to the household's survival (Shaw, 2000; 75).

By contrast, smaller houses in the UK compared to those in Pakistan make '...no allowances for purdah' (Shaw, 2000; 81), whilst the concentration of Pakistani men in low-paying and precarious work, as well as higher poverty amongst Pakistani families, is likely to affect familial decisions regarding the division of labour, which can in turn create a necessity for women to participate in a labour market where gender segregation might not be practical if it involves relying on a single, and unreliable, income. Lalani et al. (2014) estimate 46% of Pakistanis to be in poverty, while Catney and Sabater (2015; 23) report higher occupational segregation among Pakistani men, compared to men of other ethnicities, as well as a greater likelihood of being in self-employment, which '...could be an indicator of entrepreneurial success, but may more likely be an outcome of discrimination by potential employers.' Just as women from poorer families in Pakistan may be expected to work out of necessity (Shaw, 2000), the employment prospects of Pakistani men in the UK may create the need for an additional wage. This is even more complex where Pakistani men move to the UK to join their British wives, given that immigration laws mean women being joined by spouses must provide evidence that they can 'meet the financial requirement' by earning a minimum annual income of £18,600 before tax (Citizens Advice, 2016). The segregation of men from women as an instrument of purdah therefore is more difficult to implement for Pakistanis living in the UK.

Nonetheless, lower levels of employment, and higher levels of economic inactivity amongst Pakistani women in the UK could be viewed as an indication of strongly demarcated gender roles and continued gender segregation amongst the Pakistani community. Shaw (2000)

argues that, within Pakistani families, the gendering of activities begins at puberty, with girls encouraged to engage in domestic tasks, while boys are encouraged to socialise. This continues into adulthood, where the division of labour and therefore physical space remains highly gendered, and reflects previous findings by Papanek (1971; 520) who stated that:

The allocation of labor in a purdah society is the counterpart of the allocation of living space - that is, women work with other women in and around the home at one set of tasks, while men work with other men at another set, outside the home.

The gendered division of labour and space also means that men and women are interdependent, since men need to earn a large enough wage to support their families. For example, Ramji (2007; 1176) says, of British Muslim men in her own research, that '...their ability to provide was directly related to the duty of Muslim men to enable Muslim women to observe Islamic 'modesty'.' Thus, the gender segregation that is central to *purdah* is dependent on members of both sexes occupying the 'correct' roles.

3.3.2 The covering of women's bodies

The second 'instrument of *purdah*' outlined by Papanek (1971) is the covering of women's bodies, by wearing a burqa or veil. Such covering maintains the separation of women from men, providing another form of 'curtain', but provides greater flexibility for women in terms of the spaces they can occupy. In this way, the burqa is '...a liberating invention, since it provides a kind of portable seclusion which enables women to move out of segregated living spaces while still observing purdah' Papanek (1971; 520).

Nonetheless, veiling, however it is done, plays a complex and multi-faceted role in the lives of Muslim Pakistani women. Whilst veiling is, on the one hand, liberating in terms of the greater mobility it affords wearers, it has also been perceived as a symbol of patriarchy. For example, Papanek (1971; 520) states that in some cultures men wear veils, a practice which '...serves to increase the status and power of an individual', whilst for women the veil serves to reinforce the ideal attributes of 'attractiveness and vulnerability.' Chakraborti and Zempi (2012; 269) state that:

In the current climate, the veil is the key visual symbol of Islam. The veiled female body is central in the construction of discourses on the difference of the Muslim as 'other' with the non-Muslim 'self'. The effect is that the multiple meanings of the veil are erased, and only one stands out: the veil as a symbol of gender inequality.

Despite this, for Pakistani women in Britain, the veil plays another important role; here, veiling and other forms of Islamic dress have been used by Pakistani women as a way of asserting religious identities and realising rights, whilst adhering to Islamic dress-codes

(Dwyer, 2000; Brown, 2006). As such, wearing a veil can be a liberating act. First, it increases mobility whilst enabling women to observe *purdah*, thus helping to maintain familial *izzat*. Second, it enables women to reassert their religious identities in a country where they belong to a minority.

Nonetheless, veiling can be simultaneously liberating and limiting; the relationship between looking visibly Muslim and labour market participation is not straightforward. Conducting research in Bradford, West Yorkshire, Hussain and Bagguley (2012) found that South Asian Muslims experienced a backlash from the 7/7 bombings due to their skin colour as well as their Islamic dress. Islamophobia in the labour market has also been documented by Khattab and Johnston (2012), Evans and Bowlby (2000), and Steill and Tang (2006; 14) who stated that in their research:

The women felt that their experiences of racism were further compounded by sexist attitudes and assumptions based on their dress. This was particularly relevant to those Muslim women who wear the Hijab... Some women linked their experience to September 11th.

This further demonstrates the complexity of Pakistani women occupying two different and sometimes conflicting contexts. For some, veiling facilitates greater mobility outside the home, and enables them to participate in education and paid work that is not gender segregated. However, within the British context, Islamophobia has increased in response to a spate of terrorist attacks perpetrated by Muslim extremists post 9/11 which, exacerbated by some sources of mainstream media, might place women who wear veils at a disadvantage. Therefore, Pakistani women living in the UK run the risk of being disadvantaged both by limited mobility outside the home, and negative perceptions of attempts to increase their mobility; in short it is potentially difficult to observe *purdah* and also participate in the labour market.

Nonetheless, there is great variation in the ways in which *purdah* is practiced, and it is not undertaken in a uniform manner (Brah, 1993; Ahmad, 2001). To perceive *purdah* and *izzat* as instruments of the oppression of Muslim woman firstly ignores the role of policies that shape labour market participation for *all* women, secondly ignores the impact of discrimination perpetrated by employers, and thirdly overlooks the argument that *purdah* is merely another system of patriarchy with a more formalised name. The next section, therefore, considers parallels between *izzat* and *purdah* and the male breadwinner model; it has already been argued that gendered labour divisions and policy interventions remain underpinned by this model, though this may be more implicit than *purdah*.

3.3.3 Izzat, purdah and the male breadwinner model: drawing parallels

The segregation of men and women, and subsequently the gendering of labour, that has been described as central to *purdah* also echoes the male breadwinner model discussed in Section 3.2. Indeed, Papenek (1971; 517) states that '...purdah shares many fundamental features in common with other societies.' Furthermore, Brah (1993; 163) argues that

...where families do wish to observe such norms the prospect of women going out to perform paid work causes deep concern because it is thought to signal the inability of men to provide for the economic maintenance of the household.

This echoes the male breadwinner model, which also describes a household where men work so that women do not have to. Additionally, the interdependence inherent to the *purdah* system, outlined in the quote above, echoes the male breadwinner model whereby women's participation in unpaid domestic labour supports men's participation in paid labour, and vice versa; this has also been highlighted by Marxist-feminists (e.g. Hartmann, 1979), who have argued that men's role as primary earner depends on women taking responsibility for domestic work. Similarly, young Muslim men may rely on women to be their 'dependents' as a way of reinforcing what they view as their duty as a primary earner (Ramji, 2007). Men and women are therefore interdependent in order to maintain moral obligations to participate in paid or unpaid labour respectively.

Caplan (2000; 100) describes *purdah* as '...a morally sanctioned system of differentiation that in practice varies considerably', but the relationship between morality, gender roles, and labour divisions is certainly not exclusive to those who observe *purdah*. For example, Gerson (2002) asserts that in modern societies, women and men are 'divided into different moral categories', where men demonstrate their capacity to care for others by sharing 'financial rewards.' These different moral categories are also reflected in the work of Duncan et al. (2003) who suggest that women's moral obligation to 'care' contributes to the persistence of the male breadwinner model. Papanek (1973; 289), too, argues that:

On any continuum of the ways in which societies define a 'woman's place', the purdah system - which sharply limits a woman's mobility outside her home - occupies one of the more extreme positions (Papanek, 1973; 289).

In this way, therefore, the *purdah* system might just as well be viewed as another example of a patriarchal system, even if is potentially more strict.

The purpose of these sections has been to highlight the gendered context within which Pakistani women might participate in the labour market. Despite policy shifts, men and women do not participate in the labour market the same way, and women are

simultaneously expected to earn money and provide domestic labour. Pakistani families in the UK may adhere to a *purdah* system, whereby women and men play interdependent roles that enable women to preserve their modesty. The ways in which *purdah* is observed vary (Brah, 1993), and some aspects of it are not dissimilar to the assumptions of the male breadwinner model, which continues to describe British households (Papanek, 1973; Daly, 2011). Nonetheless, the roles of *izzat* and *purdah* must not be overlooked in considering how Pakistani women engage with the British labour market. Central to *izzat* and *purdah*, and also a key life-stage factor, is marriage, which is discussed in Section 3.4.

3.4 Marriage

Dale et al. (2006) argue that although white British women were historically expected to give up work once they were married, by the 1970s, labour market participation tended to be interrupted by children rather than marriage (Dale et al., 2006). This means that it can be difficult to separate the effects of dependent children and childcare from the effects of marriage, particularly since the two are often interconnected - for example ONS (2016) report that lone parents and cohabiting parents with dependent children are outnumbered by married couples or civil partners with dependent children. Given that parents are more likely to be married or in a civil partnership, it is therefore difficult to determine whether women's labour market participation is shaped by marriage or dependent children. Nonetheless, Dale et al. (2006) suggest that, for Pakistani women, marriage affects labour market participation irrespective of dependent children. Similarly, Bhopal (1997) found that marital status had more of an impact on economic activity for Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi groups than for other ethnic groups, whilst Salway (2007; 825) argues that marriage is one of several '...important predictors of economic activity' for Pakistani and Bangladeshi women living in the UK, and found lower economic activity rates among partnered or married Pakistani and Bangladeshi women, irrespective of whether or not they had children.

Papanek (1971) suggests that one of the purposes of 'symbolic shelter', a mechanism of *purdah* that describes the separation of men from women, is to exert control over women's sexuality (see Section 3.3). Similarly, Shaw (2000; 164) states that '...these restrictions are designed to control sexuality, to ensure virginity at marriage and chaste behaviour thereafter', whilst Dale and Ahmed (2011; 903) assert that '...marriage for Pakistani and Bangladeshi women tends to be seen as a family, rather than an individual, affair and is directly related to the status and honour of the family.' Therefore it is evident that, not only is women's behaviour shaped by the value of marriage, but that an emphasis on the

importance of marriage within Pakistani communities potentially shapes women's behaviour leading up to the event.

Indeed beliefs and values concerning marriage and being a wife might shape women's behaviour from an early age, which is likely to affect their labour market participation, too. Bhopal (1997a) argues that, leading up to marriage, women's lives are overshadowed by perceptions of what makes a 'good' wife. While girls are encouraged to engage in domestic activities, boys are encouraged to engage in activities outside the home (Shaw, 2000). Therefore, such limits to 'public mobility' (e.g. Ballard, 1990; Peach, 2006) have implications for both participation in paid employment, and activities that might facilitate paid employment, such as education (e.g. Shaw, 2000; see also Chapters 6 and 7). The role of marriage in shaping labour market participation is not exclusive to Pakistani women: Arber and Ginn (1995: 23) suggest that:

Where women earn less than their husbands this will tend to perpetuate their relative powerlessness in marriage; the ideology that women's labour market contribution is less valuable and more easily dispensable than that of their husband is reinforced. This in turn leads to the expectation that women will perform the bulk of their domestic labour, constraining their opportunities in the labour market.

However, it would be remiss not to consider the role of ethnicity in shaping the relationship between marriage and labour market participation for Pakistani women, given literature that suggests both that this continues to be the case for Pakistani women (Bhopal, 1997a), and that it is becoming less likely to be the case for white British women (Dale et al., 2006). Further, there are some aspects of marriage that are more specific to Pakistani women, such as arranged marriage, which will now be discussed.

3.4.1 Arranged marriage and choice

It is difficult to find statistics on rates of arranged marriage, since it is often conflated with forced marriage (a discussion of which is beyond the scope of this research). The Foreign and Commonwealth Office (2013; 101) define an arranged marriage as one where '...the families of both spouses take a leading role in arranging the marriage, but the final choice of whether to marry or not remains with the spouses.' By contrast, forced marriages are those in which at least one party does not have a say and cannot refuse the marriage. Therefore, whilst most arranged marriages are not forced, most forced marriages are arranged. Arranged marriage remains a relatively common practice in the Pakistani community in Britain, though this may be generation dependent, with Pakistani women being increasingly involved in choosing their marital partner (Aston et al., 2007). Berthoud (2005) found arranged marriage to be more common amongst Muslims and Sikhs who moved to Britain

aged eleven or over, compared to Hindus of the same age. Amongst those born in Britain, or who moved to Britain at an early age, just over a third of Muslim and Sikh marriages had been arranged, compared to only 9% of Hindu marriages.

Drawing on her own research with Pakistani families in Oxford, Shaw (2001) distinguishes between different marriage types among Pakistanis and British Pakistanis. Conventionally arranged marriages are those whereby major decisions are made by guardians, and the bride and groom have little control over the decisions made. This category may include what Shaw (2001) terms 'shot-gun' marriages, which are arranged quickly, and are often to cousins. The purpose of such marriages is to avoid a 'potentially shameful liaison' (Shaw, 2001; 323). Although less common among Shaw's participants, there were also some marriages that had been arranged, but where the bride and groom had had considerable influence, which are sometimes described as 'arranged love marriages'. Finally, there are 'love' marriages, which Shaw (2001; 324) states '...constitute a public defiance of parental plans.' However, these marriages can be turned into 'arranged love marriages', and '...presented as if they were conventionally arranged.' The increased rate of 'arranged love marriages' reported by Shaw (2001) further indicates that women are gaining more control over their choice of marital partner.

For Pakistani women, marriage is often presented as constrained, and is pitted against the Western ideology of controlling one's own marriage. Shaw (2001; 323) argues that:

British Pakistanis, like many other British South Asians often describe their marriages as 'arranged', contrasting a traditional, ideal arranged marriage with that of the 'love marriage' of the West. The ideology that underpins a South Asian 'arranged' marriage is that obligations to one's immediate and more extended family have priority over personal self-interest. In contemporary Western ideology; by contrast, marriage is an expression of a fundamental liberty, the individual's right to choose a partner (even though the choice is in practice constrained by such factors as social class, ethnic group, and parental interests).

This indicates that marriage choices are, in fact, constrained for everyone, and in this respect, arranged marriage could also be viewed as an extreme example of a process that is more commonly practiced in Britain, particularly given the extent to which Pakistani women are increasingly able to exercise some control over their choice of marital partner (Aston et al., 2007).

Nonetheless, the process of arranged marriage is emblematic of both the extent to which marriage is a family affair, and the importance of the role women occupy within the family. Bhopal (1997b) links arranged marriage to the ideals underlying *purdah*, and suggests that

agreeing to an arranged marriage is a way of showing respect towards one's parents, and upholding a family's *izzat*. Dale and Ahmed (2011; 903) also link arranged marriage to family honour, describing it as a way of strengthening family ties (for example through marriage to paternal cousins), creating good business alliances, or ensuring that daughters make a 'safe' choice of marital partner. They state that agreeing to an arranged marriage reflects 'an ideology of putting one's family's interests before one's own interests.'

Although this section has largely discussed arranged marriage in relation to exerting control over women's behaviour, arranged marriages serve other purposes too, which are closely linked to the status of Pakistanis as fairly recent migrants to Britain. For example, they may assist in maintaining links with Pakistan (Shaw, 2006, though she focuses on consanguineous marriage). Indeed, Shaw (2006; 315) states that '...to assert that marriages take place with close kin because it is a cultural preference offers no insight into the processes that have led to this pattern.' Furthermore, arranged marriage may be used as an immigration strategy (Shaw, 2006; 327), since '...for many Pakistanis, the marriage of a man to a woman raised in Britain is the only way that a potential wage-earner may enter Britain...' The next section explores the relationship between marriage migration and participation in the labour market, outlining how the gender of the migrant is likely to have an effect on labour market participation and the division of labour more generally.

3.4.2 Marriage Migration

In Chapter 1 it was argued that migration processes have shaped labour market participation for Pakistani men and women, influencing the types of work men are likely to participate in, as well as contributing to women's own expectations of their engagement with paid work. Further, Section 3.4.1 argued that arranged marriage can serve to both maintain links with Pakistan, and as serving as an immigration strategy (Shaw, 2006). It therefore follows that marriage migration is likely to play a key role in women's labour market participation, and that this will also depend on the gender of the migrant.

For women who have moved to the UK to join their husbands, marriage migration is linked to lower levels of labour market participation (Dale and Ahmed, 2011). Literature on the migration process, which has already been outlined in Chapter 1, indicates that women who moved to the UK to join their husbands often did not necessarily expect to find employment; consequently this also had an effect on skills relating to employment, such as qualifications and language proficiency, which are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 6. The Migration Observatory (2017) report that people who migrate to the UK for family reasons are most likely to be spouses or children, that the majority of migrants granted settlements on the basis of marriage were married to British citizens, and further that over half of those settling

in 2015 were from Asia. Furthermore, Shaw (2001), and Simpson (1997) both describe fairly consistent levels of marriage migration amongst the Pakistani community in the UK.

The impact of marriage migration on labour market participation differs according to whether the migrant is male or female. For women, there is an '…expectation that brides will adjust to their husbands' and in-laws' ways and support their interests' (Charsley, 2005; 396). This indicates that brides moving to join their husbands in the UK are in a potentially vulnerable position, since they must adjust to a different culture, as well as the norms of a different household. The discussion of migration processes in Chapter 1, although it focuses on the first wave of migrants in the mid-20th century, argues that women moving to join their husbands might not have any expectations to participate in the labour market, and this is perhaps exacerbated by beliefs and values concerning honour and shame and what makes a 'good' wife, which have already been discussed in this chapter in Section 3.3. The impact of migration, for women, is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 6, in relation to the effect it has on obtaining the skills and qualifications associated with labour market participation.

What is more complex, however, is the effect of women being joined by husbands who have migrated from Pakistan. Dale and Ahmed (2011; 909) suggested that husbands from Pakistan were viewed by their participants as being more traditional,

...which usually meant an assumption that women should be responsible for the home and childcare, should not go out to work, and should be subservient to the wishes of their husband.

However, many of their participants also stated that their husbands were supportive of their work outside the home. This is significant since immigration laws state that women being joined by husbands from overseas must be able to prove that they can support them financially, and this usually necessitates women being in employment themselves (Dale and Ahmed, 2011). Charsley (2005; 90) also wrote about men moving overseas to join their wives, and suggested that:

Migration to the UK offers most Pakistani men the opportunity to earn far more than they could in Pakistan. Nevertheless, the conditions in which these financial gains are to be made can come as a shock to newly arrived husbands.

This suggests that, although it might seem attractive for economic reasons, the reality of migration to the UK for Pakistani men might not match expectations. This is particularly evident when considering the concentration of Pakistanis in low paid, precarious employment (e.g. Bradshaw et al., 2010), which in turn may necessitate both partners being active in the labour market.

This section has discussed the role that marriage might play in shaping labour market participation amongst Pakistani women, and explored the ways in which the emphasis on marriage links to *izzat* and *purdah*. It has also drawn parallels between Pakistani and Western marriage practices, although marriage migration remains more common for Pakistanis. Having described the role that women play in the family, Section 3.5 explores work-care consolidation in terms of the use of formal and informal childcare, and part-time and flexible working arrangements.

3.5 Work-care consolidation

The need to combine work and care has been identified as a key life-stage factor that affects labour market participation (e.g. Viitanen, 2005; Salway, 2007; Yeandle and Joynes, 2012). Therefore, given the increasing promotion of individualisation, whereby both adults in a family are expected to work irrespective of family commitments (Daly, 2011), this section will consider firstly how policy makers have sought to facilitate the combination of work and care, and secondly whether, by enabling more women to participate in the labour market, such initiatives increase the chances of both parents working. Specifically, availability, affordability, and quality of childcare, and the availability of flexible or part-time working have been discussed extensively in terms of the opportunities they afford mothers (e.g. Crompton, 2002; Chevalier and Viitanen, 2002). One way in which both parents might be able to participate in the labour market is by outsourcing the care of their children.

Although childcare is not the only form of care, this section largely focuses labour market participation amongst women with dependent children. Dependent children affect work trajectories for both men and women, but in different ways. Although ONS (2014) reports slightly higher rates of employment amongst women with dependent children than those without, this says nothing about the ways in which having dependent children affects women's employment qualitatively, which in turn is arguably based on the assumptions of the male breadwinner model, outlined in Section 3.2. For example, Joshi (1998) suggests that child-rearing, for men, is based on the fulfilment of a breadwinning role, whilst Hardill and Watson (2004) found that men with dependent children were slightly more likely to work than those without dependent children. ONS (2015; 9) report that:

In 2015, 79.8% of people aged 16 to 64 with dependent children were employed compared with 69.9% of people without. Those with dependent children make up 37.0% of all workers that were employed in 2015. Employment rate for married or cohabiting men was 91.8% and for women, 72.9%. The disparity in employment rates between men and women without dependent children was much smaller, at

71.8% for men versus 67.8% for women. This indicates that where couples had dependent children, men were more likely to be in employment than women.

In sum, men with dependent children are more likely, and women with dependent children less likely, to participate in paid employment. As well as affecting employment rates per se, mothers are penalised for taking maternity leave; Joshi (1998; 166) found that women who returned to work after leave were paid less than childless women, whilst women with children who maintained 'employment continuity' were paid as much as childless women. Nonetheless, none of these women were 'remunerated as well as men.' Similarly, Tomlinson et al. (2009) report higher levels of occupational segregation amongst women returners, particularly if they return to work part-time. Indeed, the potentially negative effects of choosing to take up part-time work are discussed in greater detail in Section 3.5.2.

This thesis has already stated that Pakistani women have distinct patterns of labour market participation, with a lower concentration in paid employment and a larger percentage who are economically inactive. Further, this chapter has highlighted the central role women play in maintaining a family's *izzat*, whereby key life-stage decisions such as choice of marital partner become a family, rather than an individual affair. Dale et al. (2005; 8) state that, in comparison to women of other ethnic groups,

South Asian families traditionally have strongly demarcated gender roles, reinforced by a belief in the importance of the family and of the role of a mother in bringing up children.

This indicates that, for Pakistani women, concepts of motherhood are likely to shape decisions regarding the consolidation of work and care, and in turn participation in the labour market. Furthermore, Nandi and Platt (2010) report higher numbers of children per household in Pakistani and Bangladeshi families, whilst Ahmad et al. (2003) state that many of the Bangladeshi and Pakistani women they surveyed preferred to look after children themselves rather than leave them with a stranger, which '...poses a significant barrier to employments amongst Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in particular' (Turner and Wigfield, 2012; 648). Similarly, Badawi (1971; no pagination) argued that:

Islam regards her [woman's] role in society as a mother and a wife as her most sacred and essential one. Neither maids nor baby sitters can possibly take the mother's place as the educator of an upright, complex-free, and carefully reared child.

Having and caring for dependent children invariably affects labour market participation for *all* women. However, Pakistani women are likely to have more children than white British women, and may also have a preference for looking after their children themselves, which is

likely to be shaped by a cultural emphasis on the role of the mother in raising children. Historically, this has also been the case for white British women. Nonetheless, Pakistani women and white British women might differ in their strategies for consolidating work and care. Such strategies will now be considered in terms of two key mechanisms through which women might combine work and care: outsourcing of childcare, in either a formal or informal capacity; and working part-time or flexibly.

3.5.1 Formal and informal childcare

For women who wish to participate in the labour market, one of the ways they might seek to consolidate work and care is through entrusting their children to someone else while they work. The provision of formal childcare services is highly relevant to this research not only because it aims to help women into the labour market, but also because of the message it communicates about adults working. Indeed, the provision of formal childcare, given its aim to increase the chances of both parents working, can be linked to individualization and the adult worker model, as suggested by Daly (2011; 11), who writes that:

Individualization is furthered also by the moves to provide childcare services outside the family and the increasing interest on the part of European welfare states in the availability and range of childcare services.

Here, it is suggested that the provision of childcare services signifies a move towards an adult worker model, in ensuring that both adults in a family can participate in the labour market. However, this section will argue firstly that the high costs of formal childcare serve as a disincentive from using it, secondly that the arrangement of formal childcare remains a women's issue, and thirdly that women, and in particular Pakistani women, may have reasons for not choosing to take up formal childcare, irrespective of prohibitive costs.

The Childcare Act 2006 stipulates that English local authorities should 'so far as is reasonably practicable' provide sufficient childcare to enable parents to participate in paid employment, or undertake training or education that would enable them to do so later on. Therefore, the purpose of this Act is to, where relevant, support *both* parents to work. Certainly, it signifies a move away from the male breadwinner model and towards an adult worker model, by demonstrating that assumptions have shifted regarding the importance of maternal over paternal care. It is, as suggested by Daly (2011), a move towards individualism that simultaneously recognises the role of the family in determining decisions regarding paid labour. However, if local authorities are able to provide childcare, this does not come free of charge. Currently, 3-4 year olds are entitled to 570 hours of free early education or childcare per year, which amounts to 15 hours per week for 38 weeks of the

year; this must be with an 'approved childcare provider', and stops once children reach school age (Gov.UK, 2017b). For children aged 2, parents are entitled to free early education or childcare if they are in receipt of: income support; income-based Jobseeker's Allowance; income-related Employment and Support Allowance; Universal Credit; tax credits and an annual income of under £16,190 before tax; the guaranteed element of State Pension Credit; support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act; the Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (Gov.uk, 2017b). An entitlement of 15 hours of free childcare a week is evidently insufficient if both parents work full-time. In addition, the application of this Act is likely to vary between geographical locations, with different councils having different interpretations of what 'reasonably practicable' means, and as such, provision of affordable childcare is not always sufficient for the amount of people who could benefit from it. For example, in Leeds, Yeandle and Joynes (2012; 10) report a deficit in nursery places, compared to a growth in demand, and furthermore that

The Council's 'sufficiency assessment' in 2011 found that only 15 of 42 areas had enough childcare places for both 3-4 year olds and 4-11 year olds. Most areas where provision was insufficient for both age groups were inner city localities characterised by high levels of deprivation and worklessness (LCC, 2011b; 7, in Yeandle and Joynes, 2012)

Furthermore, they report that the effect of austerity measures implemented after 2010 meant that although spending on early years services rose, it fell in real terms.

Cost is a key consideration in the uptake of childcare services. Viitanen (2005) found that the cost of a typical nursery place exceeded average household expenditure on food or housing. Furthermore, demand for childcare is postulated as leading to increased prices (Chevalier and Viitanen, 2003). This is significant, since the stipulations of the Childcare Act 2006 are such that provision of formal childcare is likely to vary according to local authority; this means that in some areas it is likely to be less accessible than in other areas, not just financially. As such: 'The affordability of childcare remains a problem' (Yeandle and Joynes, 2012; 11). Even so, there are some schemes in place to enable more families to access childcare. For those working over 16 hours a week, extra tax credits will cover some of the costs of childcare, providing the care is 'registered or approved', and employers can also provide childcare vouchers for up to £55 per week (Gov.UK, 2017b).

However, despite the availability of some assistance with costs, many families must pay for formal childcare (Viitanen; 2005). Furthermore, navigating the different systems for credits and vouchers is not simple, and Daly (2011; 17) suggests that '...if mothers want to be in employment on anything other than a short part-time basis they have to put together rather

complex care packages.' Moreover, Bell et al. (2005; 13) argue that, in relation to childcare, '...a recent DfES survey showed that 40 per cent of parents of three and four year olds felt they did not have sufficient information.' The costs of childcare, paired with the complex process of accounting for some of these costs, may mean that although childcare costs tend to be shared for partnered women (Hall et al., 2004) it is a more attractive prospect for one partner not to work (Viitanenen et al., 2005). This relates to women's earnings or projected earnings; Hall et al. (2004; 48) found that

...when weighing the cost of childcare against the household income, there was often an assumption that the woman's wage must be significantly higher than the cost of the childcare to justify the woman working.

They also found that:

Despite the choice to work not always being financially motivated, many felt forced out of the labour market, as their employment could not always support the cost of formal childcare (Hall et al., 2004; 49).

The disincentivising nature of childcare costs amongst low-income families, whereby it is not financially viable to use formal childcare so that both parents can work (Hall et al., 2004), is not the only issue affecting access to formal childcare for Pakistani women, though national statistics show that lower incomes are more common amongst Pakistani families. For example, ONS (2012) report that people living in households headed by someone from an ethnic minority are more likely to live in low-income households, and that this is particularly pronounced in Pakistani and Bangladeshi households. The complexity of obtaining support with childcare costs serves as an additional issue. For example, as well as specifically discussing the financial costs of childcare, Hall et al. (2004) suggest that the complexity of childcare arrangements might have a disproportionate effect on parents from ethnic minority groups, particularly if they have difficulty reading and understanding the information available to them. This language and understanding barrier could, for some Pakistani women, characterise attitudes towards childcare. Furthermore, it has been argued that there might be an issue with the 'cultural sensitivity' of formal childcare (Clark and Drinkwater, 2007), or a lack of formal childcare that is sensitive to the needs of particular ethnic groups. This is relevant not only because second generation Pakistani children might not be used to speaking English in the home, but also because of the specific needs of Muslim children, that might diverge from those of non-Muslim children.

However, formal childcare is not the only option available, and some parents opt instead to use informal childcare, described by Bell et al. (2005) as care provided by ex-partners, grandparents, friends, relatives, or siblings. This runs counter to common definitions of

formal childcare, which is generally paid for (ONS, 2013). Indeed, research by the Daycare Trust (Rutter and Evans, 2012) indicates that informal childcare is more popular than formal childcare. This is also supported by findings from Simon et al. (2015), who found that care from grandparents was proportionally the most popular form of childcare. Rutter and Evans (2012) also found that informal childcare was often used in conjunction with formal childcare as a way of navigating costs, while Simon et al. (2015) found that childcare most commonly consists of a combination of formal childcare and care from grandparents. This may be one example of what Daly (2011), has termed a 'complex care package'. Informal childcare may also be more popular among women who work part-time. For example, Ward et al. (1996), found that women who worked part-time, and who had school-age children, were more likely to use informal childcare than formal childcare, whilst women who worked full-time were equally likely to use either formal or informal childcare. This is in keeping with Simon et al.'s (2015) more recent research, which found formal childcare was most popular among employed, higher income families, while informal childcare was favoured by younger mothers, and those who were not in employment. Evidently, where earnings are lower, or where women are economically inactive, it makes more sense to use informal childcare (Ward et al., 1996).

However, decisions about childcare, including whether it should be performed by the mother, are likely to be affected by more than costs. The extent to which informal childcare is used varies culturally. For example, Aston et al. (2007; 3), writing about childcare preferences among Bangladeshi and Pakistani women, state that:

Many women wanted to look after their children themselves, with the help of their families. Informal childcare from the extended family was common, but use of formal childcare was relatively rare.

A preference for informal childcare might be linked to Pakistani women living in larger households, whereby multiple family members are available to provide childcare (Bell et al., 2005). Furthermore, among Asian families '...use of informal care was linked with working at atypical times, having a low household income and using a large number of hours of childcare overall' (Bell et al., 2005; 2). Nonetheless, Bell et al., (2005) found the use of informal childcare among Asian families to be lower than expected, though they speculate that this could reflect under-reporting among Asian parents, since they consider this finding to be surprising. A key point here is that use of childcare amongst Pakistani women ought to be viewed within the context of lower earnings among Pakistani households in general, given that cost is often cited as a disincentive to use of formal childcare (e.g. Viitanen, 2005). Salway (2007) also identifies cost as a disincentive to using childcare among ethnic minority women.

This section has demonstrated that the provision of formal childcare, given that it is determined by local councils, is often insufficient, particularly for those who live in deprived inner-city areas. For all women, cost has been identified as a major disincentive to using formal childcare, whilst cultural norms regarding gender, motherhood, and the role of the family are likely also to affect the uptake of formal childcare, particularly for Pakistani women. Other research has suggested that informal childcare is a popular alternative to formal childcare, though its use will no doubt be affected by existing social networks, as well as others' decisions about paid versus unpaid labour. For various reasons, women may wish to reduce the extent to which they rely on others to provide childcare, and part-time and flexible working are identified as further strategies for negotiating childcare and labour market participation.

3.5.2 Part-time and flexible working

ONS (2014) report that 54.4% of women with dependent children work part-time, whilst over two thirds of women without dependent children work full-time. Overall, they find that 42% of women work part-time, compared to 12% of men. This indicates that, despite the increasing participation of women in the labour market (discussed in Section 3.2), the nature of their participation differs to the nature of men's participation. The creation of part-time and flexible roles has historically been viewed as a way of enabling women to participate in the labour market (Dale and Holdsworth, 1998), although these roles are also associated with a lack of job security or benefits such as maternity leave or sick pay (Crompton, 2002). Further, Dale and Holdsworth (1998) argue that, because employed Pakistani women are concentrated in particular types of work, they are unlikely to use part-time working as a means of work-care consolidation. This section explores part-time and flexible working, and their role in work-care consolidation.

The gendered nature of work-care consolidation is reflected by the larger numbers of women, and particularly mothers, in part-time or flexible work, compared to men. Women's lower working hours in comparison to men's (ONS, 2014) are likely to reflect an attempt to consolidate work and care. Indeed, Connolly and Gregory (2008: 908) suggest that part-time work is:

...frequently the route which women choose in order to combine continuing labour market involvement with household responsibilities, particularly during the childcare years.

Another option is flexible employment, which Gov.UK (2016) define as '...a way of working that suits an employee's needs, e.g. having flexible start and finish times, or working from home.' Perrons (2000) and Crompton (2002) both distinguish between numerical flexibility,

which focuses on matching labour to demands, and functional flexibility, which entails performing different roles, though they note there is some overlap between the two forms of flexibility. Under this definition, part-time work is a type of flexible working, which also encompasses '...flexi-time, annualised hours, zero hours, and temporary and seasonal contracts' (Perrons, 2000; 1720). Having already stated that part-time roles are dominated by women, it should now be noted that women dominate in *all* forms of flexible working (Perrons, 2000).

At first glance, flexible working might appear to be a positive step in enabling parents to combine work and care, and supporting women's participation in the labour market (Dale, 1998). Nonetheless, this way of working is also associated with a potential loss of opportunity, with Perrons (2000; 1729) arguing that '...opportunities in employment are segregated by time', finding in their case study that managerial roles were '...reserved for employees prepared to work full-time hours', and that training offered for flexible employees was 'task-specific rather than career-enhancing.' Connolly and Gregory (2008; 1468) also associated flexible and part-time working with a loss of opportunity, stating that a quarter of women who shift from full-time to part-time work experience a downgrading, and further making an association between women working part-time and an 'underutilisation of skills.' Similarly, Grant et al. (2005) argue that although part-time work is an important way of increasing women's labour market participation, many women in such roles are 'working below potential'. Of the women they surveyed, 53.0% were not using their skills, qualifications or experience, and their managers were not aware of these, or of their aspirations. Furthermore they found that women employed part-time lacked opportunities for career progression and promotion, with managers unwilling to create higher level part-time jobs. This loss of opportunity for women working part-time was also noted by Tomlinson (2006), and Joshi (1998).

Aside from the loss of opportunity associated with part-time and flexible working, such roles also contribute to the perpetuation of the male breadwinner model outlined in Section 3.2. Perrons (2000; 1999) argues that '...different gender expectations still play a role in practice, equal opportunities policies notwithstanding', and further that the availability of flexible work does not result in equality of opportunity. This is echoed by Crompton (2002; 544), who states that '...if women's paid work remains concentrated in flexible service employment, it is possible that the broad division of labour by sex may not be substantially altered.' Similarly, Atkinson and Hall (2009) argue that flexible working continues to be viewed as a 'women's issue.'

Having argued that part-time or flexible working are popular amongst working mothers overall, but not necessarily the best option in terms of pay, job security, and career

progression, Dale and Holdsworth's (1998) suggestion that this might be less common for Pakistani women is now explored. Although there is not much written about this, the large percentage of Pakistani women who opt out of employment altogether could be taken as an indication that they are less likely to choose part-time working as a means of balancing work with care; this is in keeping with the suggestion that Pakistani women may be less inclined to entrust others with the care of their children (see Section 3.5.1). Shaw (2000) mentions wives of pioneer migrants who have entered the workforce on a part-time basis once their children are older and they have fewer caring responsibilities. By contrast, Dale and Holdsworth (1998) suggests that Pakistani women are less likely to take up part-time work, and associates this with their concentration in certain sectors that simply do not offer such flexible work patterns. This is supported by Grant et al. (2005), who found relatively low levels of part-time working amongst Pakistani women compared to women of other ethnicities. Dale and Holdsworth (1998; 92) conclude that

Minority ethnic women record lower levels of part-time working than White women, irrespective of life-stage and partnership status. With the exception of Pakistani and Bangladeshi women they are also more likely to work full-time...In a wider European context it is the high part-time rates of White women that are distinctive, rather than the employment patterns of minority ethnic groups.

They associate this with the concentration of white women in non-manual jobs, which they argue is significant since employed Pakistani women tend to be concentrated in semi-skilled factory work (Dale and Holdsworth, 1998).

This section has considered the role of flexible forms of working in enabling women to consolidate work and care, as exemplified by the number of women in part-time jobs. It has argued that, although part-time work might be an important route into the labour market, it is also associated with a loss of opportunity and the perpetuation of an unfavourable (for women) division of labour. Having stated that many women work part-time, it is also noteworthy that Dale and Holdsworth (1998) suggest this is more specific to white British women, and this brings into question the extent to which part-time or flexible working are seen as viable options for Pakistani women who wish to participate in the labour market.

3.6 Conclusion

This chapter has outlined and discussed literature that links life-stage factors to participation in the labour market. In order to do so, it has dedicated considerable discussion to considerations of both British and Pakistani contexts, in-so-far as they could be described as representing two patriarchal systems that constrain women's choices, particularly in relation

to participation in paid work. The British labour market is gendered (e.g. Brah, 1993), and this, as well as policy aimed at work-care consolidation, are underpinned by the view that care is a woman's responsibility, and earning is a man's. In addition to this, the practice of *purdah*, depending how it is applied, represents another patriarchal system that has the potential to restrict women's behaviour and affect their decision making, depending on how this is observed. These are the contexts in which Pakistani women in the UK must seek, if they wish, to navigate the labour market.

Given the increasing policy focus on individualisation, whereby '...social policy promotes and valorizes individual agency and self-sufficiency and shifts some childcare from the family' (Daly, 2011; 1), it is evident that patterns of labour market participation, particularly amongst Pakistani women, do not reflect this. Choice is instead constrained by expectations vis-à-vis women and care, and the value placed on marriage. Pakistani women must navigate between two patriarchal systems, and are still faced with additional constraints that make it more difficult for them to enter the labour market. The next two chapters explore firstly marriage, and secondly the role of dependent children, in terms of how they contribute to and shape Pakistani women's labour market participation, drawing on data from the 2011 Census, and data collected from the research participants. Though inter-related, they have been divided into separate chapters due to the association between dependent children and more practical considerations relating to flexible working and childcare, which were outlined in Section 3.5.1, and also because, as this chapter has argued, marriage has an effect on Pakistani women's labour market participation in and of itself.

4 Marriage and gendered behaviours

4.1 Introduction

The literature explored in Chapter 3 suggested that there is a particularly pronounced relationship between marriage and labour market participation amongst Pakistani women living in England and Wales (e.g. Bhopal, 1997b; Salway, 2007). Specifically, marriage rates tend to be higher in the Pakistani (and Bangladeshi) communities (Dale and Ahmed, 2011), and the link between marriage and *purdah* means that, for Pakistani women, marriage affects labour market participation irrespective of dependent children, whilst for white British women, the relationship between marriage and labour market participation tends to be mediated by dependent children (Dale et al., 2006). Furthermore, the *purdah* system, which Shaw (2000) links to ideas about what constitutes a 'good' wife, might also relate to the gendering of behaviours from childhood, as discussed in Chapter 3. Therefore, although marriage and children are no doubt interrelated, for the purposes of this research they are explored separately, given that they are likely to shape labour market participation in different ways; the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation is considered in Chapter 5.

In exploring the complex connection between marriage, gendered cultural practices and labour market participation, this chapter begins, in Section 4.2, with a broad overview of this relationship. Next, Section 4.3 considers the relationship between marriage and gendered behaviours, focusing on what this means for women in paid employment and how it might relate to discrimination in the labour market for Pakistani women. Finally, this chapter explores the effects of marriage migration for both male and female migrants, and how this might influence the relationship between marriage and labour market participation for Pakistani women (having already identified this as a key issue in Section 3.4). This chapter therefore considers the role of marriage as a key life-stage factor with the potential to affect Pakistani women's labour market participation, as suggested by Salway (2007) and Dale et al. (2005).

4.2 Gender, ethnicity, marriage, and the labour market

Dale and Ahmed (2011) report high marriage rates amongst South Asian communities in the UK, as well as suggesting that South Asian women in particular get married at a younger age than women in other ethic groups. This is illustrated in Table 5, which shows marital

status according to ethnicity, age, and gender (for simplicity, this table divides marital status into two categories, so not married includes those who are divorced or widowed/separated). For those aged 16-64, the Pakistani group are the most likely to be married, but there is a gender difference; 21.2% of Pakistani men in this age group are married compared to 43.8% of Pakistani women. In each ethnic group, women are more likely than men to be married in this age-group, but Pakistani, followed by Bangladeshi women, are the most likely to be married. In the 25-49 age group, Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi men and women are the least likely to be single and the most likely to be married; in this age group the gender gap is lessened, whilst the ethnic gap persists. In the 50-64 age-group, all groups with the exception of mixed/multi-ethnicity and Caribbean are more likely to be married than single, though marriage rates remain highest for the Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi groups. Table 5 therefore demonstrates both higher marriage rates in general, and a greater likelihood of early marriage, for Pakistanis. What should also be noted here, however, is that this table does not show incidence of co-habiting; the high percentage of white British people who are 'single' excludes those who are living with partners. This is illustrated in Table 6, which shows living arrangements according to ethnicity, and shows low levels of co-habiting for the Pakistani group, with the highest levels of co-habiting amongst the white British, white Other, and Mixed/Multi-ethnicity groups. Therefore this table demonstrates an emphasis on marriage rather than co-habiting among Pakistanis (e.g. Bhopal, 1997b; Shaw, 2001; Berthoud, 2005; Peach, 2006; Salway, 2007).

Table 5: Marital status in England and Wales for all ethnic groups according to age group and gender⁴

			White	White	Mixed/	Indian	Pakistani	Bangladeshi	Chinese	Other	African	Caribbean
			British	other	multi-ethnicity							
16-	Male	Not married	98.0	92.0	97.8	93.1	78.8	90.2	93.7	89.9	91.5	97.6
24		Married/Civil Partnership	2.0	8.0	2.2	6.9	21.2	9.8	6.3	10.1	8.5	2.4
	Female	Not married	95.8	84.5	94.9	74.5	56.2	58.7	89.3	63.1	82.9	94.2
		Married/Civil Partnership	4.2	15.5	5.1	25.5	43.8	41.3	10.7	36.9	17.1	5.8
25-	Male	Not married	55.8	54.9	67.7	31.5	25.1	24.8	46.9	39.1	47.5	68.7
49		Married/Civil Partnership	44.2	45.1	32.3	68.5	74.9	75.2	53.1	60.9	52.5	31.3
	Female	Not married	51.8	51.9	66.6	26.7	24.3	19.6	38.4	28.9	54.2	72.6
		Married/Civil Partnership	48.2	48.1	33.4	73.3	75.7	80.4	61.6	71.1	45.8	27.4
50-	Male	Not married	32.6	35.8	51.7	10.4	11.3	6.3	19.1	20.2	33.8	54.4
64		Married/Civil Partnership	67.4	64.2	48.3	89.6	88.7	93.7	80.9	79.8	66.2	45.6
	Female	Not married	34.3	41.0	52.5	22.9	27.8	38.5	29.0	34.8	58.8	66.5
		Married/Civil Partnership	65.7	59.0	47.5	77.1	72.2	61.5	71.0	65.2	41.2	33.5

_

⁴ All column totals add up to 100%.

Table 6: Living arrangements according to ethnicity for all adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales

	White British	White other	Mixed/multi- ethnicity	Indian	Pakistani	Bangladeshi	Chinese	Other	African	Caribbean
Married (inc separated)	47.3	42.5	26.3	64.5	63.4	62.1	50.7	56.5	38.5	26.1
Same-sex civil partnership (inc separated)	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.0		0.3	0.3	0.0	0.1
Cohabiting	16.3	18.8	15.0	3.2	3.0	3.0	9.5	6.5	9.5	10.5
Single(never married/registered in civil partnership)	24.5	25.6	46.5	20.7	17.3	19.9	25.3	21.4	28.8	46.3
Married/ in same sex civil partnership	0.7	3.1	2.0	4.7	6.8	7.4	6.5	6.0	7.2	2.7
Separated (inc married and in samesex civil partnerships)	2.4	2.6	3.0	1.7	4.0	2.9	2.2	3.1	7.3	4.9
Divorced or legally dissolved same-sex civil partnership	7.3	5.8	6.2	3.6	3.9	2.0	4.2	4.8	6.8	8.3
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

The higher marriage rates amongst Pakistanis were reflected in the demographics of the research participants, who were all married with two exceptions (one of whom was widowed). The marriage rates amongst the participants could also be accounted for by their ages (since Table 5 shows that marriage is more likely the older people are). However, the quantitative data so far indicates that, if the participants were white British, for example, it might be reasonable to expect a more diverse array of marital statuses. Further, several participants spoke of the importance of marriage for Pakistani women in particular. For example, Fiza (University employee, Leeds), said that 'it's a huge thing not to be married as a Pakistani woman.' Similarly, Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds), mentioned concerns from other members of the Pakistani community regarding whether or not she would get married if she pursued her education, in terms of education potentially pricing her out of the marriage market (this is discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7). These accounts not only support the idea that marriage is valued amongst Pakistanis, but also that the value placed on it has the potential to shape women's behaviour. This, and particularly Hadiga's account, supports Shaw's (2000) findings that, from an early age, girls are encouraged to remain in the home, and boys are encouraged to participate in activities outside of it (though it should be noted that Hadiga's parents supported her pursuing her education).

Dale and Ahmed (2011; 905) state that 'on the supply side, both qualifications and life-stage (partnership and children) have a very big influence on levels of economic activity for Pakistani and Bangladeshi women'. Subsequently, through analysis of both data sources, this chapter has so far supported the contention that a great deal of value is placed on marriage within the Pakistani community, demonstrating a trend for early marriage and high marriage rates, as well as indicating how the importance of marriage might shape life experiences from an early age. Notably, Tables 5 and 6 have demonstrated higher marriage rates and a greater likelihood of early marriage for Pakistanis, as well as a lesser likelihood of cohabiting, compared to, for example, the white British group. The findings in Tables 5 and 6 are supported by qualitative data that suggests firstly the importance of marriage, and secondly the way that this might contribute to and shape engagement with the labour market. Table 7 points to more explicit links between marriage and labour market participation, demonstrating a relationship between marital status and economic activity for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-65 in England and Wales (as with Table 5, marital status has been simplified to two categories).

Table 7: Economic activity for married and non-married white British and Pakistani adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales

	White British male not married	White British male married	White British female not married	White British female married	Pakistani male not married	Pakistani male married	Pakistani female not married	Pakistani female married
In employment	79.1	86.8	74.8	73.5	69.9	84.4	54.7	33.9
Unemployed	9.8	2.4	6.1	1.8	20.3	6.4	14.7	5.0
Retired	2.7	6.4	5.0	11.5	0.8	1.8	3.6	2.4
Looking after home/family	1.0	1.0	7.6	9.7	1.8	2.3	14.4	53.7
Sick or disabled	7.4	3.4	6.5	3.5	7.3	5.2	12.6	5.0
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 7 shows that marriage affects economic activity for white British and Pakistani men and women, but to differing degrees. For both groups of men, marriage is associated with an increase in employment, though this increase is larger for Pakistani men (a difference of 7.7 percentage points for white British men, compared to 14.5 percentage points for Pakistani men). For white British women, marriage is associated with a very small (less than two percentage points) decrease in employment, whilst for Pakistani women this decrease is much larger, at 20.8 percentage points. Additionally, Pakistani women have lower rates of employment than white British women, irrespective of marital status. 54.7% of Pakistani women who are not married are in employment, compared to 74.8% of white British women who are not married. Nonetheless, Pakistani women who are not married have the second highest rates of unemployment, and this indicates that they would like to be in employment. From this analysis, therefore, two things can be concluded. First, there is a relationship between marriage and labour market participation; for each group, marriage was associated with at least a small change in rates of employment. Second, this effect differs according to both gender and ethnicity: it increases economic activity for men whilst decreasing it for women. However, the effect of marriage is considerably larger within the Pakistani group for both men and women, in comparison to the white British group.

The value placed on marriage has been posited as something that shapes men's and women's experiences from childhood, and this is perhaps exemplified by Pakistani women's low employment rates, irrespective of marital status. The increase in men's employment once they are married supports this, alluding to the idea that men, and particularly husbands, are expected to provide for their wives (e.g. Ramji, 2007, and see Chapter 3). This division of labour, and the emphasis on the husband as provider, was also discussed by several of the participants. For example, Sanam (Not in employment, Leeds) and Meesha (Not in employment, Leeds) both stated that they were not *allowed* to work by their husbands, and Nida (Not in employment, Leeds) said that 'husbands work and bring everything home'. Fiza (University employee, Leeds) said that, when she worked rather than her husband, his cousins expressed concern because 'men should be the providers...women shouldn't work because they have to.' Indeed, despite the fact that she was employed, she also endorsed this, saying that 'a husband's role is to be primary supporter.'

So far, this chapter has explored the relationship between marriage and labour market participation, by demonstrating the value placed on marriage in Pakistani culture, and the way that this might shape divisions of labour. It has also argued that, for Pakistani women, marriage affects their labour market participation irrespective of whether or not they have dependent children, whilst for white British women, the relationship between marriage and labour market participation is more likely to be mediated by dependent children. Section

4.2.1, therefore, seeks to explore the extent to which this is the case, and considers whether Pakistani and white British women, as has already been argued, experience this differently.

4.2.1 Marriage and dependent children

As outlined in the introduction to this chapter, this research views marriage and dependent children as separate but interrelated life-stage factors that have the potential to shape labour market participation. This is supported by research that views marriage as being highly valued amongst the Pakistani community (e.g. Bhopal, 1997a; 1997b; Shaw, 2000; Dale and Ahmed, 2011). White British women may have a slightly different experience, given that attitudes to marriage are changing, and marriage now plays a less deterministic role. Dex (1985), and later Dale et al. (2006; 325) argue that, although in the 1950s women were still expected to cease work once they married, by the 1970s 'it was child-bearing rather than marriage that interrupted women's labour market activity.' Furthermore, Dale et al. (2006; 325) argue that, for white British women 'although this relationship [between marriage and labour market activity] is still present, it is much more muted than in the past.' Therefore, in the UK, marriage and dependent children no longer necessarily mean leaving the labour market (though they are likely to shape labour market participation in other ways). Indeed, Table 7 shows a minimal difference in labour market participation rates for married and nonmarried white British women. Table 8 explores the extent to which the relationship between marriage and labour market participation illustrated in Table 8 is mediated by dependent children.

Table 8: Economic activity for married and non-married white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 with and without dependent children in England and Wales

		White British male not married	White British male married	White British female not married	White British female married	Pakistani male not married	Pakistani male married	Pakistani female not married	Pakistani female married
No dependent children	In employment	83.3	80.8	83.9	68.6	69.6	79.0	61.7	39.6
	Unemployed	9.4	2.5	4.9	1.4	20.5	6.8	12.7	5.7
ormar orr	Retired	1.7	11.4	4.0	20.0	0.8	4.7	5.2	7.1
	Looking after home/family	0.8	0.7	2.0	5.6	2.0	2.5	6.0	38.4
	Sick or disabled	4.8	4.7	5.2	4.3	7.1	7.0	14.4	9.2
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Dependent	In employment	81.2	93.7	68.5	79.9	62.1	86.3	49.5	31.5
children	Unemployed	12.1	2.3	8.6	2.2	28.6	6.0	17.8	4.6
	Retired	0.4	0.8	0.3	0.5	0.2	0.8	0.5	0.6
	Looking after home/family	2.3	1.3	18.1	15.0	2.8	2.2	23.1	59.9
	Sick or disabled	4.0	1.9	4.6	2.3	6.3	4.8	9.0	3.5
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 8 shows that, irrespective of gender and ethnicity, the relationship between marriage and economic activity is mediated by dependent children. Simultaneously, the extent to which this is the case, and the effect of this on economic activity, varies according to both gender and ethnicity. For white British men without dependent children, marriage is associated with a small reduction in employment, whilst for those with dependent children, marriage is associated with an increase in employment of 12.5 percentage points. For Pakistani men, marriage is associated with a more pronounced increase in employment, irrespective of dependent children. For those without dependent children, marriage is associated with an increase in employment of just below 10.0 percentage points, whilst for those with dependent children, there is an increase of 24.2 percentage points. This suggests that, for both groups of men, the relationship between marriage and labour market participation is mediated by dependent children, but that for Pakistani men, marriage affects labour market participation in and of itself. This reflects the participants' accounts in Section 4.2. of the husband-as-provider, and also appears to demonstrate the diminishing relationship between marriage and labour market participation in the UK more broadly, where for the majority of the population the affect is minimal.

For both groups of women without dependent children, marriage is associated with a decrease in employment and an increase in inactivity due to looking after home/family. However, this difference is greater for Pakistani women. For white British women, marriage is associated with a decrease in employment of 15.3 percentage points, whilst for Pakistani women, marriage is associated with a decrease in employment of 22.1 percentage points. Furthermore, 38.4% of married Pakistani women are looking after home/family, compared to 5.6% of white British women. For married white British women, those who are not in employment are more likely to be retired (at 20.0%) than to be inactive due to looking after home/family. Evidently, white British and Pakistani women without children are all affected by marriage. For white British women with dependent children, marriage is associated with decreased employment: 79.9% of married white British women with dependent children are in employment compared to 68.5% of white British women with dependent children who are not married. By contrast, Pakistani women with dependent children who are not married are more likely to be in employment than Pakistani women with dependent children who are married (49.5% compared to 31.5%). For white British women with dependent children who are not married, their lower employment rates could reflect the greater likelihood of loneparenthood, whilst employment rates may increase for those who are married due to more egalitarian childcare arrangements. For Pakistani women, however, it is evident that marriage has a significant effect on labour market participation irrespective of dependent children.

Again, the effect of marriage on labour market participation is demonstrated in the accounts of participants who framed the importance of men taking on a traditional provider role in terms of marriage, rather than marriage and children. For example, Heera (Not economically active, Kirklees) said that 'having a child and a husband makes it difficult to work', suggesting a separation in the role of her husband, and her role as a mother. Similarly, in saying 'it's a huge thing not to be married as a Pakistani woman', Fiza (University employee, Leeds) could be viewed as emphasising the importance of marriage, irrespective of other domestic 'duties', in shaping labour market participation. The role of the husband as the provider is a demonstration of his being 'man enough', according to Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds), because 'women working is a taboo.' As such, some married men are expected to demonstrate their role as a provider by ensuring that their wives do not *have* to work, irrespective of whether or not their wives are also expected to care for children.

The data collected in this research reflects findings by Ramji (2007: 1176), whose male participants viewed being a provider as central to their identities as Muslim men, linking this to their shared views about women's modesty. Specifically, Ramji states:

A key way of enabling Muslim women to observe modesty was abstaining from public sphere activity, particularly waged employment. Modesty was in all cases seen as the duty of Muslim women. However, the ability to observe it was contingent on how successful men were in their perceived Islamic role as providers, as this determined the necessity of their female relatives working.

This chapter has, so far, outlined the relationship between gender, ethnicity, and labour market participation, and argued that for Pakistani women this relationship exists independently of whether or not they have dependent children. For white British women, however, the relationship between marriage and labour market participation has become less pronounced and is, conversely, more likely to be mediated by dependent children. As such, this chapter has, so far, focussed on the ways in which marriage potentially constrains labour market participation for Pakistani women. Nonetheless, many Pakistani women are active in the labour market, and therefore Section 4.3 considers the ways in which they participate, and how this is affected by gendered expectations that, as discussed in Chapter 3, are intrinsically related to marriage.

4.3 Women in paid employment

Given that many Pakistani women *are* in employment, the ways in which ideas about marriage and more 'traditional' gender roles might shape the types of employment they are in should also be considered. Table 9 shows occupation types for white British and Pakistani

men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales. Here, differences according to both gender and ethnicity are evident. For both groups, men are more likely than women to work as managers, directors, or proprietors, and men and women in both groups are more likely to work in professional occupations than in any other occupational category. However, for the other categories there is evidence of clustering along lines of both gender and ethnicity. Women are more likely than men, overall, to work in administrative and secretarial roles, though this is more common amongst white British women. Furthermore, both white British and Pakistani women are more likely than their male counterparts to work in caring, personal service, and leisure. Men in most groups are more likely than women to work as process, plant and machine operatives, but Pakistani men clearly dominate in this category.

Table 9: Occupation type for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

	White British male	White British female	Pakistani male	Pakistani female
Managers, directors, proprietors	13.0	7.7	10.7	5.7
Professionals	14.9	16.3	13.0	17.1
Associate professionals	13.6	10.3	7.8	8.7
Administrative and secretarial	4.8	20.3	5.0	16.0
Skilled trades	21.1	2.9	9.8	2.1
Caring, personal service, leisure	2.9	16.6	2.6	16.0
Sales and customer service	4.7	12.0	12.0	16.6
Process, plant and machine operatives	12.9	2.4	24.6	6.0
Elementary occupations	12.0	11.5	14.4	11.6
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

The data presented in Table 9 demonstrates a gendering of occupation type that is consistent with previous research, and that applies to both white British and Pakistani women in the UK. For example, Borghans and Groot (1999) argue that boys and girls are 'presorted' into certain types of occupation, whilst Arber and Ginn (1995; 22) argue that 'women are often side-tracked into 'occupational niches'.' Some of the participants also discussed employment in terms of jobs that were or were not appropriate for women. Indeed, there was an awareness of this even amongst the participants that were distanced from the labour market. Heera (Not economically active, Kirklees) and Atiqa (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) both agreed that teaching assistant or childcare jobs were considered 'good' jobs for women, which reflects the way that the labour market is gendered in the UK. For example, DfE (2016) report that 73.9% of full time equivalent (hereafter FTE) teachers are female, including 84.6% of FTE nursery and primary school teachers, and further that 91.4% of teaching assistants and 82.2% of school support staff are female. This is indicative both of a higher representation of women in roles that not only mirror the gendering of domestic labour, but are more readily associated with the flexibility that enables women to participate in both paid and unpaid labour. For example, Connolly and Gregory (2008; F73) found that in nursing and teaching '89% of women who move to part-time work remain within the profession.'

However, as well as reflecting a preference for roles that might be more accessible to women with caring responsibilities, a concentration of Pakistani women in certain types of employment might also reflect the gender segregation posited by Papanek (1971) as an 'instrument of *purdah*.' For example, the participants in one of the focus groups held in Leeds all agreed that 'husbands do not like their wives working with men, they think women should work with women.' Therefore, the concentration of Pakistani women in certain occupational types could reflect both the gendering of the labour market in the UK, that is likely to be shaped by the need for more flexible working patterns (Connolly and Gregory, 2008, and see Chapter 5 of this thesis), and a preference for roles where gender segregation is more feasible.

While some women were encouraged not to work, or to work in roles that would serve to maintain gender segregation, others spoke of being encouraged to work in more prestigious positions. Indeed, even the participants who were distanced from the labour market said that Pakistani families wanted their daughters to do 'respectable' jobs, illustrating that some jobs were viewed more favourably than others. For the participants in this research, this seemed to be shaped by two things. First, some parents were concerned that their daughters should be able to provide for themselves and maintain some independence. Shaw (2000) echoes

this, associating these concerns with an awareness of increased divorce rates in the UK, in comparison to Pakistan, where divorce is uncommon. A desire for daughters to be successful is also related to izzat; where female family members are the carriers of family honour, it is unsurprising that parents might have high aspirations for their daughters. For example, Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) said that her parents had wanted her to study pharmacy at University, but also said that Pakistani parents tend to know only about 'traditional' jobs, whilst Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) said that she was strongly encouraged by her parents to pursue a career in medicine. She felt that this was partly shaped by her parents' perceptions of gender appropriate careers, and partly by concerns that she should be able to maintain some independence, with her father telling her 'if you become a Doctor it will be your meal ticket...it's a good career for a woman. You will be able to stand on your own two feet.' Hadiga (University employee, Leeds) said that her parents were keen for her to have a career as they wanted her to 'stand on [her] own two feet and not be controlled by a husband.' The prioritisation of certain 'appropriate' careers over others reflects findings from Bagguley and Hussain (2007), who, in their research on South Asian women in higher education, found that female university applicants favoured five subject areas:

Medicine and dentistry, subjects allied to medicine, mathematical and computer sciences, law and business and administrative studies...families generally wanted their daughters to study 'traditional' professional subjects such as law, medicine and dentistry.

Regrets about their own career trajectories and opportunities might also shape parental aspirations for their daughters. For example, Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) stated that her father had obtained a PhD, but suspected he regretted not going into medicine himself. Similarly, Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds) said that her father had chosen to move to the UK to work in the textile industry, rather than pursue his education in Pakistan. This may be reflected in his desire for her to pursue her education. Thapar-Bjortkert and Sanghera (2010; 255) also found that parental hardship could serve as a motivation to succeed in both education and the labour market, and found that 'working-class parents have ambitions for upward mobility for their children and regard education as the vehicle for achieving these ambitions.'

A final theme that was evident amongst those who were active in the labour market was that value was placed on employment, irrespective of financial gains. Atiqa (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) said that working 'is not about money, but about

spending the time to do something for myself, and to use my qualifications.' Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) said that going to work gives her a break and 'it gives me independence'. Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) said that 'having a job is about sanity, being out and learning about social life. If I was sat at home, I wouldn't know what to do.' This raises two key points. The first is that, by placing an emphasis on skills rather than the money, traditional gender roles can be maintained. If women's work is associated with utilising skills and having a break from the house, men can maintain their role as provider. Related to this, Zara (Not economically active, Leeds), said that although she was not permitted by her husband to work, she was allowed to learn new skills, and Nida (Not economically active, Leeds) said that she had completed a beautician course but was not allowed to open a shop, so taught other women from home instead. The other key point raised here is that employment is an invaluable means of decreasing social isolation, meaning that facilitating Pakistani women into the labour market remains a critical issue.

This section, and Section 4.2, have linked the importance of marriage for Pakistanis to the 'strongly demarcated gender roles' that are central to the *purdah* system (Papanek, 1971), and considered how this shapes labour market participation. Although this has presented some of the ways in which choices to participate, or not participate, in the labour market might be constrained, this section has demonstrated how for many women, employment is viewed positively. Where choices *are* constrained, therefore, this must not be viewed as purely a product of Pakistani culture. Many of the women involved in this study were keen to participate in the labour market, but aware of constraints beyond their own religion and ethnicity. In keeping with this, Section 4.4 considers how other peoples' perceptions of Pakistani women, particularly in relation to the views about marriage and gender that have already been outlined, might affect labour market opportunities for Pakistani women.

4.4 Discrimination and perceptions of Pakistani women in the labour market

Discrimination is likely to prevent many Pakistani women from participating in the labour market and, where it is perceived as considerably limiting options, some women may opt out of the labour market altogether if it is anticipated that work will not pay (as discussed in Chapter 1). Discrimination on the basis of ethnicity means that Pakistani women are discriminated against in additional ways, and as such, whilst employment options are limited for white British women too, this is a far more

prominent issue for Pakistani women. Failure to engage with the labour market is therefore likely to be as much a product of the labour market itself as it is of cultural practices that restrict women's access to it.

As discussed in Chapter 3, one way of preserving female modesty for those who observe *purdah* is through veiling, which is an example of what Papanek (1971) terms 'symbolic shelter'. The purpose of veiling is to create a portable barrier, and therefore this is associated with greater mobility for many Pakistani Muslim women, enabling them to leave the house whilst still reducing interactions with men. However, veiling takes on a more political meaning too, by providing a visual cue of religion. Dwyer (1999; 7) describes the veil as 'the dominant signifier for Islam'. Werbner (2007; 162) argues that the multitude of different meanings ascribed to veiling means it can 'endow or deny agency to young South Asian and Muslim women in highly ambivalent ways.' She also describes how Muslims in Britain might adopt veiling in a strategic way to give themselves greater bargaining power, and states that:

Veiling is a mobile form of purdah that secludes a woman while at the same time allowing her to move around freely in public. For Pakistani girls living in encapsulated, highly conservative, immigrant residential areas, veiling is often a small price to pay for freedom of movement (Werbner, 2007; 175).

Therefore, for some women, the practice of veiling is empowering and affords them greater mobility. However, it is simultaneously associated with discrimination in the labour market (e.g. Evans and Bowlby, 2000; Steill and Tang, 2010). This section deals firstly with discrimination in the workplace based on religion and religious dress specifically, and secondly with discrimination based on others' perceptions of Pakistani and Muslim cultural practices.

Given that veiling is common practice amongst Muslims, and given that, according to the 2011 Census, the majority of Pakistanis in the UK are Muslims, Table 10 shows the relationship between religion and economic activity for Muslim and non-Muslim white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-65 in England and Wales. It shows that being a Muslim is associated with lower rates of employment for all groups. However, it has a greater effect on women, with Pakistani Muslim women having the lowest employment rate. This chapter has already argued that the observance of *purdah* is likely to shape Pakistani women's experiences of the labour market but, as demonstrated in Section 4.3, this does not necessarily take the form of non-participation. The lower employment rates amongst Pakistani women could just as easily be linked to increased Islamophobia post 9/11 and 7/7,

which has been associated with increased disadvantage for Muslims in the labour market (e.g. Khattab and Johnston, 2012). Further, Rabby and Rodgers III (2010) report a decrease of 10 percentage points in labour market participation amongst young Muslim men following these attacks, compared to non-Muslim men, as well as declines in real earnings and hours worked, though the affect was lesser for older Muslim men. Further, Abbas (2010; 22) argues that

In the post-9/11 and post-7/7 period, there has been a sharp focus on the identities of Muslim minorities, but with little or no appreciation of the structural constraints often facing many communities.

Table 10: Economic activity for white British and Pakistani Muslim and non-Muslim men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

		WI	nite British		Pakistani	
		Male	Female	Male	Female	
Muslim	In employment	76.8	55.1	80.2	38.8	
	Unemployed	11.0	8.3	10.2	7.8	
	Retired	1.4	4.2	1.5	2.7	
	Looking after home/family	2.1	22.6	2.2	43.4	
	Sick or disabled	8.7	9.8	5.9	7.3	
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Non-Muslim	In employment	82.8	74.2	81.4	54.6	
	Unemployed	6.3	3.9	10.9	8.3	
	Retired	4.5	8.3	1.4	3.2	
	Looking after home/family	1.0	8.6	1.7	26.9	
	Sick or disabled	5.5	5.0	4.6	7.1	
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	

Whilst veiling can provide Muslim women with greater mobility, as suggested in Chapter 3, Martin et al. (2010; 2) argue that: 'Wearing distinctive dress such as the hijab or a turban allows easy identification of adherents of some religions which may lead to discrimination.' Furthermore, the Telegraph (Bingham, 2016) reported that overlooking job applicants who wear hijabs remains an 'acceptable' form of discrimination. A report by the House of Commons and Women and Equalities Committee (2017; 20) demonstrated that potential employers perceived women who wore hijabs in a very specific way, with one participant in their research saying:

...Muslim women tend to be asked more than white British women about marriage, about their childcare, about whether they are looking to have this marital status...It is definitely a difference between white British women and Muslim women.

This anti-Muslim sentiment was also demonstrated in a poll conducted by Ipsos Mori (2006) for the Evening Standard, where over half the respondents stated that 'Muslim women concealing their face is bad for race relations'. Similarly, Tell MAMA (2015), who offer an alternative place for victims to report hate crimes, received 437 reports of anti-Muslim crime in 2015. Further, 61.0% of those who reported such crimes were female, and of this 61.0%, 75.0% were 'visibly Muslim'. They suggest that the hijab is a symbol of 'Muslimness' and

Consequently, a perpetrator identifies this person as a 'Muslim' in conjunction with the notion, disseminated though Islamophobic ideology, that the person is 'oppressed', a 'terrorist', or pathological. (Tell MAMA, 2015; 15)

Pakistani women's labour market participation, therefore, must be considered in relation to such accounts of anti-Muslim hate crime and more generalised discrimination against Muslims. This is in terms of both direct discrimination, and perceptions of Muslim women as 'oppressed' (e.g. Chakraborti and Zempi, 2012), which are likely to affect their experiences both within the labour market and in the lead up to entering it (discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7). This is despite the fact that *purdah* can be adhered to in a multitude of ways (Brah, 1993), and despite the fact that many Muslim women living in the UK are keen to participate in the labour market, viewing it as a valuable way of maintaining independence.

None of the participants in this research discussed their own difficulties in finding employment based on religious or traditional dress, although Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) said that a friend of hers felt that she had failed to obtain employment because she wore a veil. Nonetheless, several participants spoke of traditional dress in terms of how it affected others' perceptions of them once they were in the workplace. Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) said that 'you become invisible when you wear a head covering' and also that '[I] always had to apologise for my religion.' Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds) said that people think it's 'weird' to wear traditional dress, and stereotype those who do. Further, she suggested that some students do not see those who wear traditional dress as academics, though she also felt that traditional dress had not hindered her ability to obtain employment. The fact that not

many participants spoke of traditional dress as a barrier to the labour market might, however, reflect the fact that those who were not in employment had not yet had the 'opportunity' to experience this type of discrimination, and also that those who were distanced from the labour market were likely to be constrained by a multitude of barriers, beyond those associated with religious discrimination.

However, participants did discuss other forms of discrimination that directly related to their religious and ethnic identities. Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees), on taking up a new post, was told by other members of staff that they were concerned she was going to 'Islamify the school', and she expressed concern about the way such attitudes would shape the experiences of the, predominantly South Asian, students at the school (experiences of Pakistani women in educational institutions is discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7 in terms of skills and qualifications). This was behaviour she observed among other members of staff, who made assumptions about parents' abilities to utilise various communication channels and failed to explain to them, adequately, their children's progress at school. Related to this, Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds), said that, on reflection, her experiences in school were partly shaped by people's perceptions of her as a Pakistani girl, saying that her tutors at school and college did not expect her to continue her education: 'People didn't send their girls on to Uni, especially Pakistani girls.' Furthermore, she spoke of the assumption of her careers advisor that she would get married and have children rather than pursue a career. This was, for Hadiqa, counterbalanced by having parents who valued independence and encouraged her to pursue her education, but this will not have been the experience of all women.

These accounts from participants are reflected in other research that specifically posits the veil as a 'key visual symbol of Islam' and a 'symbol of gender inequality (Chakraborti and Zempi, 2012; 269). Subsequently, not only do women who wear veils provide a visual 'threat' to British values, but they are perceived as participating in 'gender based practices identified with Islam that have been perceived as oppressive to women' (Chakraborti and Zempi, 2012; 271). Further, 'veiled women are routinely perceived as submissive, passive, and with very little power over their own lives' (Chakraborti and Zempi, 276). White British women are far less likely to dress in a way that communicates passivity and a lack of power to others (though there are accounts of white British Muslims being perceived in similar way to South Asian Muslims, e.g. Franks, 2010). It becomes difficult, therefore, to tease out the effects of 'tradition' from the effects of structural constraints routinely experienced by Muslim women seeking to participate in the labour market. While it is evident that some women were discouraged from working

by their families, others were encouraged to succeed both academically and in the workplace, but then had to contend with the assumptions of educators and others who might play important roles in shaping their career trajectories. This is discussed in greater depth in Chapter 7.

So far, this chapter has outlined the relationship between marriage, and more broadly expectations of Pakistani women, and labour market participation. This relationship is not straightforward and is extremely varied, resulting in some women disengaging from the labour market, whilst others were encouraged to pursue their careers. This chapter has also outlined the ways in which perceptions of Muslim women are likely to lead to discrimination in the labour market. In particular, whilst veiling can create greater mobility, others may also read it as a symbol of women's oppression. The next section draws a more direct link between marriage and labour market participation by considering marriage migration. This means that a distinction can be drawn between women who live or grew up in the UK and those who migrated later on, and also brings into focus the ways in which labour is divided when the husband is the marriage migrant.

4.5 Marriage Migration

This section focuses on marriage migration and what this means for both male and female marriage migrants, and subsequently how this affects Pakistani women's labour market participation. Shaw (2006; 211) states that 'most Pakistani immigration is now spousal immigration', and, further, 'the migration of spouses to the UK is a characteristically South Asian phenomenon, but Pakistan accounts for more marriage migrants than India and Bangladesh combined.' Related to this, Charsley (2006; 1169) states that:

In recent years, the number of British Pakistanis marrying Pakistani nationals has increased, and the majority of British Pakistanis now probably marry transnationally in this way. For many Pakistanis, marriage is one of very few routes for migration to the UK still possible under the current immigration regulations.'

Marriage migration is, therefore, a significant issue for some Pakistani women, and there are several reasons why it is likely to affect their engagement with and participation in the labour market. First, there are benefits associated with having been born or brought up in the UK as opposed to having moved to the UK later on. Dale (2008; 3), for example, states that:

For women, in particular, we may expect to see considerable change between first and second generations, not only through greater access to education but also in the extent to which traditional cultural norms concerning women's roles may be changing.

The extent to which women that were educated in the UK benefit from having experienced the British education system, as well as language fluency, is discussed in Chapters 6 and 7. The idea that 'traditional cultural norms concerning women's roles may be changing' might be exemplified by the group of participants in Leeds discussed in Section 4.2.1 who, despite being distanced from the labour market themselves, spoke of career aspirations for their daughters. Similarly, Fiza (University employee, Leeds), spoke of her mother who said that it was a 'scandal' for her to work, but then said her mother was keen for her to return to work after her maternity leave so that she could look after the children. This perhaps signifies a change in attitudes towards women and work.

Second, for female migrants joining their husbands in the UK, there are risks associated with distance from their families, particularly if prospective husbands conceal undesirable behaviours prior to marriage (Charsley, 2005). Furthermore, Charsley (2005; 389) suggests that the issues associated with increased familial distance for female marriage migrants is likely to be exacerbated by 'the lack of language skill and local support networks.' In addition, Charsley also highlights the extent to which wives are expected to adopt the norms of their in-laws, particularly given the argument, already made, that some families adhere to norms and traditions more strongly than others, or differently to others (e.g. Brah, 1993). Therefore, the risk for female migrants, in terms of labour market participation, relates to the potential for isolation and a lack of skills, and hence lessened bargaining power, in a foreign country.

However, Charsley (2005; 383) also argues that

Not only are ideas of feminine or masculine at least partly defined with reference to the other, but men play important roles in women's lives, and vice versa. A gendered approach to marriage migration must, therefore, include both men and women.

Given that just under half of marriage migrants from Pakistan to Britain are male, Charsley (2005; 393) draws a link between men's migration and downward social mobility:

Qualifications and work experience may not be recognised, high fees for foreign students deter further training, and lack of local knowledge may be compounded by poor English and discrimination to limit employment prospects.

Given the suggestion (e.g. Ramji, 2007) that men and women depend on oneanother to fulfil specific gender roles, it is probable that where the husband is the migrant, this might serve to complicate the household division of labour.

Overall, therefore, marriage migration is related to labour market participation. Charsley et al. (2006) found that migrant husbands had employment rates comparable to those of their British born and/or raised counterparts, whilst this was not the case for migrant wives, who were less likely to be in employment than their British born and/or raised counterparts. This section begins by exploring this link, with a specific focus on how this affects Pakistani women. Table 11 shows the relationship between birthplace and economic activity for all men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales. It demonstrates firstly that there is a link between place of birth and economic activity, and secondly that this link is gendered. For men, the group least likely to be in employment are those from the UK, whilst those born in the EU have the highest rates of employment. All women have lower rates of employment than their male counterparts, but those least likely to be in employment are those born in the Middle East/Asia. 55.5% of women born in the Middle East/Asia are in employment, compared to the highest rate of 77.4% of women from the EU/Europe. Table 12 shows that 14.0% of Pakistani men, and 19.2% of Pakistani women living in England and Wales were born outside the UK.

Table 11: Place of birth and economic activity for men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

			Europe		Middle East/	
		UK	/EU	Africa	Asia	Other
Male	In employment	82.5	89.1	82.8	84.1	87.0
	Unemployed	6.7	5.2	9.7	7.0	6.4
	Retired	4.3	1.8	2.2	2.3	2.3
	Looking after home/family	1.0	0.9	1.5	1.9	1.3
	Sick or disabled	5.5	3.0	3.8	4.6	3.0
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Female	In employment	74.1	77.4	69.8	55.4	76.8
	Unemployed	4.2	5.2	8.7	6.1	5.4
	Retired	7.9	4.1	3.9	4.9	4.6
	Looking after home/family	8.8	10.7	13.3	28.9	10.5
	Sick or disabled	5.0	2.7	4.2	4.8	2.8
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 12: Place of birth for white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

	White British male	White British female	Pakistani male	Pakistani female
Migrant from outside UK	4.0	3.2	14.0	19.2
UK born	96.0	96.8	86.0	80.8

It is evident that there is a link between birthplace and economic activity, and that this link is gendered, disproportionately affecting Pakistani women who are born overseas, and furthermore that a reasonable percentage of Pakistani women living in the UK were born overseas. This chapter has also argued that marriage remains a key reason for migration to the UK, and that female marriage migrants might arrive in the UK with differing expectations of if or how they might engage with the labour market. To understand this, Table 13 explores economic activity for married and non-married Pakistani men and women according to whether or not they were born in the UK.

Table 13: Place of birth and economic activity for Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

			Male	Female
Not married	Migrant	In employment	69.6	42.3
		Unemployed	26.8	26.9
		Retired	3.6	0.0
		Looking after home/family	0.0	26.9
		Sick or disabled	0.0	3.8
		Total	100.0	100.0
	UK born	Economically Active	75.8	54.0
		Unemployed	15.9	15.8
		Retired	0.6	1.9
		Looking after home/family	1.3	21.3
		Sick or disabled	6.4	7.1
		Total	100.0	100.0
Married	Migrant	In employment	59.1	13.4
		Unemployed	33.6	17.1
		Retired	2.0	0.5
		Looking after home/family	3.4	67.4
		Sick or disabled	2.0	1.6
		Total	100.0	100.0
	UK born	Economically Active	87.9	44.7
		Unemployed	7.7	7.4
		Retired	0.8	0.9
		Looking after home/family	2.0	45.2
		Sick or disabled	1.7	1.8
		Total	100.0	100.0

For women, the highest employment rate is for those who were born in the UK and were not married at 54.0%, while the lowest overall employment rate was for married female migrants at 13.4%. Whether married or not, Pakistani women benefited from being born in the UK, since this increased the likelihood of them being employed. For men, the highest employment rates were for those born in the UK who were married, whilst married migrants had the lowest employment rates, as well as the highest unemployment rates. This supports the idea that migration itself

has a negative effect on labour market participation for both genders, and this will be explored in more depth in Sections 4.5.1 and 4.5.2.

4.5.1 Female marriage migrants and labour market participation

This chapter has demonstrated lower levels of employment amongst Pakistani women who have migrated to the UK, and lower rates still for married migrants. These findings are consistent with other literature that suggests migrants face additional constraints in the labour market (e.g. Dale and Ahmed, 2011). This section reflects on these findings, but focuses on the effects of their adapting to the norms of their new families. The benefits of qualifications, fluency in English, and having experienced the British school system are also commonly discussed in relation to the lower levels of economic activity experienced by female migrants compared to those born in the UK, but these factors are discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7.

Charsley (2005; 396) discusses the practice of wives moving in with their in-laws, which is common in both Pakistan and amongst Pakistanis in the UK, stating that there is an 'expectation that brides will adjust to their husbands' and in-laws' ways and support their interests.' Related to this, Charsley (2005) also highlights the isolation female migrants may experience on moving in with their new family, and joining a new community. This was discussed by several of the participants in this research. Mahira (Third sector employee, Leeds) described the isolation she felt upon moving in with her non-Pakistani in-laws. Although she was born in the UK, she had little contact with her parents after she married her husband. Therefore, although she was not a migrant, her experience is likely to echo aspects of the experiences of some migrants, given the loss of her social network and feelings of isolation once she was married and living with her husband's family. She described feeling 'used' by her parents-in-law because they knew her parents would not come, and becoming a servant in the house, since she had to look after her own children, as well as the children of her brothers-in-law who also lived in the house. Having relocated, she felt that where she lived was 'not my community, not my space.' Although her in-laws allowed her to work part-time, she was still expected to take responsibility for the housework. For Mahira, getting married appeared to decrease both her bargaining power and her mobility outside the home, which was hampered by her in-laws' expectations that she would take responsibility for all the housework. It should be noted, however, that, as a Pakistani in a non-Pakistani Muslim household, she also described being on the receiving end of racist abuse from her in-laws, and therefore this is likely to have exacerbated her feelings of

isolation. Even so, the isolation and lack of mobility reflect other accounts collected for this research, as well as echoing Charsley's suggestion that being a female marriage migrant can be risky not just because of distance but because of having to adjust to a new family. Mahira was not the only participant to highlight the potential risks associated with wives moving in with their in-laws. Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) was married to a Pakistani migrant, and she viewed this as a positive thing because it meant that her in-laws were in Pakistan rather than England. Therefore, she was aware that her own marriage to a Pakistani migrant counterbalanced the potentially negative repercussions of moving to a new country and living with a new family. Farzia was evidently aware of the potential risks associated with marriage migration, particularly when the migrant is female.

Female marriage migrants are also likely to have different expectations of labour market participation in comparison to male marriage migrants. Much of the literature on the initial migration of South Asians to Britain, which was outlined in Chapter 1, suggests that women moving to the UK to join their husbands might arrive with low expectations regarding participation in the labour market, and instead expect to take on a strictly domestic role (e.g. Leslie and Lindley, 2000). This links to the suggestion made by some of the participants that Pakistani culture is less permissive, which again is likely to shape women's expectations about the division of labour. Indeed, several participants drew distinctions between Pakistani, Muslim, and British culture. For example, Heera (Not economically active, Kirklees), and Atiqa (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) both agreed that Pakistani culture is stricter and women have fewer rights, and pitted this against Islamic culture, which they viewed as more permissive. Similarly, other participants spoke of men in Pakistan being unwilling to help with domestic work. As such it is not unsurprising that women who migrate to the UK from Pakistan, for marriage in particular, do not necessarily expect to participate in the labour market. Indeed, the majority of participants who were distanced from the labour market had migrated from Pakistan, rather than having been born or brought up in the UK. Therefore, the experiences of female migrants, as well as being constrained by differing skills and qualifications, and adjusting to a new community, are likely to be shaped by having come from a country where women are afforded less mobility and are not necessarily expected to participate in paid employment.

4.5.2 Male marriage migrants

To be joined by a spouse, both men and women must demonstrate that they 'meet the financial requirement' to sponsor them by earning £18,600 a year before tax

(Citizens Advice, 2016). Consequently, husbands can no longer expect to move overseas to marry a wife who has not been active in the labour market, and therefore male migrants 'may start married life dependent on their wife and her family' (Dale and Ahmed, 2011; 922). Furthermore, there might be a clash between their expectations and those of their wives, who have grown up experiencing British culture and the British education system. This has already been mentioned in terms of Pakistani culture being perceived as less permissive than British culture. For men, joining their wives and their wives families in the UK 'may result in the loss of much of men's traditional power in the family' (Charsley, 2005; Dale and Ahmed, 2011; 904). Further, Charsley (2005; 393) states that:

Immigration regulations requiring demonstrable sources of income to support spousal migrants mean that most women importing husbands from Pakistan are in employment and may, at least initially, hold better paid or higher status jobs than the husband can immediately hope to obtain.

This section will therefore consider what happens when the husband has migrated to join his wife in the UK, and how this affects divisions of labour.

The costs associated with migration, as already outlined, mean that men relocating to the UK for marriage must, at least initially, accept that their wives are likely to be in employment. Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) moved to England as a young child, and her husband migrated from Pakistan. She left school with some O Levels and immediately entered the labour market, having received a lot of support from her teachers at school to do so. She said that her husband did not initially want her to work, but that when he arrived in the UK he had no access to money, so she continued to work. In this instance, therefore, the more traditional division of labour was subverted out of necessity. Nadia did take some time off whilst her children were young, but after returning to work she and her husband both worked part-time and evenly split household chores and childcare. Nadia's account echoes Dale and Ahmed's (2011) suggestion that situations where husbands from overseas join women in the UK may provide the opportunity for women to challenge gender roles, since they necessitate greater mobility outside the home for women.

Charsley (2005) argues that the risks faced by male marriage migrants have elicited less attention than those faced by female migrants, but they are certainly worth considering here to the extent that men's and women's labour (in terms of both labour market participation and paid labour) are interrelated, as is highlighted throughout this thesis. For some men, moving to Britain to join their wives is associated with downward social mobility. Charsley (2005) discusses an

interviewee who had almost finished his medical training, and on moving to Britain had to seek work through an agency. Similarly, Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds) stated that when her father moved to the UK from Pakistan in the 1960s, he turned down a university scholarship in favour of manual work in Yorkshire, demonstrating a relationship between migration and loss of opportunity in the labour market. It has already been suggested in this chapter that Pakistani men may find themselves working in precarious and low-paid work. Table 14 demonstrates that there are some differences in occupation types for Pakistani men born in the Middle East/Asia, in comparison to those born in the UK. Whilst there are some similarities across the categories, it is notable that 30.5% of men who were born in the Middle East/Asia are in the 'Process, plant and machine operatives' category. This category represents jobs which '...do not pay badly but employees from ethnic minority groups are paid less well than their white counterparts...' (Brynin and Longhi, 2015), and could therefore be taken as an indication that male migrants are disadvantaged in the labour market.

Table 14: Occupational categories for Pakistani men aged 16-64 born in England and in the Middle East/Asia

	Born the UK	Born in Middle East/Asia
Managers, directors, proprietors	10.8	10.7
Professionals	28.0	26.8
Associate professionals	12.3	5.2
Administrative and secretarial	7.0	3.9
Skilled trades	7.3	11.0
Caring, personal service, leisure	3.0	2.4
Sales and customer service	16.5	9.6
Process, plant and machine operatives	15.2	30.5
Total	100.0	100.0

Some participants held negative views of men born in Pakistan, which were largely related to perceived differences between Pakistani and British cultures. For example, of her husband, Farzia (Administrator, Leeds) said 'he's not from Pakistan so he's not backwards.' For some participants, Pakistan-born husbands are viewed as being less permissive and more 'strict' than British-born husbands. This was

often in relation to distinguishing between Pakistani and Islamic culture; the former less permissive, based on negative perceptions of British women, and the latter more open to interpretation and not necessarily constraining. Indeed, Farzia said that 'religion is one thing, culture's another', and described culture as oppressive, whilst 'Islam is free'. Heera stated that her Pakistan-born husband (she was UKborn) could be strict but she did not mind. In differentiating between Pakistani and Islamic culture, Heera and Atiqa (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) agreed that Pakistani culture was quite strict and that women in Pakistan have fewer rights, whilst Islam states that husbands should help their wives, affording women more rights. Similarly, other participants said that men from Pakistan were less likely to help with the housework. Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) said that 'English men encourage you to work, Pakistani men are more dominant.' Nonetheless, she suggested that, since men born in Pakistan who marry UK-born women have a 'golden ticket', they must adjust to their wives' life-styles, further reflecting the notion that it is perhaps easier for British-born women to be joined by Pakistani husbands than vice-versa.

This section has demonstrated how the relationship between spousal migration and labour market participation varies according to the gender of the migrant. Female marriage migrants are less likely to be economically active than their British-born counterparts, and in this chapter this has been considered in terms of isolation and adherence to the norms of their new families. The experiences of female migrants are reconsidered in terms of skills and qualifications in Chapters 6 and 7. For women with husbands born in Pakistan, their experiences of the labour market are more complex. There is certainly a greater necessity for wives of Pakistani migrants to be economically active, not least because of visa requirements. However, Pakistani husbands are viewed as more strict, and this might have an effect on their wives' ability to participate in the labour market.

4.6 Conclusion

This chapter began by demonstrating higher marriage rates amongst Pakistanis in England and Wales than amongst other ethnic groups (excluding Bangladeshis), and further argued that the relationship between marriage and labour market participation is, for Pakistani women, only partially mediated by dependent children. This chapter has also argued that marriage affects men and women's labour market participation in different ways.

Initially, the relationship between marriage and Pakistani women's labour market participation was considered in relation to the linkage between an emphasis on marriage amongst Pakistanis, and a tendency to observe gender norms quite strictly, which is related to *izzat* and *purdah*, discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3. Accounts from participants suggested that, for some, their lives are shaped by an emphasis on marriage (although there is variation as to *how* this happens, which is discussed in greater detail in terms of participation in education, in Chapters 6 and 7). Furthermore, some participants viewed earning as being a 'husband's responsibility', though this did not necessarily mean they did not participate in the labour market. However, the role of commonly held stereotypes of Pakistani women, and in particular those who were also visibly Muslim, was also argued to shape labour market participation.

Marriage migration was also explored in this chapter, and was postulated as affecting labour market participation differently according to the gender of the migrant. Being a migrant is risky for both men and women, and this was viewed as partially being due to a clash between British and Pakistani cultural norms. For female migrants, the process of relocating can be isolating, whilst for male migrants, relocating might challenge pre-existing ideas about how household labour should be divided, particularly if they find themselves unable to find well-paid, stable employment. Again, migration is returned to in Chapters 6 and 7, where it is considered in terms of skills and qualifications. Chapter 5 will reconsider some of the issues discussed in this chapter in its exploration of the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation.

5 Children

5.1 Introduction

Chapter 4 explored the relationship between marriage and labour market participation. This demonstrated how an emphasis on preserving women's modesty, particularly prevalent amongst Pakistani Muslims (e.g. Papanek, 1971; 1973; Ramji, 2007), might shape women's choices pertaining to labour market participation. It argued that, for Pakistani communities, there is a propensity to locate women in the home and men in the workplace. This contention was supported by the analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data. Nonetheless, this was not the case for all of the participants. Whilst some were distanced from the labour market (Turner and Wigfield, 2012), others were actively participating in it, and spoke of how they valued work, and further, of how they were encouraged by their parents to develop their careers and maintain their independence.

Furthermore, Chapters 3 and 4 have argued that a heavily gendered division of labour is not exclusive to Pakistani communities, but is more of a universal issue. For example, Park et al. (2013) suggest that women still undertake more unpaid housework than men, whilst ONS (2013b) report that 42.0% of women in employment work part-time. Nonetheless Robson and Berthoud (2003; 3) describe South Asian communities in Britain as having '...an "old fashioned" family formation type...' whereby a comparison is drawn between the experiences of South Asian women now with '...white women in Britain during the 1950s and 1960s...Women tend to marry at early ages and have children shortly thereafter.' Notably, coupled with a rise in women's employment between the beginning and end of the 20th century, which almost doubled, the number of British women having children before the age of 30 has steadily declined since the 1960s, whilst the number of women having children over the age of 30 is increasing (ONS, 2014). Further, Chapter 4 demonstrated higher marriage rates amongst Pakistani women compared to white British women, as well as a greater propensity to marry young, and a more pronounced relationship between marriage and labour market participation for Pakistani women.

Dale et al. (2006) suggested that for white British women, the relationship between marriage and labour market participation tends to be mediated by dependent children, whilst Chapter 4 demonstrated that, for Pakistani women, marriage had an

effect on labour market participation irrespective of dependent children.

Nonetheless, dependent children have been cited as a key issue in other research that explores Pakistani women's labour market participation. For example, South Asian women are more likely to have children at an earlier age (e.g. Robson and Berthoud, 2003). Furthermore, previous research (e.g. Nandi and Platt, 2010) suggests that Pakistani women tend to have a greater a number of children than women of other ethnic groups, which may suggest an emphasis on mothering in the Pakistani community. This is in keeping with research by Dale et al. (2006; 461), who state that:

South Asian families traditionally have strongly demarcated gender roles, reinforced by a belief in the importance of the family and of the role of a mother in bringing up children.

The relationship between motherhood and labour market participation is complex to the extent that there is cultural variation in the role of the mother and what is perceived as 'good mothering.' Duncan and Irwin (2004) suggest that African-Caribbean women view spending time in paid work as 'good mothering', where paid work is encapsulated in 'family life'. By contrast, Brown (2006) suggests that, for many Muslim women, motherhood and home-making are legitimate labour choices, whereby domestic labour is valued in the same way as wage labour. Nonetheless, the relationship between motherhood and labour market participation must also be viewed in terms of the increasingly individualised (as opposed to family focused) nature of employment policy in the UK, whereby there is an increasing expectation that all adults in a household will participate in the labour market (as discussed in Chapter 1). Such expectations are complicated by a gendered labour market, and the underlying assumption that women remain responsible for care-giving (e.g. Daly, 2011).

As such, in the UK it is not always easy for mothers to participate in the labour market. For Pakistani women, particularly, this is likely to be further complicated by the aforementioned 'old fashioned' ideas about family formation, which were discussed in greater detail in Chapters 3 and 4. In relation to this, Nandi and Platt (2010) report that, while dependent children are associated with greater household income for many ethnic groups, this is not the case in Pakistani households, for whom dependent children have a negative effect on household income. The relationship between motherhood and women's labour market participation is well documented (e.g. Joshi et al., 1999; Metcalf and Rolfe, 2010). Consequently, it is unsurprising that having dependent children is commonly identified as a key life-

stage factor affecting Pakistani women's labour market participation (Dale 2006; Salway 2007). This relationship is a complex one, since it is likely to be shaped by ideological views of motherhood and the morality of caring, as well as more practical considerations about how best to combine work and care. The increasing individualisation of social policy (e.g. Daly, 2011), in this respect, contrasts with the expectation that childcare is a woman's job. Since fathers work more hours than men without children, and more hours than women with or without children (e.g. Hardill and Watson, 2004), it follows that women are still likely to be charged with the bulk of domestic labour.

Drawing on issues already raised in Chapters 3 and 4, this chapter explores the ways that Pakistani women combine work and motherhood, as well as considering the domestic division of labour more broadly. It begins by exploring the impact of dependent children on labour market participation, and considers how motherhood and perceptions of motherhood might shape this. It then explores ways in which women might seek to combine work and childcare, specifically through flexible working, and the use of both formal, and informal childcare, with a focus on the extent to which current policy that seeks to enable and encourage mothers to combine work and care supports Pakistani women who wish to participate in the labour market.

5.2 Dependent children and labour market participation

The relationship between dependent children and labour market participation affects both men and women, but in different ways. ONS (2014) reports that men with dependent children are more likely to participate in the labour market than those without, whilst having dependent children is, for women, associated with lower levels of labour market participation, as well as a greater likelihood of working part-time. The ONS findings reflect prior research by Hardill and Watson (2004), who found that men with dependent children were likely to work longer hours than men without dependent children, whilst women with dependent children worked fewer hours than women without. The relationship between dependent children and labour market participation for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales is illustrated in Table 15.

Table 15: Economic activity according to ethnicity, and the presence of dependent children for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

		White British		Pakistani	
		Male	Female	Male	Female
No dependent children	In employment	81.9	74.7	75.6	47.1
	Unemployed	5.7	2.8	11.8	8.1
	Retired	6.8	13.7	3.3	6.5
	Looking after home/family	0.8	4.2	2.3	27.3
	Sick/disabled	4.7	4.7	7.1	11.0
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Dependent children	In employment	89.7	74.8	83.1	35.4
	Unemployed	5.4	5.1	8.9	7.5
	Retired	0.7	0.4	0.7	0.6
	Looking after home/family	1.6	16.4	2.3	51.9
	Sick/disabled	2.6	3.3	5.0	4.7
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 16 shows that the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation is mediated by both gender and ethnicity. For both white British and Pakistani men, dependent children are associated with an increase in employment of over 5.0 percentage points, which is consistent with previous research (Hardill and Watson, 2004; ONS, 2014). For white British women, employment remains the same irrespective of dependent children, though the gender gap increases with dependent children, from 7.2 percentage points to 14.9 percentage points. For Pakistani women, however, dependent children are associated with a decrease in employment of 11.7 percentage points, as well as an increase in economic inactivity due to looking after home/family of 24.6 percentage points, compared to an increase of 12.2 percentage points for white British women with dependent children. Furthermore, the largest gender gap is between Pakistani men and women with dependent children, at 47.7 percentage points (although it should be noted that there is also a large gender gap for Pakistani men and women without dependent children).

The findings presented in Table 15 are not only consistent with prior research that indicates men's and women's labour market participation is affected differently by dependent children, but also with research that suggests Pakistani women with dependent children are less likely to participate in the labour market than mothers in other ethnic groups (e.g. Duncan and Irwin, 2004; Salway, 2007). Accounts from some of the participants also indicated an expectation that they would leave the labour market if and when they had children, or at the very least that childcare should be prioritised over the pursuit of paid employment. For example, Fiza (University employee, Leeds) said that 'a woman's role is to protect and maintain her home and family', also stating that she initially declined the opportunity to return to work after her maternity leave because she valued motherhood.

The role of dependent children in shaping women's labour market participation is also likely to vary according to age. As noted in the introduction to this chapter, overall, women's labour market participation is steadily increasing in the UK. Exploring the role of age is a useful way of considering the scope for change over time, as well as whether or not expectations that women take primary responsibility for childcare are decreasing. This is illustrated in Table 16, which shows the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation for white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales, for three different age categories.

Table 16: Economic activity for white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales with dependent children, according to age

		Dependent children		No dependent children	
		White British	Pakistani	White British	Pakistani
16-24	Employed	60.7	45.7	87.8	55.7
	Unemployed	13.0	17.7	9.3	18.7
	Retired	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2
	Looking after home/family	24.3	33.3	1.0	21.7
	Sick/disabled	2.0	3.2	1.8	3.8
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
25-49	Employed	76.4	35.2	89.2	61.2
	Unemployed	4.3	6.6	2.8	8.0
	Retired	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2
	Looking after home/family	16.0	54.3	3.0	24.1
	Sick/disabled	3.2	3.8	4.7	6.5
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
50-64	Employed	75.6	21.8	62.2	24.1
	Unemployed	3.2	3.0	1.5	3.3
	Retired	3.8	6.9	25.4	17.8
	Looking after home/family	11.3	49.9	5.6	34.4
	Sick/disabled	6.1	18.4	5.3	20.5
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 16 shows that the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation varies with age, and the effect of age varies according to ethnic group. White British women are more likely to be in employment if they do not have dependent children, with the exception of the 50-64 age category, for whom not having dependent children is associated with a decrease in employment of 13.4 percentage points. However, this is likely to reflect the larger percentage of women in this age category who are retired (25.4% compared to 3.8%).

For Pakistani women with dependent children, employment declines with age. 21.8% of those in the 50-64 age category are in employment, compared to 35.2% of those aged 25-49, and 47.5% of those aged 16-24. Furthermore, 17.7% of those in the 16-24 age category are unemployed, and are therefore active in the labour market since this is an indication that they would like to find employment. Pakistani women with no dependent children are more likely to be in employment if they are in the 25-49 age group, although those in the 16-24 age group are more likely to be economically active when employment and unemployment rates are added together. For those in the 50-64 age category, employment is slightly higher but the difference is minimal. This could be viewed as an indication that attitudes towards motherhood are changing for Pakistani women, with the younger age groups more likely to be economically active whether or not they have dependent children; the women in the 50-64 category appear to be observing more traditional gender roles, as highlighted by Robson and Berthoud (2003), for example.

As well as the age of the mother, the age of the children is likely to add further complexity to the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation. ONS (2013b) state that having children under the age of three has a particularly pronounced effect on women's economic activity, and also that lone mothers with children under the age of three were less likely to be employed than mothers with partners. This is illustrated in Table 17, which shows lower employment rates for women with young children, as well as for those with three or more children; specifically, the lowest employment rate is for women with 3 or more children aged 0-9. Table 18 shows that Pakistani women are more likely than white British women to have three or more children aged 0-9.

Table 17: Women's economic activity according to age and number of dependent children

Number and age of dependent children	Economic activity	
One dependent child aged	Economically Active	72.4
0-9	Unemployed	6.5
	Retired	0.4
	Looking after home/family	18.2
	Sick or disabled	2.5
One dependent child aged	Economically Active	80.6
10-18	Unemployed	5.5
	Retired	1.0
	Looking after home/family	7.8
	Sick or disabled	2.5
Two dependent children,	Economically Active	70.0
youngest aged 0-9	Unemployed	5.0
	Retired	0.1
	Looking after home/family	23.0
	Sick or disabled	1.9
Two dependent children, youngest aged 10-18	Economically Active	81.4
	Unemployed	4.6
	Retired	0.3
	Looking after home/family	10.2
	Sick or disabled	3.5
Three or more dependent	Economically Active	50.2
children, youngest 0-9	Unemployed	6.4
	Retired	0.1
	Looking after home/family	40.1
	Sick or disabled	3.2
Three or more dependent	Economically Active	70.6
children, youngest 10-18	Unemployed	6.9
	Retired	0.2
	Looking after home/family	17.6
	Sick or disabled	4.7

Table 18: Age and number of dependent children for all white British and Pakistani women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

Age and number of dependent children	White British	Pakistani
No dependent children	53.8	30.9
One dependent child aged 0-9	9.9	11.8
One dependent child aged 10-18	11.6	9.8
Two dependent children, youngest aged 0-9	11.6	15.1
Two dependent children, youngest aged 10-18	6.2	5.9
Three or more dependent children, youngest 0-9	5.7	23.3
Three or more dependent children, youngest 10-18	1.1	3.3

The relationship between dependent children and labour market participation is therefore complex, and shaped by numerous factors. First, it is shaped by gender, in that men and women are both affected by dependent children but in different ways, which supports a gendered division of labour where men remain located in a breadwinning role (as discussed in Chapters 3 and 4). Nonetheless, the gender difference is more pronounced for Pakistani women, compared to white British women. However, exploring the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation whilst also taking age into account suggests that there might be scope for change over time, with younger Pakistani women increasingly likely to be active in the labour market even if they also have dependent children. This chapter has also demonstrated that age and number of dependent children are likely to affect labour market participation; having younger dependent children, and having a greater number of dependent children, are both associated with lower levels of employment, as demonstrated in Table 18. Yet again this affect is more pronounced for Pakistani women, and furthermore Pakistani women are more likely than white British women to have more children, and more young children.

The findings reported in this chapter so far could be taken as an indication that Pakistani families are indeed more 'old fashioned' (Robson and Berthoud, 2003), and that, related to this, Pakistani women 'mother' their children in a specific way. This is considered in Section 5.3, which discusses 'preferences' for particular ways of dividing work and care. However, the findings could also be an indication that Pakistani women and white British women differ in their strategies for consolidating

work and childcare, for a multitude of reasons. The ways in which, and the extent to which Pakistani women employ flexible working and formal or informal childcare (which have been discussed in Chapter 3) to enable them to participate in the labour market are discussed in greater detail in Sections 5.4 and 5.5.

5.3 'Preferences', perceptions of motherhood, and the division of domestic labour

Concepts of motherhood and caring, within different social contexts, are central to the ways women negotiate between the motherhood role and participation in the labour market. As outlined in Chapter 1, Hakim's (2001; 2006) highly critiqued 'preference theory' argues that some women 'choose' to prioritise work, some 'choose' to prioritise care, and the majority fall somewhere in the middle. Hakim has been criticised for over-stating the role of choice in navigating between domestic and paid labour. For example, Tomlinson (2006) argues that women make choices based on the knowledge available to them, which brings into question the mechanism of choice where knowledge is limited (this is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 1). Furthermore, Duncan et al. (2003) argue that women are socialised to perform caring roles, providing a further challenge to the idea of 'choice.' In overstating the extent to which women can really 'choose' if and how they participate in the labour market, Hakim (2000; 2006) overlooks the additional structural constraints that are experienced by women, and that affect their ability to choose. Having outlined, in Sections 5.1 and 5.2, the relationship between gender, dependent children, and economic activity, this section considers how perceptions of motherhood, for Pakistani women more specifically, might contribute to domestic labour being divided in certain ways, with particular reference to the typologies proposed by Hakim (2000).

Many of the participants in this research were either participating in the labour market or intended to participate at some point, and most also had dependent children. However, there was considerable diversity in methods of combining work and care, and for some of the women, these methods were clearly determined by their perceptions of motherhood, and how it should best be consolidated with other forms of labour. Some participants had taken time out of employment in order to care for their children. Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) took 8 years out employment before returning to work in a part-time administrative role, in order to re-build her confidence. Despite taking time out of work while her children were younger, her husband was also in part-time employment, and they split household chores

equally. Atiqa (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) also described taking time out of employment following the birth of her daughter, before returning to work in a slightly less intensive role (as a teaching assistant rather than a teacher), 4 mornings a week, which meant that she could do household chores and collect her daughter from school in the afternoon. According to Hakim's typologies, therefore, Nadia and Atiqa might best be described as 'adaptable', managing to both work and care, but without prioritising participation in paid work, if taking time out of employment indicates a prioritisation of motherhood over paid employment. This pattern is certainly not specific to Pakistani women, indeed Hakim (2000) states that most women fall into the 'adaptive' category. Furthermore, both Nadia and Atiqa describe a common career trajectory for women, which is shaped by periods out of work, and a return to work on a part-time basis (e.g. Joshi et al., 1996).

Fiza (University employee, Leeds) was also in employment, and had followed a similar career trajectory, characterised by periods out of employment when her children were born. Indeed, she described herself as having obtained her current role via a non-traditional route. However, the way she spoke about motherhood ('motherhood is more valued in Islam') indicated that she prioritised this over her career. Furthermore, her prioritisation of motherhood over paid work was also reflected in her employment decisions post-maternity leave; she stated that she had, in the past, turned down a job she was offered specifically because of the value she placed on motherhood. Referring to formal childcare, she said that she did not want her children to 'grow up with people who didn't share my values.' Despite this, she returned to work out of necessity after maternity leave, and, for some time, she was the 'breadwinner' in her household. Nonetheless, she also stated that 'it's a myth that women can share responsibility with men for children, because there is something specific about the mother-child relationship'. This reflects Duncan et al.'s (2003; 310) suggestion that:

...people do not view care simply as a constraint on paid work. Rather they feel morally obligated to care, and often wish to do so. Furthermore, when it comes to dependent children, there can be non-negotiable, and deeply gendered, moral requirements to take responsibility for children's needs and to place these first.

This is echoed in Fiza's account, since, although she was in paid employment, she still viewed her children as a priority, and furthermore valued the 'mother-child relationship'.

Nadia and Atiga both had arrangements whereby their jobs enabled them to also provide childcare, with Atiga taking on a part-time role once her daughter was at school. They each spoke of valuing work; Atiqa felt that her job was a good opportunity for her to use her skills and do something 'for myself', whilst Nadia valued her job because it had helped her to build her confidence after a long period out of the labour market. Nonetheless, they might not be described as 'career oriented'. Similarly, although Fiza had been in employment quite consistently, and sometimes out of necessity, she was still clear that motherhood was a greater priority for her. By contrast, Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) was highly career oriented; she described attending an interview when she was pregnant, since it 'wouldn't stop a man', and because she was concerned about slowing down the progress of her career. She also took a short maternity leave, and had a childcare arrangement where responsibilities were shared with her husband and her children's grandparents. Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) was also very career oriented, and described how she had been clear with her husband (to whom she was engaged at 17) about her chosen career path. Once she qualified as a doctor, their choice of location 'hinged on my career aspirations'. Nonetheless, when discussing the proposed changes to junior doctors' contracts, she said that if those changes took place she would probably leave her job since she planned to start a family and would not be able to continue working and pay for childcare. Despite both Ayesha and Mehreen being career oriented, childcare arrangements remained an important consideration which, for Mehreen, could potentially mean leaving her chosen career eventually.

Conversely, some of the participants could better be described as falling into the category of those who opt out of the labour market entirely, and prioritise childcare. For example, Heera (Not economically active, Kirklees), who had been employed in the past, said that 'having a child and a husband makes it difficult to work'. Other participants who were less engaged with the labour market did not discuss this in relation to childcare, although their distance from the labour market could probably be explained in terms of a stronger adherence to a gendered division of labour, as well as *purdah*, which is discussed in greater detail in Chapters 3 and 4. Without much expectation of participating in the labour market, these participants may not have consciously factored childcare commitments into their decisions. Childcare commitments can also affect labour market participation in other, less direct ways, for example in terms of reducing the flexibility to attend ESOL classes, and this is discussed in Chapters 6 and 7.

Although this section has used participants' accounts to, very loosely, group them according to Hakim's (2000) typologies, what is evident here is a conflict between the prioritisation of motherhood and the need or desire to participate in the labour market. As Duncan (2003) argues, women are socialised into caring roles, and as Tomlinson (2006) suggests, women can only make decisions according to the knowledge and resources available to them. Fiza (University employee, Leeds), who was very family oriented, ended up working too due to her husband being unable to, whilst Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds), although admittedly career oriented, was willing to leave her job in order to start a family. For the women who were not in employment and cited childcare responsibilities as one of the reasons, the factors contributing to this decision must be considered; a lack of knowledge of the availability of certain options, particularly for those for whom English was not their first language, may well be an important factor in their decision making. Finally, as discussed in Section (4.4), the role of others in shaping attitudes to labour market participation should not be overlooked, particularly where participants are being perceived by others as family, rather than work oriented. The next two sections consider the ways mothers might combine work and childcare commitments, exploring both flexible working arrangements and the provision of childcare, with a focus on accessibility.

5.4 Flexible work

The purpose of flexible working arrangements has been ostensibly to incorporate more women into the labour market. For example, Metcalf and Rolfe (2010) cite flexible working, and part-time working in particular as a family friendly policy that might encourage mothers to re-enter the labour market. Similarly, Crompton (2002) draws an association between gender and flexible employment, and argues that if women continue to work in flexible employment, there will be little change in the gendered division of labour. This section considers flexible working as a means of work-care consolidation by using the following definition, taken from Kelliher and Anderson (2008; 4).

Flexible working has tended to be used as an umbrella-term to encompass a wide variety of activities, including, for example, practices such as remote working (from home, other company premises etc), reduced hours, different hours (either agreed, non-standard hours, or discretion over working hours on a day-by-day basis) and compressed

working time where employees work their contractual hours over a fewer number of days than is normal (e.g. a 9 day fortnight).

To explore the extent to which Pakistani women utilise flexible working, Table 19 shows rates of part-time and full-time working for white British and Pakistani men and women of working age, with and without dependent children, where part-time working is classified as being less than 30 hours per week.

Table 19: Part-time working rates for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 with and without dependent children

	White British			Pakistani	
		Male	Female	Male	Female
	Part-time	12.0	34.9	28.3	37.6
No dependent	Full-time	88.0	65.1	71.7	62.4
children	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	Part-time	9.0	58.5	38.2	61.2
Dependent	Full-time	91.0	41.5	61.8	38.8
children	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Overall, irrespective of dependent children, Table 19 shows that men are less likely than women to work part-time and more likely to work full-time. Furthermore, although there are slight differences between white British and Pakistani women, with Pakistani women more likely to work part-time whether or not they have dependent children, these differences are not large (not exceeding three percentage points).

For white British men, having dependent children is associated with a small decrease in part-time working and an increase in full-time working of 3.0 percentage points, whilst for Pakistani men, having dependent children is associated with an increase in part-time working of just over 10.0 percentage points. This could be indicative of a more egalitarian division of labour within Pakistani households. Indeed, Nadia (Administrator, Kirklees) stated that both she and her husband worked part-time and shared childcare responsibilities. Further, Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) stated that, while she was at work, childcare was shared between her parents and her husband. However, this should also be considered within the context of Pakistani men being concentrated in precarious employment. For example, in research on South Asian men in Luton, McDowell et al. (2014; 851) report that 'casual forms of attachment and exploitative insecure

contracts were common'. Dwyer et al. (2010) also reported that Pakistani men tended to work in more precarious forms of employment. The increase in part-time hours for Pakistani men with dependent children may therefore be indicative of the types of employment they find themselves in, rather than a more egalitarian division of labour.

Dependent children are associated with increased part-time working for both white British and Pakistani women; this is an increase of 23.7 percentage points for white British women, and 22.4 percentage points for Pakistani women. This suggests that, of those who *are* in employment, both white British and Pakistani women utilise part-time working as a way of combining work with childcare. Nonetheless, this should be considered firstly in relation to the lower overall employment rates amongst Pakistani women, and secondly in terms of whether a propensity for mothers to work part-time reflects choice or whether they would prefer to be employed on a full-time basis. Referring to Tomlinson's (2006) critique of Hakim's (2000) preference theory, such patterns must be considered in terms of the options available and people's awareness of those options. The overall lower employment rates amongst Pakistani women could be taken as an indication that they do not utilise flexible working as a way of participating in the labour market. Further, the propensity for mothers to work part-time rather than full-time may be borne out of necessity, rather than choice.

For some women, the types of work they perceive to be available to them are difficult to combine with childcare responsibilities. For example, Reema (Not economically active, Kirklees) said that she had worked in a warehouse but found that the shift-work was difficult to combine with childcare, so she left and was not in employment at the time of her interview. Although she had previously obtained voluntary work in a charity shop she found that she was deemed 'not experienced enough' for other, similar, roles. Difficulties, or perceived difficulties, in obtaining flexible employment may therefore reflect the concentration of Pakistani women within certain employment sectors that offer less opportunity for part-time and flexible working arrangements. Notably, the majority of participants in this research who worked part-time were employed in the public sector. Dale and Holdsworth (1998; 91) speculatively link work patterns to the concentration of ethnic minority women in certain types of work, suggesting that '...minority ethnic women may also have particular difficulty in obtaining full-time jobs in higher-level non-manual work', whilst Owen et al. (2015) report that ethnic groups are unevenly distributed by industry, and specifically '...Pakistani and Bangladeshi groups are concentrated in

the trade, accommodation and transport sector (including hotels and restaurants).' Being excluded from the types of employment most likely to offer part-time or flexible contracts might be one explanatory factor for the lower numbers of Pakistani women in the labour market. If they must choose between precarious forms of employment that are difficult to combine with childcare, it may be easier to opt out of the labour market all together, as was the case for Reema.

The Work-Life Balance Employee Survey (2012; 76) supports the idea that jobs that can be done flexibly tend to be taken up by a specific type of person;

The availability of many forms of flexible working was most commonly reported by women, those with higher qualifications, those in managerial/professional occupations, public sector employees, trade union members or those whose pay and conditions were agreed between the employer and a union.

In addition, the Work-Life Balance Employee Survey (2012; 76) highlights knowledge about the availability of flexible working as a key issue; in regards to awareness of the right to request flexible working, the survey states that

Awareness was also higher among those in managerial/ professional occupations, with particularly low awareness among those in routine or manual occupations.

As such, it is probable that some women will lack awareness of their right to request flexible work. Although this was not stated explicitly by any of the participants, there was some discussion regarding a lack of support available in finding work, and this might extend to a lack of knowledge about flexible working. This issue relates specifically to Tomlinson's (2006) argument that women make decisions relating to labour market participation based on the knowledge available to them, rather than basing their decisions entirely on preferences.

Nonetheless, part-time or flexible working arrangements were utilised by some of the participants, specifically with relation to childcare. Heera (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) had a part-time job that meant she could collect her daughter from school, whilst Zeba (ESOL teacher, Leeds) said that she balanced work with childcare by teaching one day a week, and working from home in a different job on other days. Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) worked a 4 day week, which meant that she could

look after her son one day a week, and he could go to nursery one day a week, and was then looked after by her mother or sister on the other three days of the week.

Aside from the use of flexible working arrangements as a way of combining work with care, what is evident here, is the complexity of the childcare arrangements. Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) also spoke of a complex care arrangement; her husband took her children to be looked after by their grandparents before work, and she collected them on the way home. In this case, however, her husband, a plumber, had flexible employment whilst she did not. It is likely to be the case that those who do use flexible working arrangements also have other structures in place; family nearby or husbands who work more flexible hours that enable them to do so too.

While flexible work may seem like a good option for women who wish to combine work with childcare responsibilities, as exemplified in the cases outlined above, this is not necessarily always the case. First of all, previous research has brought into question the efficacy of flexible employment in enabling women to provide both work and care. Ward et al. (1996; 13) view part-time work positively, as a way of increasing women's independence, with the caveat that such employment depends on the availability of childcare. However, they conclude that:

Only those with the ability to get or retain a well-paid job whilst their children are young are able to afford full-time childcare which...can be very costly. A high proportion of the arrangements made in the absence of subsidised facilities involve other family members rather than the purchase of childcare on the market.

Therefore, those who work part-time may find themselves reliant on informal childcare since expenditure on childcare could negate earnings from part-time work, and this is discussed in greater detail in Section 3.5.2. In addition, part-time work can be associated with jobs that are: '...undemanding and lacking in responsibility and promotion prospects... low paid and segregated from the work of men' (Dale and Holdsworth, 1998; 79). Part-time jobs also tend to have lower hourly rates of pay, compared to full-time jobs (ONS, 2015). Crompton (2002; 544) argues that

...Flexible working is often insecure employment, offers less (proportionately and absolutely) by way of employment-related benefits and, in many cases, insufficient income to support a one-person household, let alone a household with any dependents.

Although it is evident that some of the participants in this research used part-time or flexible working as a way of combining work and care, there are many reasons why this might not be a viable option. As well as Pakistani women being more likely to work in jobs that are not available on a flexible basis (as exemplified by Reema, who found it difficult to combine shift work in a factory with childcare responsibilities), the concentration of Pakistani men in low-paid, precarious work (e.g. Dwyer, 2010) may mean that there is little incentive for women to participate in part-time employment when their earnings might only just cover the cost of childcare on other days, meaning that work simply does not pay (as discussed in Chapter 1). Furthermore, the extent to which the opportunity to work flexibly is a case of privilege should not be overlooked - employees have stronger bargaining power the more knowledge they have about employment rights and structures, and this may not be the case for Pakistani women, particularly if they are recent migrants to the UK.

This section has explored the extent to which Pakistani women use flexible forms of working as a way of combining work with childcare. It began by showing that white British and Pakistani women who are in employment have similar rates of part-time working. Nonetheless, the efficacy of flexible working arrangements as a way of facilitating Pakistani women into the labour market should be questioned when Pakistani women have much lower overall rates of economic activity than women in most other ethnic groups; this suggests that they may be less likely than their white British counterparts to use flexible working to their advantage. Some of the participants in this research did work flexibly, though had fairly complex care arrangements. Nonetheless, not everyone is equally able to use their bargaining power to request flexible forms of working, and not everyone is aware that such provisions exist. Furthermore, participation in flexible employment is not necessarily beneficial in the long run, and does not necessarily seamlessly enable women to combine work and care responsibilities. Section 5.5 considers the provision of childcare, and how this is used by Pakistani women.

5.5 Formal and Informal Childcare

Another way in which women might seek to combine work and motherhood is through the outsourcing of childcare, which can be done formally or informally. Bell et al. (2005; 2) define formal childcare as '...childminders, nannies, babysitters, crèches, nurseries, playgroups, out-of-school clubs, family centres, nursery classes and reception classes.' They definite informal childcare as childcare that is

provided by '...ex-partners, relatives, and friends.' The Childcare and Early Years Survey of Parents (2014 - 15; Department for Education, 2016) found that the majority of families with dependent children (78%) aged 0 - 14 took up some form of childcare during 2012-2013, and further that a slightly smaller majority (63%) favoured formal over informal childcare. However, the survey also showed a significant relationship between ethnicity and uptake of formal childcare, with women with Pakistani or Bangladeshi backgrounds being the least likely to take up formal childcare, compared to those of white British, mixed white and Black backgrounds, whilst:

Receipt of informal childcare was highest among White British and mixed White and Asian children (36% each), and was lowest among children from other Asian, Black African and Bangladeshi backgrounds (9%, 9% and 6% respectively) (Childcare and Early Years Survey of Parents, 2014 -15; 42).

The findings from the Childcare and Early Years Survey of Parents demonstrate diversity in childcare preferences, and variation according to ethnic group. Further, these findings demonstrate that formal childcare is less popular amongst Pakistani and Bangladeshi groups, although this is not necessarily compensated for by a preference for informal childcare. This section explores the extent to which, and how, Pakistani women use formal and informal childcare in order to participate in the labour market, through a consideration of both costs and the accessibility of childcare more generally.

5.5.1 Childcare costs

Currently, 3 - 4 year olds and some 2 year olds (if parents are in receipt of various benefits, the child is being looked after by the council or due to be adopted, or if the child is disabled) are eligible for 570 free hours of early education or childcare per year. Typically this is taken as 15 hours a week for 38 weeks of the year (Gov.UK, 2017b). This childcare must come from an 'approved childcare provider'. In September of this year, some parents will be eligible for 30 hours of free childcare per week (1,140 a year) based on their income. To be eligible, both parents must be in work and earning at least the national minimum wage for a minimum of 16 hours a week (Gov.UK, 2017b). Therefore, although parents are entitled to some free childcare, it still incurs a cost, since even 30 hours of free childcare does not cover a full-time working week. Further, neither the participants of this research, who were interviewed in 2015, nor those who responded to the 2011 Census, would have been able to benefit from this. The Childcare Survey (Rutter, 2016) reports the average cost of a part-time childminder for a child aged 2 or over to be

£103.48 a week. There is more support available for those in receipt of certain benefits but the costs are never fully covered (Childcare Survey, 2016). Further, those working part-time may not be able to claim the benefits that would give them heavily reduced childcare rates. As such, some women are likely to be priced out of using formal childcare. The Childcare and Early Years Survey of Parents (2016) found that just over half of the respondents (53.0%) found it easy or very easy to pay for childcare given their family income, whilst 22.0% of respondents found it difficult or very difficult. They do, however, report an increase in positive views about childcare affordability since the 2012 - 2013 survey, as well as a decrease in those finding it difficult to cover childcare costs. Nonetheless, others (e.g. Viitanen, 2005) have cited cost as a key factor in decisions about childcare. This may prove particularly relevant given the concentration of Pakistanis in lower paid work, and the concentration of Pakistani families in deprived areas (Fisher and Nandi, 2015).

Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees), spoke of the costs associated with childcare; she worked 4 days a week and her son received informal childcare as well as one day a week in formal childcare. She saw benefits to her son being in formal childcare, but also came to an arrangement that enabled her to reduce the costs associated with it. Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds), although she did not yet have children, also expressed concern about the costs of childcare. More specifically, she said that the proposed changes to the junior doctor contract in 2016, which would affect pay, particularly for those working anti-social hours, would mean that combining her work with formal childcare was not financially viable; she would not be able to work the hours required of her as a doctor and also be able to afford to pay for childcare. She added that if the contract changes were approved, she would have to leave her job, since starting a family was a priority for her over her medical career.

Whilst Mehreen's account demonstrates how childcare costs can serve as a disincentive both to using formal childcare, and participating in paid employment. Farzia's account supports the idea that, in combining work and care, women adopt 'complex care packages' (Daly, 2011). In Farzia's case, this related to childcare affordability, since she evidently viewed formal childcare positively. Other participants also described somewhat complex care packages. For example, Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) worked part-time and so did her husband, which enabled them to split childcare and other household chores, whilst Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) stated that her husband, since he was able to work more flexibly than her, took their children to her parents' in the morning and collected them in the afternoon.

Childcare costs are likely to serve as a disincentive from working if the perceived opportunities available are not well paid. Indeed, a report by Barnado's (2012) suggests that in some cases, the costs of childcare mean that people are having to pay to go to work. This is an issue to the extent that women are often perceived as secondary earners in the labour market, their employment often characterised by lower pay, less opportunity for career progression, and a greater likelihood of working part-time (e.g. ONS, 2013). This is further complicated for Pakistani women, particularly if they were born outside the UK and have not been able to benefit from English fluency, which is likely to further limit the types of work available to them (this is discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7). Though the participants of this research did not explicitly state this, some participants felt that the jobs available to them, given their levels of English, tended to be insecure positions in care homes, or private cleaning jobs. They were not interested in these jobs, but instead viewed the public sector favourably in terms of more rights and better working conditions. Given the costs of childcare, it should not be surprising that women opt out of the labour market where the types of work available are perceived as being precarious and associated with low pay. Further, this should be considered within the context of other sources of household income. The concentration of South Asian men in low-paid, precarious employment, has already been outlined (e.g. McDowell et al., 2014). Again, given the costs of formal childcare, such services might not appeal to families with unstable and precarious incomes.

This section has considered the extent to which costs serve as a disincentive to the use of formal childcare for Pakistani women. On the whole, there is evidence to suggest that women are put off using formal childcare by prohibitive costs. Costs were cited as an issue by one participant who used formal childcare one day a week, and another who perceived that in the future childcare costs might cause her to leave her job. Other participants also described 'complex care packages' that may in part relate to the perceived expenses of childcare. For those who perceive themselves as likely to work in low paid and precarious employment, it is likely that, should they use formal childcare, work simply will not pay. Nonetheless, cost is not the only issue affecting uptake of formal childcare, with some participants expressing concern about the availability of culturally sensitive childcare, which is discussed in greater detail in Section 5.5.2.

5.5.2 Informal childcare and culturally sensitive childcare

Prior research on ethnic differences in childcare preferences suggests that Pakistani women may also have culturally specific reasons for opting out of using formal childcare. For example, Hall et al. (2004; 48) found that:

There were reported to be few formal childcare services available for children in minority ethnic groups, which operate for whole days throughout the week, and before school starts, which are culturally and religiously sensitive, e.g. dress, religious readings, prayers, respect for ethnic origin/culture, and halal food etc.

The need for 'culturally sensitive' childcare, particularly for Muslim families, is also expressed by Clark and Drinkwater (2007), and Bell et al. (2005; 10), who state that: '...race, culture, language and ethnicity ... are likely to play a particularly large part in the childcare decisions of these families.'

Such concerns were echoed by two of the participants. Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds), suggested that Pakistani parents may be reluctant to use formal childcare due to concerns that their children would not be looked after in a way that is culturally sensitive, and furthermore that there are not many nurseries where employees speak a variety of languages. Fiza (University employee, Leeds) also expressed concern about her children being cared for by people who did not share her values. A reluctance to use formal childcare might also be related to increased Islamophobia following the September 11th and July 7th attacks, discussed previously (for example see Section 4.4) in relation to discrimination in the workplace. Hall et al. (2004) link this to concerns about racism towards children, as well as within childcare services, suggesting that this context has led to '...Muslim women being increasingly insular and reliant on Muslim services for support' (Hall et al., 2004; 33).

A preference for culturally sensitive childcare could also both reflect, and be reflected in, the higher rates of informal childcare being used by Pakistani families (e.g. Childcare and Early Years Survey of Parents, 2014). Bell et al. (2005) report lower levels of childcare usage amongst Pakistani families, which they suggest may reflect both circumstances (low maternal employment, low levels of lone parenthood, tendency to have other adults living in the household) and preference (such as parental childcare being preferred for cultural or religious reasons). If parental childcare is generally preferred, it might follow that, in families where both parents work, care provided by family members would be favoured over informal

childcare from strangers. Certainly, several participants spoke of using informal childcare provided by other family members. However, Bell et al. (2005) report the use of informal childcare, and particularly childcare from grandparents, to be higher amongst white families. Further, it is difficult to separate a preference for informal childcare from other inaccessibility issues that are discussed in this chapter.

It should be noted here that some of the community centres involved in this research did have childcare facilities that were utilised by some of the participants, and that, being located in areas with higher South Asian populations, these facilities were more likely to be attuned to cultural differences and needs. For example, Heera (Not economically active, Kirklees) used the crèche facilities at the community centre where she was recruited and interviewed, while she participated in other activities provided by the centre. Nonetheless, such services are not accessible to everyone, even when accounting for costs. This is discussed in Section 5.5.3.

5.5.3 Accessibility and awareness of childcare facilities

Waldfogel and Garnham (2008) question the provision of childcare in deprived areas. This is supported by research conducted in Leeds by Yeandle and Joynes (2012), who found that the places most affected by cuts to childcare were deprived inner city areas. This is particularly relevant given the geography of Pakistani communities in Leeds and Kirklees, where they are largely concentrated in deprived inner city areas, as detailed in Chapter 2. Similarly, Bell et al. (2005) discuss affordability; availability and location; awareness and information; cultural recognition, inclusion, and understanding; and preconceptions of childcare, as affecting access to childcare amongst ethnic minority groups. This highlights accessibility as being far more complex than just being related to costs or cultural sensitivity, as already highlighted, and is instead dictated by a broad spectrum of factors.

Though the availability of childcare that was easily accessible was not discussed by the participants in this research, it may still have been a factor in decisions regarding work and care. Indeed, as already mentioned, participants' experiences of and ability to access childcare might have been a reflection of the way in which they were recruited for this research. Participants were either in employment, indicating that they had been able to access formal or informal childcare if necessary, or they were recruited via community centres, all of which provided crèche facilities. Further, many of the participants recruited via community centres worked part-time or were not active in the labour market, and therefore might not

have attempted to access childcare. Nonetheless, prior research indicates awareness of childcare options is still likely to be an issue for Pakistani women (and other non-white British women). For example, researching how ethnic minority mothers use childcare, Hall et al. (2004; 41) found '...low awareness...of all the childcare services, initiatives and financial incentives available.' Similarly, Bell et al. (2005; 13) state that 'many parents who fail to access local childcare services report a lack of awareness of what is available to them.' This issue is even more prevalent for parents who do not speak English; indeed, language barriers may also affect understandings of other forms of support available to help with the costs of childcare. The role of English fluency in shaping labour market participation, both directly and indirectly, is discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7.

Bell et al. (2005) also suggest that transport, or lack thereof, can create difficulties with accessing childcare facilities, especially for poorer families, and further state that the location of childcare facilities is likely to present issues for families in ethnic minority groups, particularly in places where ethnic minority groups are clustered. Transport and location were not discussed by participants in terms of childcare facilities specifically. However, James and Liz (ESOL teachers, Leeds) suggested that distance created a barrier to attending ESOL classes, and further had observed that some Pakistani women preferred to stay within their communities rather than travelling too far. Indeed, they described their service users as being more willing to travel to local venues and preferring areas that they were familiar with. Although this was in relation to ESOL classes it does indicate that location might be an issue in terms of access to childcare for Pakistani women, depending on the provision of such services in their local area, and awareness of such services.

This section has considered the extent to which Pakistani women use childcare to enable them to participate in the labour market. Childcare costs are commonly cited as an issue, and this was mentioned by two of the participants. Further, childcare costs might lead women to adopt what Daly (2011) terms 'complex care packages'. Nonetheless, without the necessary data it is difficult to separate cost from other factors that might affect whether or not women use childcare facilities. A need for 'culturally sensitive' childcare was also cited as an issue by participants and prior research, whilst some women may have other access issues too that preclude them from using childcare services. While childcare is a complex issue for all women, Pakistani women are likely to experience additional barriers based on cultural preferences. These include concerns about culturally sensitive childcare and potential discrimination, a lack of awareness of childcare facilities, and language barriers, which are discussed in greater detail in Chapters 6 and 7.

5.6 Conclusion

This chapter has explored how Pakistani women negotiate childcare and labour market participation. It began by demonstrating a link between dependent children and labour market participation, which was more pronounced for Pakistani women, who are also likely to have more, and younger, children to care for. Nonetheless, younger Pakistani women with or without children were more active in the labour market, indicating that the role of dependent children in shaping labour market participation might be lessening.

This chapter also considered the value placed on motherhood, and the ways in which motherhood might vary culturally. Although it was suggested that motherhood is highly valued in Islam, where it is associated with caring rather than providing for children through earnings, many participants spoke of the ways they had combined work and care responsibilities. Further, Pakistani women who were in employment were as likely as white British women in employment to work part-time. However, the lower numbers of Pakistani women in the labour market might be an indication that Pakistani women tend to opt out altogether rather than seek part-time or flexible employment, and this might be dictated by the concentration of Pakistani women in certain types of occupational roles. Furthermore, not all women have equal bargaining power in terms of accessing part-time or flexible working arrangements.

Finally, this chapter considered whether, and how, Pakistani women use formal and informal childcare in order to combine work with care. Participants appeared to use informal rather than formal childcare, and it is probable that childcare costs might have been a key factor in influencing childcare decisions. In addition, concerns about culturally sensitive childcare were raised, as well as general childcare accessibility. Indeed, accessibility of key services such as formal childcare is likely to be more complicated for those who are not fluent in English, and this is discussed in Chapters 6 and 7, which explore skills, language proficiency, and qualifications.

6 Education, qualifications, and English proficiency

6.1 Introduction

Previous chapters have focused on life-stage factors and how they shape Pakistani women's engagement with the labour market, specifically focusing on marriage and child-bearing (Salway, 2007) as well as 'family norms, cultural practices...and individual agency' (Giele and Elder, 1998; Dale et al., 2005; 2). In doing so, this thesis has already suggested that certain family norms and cultural practices are linked to educational trajectories, as well as English proficiency, in the case of marriage migration. This chapter discusses more explicitly issues relating to education, qualifications, and English proficiency, and how these might shape Pakistani women's labour market participation. More specifically, this chapter explores existing research and literature, whilst Chapter 7 presents findings from the 2011 Census, and the primary qualitative data.

Qualifications are associated positively with labour market participation: people with university qualifications are more likely to participate in the labour market than people who have not participated in higher education (ONS, 2013), whilst fewer than half of those with no qualifications are reported to be in employment (ONS, 2014). Nonetheless, this relationship is not straightforward, and is particularly complex where gender and ethnicity intersect. Salway (2007; 826) states that:

...Bangladeshi and Pakistani women show similar patterns of positive association between educational qualifications and economic activity as majority White women. However, the differential between qualified and unqualified women has been found to be much larger (Holdsworth and Dale 1997). Furthermore, poor English language competency has been identified as a significant additional barrier to the labour force participation of many Bangladeshi and Pakistani women (Dale et al. 2002; Leslie and Lindley 2001).

Pakistani women, therefore, benefit from educational qualifications in the same way as their white British counterparts. However, the larger gap between qualified and unqualified Pakistani women needs to be examined, as do issues relating to access to and experiences of education. Language competency is a different, yet interrelated factor.

Therefore, this chapter initially explores how the intersection of gender and ethnicity shapes experiences of education, and the relationship between education and labour market participation. In doing so this chapter will begin by considering subject choices, with a focus on further and higher education; academic attainment, over-education, and under-education. A separate but related issue that has been touched on elsewhere in this thesis is the role of language proficiency. This is a particular issue for first generation migrants, and there is extensive research highlighting the link between poor language proficiency and under-representation in the labour market (e.g. Leslie and Lindley, 2001; Dale et al., 2002a).

6.2 Subject choice

Subject choice in non-compulsory education is '... another element which may contribute to reproducing gender and social inequalities (lanelli, 2007; 322). Although much of the research relating education to labour market participation focuses on academic attainment, Jin et al. (2011; 2) argue that: 'At every stage, choices are likely to affect young people's later-life employment prospects, earnings and job satisfaction'. Subject choice relates both to the accessibility of certain jobs, and to educational attainment more generally. Van De Werfhorst et al. (2003; 59) also relate subject choice to labour market outcomes, which they suggest are heavily linked to social class, finding that '...children of the professional class were more likely to enter the prestigious fields of medicine and law than the children of unskilled manual workers.' This quote, firstly, highlights the fact that some subjects are 'better' than others in terms of labour market outcomes, and secondly, by linking children's subject choices to their parents' occupational class, it highlights the importance of parental background in shaping experiences of education. This section begins with an overview of the literature on gender and subject choice generally, before focusing more specifically on the experiences of Pakistani women.

Subject choice, in both compulsory and non-compulsory education, is gendered, both in terms of the subjects learners *choose* to study, and those they are *encouraged* to study (Thomas, 1990). Indeed, Ianelli (2007; 323) asserts that '...the strong association between educational segregation and occupational segregation has been widely documented.' More specifically, Ianelli (2007) draws a link between 'traditional 'female' courses', and 'lower-level, less well paid occupations with restricted chances of career promotion.' There is certainly evidence of a continued gendering of subject choice at GCSE level, where the Department for Education and Skills (hereafter DfES, 2007; 3) report that:

...many subjects show gender stereotypical biases with girls more likely to take Arts, Languages and Humanities and boys more likely to take Geography, Physical Education and IT.

The gendering of subject choice continues post-16, where:

Girls' most popular subject is English, while boys' is Maths. Psychology, Art and Design, Sociology and Media/Film/Television Studies are amongst the 10 most popular choices for girls (but not boys), while Physics, Business Studies, Geography and Physical Education are in the top 10 for boys (but not girls). Girls' participation in Physics is particularly low and is the least popular of the three Sciences, accounting for only 1.3 percent of female A-Level entries. For boys, Physics remains the most popular science but whereas it used to be the most popular subject overall, it now is in sixth place and represents only 5.7 percent of male entries (DfES, 2007; 3).

Jin et al. (2010) also report a gendering of subject choices, both at age 14 - 16, and post-16, indicating that the DfES (2007) findings have persisted. The gendering of subject choices also continues at University level, where men tend to dominate in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) subjects (e.g. Ianelli, 2007). Indeed, Smith (2011) argues that initiatives to increase women's participation in STEM subjects have been ineffective, despite women's increased participation in higher education, and that although more women are studying science, they do not tend to opt for Physics or Engineering. WISE (2016) state that there are more women than ever before studying STEM subjects, with an increase of 15% between 2015 and 2016. However, women still make up only 14.4% of the STEM workforce. While STEM subjects are dominated by men, women tend to be over-represented in Subjects Allied to Medicine, Education, Arts, and Humanities (Ianelli, 2007, Tight, 2012). The subjects studied at school, and in further and higher education, are likely to shape labour market participation. Brown (1995) associates the subjects dominated by men with better progression into employment. Furthermore, Tight (2012; 214) argues that men are concentrated in subjects that are '...viewed as key to future national economic prosperity...' Conversely, the subject choices women make in higher education are associated with lower-level, less well-paid occupations, which create less mobility within the labour market (Ianelli, 2007; Tight, 2012).

Whilst subject choice is argued to shape labour market participation, it is also likely that expectations regarding women's labour market participation will affect subject choice, or at least, the subjects they are encouraged to study. Jin et al. (2010; 28)

suggest that the students' subject choices are a reflection of the ...'type of life they would like to lead in the future.' Further, they argue that

In the standard model of rational decision making, it is generally assumed that individuals make the best possible decision from the choices available to them given the information at their disposal...current evidence suggests the quality of information available to young people is, at best, 'variable' (Jin et al., 2010; 5).

Consequently, 'gender differences also play a key role in subject choices, with perceived subject appropriateness of gender stereotypes affecting decisions' (Jin et al., 2010). The argument that gendered subject choices contribute to the persistence of a gendered labour market is in line with Marxist-feminist critiques of education, whereby education serves to perpetuate both 'gender and class relations' (Barrett 1988; Thomas, 1990; 24). For example, Barrett (1988) argues that gender relations are reproduced in schools in four ways: through the socialisation of girls and boys into 'masculine' and 'feminine' behaviour; through the organisation of educational institutions, where men are at the top of the hierarchy and women are at the bottom; through the channelling of masculine and feminine behaviour through subject selection, whereby male and female students are ultimately funnelled into gender appropriate jobs; and through what is constituted as 'legitimate' knowledge, which tends to favour traditionally male-dominated subjects.

The literature outlined in this section thus far presents a case for a gendered education system that, ultimately, funnels women into specific types of career (Ianelli, 2010). However, for Pakistani women, their educational experiences are likely to be a product of both their gender and their ethnicity combined. Firstly, it is relevant to note that Pakistani families are disproportionately concentrated in areas of higher deprivation, and lower paid occupations upon entering the labour market. Jivrav and Khan (2013; 1) report that 'in 2011, more than one in three in the Bangladeshi and Pakistani groups lived in a deprived neighbourhood, which is considerably more than any other ethnic group.' Further, they report that, whilst Bangladeshis were more likely to live in deprived areas due to low income and barriers to services, Pakistanis were more likely to live in 'areas deprived because of living environment (39%), education (23%), health (20%), and employment (16%).' This is relevant since this chapter has already argued that subject selection is shaped by both class and gender (e.g. Jin et al., 2011). Bagguley and Hussain (2007) describe Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in higher education as being more likely to come from 'routine occupational backgrounds', or have fathers whose occupation is 'unknown', in comparison to white British women, whilst Van De Werfhorst et al. (2003) suggest that social class plays an important role in shaping choices in education. Jin et al. (2011) found that pupils whose parents had no qualifications were more likely to study vocational subjects, which, despite being an important route into the labour market (Dale et al., 2002b), can potentially limit career options given the aforementioned benefits of studying at higher education level (e.g. ONS, 2014). Nonetheless, the uptake of vocational subjects is likely to be gendered. For example, Ahmad (2001; 144, emphasis added) found that, in British Muslim families, 'many *sons* were strongly encouraged to pursue vocationally-oriented degree subjects, such as law, medicine, dentistry, engineering, and computer science for instance.'

Conversely at university level, Pakistani women are often encouraged by their families to study more traditional subjects: Law, Medicine and Dentistry, rather than Sociology, English, and Psychology (Bagguley and Hussain, 2007). Related to this, Thapar-Bjortkert and Sanghera (2010) link Pakistani Muslim parental aspirations for their children to a desire to transcend social capital; this could in turn mean that parents encourage their children to study prestigious, traditional subjects rather than non-traditional subjects they associate with lower employment prospects. Ahmad (2001; 148), however, suggests that subject choice at degree level is more complex than an outcome of parental aspirations:

Whilst the young women I interviewed were keen to honour their parents' wishes and achieve academic success, they perceived a number of distinct advantages for themselves. Pursuit of higher education, the subjects studied and choices of institution were found to be the effects of a far more complex social assessment process by students and their parents, than a pragmatic decision alone...Prestigious career choices such as medicine, dentistry and law continue to be pursued and highly regarded within South Asian communities. At the same time though, female Muslim students are 'branching out', studying topics such as English language and literature, history, economics, international politics, media studies, fashion, and (even) anthropology and sociology. Personal interest is obviously the main reason behind such diversity of choice, but it also suggests that students in this sample are meeting 'middle class aspirations' through studying more arts-based subjects. They are also signalling their own individuality, by not bowing to pressure (however subtle) to study the sciences or law.

Nonetheless, parental aspirations for their daughters may also be in tension with 'cultural and religious norms and values' (Thapar-Bjortkert and Sanghera, 2010; 253), whereby girls are expected to adopt a home-making role. This is likely to affect subject choice, echoing the Marxist-feminist analysis of gender and education outlined previously: by encouraging girls to study certain subjects and not others, their career options are limited, and they may subsequently be funnelled into 'gender appropriate' jobs (e.g. Thomas, 1990).

This section has explored the extent to which subject selection in further and higher education is gendered. In doing so it has argued that, even before academic attainment is taken into account, the subjects Pakistani women 'choose' to study, if they participate in post-16 education, are likely to shape the options available to them in the labour market. For Pakistani women, subject choice is seen as being shaped by assumptions relating to gender and work, as well as parental understandings of the education system, and class aspirations. The next section considers the relationship between academic attainment and labour market participation, considering the relationship between gender, attainment, and labour market participation broadly, before exploring this relationship for Pakistani women more specifically.

6.3 Gender and attainment

There is a gender difference in academic attainment, but it is complex. DfES (2017) report that, for the 2015-16 academic year, girls continued to outperform boys at GCSE or equivalent level. This is consistent with prior research by Gorard et al. (2001; 136), who argue that '...the examination system at key stage 1 - 4 favours girls, and teacher assessment even more so; girls enter more, and more varied, subjects at GCSE, achieving higher grades'. Nonetheless, Gorard et al. (2001) note that the gender gap at GCSE level is more prevalent in some subjects than in others, and in addition that the gap varies according to attainment level, with a smaller gender gap at lower levels of attainment; the gender gap is driven by the failure of male students to achieve higher grades (Gorard et al., 1999; Burgess et al., 2004). DfES (2015) also reports that the gender gap in key stage 4 attainment varies according to subject, with the gap being narrower for Mathematics than for English. Burgess et al. (2004) report on the 'sheer consistency' of the gender gap between key stages 3 and 4. They report that 'the gender gap is primarily driven by performance differentials in English, while boys and girls are still obtaining similar results in Maths and Science' (Burgess et al., 2004; 210).

The nature of the attainment gap at GCSE level changes slightly at A level, where it narrows, even in subjects where girls had previously out-performed boys (DfES, 2007). Nonetheless, the gap still exists. At level 3 (A level or equivalent), students are more likely to be female than male (DfES, 2015). In 2015, 53.1% of those studying at level 3 were female and DfES (2015) states that this has remained stable since 2010; at A Level specifically, 55.5% of the cohort were female, increasing from 54.0% in 2010. However, despite slightly higher numbers of female than male students studying at level 3, and particularly at A Level, more male than female students achieved three A* or A grades, and this has also been consistent since 2010. DfES (2015) reports a similar pattern for AAB grades, where male students are more likely than female students to obtain these results. In relation to Section 6.2, which explored subject choice, DfES (2017; 11) report that 'a higher percentage of male students entered mathematics and science subjects than females, except in biology. The gender gap in mathematics, further maths and computing has widened since 2015.'

This differs from the gender pattern at GCSE level, where girls outperform boys, and it may partially be explained by subject choice, given that students are no longer bound by the National Curriculum to study specific subjects. In Section 6.2, it was argued that girls and boys might find themselves steered towards certain subjects at school, and DfES (2007) found a relationship between subject choice and attainment level. Specifically, they report that:

With subjects that are traditionally less popular among boys (Modern Foreign Languages), boys demonstrate higher levels of attainment than girls. The same is true of girls (e.g. Physics which is not popular amongst girls). It seems that pupils who choose a subject not popular with their gender are likely to achieve highly, presumably because only the most able pupils put themselves forward in a subject not traditionally popular with their gender (DfES, 2007; 44).

Gender differences in attainment persist in higher education. Although boys do slightly better at A level than girls, at university level, female students outnumber male students. This continues the trend started at A Level, where girls slightly outnumber boys (DfES, 2007). ONS (2013a) reports university participation rates of 42% for men and 51% for women. This represents a sizable increase in women's participation in higher education since the 1970s, increasing from around one-third of female undergraduates in 1975 (McNabb at el., 2002). Nonetheless, male students are more likely than female students to achieve a first class degree. Again,

this might be linked to subject choice: it may be harder to achieve higher marks in the subjects women are more likely to study at university level, and McNabb et al. (2002) suggest that this accounts for differences in degree results between subjects; it may be easier to obtain a first class degree in a STEM subject, and, as has already been established, this is an area dominated by men (Tight, 2012).

This section has suggested that, overall, there is a gender difference in academic attainment, though this is somewhat complex; girls out-perform boys at GCSE level, but this becomes more complex at further and higher education levels; whilst girls are more likely to pursue their education, boys slightly outperform girls. This was linked to the gendering of subject choice already discussed in Section 6.2, whereby subject choice might determine attainment level. Having broadly established a relationship between gender and attainment, Section 6.4 explores academic attainment for Pakistani women, focusing on how gender and ethnicity intersect, and the role this plays in attainment.

6.4 Pakistani women and academic attainment

Connolly (2006) suggests that gender differences in academic attainment are so small that they are overshadowed by social class and ethnicity. Section 6.3 demonstrated that academic attainment is gendered, but in a complex way and, further, the literature discussed did not take into account the effects of ethnicity. However, there is a well-established link between academic attainment and ethnicity, and in particular, previous research has explored the extent to which Pakistani students attain at a lower level than students from other ethnic groups. The relationship between academic attainment and labour market participation (e.g. ONS, 2014) suggests that this could be a key factor in understanding Pakistani women's labour market participation, and therefore this section focuses on Pakistani women's academic attainment.

At GCSE level, Pakistani students have been found to achieve lower grades than students of other ethnicities (Bradley and Taylor, 2004). This is supported by more recent findings from the DfES (2015), who report that 51.4% of Pakistani students achieved more than 5 A*-C grades at GCSE in 2014 (including English and Mathematics). This places them at 4.2 percentage points below the national average of 56.6%, and 4.0 percentage points lower than white British students specifically, 56.4% of whom achieved these grades. There is also a gender difference: DfES (2016) report that 55.7% of Pakistani girls achieved 5 A*-C grades at GCSE, compared to 62.1% of white British girls, whilst 47.8% of Pakistani boys,

compared to 52.4% of white British boys achieved 5 A*-C grades at GCSE. In sum, at GCSE level, Pakistani students exhibit both an ethnic and a gender gap; Pakistani girls perform better than Pakistani boys, but both groups do not perform as well as their white British counterparts.

This attainment gap continues to A Level, where Pakistani and Bangladeshi students are the group least likely to obtain post-16 qualifications (Tolley and Rundle, 2006; Tackey et al., 2011). Despite lower attainment at A Level, Tackey et al. (2011) report high rates of participation in post-16 education amongst some ethnic groups, including the Pakistani group. This is supported by Battacharya et al (2003), who report that 85.0% of Asian students stay on in post-16 education, compared to 69.0% of white students, with only a small number choosing workbased routes instead. Similarly, Drew (1997) found that women from ethnic minority groups had higher staying-on rates in post-16 education than white women. Furthermore, the participation of South Asian groups in post-16 education is increasing (CoDE, 2014b), and the attainment gap is narrowing (Stokes et al., 2015). Pakistani students have also experienced an increase in degree level qualifications between 1991 and 2011 (CoDE, 2014b). Bagguley and Hussain (2007) report that young Pakistani and Indian women are more likely to apply to, and participate in, higher education than young white women. Indeed, research by the Institute for Fiscal Studies (2015) indicates that ethnic minority students are more likely than their white British counterparts to attend university.

The statistics on academic attainment, therefore, present a complex picture for Pakistani women. At GCSE level, Pakistani students fall behind many other ethnic groups, and they are also the group least likely to obtain post-16 level qualifications. Nonetheless, this is not reflected by their participation in post-16 education, which is relatively high, as is their participation in higher education. Furthermore, CoDE (2014b) argue that attainment is steadily increasing amongst Pakistani students. However, as will be argued in Section 6.5.3, success in further and higher education is not necessarily mirrored in the labour market.

CoDE (2014b) suggest that the lower attainment (as opposed to participation) levels for Pakistani students partially reflect the lower levels of educational participation amongst older ethnic minority women, rather than poor performance in education for the younger cohort. Pakistani women migrating to the UK as teenagers or adults will not have benefitted from the British education system, and CoDE (2014b; 3) reports that:

...the proportion of Asian people aged 25 to 49 with no qualifications was nearly double that of people in the 16-24 age bracket (15% compared with 8% respectively), but the proportion of White British people with no qualifications in the same age groups was almost identical (11%). Among people aged 50–64, members of the Asian group were also (1.3 times) more likely than people in the White British group to have no qualifications (CoDE, 2014b; 3).

This suggests that the relative success of younger Pakistanis is partially obscured by the lower qualification levels of the older groups, when considering data on attainment overall. Furthermore, it might be indicative of a change in attitudes towards education amongst Pakistanis. This is likely to reflect, firstly, the cultural value of education amongst Pakistanis, and, secondly, an increasing awareness of education as a tool to increase social mobility and decrease the ethnic penalty in the labour market (Basit, 1997; Dale et al., 2002b; Bagguley and Hussain, 2007). Tyrer and Ahmad (2006; 12) conducted research on Muslim (and more specifically, Bangladeshi and Pakistani) women and higher education and suggested that:

Muslim women spoke of their parents as often sharing in their educational and career aspirations. Women cited several reasons for entering higher education; these ranged from personal interest, career aspirations, financial stability, personal independence, and greater respect and choices when thinking about marriage.'

This suggests that, for their participants at least, education was viewed positively for several reasons. Indeed, Tyrer and Ahmad (2006; 12) argue that '...educational aspirations were shared by parents who promoted a 'family expectation' to achieve academically.' Singh (1990) also links aspirations and values placed on education to greater participation of ethnic minority groups in higher education.

The idea that families play a key role in decision making is noteworthy, since:

The nature of encouragement from parents is indicative of the high symbolic and practical value many had for higher education, which contrast with a number of stereotyped notions about Muslim families (Tyrer et al., 2006; 14).

Indeed, Dale et al. (2002b) found that some of their participants felt pressured to remain in education by their parents, who might lack an understanding of less traditional, and alternative, career trajectories. Furthermore, they suggest that education can be viewed as playing a key role in 'enhancing family status' (Dale et

al., 2002b; 951), and therefore links to *izzat*, which is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3.

Nonetheless, education can be part of 'tradition' (Ahmad, 2001) but not for everyone. Tyrer et al. (2006; 15) state in their research that a small proportion of women '... experienced difficulties or tensions from their families in entering higher education', though they argue that this cannot be attributed to one single factor. One issue, with specific reference to higher education, regards concerns about women moving away from home, living in university accommodation, and being far away from family, unattended. Ahmad (2001; 146) relates a reluctance for women to participate in higher education to concerns about the "Anglicising' effects of university life'. Dale (2002; 955) also discuss this, suggesting, with reference to post-compulsory education, that girls' behaviour is policed in a way that boys' behaviour is not. They argue that:

While the notion of honour was widely accepted, there were considerable differences in the ways in which it impinged on girls. For the most traditional families it meant that girls were not allowed outside on their own and going to FE college or university was forbidden. By contrast, in other families, girls were encouraged to go to university, even if it meant living away from home, and parents trusted their daughters to behave in an appropriate way.

This presents a contradiction, whereby education is viewed positively but does not necessarily correspond with attitudes towards women's behaviour. Ahmad (2001, 147) notes a similar process in relation to education and marriage, whereby education is simultaneously viewed as an attribute and a potential obstacle.

Muslim daughters (and their parents) are thus faced with a set of conflicting interests, a double-bind situation. Too little education and the family could be viewed by the rest of the community as 'backward' and 'old fashioned'; too much education and daughters could risk 'pricing themselves outside the marriage market' and 'going past their sell-by date' (Amber).

Indeed, the complexity of attitudes towards education was discussed in Chapter 4, where some participants were encouraged by their parents to participate in higher education, but discouraged by other family members who expressed concern about marriageability. Although families play an important role in decision making with regard to education, the role of other adults should not be discounted; indeed, in Section 4.4, perceptions of Pakistani women held by teachers and careers advisors were suggested to be potentially detrimental to labour market participation. Since it has been argued that educational attainment, and the role of parents'

encouragement, among Pakistani children and adults runs counter to 'stereotyped notions of Pakistani families' (Tyrer, 2006; 14), the influence of teachers and careers advisors should not be overlooked. Basit (1997, in Tyrer 2006; 10) reported that '...the stereotyped attitudes of many teachers and careers advisors towards Muslim women and schoolgirls influenced the nature of the advice they gave', and, furthermore, that this lack of support continued into higher education, where lecturers lacked an awareness of their different cultural and socio-economic circumstances.

This section has explored the complex relationship between gender and academic attainment for Pakistani women. It has demonstrated that younger Pakistani women, though they do not achieve as highly as their white British counterparts, are very active in further and higher education, and furthermore that attainment is steadily increasing for Pakistani students. Parents might prove instrumental in encouraging their children to further their education, though this is complex. Given the increasing academic attainment discussed in this section, it appears that there is a disconnect between qualifications and labour market participation, which is discussed in Section 6.5.

6.5 Utilising qualifications and over-education

So far, this chapter has shown that experiences of education, from subject choice to attainment, are shaped by both gender and ethnicity. Despite more women taking up STEM subjects, subject choice remains gendered in a way that funnels men and women into specific roles. For Pakistani women, subject choice is likely to be shaped by career expectations, and the expectations of other family members, as well as by social class (a full discussion of which is beyond the scope of this thesis, as discussed in Section 2.3.1). The relationship between gender and attainment is more complex, in that girls tend to outperform boys at school but not necessarily at university. Pakistani students do not attain at the same level as white British students, though attainment is increasing and Pakistani students tend to participate in further education at a higher level than students of other ethnicities. Despite an association between qualifications and participation in the labour market (ONS, 2014), the increased attainment and participation in further education amongst Pakistani women is not necessarily reflected in the labour market. Although this can partially be accounted for by age, whereby older Pakistani women have lower qualifications than younger women who were born or brought up in the UK (CoDE, 2014b), it could also be the case that there is inequality in the extent to which

people are able to capitalise on their qualifications. This will be explored in this section, which examines both the extent to which people are able to utilise their qualifications, and the relationship between gender, ethnicity, and over-education.

Although all labour market participants benefit from qualifications, and degree level qualifications in particular, the returns seem better for men than for women. For example, the Department for Business Innovation and Skills (hereafter BIS; 2016) reports a higher employment rate for male graduates than for female graduates, and a higher economic inactivity rate for female graduates, and furthermore that male graduates are more likely than female graduates to work in 'high skilled' employment. Finally, BIS (2016) reported higher earnings amongst male graduates than female graduates, with male graduates earning an average of £8000 more than female graduates in 2015. The same research also highlights the extent to which other factors mediate the relationship between qualifications and labour market participation for women, many of which are related to the life-stage factors discussed in Chapters 3, 4, and 5 of this thesis. For example, BIS (2016) links lower employment rates for women to taking time out of employment for childcare responsibilities.

In addition to overall lower employment rates for female graduates in comparison to male graduates, Chevalier (2003; 517) suggests that:

...there is a slight gender differential, with women more likely than men to accept non-graduate jobs. Married women might be more constrained in their job search by family preferences and hence are more likely to be overeducated...or employers may discriminate against women.

This is a slightly different issue to non-participation, demonstrating that life-stage factors have the potential to shape the nature of women's participation in the labour market, and family 'preferences' limit women's choices in the labour market. Instead, this is more an issue of over-education, whereby levels of education exceed those required for the job (Rafferty and Dale, 2008). Similarly, Battu et al. (2000) conclude from their research that, although it is unclear which gender is more prone to over-education, the *effects* of being over-educated are more significant for female than for male graduates. Conversely, Dolton et al. (2008) found that over-education is not predicted by gender, and similarly, Dolton and Silles (2001; 17) state that:

One of the most important results from our research is that over-education is not contingent upon gender. We find that women are no more likely than men to be overeducated either in their first or current jobs. This indicates that women are not given lower level jobs simply because they are women.

However, this is not consistent with more recent research from BIS (2015) that suggests women *are* more likely than men to be overeducated; this is unlikely to be intrinsically related to gender but more to the gendering of both the education system and the labour market, particularly where men are more likely to study subjects at university that are associated with greater career prospects.

Women's over-education has previously been associated with career breaks, such as maternity leave (e.g. Neuberger et al., 2011). The impact of discontinuous employment, for example due to taking maternity leave, is well documented (e.g. Warren et al., 2001), and has also been discussed in Chapter 5. Periods out of employment are associated with reduced training and promotion opportunities, for example (Warren et al., 2001). Another outcome of women's increased care responsibilities is that their pool of possible jobs might be limited to those that can be done flexibly, or part-time. Flexible employment was discussed in greater detail in Chapter 5, where a disparity between men's and women's participation in parttime employment was discussed. However, with regard to over-qualification, it is relevant that flexible working arrangements are more readily available for specific types of lower paid job (e.g. Neuberger et al., 2011). Additionally, Grant et al. (2005) suggest that women working part-time are likely to be under-utilising their skills and qualifications. Also, as suggested in Chapter 5, since flexible work might be difficult to negotiate, some women are likely to opt out of the labour market altogether; this is likely to have an effect irrespective of qualification levels.

In short then, there is a gender difference in the way that qualifications are utilised, and this links to the process of education itself, the gendering of the labour market, and the gendering of unpaid labour that has already been discussed in this thesis. Section 6.5.1 considers the extent to which over-education is related to ethnicity.

6.5.1 Ethnicity and over-education

Studies of 'over-education' or 'over-qualification' suggest that a disproportionate number of minority ethnic men and women are employed in jobs which do not require their level of educational attainment both in the UK...and internationally (Rafferty, 2012; 988).

Rafferty and Dale (2008) argue that an understanding of the incidence of overeducation amongst different ethnic groups is important since it could be indicative of discrimination within the labour market, and therefore raise equality and policy concerns. They found that, for women, the highest incidences of over-education were amongst Black African, Pakistani and Bangladeshi graduates, whilst white women were the least likely to be over-educated. Similarly, Lindley (2009; 18) found that 'for women, Indian and Pakistani/Bangladeshis are 11.7 and 7.5 percentage points more likely to be over-educated compared to white British born women.' Although qualifications reduce unemployment, there is still inequality between ethnic groups, both in terms of attainment, and in terms of the translation of qualifications into jobs (Rafferty and Dale, 2008).

Not all Pakistani women capitalise on their qualifications, and, although this could be considered in terms of family 'preferences', and in view of the life-stage factors outlined in Chapters 3, 4, and 5, other explanations centre on unequal access to certain educational institutions. Specifically, Bhattacharya et al. (2003) report that ethnic minority students are unevenly distributed across institutions, being clustered in more modern, post-1992 universities. Similarly, Modood (2004) argues that although members of ethnic minority groups are more successful at achieving university qualifications than their white peers, there are important differences within institutions and subjects. Other than Chinese groups, ethnic minority groups are the most likely to be mature or part-time students, and are more likely to be concentrated in post-1992 universities, both of which have implications for career prospects. Furthermore, Modood (2004) suggests that post-1992 universities respond better to ethnic minority applicants, and that the ethnic penalty persists in older, more prestigious universities. Bhattacharya et al (2003; 4) also found that ethnic minority students are less likely than white students to hold first-class or upper-second class degrees. Therefore, a combination of attending a less prestigious university, and achieving lower grades at degree level, might be one explanatory factor for over-education amongst Pakistani graduates.

Another issue relates to the value of overseas qualifications. Rafferty and Dale (2008; 8) argue that:

For people who received part or all of their formal education abroad, the relative value of overseas qualifications is a further factor to consider. Some employers may not recognise overseas certificates as equivalent to UK qualifications. Qualifications that allow entry into certain professions can also be country specific. Dale et al (2002) found that, in terms of predicting economic activity for Pakistani and Bangladeshi women, overseas qualifications were of no greater value than having no qualifications.

Although their research took place in Switzerland, Riaño and Baghadadi (2007; 163) also report that skilled migrants found difficulty establishing themselves in the labour market, stating of their own participants that 'most of the women cannot use their social and cultural capital to establish themselves in the upper segments of the labour market.' This is one of many reasons why, despite qualifications, Pakistani women might struggle in the labour market.

6.5.2 Spatial flexibility

Over-education might also be understood in terms of 'spatial flexibility' (McGuinness, 2006), whereby women have a more limited labour market than men, which, specifically, is spatially limited due to increased caring responsibilities. Similarly, Grant et al. (2005; ix) argue that women typically travel a shorter distance to work than men, and state that that 'women are working below their potential because they face a restricted labour market.'

The idea of a lack of 'spatial flexibility' is a useful one when considering how caring responsibilities might affect labour market participation for Pakistani women, and prevent them from obtaining jobs that match their skill-sets. Ethnic minority groups in the UK are more likely to live in neighbourhoods classed as deprived than white British groups (CoDE, 2013), and this gap is greater in some regions than others. This is also demonstrated in research by Buckner et al. (2007; vii), who found that Pakistanis are amongst the ethnic groups most likely to live in 'Neighbourhood Renewal (NR)' areas, and observed:

...a complex relationship between the residential clustering of communities of working age women from different ethnic groups in deprived districts, and their access to labour market opportunities.

Further, they argue that '…local labour markets are simply working better in some districts than in others for ethnic minority women' (Buckner et al., 2007, vii). This suggests that, even with the higher level qualifications viewed as key to labour market participation, Pakistani women might find themselves unable to capitalise on them, based on where they live.

Spatial flexibility does not only limit access to the labour market, but access to higher education, which in turn, as has already been demonstrated in this chapter, is positively linked with labour market participation. Indeed, Reay et al. (2001) argue that 'localism' is as much a race as a class issue, with 40% of ethnic minority students concentrated in London universities, and in newer, less well-established, and less prestigious universities (Preece, 1999). Preece (1999) also states that

ethnic minority participation in higher education is even lower in working class areas, citing the University of Lancaster as an example; despite its catchment area consisting of a higher-than-average percentage of Muslim Asians, they constitute only 1% of University of Lancaster attendees. As with access to other services (such as childcare, as discussed in Chapter 5), therefore, space can affect access to labour market participation in a multitude of ways, both directly and indirectly. Those who are unable to capitalise on skills and qualifications, therefore, might experience such limitations (as well as others that are discussed throughout this thesis).

6.5.3 Discrimination in the labour market

As discussed in Section 4.4, Pakistani women also experience discrimination in the labour market, and this is likely to affect the way that they are able to utilise their qualifications. This is reflected in Riaño and Baghdadi's (2007) research on migrant workers, where one participant experienced discrimination based on opting to wear religious dress. Turner and Wigfield (2012) also suggest that discrimination is a key barrier to the labour market for South Asian women, who are more likely to report difficulty finding a job compared to white women. Citing research from Botcherby (2006, 469), they report that:

...one in five minority ethnic women compared to one in ten white women often work in a job below their potential because no one would employ them at the level they were qualified for. Minority ethnic women in Botcherby's (2006) sample were more likely to state that they often or sometimes have seen less qualified/experienced people promoted above them...

This is supported by other research. The All Party Parliamentary Group on Race and Community (hereafter APPGRC; 2013; 4) report that, for Black, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi groups trying to obtain employment:

Discrimination was found to be present at every stage of the recruitment process – when assessing applications, during interviews, at recruitment agencies and also in the workplace itself.

Discrimination was found to be based on names and accents, as well as wearing traditional clothing. In particular, APPGRC suggest that people with African or Asian sounding surnames submit twice as many applications as those with British names to get an interview. Further, they report discrimination against Muslim women who wear the hijab and that, although some women chose not to wear one for this reason, '...younger women were more likely to choose to wear the hijab, including

those who were highly educated.' This is supported by Bunglawala (2008; 6) who reported that:

Eighteen percent of women respondents in work stated that they previously wore the hijab, and in one case the niqab and that when they did so they could not find work. Once they stopped wearing the hijab and niqab they all found employment.

APPGRC (2013) also link discrimination to assumptions that Muslim women are more likely to choose to leave employment in favour of having and caring for children. This has already been discussed in Chapter 5, where some participants spoke of school staff making such assumptions.

This section has explored the reasons Pakistani women who do participate, or wish to participate in the labour market might not be able to capitalise on the qualifications which have already been linked to career success (e.g. ONS, 2014). The prevalence of over-education amongst Pakistani women was first linked to their greater likelihood of attending post-1992 universities, a lesser likelihood of having obtained first or second class degrees, and less value being placed on qualifications obtained overseas. This section also considered spatial constraints which might shape the nature of the local labour market as well as shaping its boundaries. Finally, this section has considered the role of discrimination in the labour market, which provides an indication that, as suggested by Rafferty and Dale (2008), over-education is shaped by the discrimination experienced by Pakistani women.

6.6 Under-qualification

Section 6.4 stated that Pakistani and Bangladeshi students achieve lower grades at GCSE and A Level than students of other ethnicities, and further that educational disadvantage, though it is decreasing, still persists (CoDE, 2014b). In addition, Pakistanis are amongst the ethnic groups least likely to have degree level qualifications (CoDE, 2014b). This means that under-qualification, which is defined by Battu and Sloane (2002;1) as '...where educational attainment is below that formally required...' remains a key consideration when exploring labour market participation. Under-qualification is most likely to affect the older Pakistani cohort; CoDE (2014b) reported that those aged 25-49 were twice as likely as those aged 16–24 to have no degree level qualifications, which is similar to the rate for white British people of the same age group. Additionally, they argue that the age gap in

attainment is exacerbated for those born outside the UK, indicating that underqualification might be a more pronounced issue for first generation migrants. This section outlines key factors that might lead to under-education amongst Pakistani women, focusing on age and migration status (CoDE, 2014b), and religious and cultural norms (Ahmad, 2001, and see also Chapters 3, 4, and 5 of this thesis), and considers the implications of under-qualification for labour market participation.

Lindley et al., (2006; 353) relate Pakistani women's academic attainment to whether or not they were born in the UK, stating that: '...there is a considerable gap between the qualifications of first generation women and those of young women born or educated in the UK.' This is reflected in the literature reviewed in Chapter 1 on migration, which argued that women who moved to the UK as adults, often to join husbands, had low expectations of their participation in the labour market, which therefore affected their attainment and other skills that might help them to participate (e.g. Leslie and Lindley, 2000). Furthermore, statistics from Unicef (2013) indicate low levels of participation in secondary school education for Pakistani women in Pakistan, suggesting that those who move to the UK as teenagers or adults will not have the same qualification levels as their British counterparts. Indeed, Shaw (2000) suggests that Pakistani girls are steered towards marriage from a young age, and Ahmad (2001) suggests that education is simultaneously viewed as an asset and a potential barrier to marriage. Such conflicting views of education are also reflected in the experiences of some of the participants as outlined in Chapters 5 and 6.

When considering under-qualification, it should also be noted that educational attainment is linked to socio-economic status. Bradley and Taylor (2004: 343) conclude, from their research on ethnicity and attainment, that:

The primary reasons for the relatively poor performance of Afro-Caribbean and Bangladeshi/Pakistani youths lie in their family's relative poverty, which may in turn stem from discrimination in the labour market. This suggests that the most disadvantaged ethnic groups will continue to improve their exam performance relative to whites over the longer term provided ethnic disparities in socioeconomic status continue to narrow. This will only happen, however, if discrimination in the labour market is eliminated.

It has already been demonstrated in this thesis that Pakistanis living in the UK are more likely to be concentrated in areas of higher deprivation, as well as more likely to be in precarious and low-paid forms of employment. Therefore, although underqualification is linked to age and migration profile, socio-economic and locational

factors should not be overlooked. For example, CoDE (2013) state that Pakistani groups are most likely to be concentrated in more deprived, inner-city areas, whilst both Singleton (2010) and Basit (2012) link educational attainment to area and the type of school students attend. In turn, attainment at school affects access to certain types of university; therefore even where students obtain the right grades to attend university, this chapter has argued, in Section 6.5.1, that not all universities are 'equal' when it comes to participating in the labour market.

Finally, some Pakistani women are also likely to experience barriers to accessing higher education, which potentially affects access to the labour market. Chapters 3 and 4 suggested that cultural preferences might place limits on women's mobility outside the home (e.g. Shaw, 2000). Nonetheless, more research indicates that Muslims place a lot of faith in the education system (e.g. Afshar, 1989), and furthermore ethnic minority students are more likely than white students to stay on in higher education (e.g. Bhattacharya et al., 2003). Furthermore, Catney and Sabater (2015) argue that ethnic penalties in the labour market persist even when educational differences are taken into account. Therefore, although underqualification is likely to be an issue for some women, particularly those who were not educated in the UK, it seems more likely that Pakistani women are, for various reasons already discussed in Section 6.5, less likely to be able to capitalise on qualifications they have. Furthermore, for those who were not educated in the UK, language proficiency is more likely to be a barrier to both the labour market, and to obtaining qualifications. This is discussed in Section 6.7.

6.7 Language proficiency, economic activity, and migration policy

Language disadvantage has been linked to higher levels of economic inactivity amongst Pakistani women (Leslie and Lindley, 2000), as well as a decreased probability of participating in employment (Shields and Price, 2010). For first generation Pakistani migrants, language proficiency poses '...a considerable barrier to seeking paid work outside the home'(Dale, 2002; 5). ESOL classes are a valuable resource for women whose English fluency might be preventing them from participating in not just the labour market, but various aspects of life in the UK. Issues relating to the accessibility of such classes for Pakistani women will be the focus of this section, however it is first of all necessary to outline the visa requirements regarding English proficiency.

The level of English required for migration to the UK differs according to the visa level being applied for. Those applying for family visas, unless they are children or adults migrating to be cared for by relatives, over 65, or have a physical or mental condition that prevents them from meeting the requirement, must demonstrate knowledge of English. This can be proven by: either a degree or academic qualification that is taught or researched in English or recognised by UK NARIC as being equivalent to a UK bachelor's degree or higher; or passing an approved English language test (Gov.UK, 2017c). Therefore, migrants are required to demonstrate some level of English proficiency. Nonetheless, this section will demonstrate that language remains a considerable barrier to labour market participation.

6.7.1 Accessing language classes

Having argued that '...lack of English language fluency reduces average predicted employment probabilities by 20–25 percentage points', Shields and Wheatley Price (2001; 741) suggest that:

Increasing the provision of English language training directly or indirectly...would go a long way to eliminating the 10% employment gap between Britain's white and ethnic minority communities.

Similarly, Leslie and Lindley (2000; 604) found that

Lack of fluency in English has a significant impact on the unemployment and inactivity rates of ethnic minority men and women in Britain. For men the biggest impact appears to be on unemployment, and for women its biggest impact is on inactivity rates. Earnings are also significantly reduced.

This suggests that being able to access language classes or other methods of language training is central to increasing labour market participation amongst Pakistani women. As well as a degree of English fluency being required for many jobs, learning or improving English is likely to be a precursor to developing or building on qualifications, as well as navigating complex processes relating to employment. Learning more English is not just positive in terms of increasing employability: BIS (2011; 16) reports that ESOL study for Pakistani housewives meant they could visit medical practitioners independently, communicate with their children's teachers and their neighbours, and '...generally lead more integrated lives.'

Despite the positive aspects of learning or improving English, Pakistani women are likely to differ in their ability to access ESOL classes. Such difficulties might in part

be shaped by their status as Pakistani migrants, and relate to cultural factors and family commitments, whilst funding and availability of services is also a key concern. Anwar (1979; 166) stated that some women '...find it difficult to participate in literacy and language courses, because they are not allowed to leave their homes and to participate in any kind of social life.' Although this was written over 35 years ago, Chapter 3 of this thesis has suggested that Pakistani women might still face limitations to their mobility outside the home, which will affect their participation in certain activities. However, BIS (2011) reports that uptake of ESOL classes amongst Asian or Asian British women is fairly high, making up a third of ESOL learners. This suggests that ESOL classes are popular amongst Pakistani women who are able to access them. Furthermore, Hashem and Aspinall (2010; 20) found little evidence of women not being permitted to attend classes by their husbands. Nonetheless, they do relate non-attendance to 'time and family commitments', stating that:

The lack of time and having both childcare and family responsibilities is an issue that does affect all women regardless of ethnicity. Perhaps the case of Bangladeshi women is more acute, because they are more heavily reliant on state-funded childcare services, especially as the majority are unsalaried and dependent upon the availability of government provided childcare or childcare through their extended families.

Although Hashem and Aspinall (2010)'s report is about Bangladeshis in London, the lower rates of labour market participation amongst Pakistani women mean that they may face some of the same issues with accessing ESOL as the Bangladeshi women in Hashem and Aspinall's (2010) report.

In addition, BIS (2011; 17) suggests that financial constraints might prevent women from attending ESOL classes, '…either because they have no income or may not have access to funds if learning needs are not prioritised within the family budget for financial or cultural reasons.' Changes to the funding and provision of ESOL classes have also been described as disproportionately affecting women (Moore, 2011). Those on 'inactive' benefits are no longer able to access government funding for ESOL classes, and Moore (2011) suggests that those on inactive benefits are more likely to be women who stay at home to look after the family. More recently (in January 2016), former Prime Minister David Cameron proposed a fund that would be specifically targeted towards funding ESOL classes for Muslim women, providing courses to isolated communities via local colleges, though this follows a much larger cut in ESOL funding of £45,000,000 (Martin, 2011). This

increase in ESOL funding has been criticised on the grounds that firstly, it is still an overall cut in real terms, and secondly, in targeting Muslim women specifically, it makes subtle links between low English fluency and extremism. Indeed, the National Association for Teaching English and Community Languages to Adults (hereafter NATECLA, 2016) responded to the Prime Minister's proposal with the following statement:

Government funding for ESOL classes across the UK has been significantly cut over the last four years. The most recent cut took place only four months ago (September 2015) and saw the withdrawal of £45 million worth of funding for Job Centre claimants who were identified as having a language level that prevents them from getting employment. This cut in funding, and those that came before, have had a profound effect on the ability of further and adult education centres to offer ESOL classes in general. Many organisations have stopped running these courses altogether, a number of qualified and experienced teachers have lost their jobs and, where ESOL classes do still exist, huge waiting lists are commonplace. This means migrants often have to wait over a year to start learning English and the number of free places available for the most vulnerable learners have been slashed.

Furthermore, they question the timing of the announced funding changes, as well as the prioritisation of Muslim women over other migrants, and they criticise David Cameron for claiming that '...there is a lack of will in Muslim women wishing to learn English', when 'perhaps the drop in take up he refers to should rather be attributed to the significant loss of funding for ESOL courses provided by the government and the subsequent closure of many classes' (NATECLA, 2016).

Irrespective of costs, the availability of ESOL classes is declining. Participants in research by Turner and Wigfield (2012; 48), who wanted to work but were constrained by their English fluency,

...stated that local ESOL classes were full or were not run frequently enough, whilst those whose English was better felt that having English as a second language still prevented them from gaining employment, either because they perceived they were being discriminated against by potential employers or because they themselves lacked confidence in their ability to understand English well enough to obtain work.

In Section 6.5.3, discrimination against Pakistani women was postulated as something that could prevent them from capitalising on their qualifications. It might

also be the case that employers use a lack of English fluency as an excuse not to recruit certain people; this was reported by participants in a focus group conducted by Turner and Wigfield (2012; 36), with one Bangladeshi woman stating:

I want to work, but I can't find any work. I have tried but they tell me that my English is no good, I bet they never said that when they needed our fathers to work night shifts in the 50s and 60s.

This section has outlined the relationship between language proficiency and Pakistani women's labour market participation, and unsurprisingly, it is easier to access the labour market for those who can speak English well. Nonetheless, family commitments, cuts to funding, and a lessening availability of local ESOL classes mean that they are becoming difficult to access. This has the potential to prevent some Pakistani women from working, studying, or participating in other more everyday activities such as accessing healthcare.

6.8 Conclusion

This chapter has reviewed literature on education, language proficiency, and accessing the labour market. It began with a consideration of subject choice in post-16 education, and how this is both gendered and ethnicised. Following this, it explored the link between academic attainment and labour market participation, which again is gendered and ethnicised, but in a complex way; overall, girls attain at higher levels than boys. However, Pakistani girls and boys are both slightly behind their white British counterparts in terms of academic attainment.

Nonetheless, Pakistani women are increasingly participating in higher education.

This chapter has also argued that people differ in their ability to capitalise on qualifications: for all women this is likely to relate to other caring responsibilities affecting the accessibility of certain types of work. For Pakistani women, this is further affected by discrimination in the labour market, as well as country of birth. Women born overseas with qualifications might still have issues navigating the labour market in the UK, and language remains a barrier to the labour market irrespective of qualifications. Indeed, English proficiency is a key barrier to labour market participation, as well as access to other services. Despite this, access to ESOL classes is compromised by costs, caring responsibilities, and physical proximity to places that provide them. Having established that qualifications and language proficiency play an important role in labour market participation, but that this is not simple or straightforward, Chapter 7 explores the themes that have arisen

in this literature review chapter by drawing on data from the 2011 Census, as well as accounts from the research participants.

7 Skills for the labour market

7.1 Introduction

As outlined in Chapter 6, both qualifications and language proficiency are frequently cited as affecting labour market participation amongst ethnic minority groups (e.g. Shields and Wheatley Price, 2001; Lindley et al., 2006). More specifically, Chapter 6 argued that the relationship between ethnicity and attainment of work-related skills is particularly complex for Pakistani women; higher education attendance and academic attainment are steadily increasing amongst Pakistanis in the UK (CoDE, 2014), and lower attainment can also partially be accounted for by other factors, such as age and migration profiles, social class (CoDE, 2014b), as well as the lifestage factors outlined in Chapters 3, 4 and 5 (e.g. Shaw, 2000; Dale et al., 2006). Chapter 6 argued that under-qualification is an issue for some women, but also that more pressing issues relate firstly on the extent to which Pakistani women are able to utilise their qualifications, and secondly to other skills such as English fluency. Both the extent to which qualifications can be utilised, and English fluency, are likely to hinder access to the labour market and to other services. Therefore, Pakistani women, depending on numerous factors, need differing types of support in either utilising skills and qualifications, or developing those skills (Turner and Wigfield, 2012).

This chapter begins by presenting an overview of the relationship between gender, ethnicity, and educational attainment and participation. It then considers how people translate their qualifications into jobs, since although attainment is associated with positive outcomes in the labour market (ONS, 2014), qualifications do not guarantee jobs, as discussed in Section 6.5. Following this, the experiences of migrants are considered, specifically focusing on the barriers that might be faced by those who are engaged but might need additional support in accessing the labour market. Finally, this chapter considers those who, as defined by Turner and Wigfield (2012), are removed from the labour market and might need different types of support.

7.2 Education and qualification levels

Table 20 shows the relationship between qualification levels and economic activity for all adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales. Here, it is evident that qualifications are associated with an increase in employment levels; those with qualifications below degree level are more likely to be in employment than those with no qualifications, whilst those with qualifications above degree level are more likely to be in employment than those with qualifications below degree level. Those with no qualifications are more likely to be in employment than not, although 48.6% of people in this category were unemployed or economically inactive. Qualifications, and particularly those above degree level, also reduced the chances of being economically inactive due to looking after home/family. Those with 'other' qualifications, which include vocational qualifications or qualifications at degree level or above obtained overseas, were less likely to be in employment than those with qualifications below degree level, but more likely to be in employment than those with no qualifications.

Table 20: Qualification levels and economic activity for all adults aged 16-64 in England and Wales

	None	Below	Above	Other ⁵
		degree level	degree level	
In employment	51.4	80.1	87.9	76.4
Unemployed	8.6	6.3	3.1	5.9
Retired	12.6	4.1	4.7	5.8
Looking after home/family	10.7	5.5	3.0	7.9
Sick or disabled	16.7	3.9	1.4	4.0
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Whilst Table 20 shows a positive relationship between qualifications and economic activity, it was argued in Chapter 6 that this relationship is complicated by both gender and ethnicity, whereby participation, attainment, and outcomes are affected by both factors separately and in combination. Table 21 shows qualification levels

_

⁵ Vocational qualifications and overseas qualifications above degree level.

of white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales, and shows that Pakistani women are the group most likely to have no qualifications, and least likely to have qualifications above degree level; 30.6% of Pakistani women had no qualifications, compared to 22.2% of Pakistani men, 15.8% of white British women, and 15.3% of white British men; by contrast, 23.8% of Pakistani women had qualifications above degree level, compared to 30.3% of Pakistani men, 30.2% of white British women, and 29.9% of white British men. Furthermore, there is only a negligible gender gap between white British men and women, and a larger one for Pakistani men and women, particularly for those with no qualifications, and those with qualifications above degree level. For example, 30.3% of Pakistani men, compared to 23.8% of Pakistani women have qualifications above degree level. Finally, the Pakistani group are more likely than the white British group to have 'other' qualifications. This table shows, therefore, that Pakistani women are less qualified than their white British counterparts, and are also less qualified than Pakistani men, and therefore indicates that gender and ethnicity intersect with regard to educational attainment. This is consistent with literature cited in Chapter 6 that suggested Pakistani women in particular might face considerable barriers to participation in higher education, despite the increase in their participation in education at this level (e.g. CoDE, 2014b).

Table 21: Qualification levels for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

	White British male	White British female	Pakistani male	Pakistani female
No qualifications	15.3	15.8	22.2	30.6
Below degree level	51.4	51.6	32.4	30.9
Above degree level	29.9	30.2	30.3	23.8
Other	3.4	2.4	15.1	14.7
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

The relationship between class and participation in higher education could go some way to explaining the ethnicity gap in qualification levels demonstrated in Table 21. Chapter 6 linked socioeconomic status and deprivation to educational outcomes, particularly for Pakistani students (see Section 6.5). Nonetheless, it does not explain the wider gender gap exhibited by the Pakistani group, which is particularly evident for those with no qualifications, and those with above degree level

qualifications. Understanding this will go some way to furthering understandings of labour market participation amongst Pakistani women, given the relationship between qualifications and economic activity, as illustrated in Table 22, which shows that having no qualifications is associated with decreased employment, whilst having *any* qualifications is associated with increased employment. However, interpretation of this table is not straightforward.

For those with no qualifications, Pakistani men are the most likely to be economically active (either in employment or unemployed), followed by white British men. Men who are not economically active are most likely to be sick or disabled. Less than half of white British women are economically active. A majority of inactive white British women are retired, with the rest split between looking after home/family, and sick or disabled. The majority (59.5%) of Pakistani women with no qualifications are economically inactive due to looking after home/family, and less than 20.0% are economically active. Qualifications below degree level increase economic activity for all groups. The majority of each group in this category are economically active, although economic activity remains lower for both groups of women, and lowest for Pakistani women. Despite this, the greatest employment increases are seen amongst both groups of women; there is a 32.9 percentage point increase in employment rates for white British women with qualifications below degree level, compared to white British women with no qualifications, whilst for Pakistani women there is a 35.0 percentage point increase. This is consistent with Salway's (2007) suggestion that Pakistani women benefit from qualifications in the same way that white British women do.

Qualifications above degree level increase economic activity further still, raising economic activity to above 90.0% for white British and Pakistani men, 85.0% for white British women, and 76.1% for Pakistani women. Although Pakistani women in this category still have the lowest employment rates, Pakistani men and women benefit more from above degree level qualifications than white British men and women. For Pakistani women, there is a 21.0 percentage point increase in employment if they have qualifications above degree level, in comparison to qualifications below degree level. This figure is 13.4 percentage points for Pakistani men, 9.4 percentage points for white British women, and 5.3 percentage points for white British men.

Finally, 'other' qualifications are beneficial for all groups in comparison to having no qualifications. For both groups of men, economic activity (including unemployment) is just under 90.0%, and for Pakistani men, economic activity in this group is higher

than in the group qualified at below degree level. A majority of white British women in this category is in employment, with those who are economically inactive most likely to be retired. Pakistani women with 'other' qualifications are most likely to be inactive due to looking after home/family, with only 23.4% of these women in employment. The role of 'other' qualifications will be returned to in Section 7.5, since this category includes degrees obtained overseas. Nonetheless, it is noteworthy that vocational qualifications, which are also included in this category, are not as beneficial in the labour market as below or above degree level academic qualifications.

Table 22: Economic activity according to qualification level for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

		White British male	White British female	Pakistani male	Pakistani female
Name	la conformant				
None	In employment	59.7	43.6	67.1	13.1
	Unemployed	11.0	5.7	10.9	5.9
	Retired	7.5	20.1	3.2	5.5
	Looking after home/family	2.5	15.0	3.6	59.5
	Sick or disabled	19.2	15.6	15.2	16.0
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Below	In employment	85.1	76.5	77.8	48.1
degree level	Unemployed	6.9	4.6	15.0	11.1
	Retired	3.2	5.6	0.6	0.9
	Looking after home/family	0.9	9.4	2.1	35.0
	Sick or disabled	3.9	3.9	4.5	4.8
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Above degree level	In employment	90.4	85.9	91.2	69.1
	Unemployed	2.9	1.9	6.3	7.0
	Retired	5.1	6.1	0.6	1.2
	Looking after home/family	0.4	4.5	0.9	21.4
	Sick or disabled	1.3	1.5	1.0	1.3
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Other	In employment	81.8	67.1	82.1	23.4
	Unemployed	6.1	3.9	7.4	6.2
	Retired	5.3	17.8	2.9	4.1
	Looking after home/family	1.0	6.0	2.7	60.1
	Sick or disabled	5.8	5.2	5.0	6.2
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

This preliminary exploration of the link between qualifications and economic activity demonstrates that having *any* qualifications is better than having no qualifications, and that the gains associated with qualifications are greatest for Pakistani women. Despite this, even with qualifications above degree level, Pakistani women do not participate in the labour market at the same level as the other groups, exhibiting a gender gap as well as an ethnic gap, even where educational attainment is taken into account. This brings to the fore two key points. The first relates to the differing attainment levels of Pakistani students, particularly in non-compulsory education, and the second relates to the idea that even with qualifications, Pakistani women may struggle to access the labour market, an idea expressed by Dale et al. (2002b; 950) who found, in their research conducted with the South Asian community in Oldham, that:

Respondents frequently expressed this view and it reflects the extent to which discrimination in the labour market is perceived as a constraint and the recognition that, if you were Asian, you would only succeed by being better qualified than your competitors.

Section 7.2.1 explores attainment levels for Pakistani women in comparison to their white British counterparts. Specifically, it focuses on ideas about marriageability that link to the themes outlined in Chapters 3 and 4, and how this shapes experiences of education, and expectations of future participation in the labour market.

7.2.1 Education, attainment, and 'marriageability'

Shaw (2000; 175) states that, for Pakistani women

...experiences of secondary schooling and of employment have, to varying extents, been shaped by their parents' concerns to protect their daughters' marriageability.

This is corroborated by Dale et al. (2010; 951) who found that '...some parents were reluctant for daughters to continue in education and preferred them to make an early marriage.' Further, Dale et al. (2002b) draw a link between participation in non-compulsory education, and the prevalence of early marriage amongst Pakistani communities, which they link to *purdah*, insofar as early marriage could help to negate the risk of women engaging in sexual relationships outside of marriage. Additionally, in their research, Bagguley and Hussain (2007; 19) found that 'marriage was central to the plans of young women from all of the South Asian communities.' This is discussed in greater detail in Chapters 3 and 5, which explore

marriage as a key life-stage factor affecting labour market participation amongst Pakistani women. While this suggests that marriageability might have a negative effect on attainment, and more specifically participation in non-compulsory education, Bagguley and Hussain (2007) also found that many women, whilst aware that marriage could be a potential disruption to participation in higher education, opted to defer their marriage in order to pursue higher education. Similarly, both Fiza (University employee, Leeds) and Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) stated that their participation in higher education shaped decisions regarding marriage. Mehreen met her husband when she was 17, and her parents in law were happy for her to attend medical school, whilst Fiza went to teach abroad for a year once she had got married, in a role directly related to her degree. Thus, the relationship between marriageability and education is complex (e.g. Ahmad, 2001), and this section considers such complexities.

Nonetheless, for some women, a preference for early marriage in the Pakistani community (e.g. Dale et al., 2002b; Lindley et al., 2006) has the potential to affect educational trajectories, and in particular, participation in higher education. In order to explore this, Table 23 shows marriage⁶ rates according to age category and ethnicity for men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales. This table shows high marriage rates for Pakistani women aged 16-24, even in comparison to Pakistani men. 43.8% of Pakistani women in this age group are married, compared to 21.2% of Pakistani men, and 4.2% of white British women. Marriage rates amongst all ethnic groups are highest in the 25-49 age category, and drop slightly for those in the 50-64 age category.

-

⁶ For clarity, in this table, 'Not married' refers to people who are single, divorced, separated, or widowed.

Table 23: Ethnicity and marital status according to age category for all men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales

			White British	White other	Mixed/multi-ethnicity	Indian	Pakistani	Bangladeshi	Chinese	Other	African	Caribbean
Men	16-24	Not married	98.0	92.0	97.8	93.1	78.8	90.2	93.7	89.9	91.5	97.6
		Married	2.0	8.0	2.2	6.9	21.2	9.8	6.3	10.1	8.5	2.4
	25-49	Not married	55.8	54.9	67.7	31.5	25.1	24.8	46.9	39.1	47.5	68.7
		Married	44.2	45.1	32.3	68.5	74.9	75.2	53.1	60.9	52.5	31.3
	50-64	Not married	32.6	35.8	51.7	10.4	11.3	6.3	19.1	20.2	33.8	54.4
		Married	67.4	64.2	48.3	89.6	88.7	93.7	80.9	79.8	66.2	45.6
Women	16-24	Not married	95.8	84.5	94.9	74.5	56.2	58.7	89.3	63.1	82.9	94.2
		Married	4.2	15.5	5.1	25.5	43.8	41.3	10.7	36.9	17.1	5.8
	25-49	Not married	51.8	51.9	66.6	26.7	24.3	19.6	38.4	28.9	54.2	72.6
		Married	48.2	48.1	33.4	73.3	75.7	80.4	61.6	71.1	45.8	27.4
	50-64	Not married	34.3	41.0	52.5	22.9	27.8	38.5	29.0	34.8	58.8	66.5
		Married	65.7	59.0	47.5	77.1	72.2	61.5	71.0	65.2	41.2	33.5

As detailed in the opening paragraph of this section, the prevalence of early marriage amongst Pakistani women might link to participation in non-compulsory education. This may not be related to the link between education and the labour market per se, but might have more to do with concerns about the *nature* of non-compulsory education (Ahmad, 2001), and, for some, fears that it might prove a disruption to the anticipated trajectory from compulsory education into marriage and family life. The relationship between marital status and qualification levels for white British and Pakistani men and women is illustrated in Table 24. Age is also accounted for here, since Table 23 has already shown a relationship between marital status and age.

Table 24: Qualifications and marital status for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales, according to age category⁷

			Wh	ite British	Pakistani		
			Male	Female	Male	Female	
16-	Single	None	11.5	9.6	11.8	10.1	
24		Below degree level	71.2	69.5	63.6	60.6	
		Above degree level	15.7	19.9	21.0	26.1	
		Other	1.6	1.0	3.5	3.2	
	Married/Civil	None	12.1	11.4	18.6	23.2	
	Partnership	Below degree level	68.3	69.3	48.8	41.1	
		Above degree level	17.3	17.9	13.4	14.0	
		Other	2.4	1.5	19.2	21.7	
25-	Single	None	14.5	12.8	14.8	20.9	
49		Below degree level	52.8	53.1	34.9	34.7	
		Above degree level	29.9	32.5	41.8	36.4	
		Other	2.8	1.6	8.6	8.0	
	Married/Civil Partnership	None	7.4	6.9	20.3	28.2	
		Below degree level	52.1	54.1	29.2	30.2	
		Above degree level	37.8	37.6	32.5	24.6	
		Other	2.6	1.3	18.0	16.9	
50-	Single	None	30.0	29.9	40.1	59.9	
64		Below degree level	42.2	41.3	21.7	14.2	
		Above degree level	23.4	24.8	18.8	9.8	
		Other	4.4	4.0	19.5	16.1	
	Married	None	19.5	25.3	42.8	57.9	
		Below degree level	43.7	44.0	20.6	13.8	
		Above degree level	31.6	26.2	18.2	10.9	
		Other	5.3	4.5	18.4	17.5	

 7 All column totals add up to 100.0%.

Table 24 shows a relationship between age, marital status, and qualification levels that varies with age. For those aged 16-24, marriage is associated with a greater likelihood of having no qualifications, though the gap is notably larger for married Pakistani men and women in this age group. Further, for Pakistani men and women in this group, marriage decreases the likelihood of qualifications below or above degree level, whilst increasing 'other' qualifications. A similar pattern is evident for Pakistani men and women in the 25-49 category, whilst married white British men and women in this group are more likely to have above degree level qualifications than their single counterparts. Pakistani men and women in the 50-64 category are the least likely to have any qualifications, though marriage does not change this to a great extent. Nonetheless, the gender gap is wider within this group. For white British men and women in this group, marriage is associated with a decreased likelihood of having no qualifications and an increase in above degree level qualifications. In sum, the relationship between marriage and qualifications does vary with age. However, it is only in the Pakistani group that marriage is consistently associated with a decrease in qualification levels, irrespective of age group. Nonetheless, the gender attainment gap is smaller for the younger group. Overall, the fact that married Pakistanis aged 16-24 are among the least likely to have qualifications above degree level could be taken as an indication that in some cases, marriage is prioritised over pursuing non-compulsory education.

Some of the participants also drew links between marital expectations and labour market expectations. For example, Veena (Not economically active, Leeds) stated that she had Pakistani qualifications that were equivalent to A levels, but did not pursue education any further because she got married and, in doing so, drew a link between marriage and her non-pursuit of non-compulsory education. Indeed, none of the other members of the focus group Veena was part of were economically active, and they all indicated that they did not anticipate participating in the labour market. Therefore, it is likely that some women simply do not expect to participate in the labour market, particularly once they are married. It is noteworthy too that the women in this focus group specifically were all first generation migrants. Aston (2007; 5) found that '... younger women and second and third generation women [hold] less traditional views than their older relatives, in terms of education and employment.' This is evident where this research has found that Pakistani women aged 16-24 are more likely to have non-compulsory qualifications, and more likely to be active in the labour market.

By contrast, Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds), who was born in the UK, accepted a marriage proposal when she was 17, but made it clear that she would be pursuing

her medical career prior to getting married. Her husband's parents were friends with her parents and said that they did not mind her studying, as long as she did so 'in a modest fashion.' Mehreen's account indicates that, although her parents (who were very invested in her career) and her parents-in-law encouraged her to continue her studies, her parents-in-law were still invested in *how* she pursued her education. This relates to broader concerns about the 'westernising influence' of universities, and indeed Brah (1993; 143) suggests that allowing girls to work away from home 'unchaperoned' could subject a family to 'malicious gossip'. Similarly, Dale et al. (2002b; 957) suggest that:

If a girl remained at home under the supervision of her family there was less risk that she would engage in activities which could damage the family's reputation. For a girl to continue in post-16 education it was necessary for parents to be confident that this would not bring dishonour on the family.

Such concerns were also discussed by other participants. Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) said that she did not go to university because she did not want to go to the University of Huddersfield, but was not allowed to travel further afield to study. As a result, she opted out of university education altogether, because she felt that Huddersfield was not as prestigious as nearby Leeds, and therefore a degree from Huddersfield would not improve her job prospects. She described herself as being 'a step ahead' because she was born in England rather than Pakistan, but went on to say that not being able to commute limits university options, which affects job prospects: 'If I had grown up in Leeds I would have been allowed to go to Leeds University.' Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) spoke of her parents' reluctance to let her go away to university, wanting her to stay nearby and study pharmacy. However, her brother was allowed to go away to university, and she used this to negotiate going away to university to study Chemistry; a compromise, with her choice of location and a course they approved of.

This section has, so far, demonstrated a propensity for early marriage amongst Pakistani women, and suggested that this relates to decisions about participation in non-compulsory education. Further, it has demonstrated lower attainment levels amongst married Pakistani women. Participant accounts do provide some support to the idea that marriage shapes the nature of participation in non-compulsory education, as well as decisions to not participate at all. Nonetheless, other research, as well as data collected for this project, also suggests that others' perceptions of the role of marriage within Pakistani culture, as well as other facets of belonging to a migrant population, affected their experiences of education, and

the extent to which they were encouraged to participate in non-compulsory education. This is discussed in Section 7.2.2.

7.2.2 Perceptions of Pakistani students

In Chapter 6 it was suggested that perceptions of Pakistani women led to discrimination in the labour market. Perhaps unsurprisingly, this happens in educational institutions, too. In their research on higher education and opportunities for Pakistani women, Bagguley and Hussain (2007; 34) report of their participants that:

The women were very critical of some staff in schools who had shown a lack of interest in South Asian pupils. Many of the women interviewed had either encountered or heard about teachers who did not take the education of South Asian women seriously. This seemed to especially apply to Bangladeshi and Pakistani women and to working-class Indian (often Sikh) students. This minority of teachers assumed, often quite openly, that South Asian women's education was going to be a waste of time as they were destined for marriage and motherhood rather than for careers.

This reflects research on discrimination in the labour market, as well as the experiences of several of the participants. For example, Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) felt that teachers' expectations of children who speak English as an additional language are often limited, and further that, even in areas with large South Asian communities, school teachers lack awareness of the different communities in Pakistan. Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds) spoke of low expectations from a careers advisor she went to see at secondary school, and also stated that her teachers made racist comments. Similarly, Farzia (University employee, Leeds) said that, in retrospect, she realised that her tutors at school and college did not expect her to continue her education, and that there was an assumption from her school careers advisor, and her teachers, that she get married and have children: 'People didn't send their girls to uni, especially Pakistani girls.' This demonstrates how others' perceptions of Pakistani women can potentially influence attainment and participation in higher education.

It should be noted that these participants were both aged over 40, and it is likely that their age profile will be linked to their experiences of education; Hadiqa's account suggests that she was attending school at a time when it was also less common for girls to attend university in general. Tight (2012; 213) describes a steady progression of women's participation in higher education, whereby '...social

attitudes have changed and restrictions on their involvement have been dismantled.' Tight (2012; 215) concludes that: 'Overall, it is clear that the post-war period has seen a massive improvement in the position of women in higher education in the UK, such that women students now significantly outnumber men.' Nonetheless, the roles of teachers, peers, and careers advisors must not be overlooked in terms of their potential effects on educational trajectories for Pakistani women, particularly to the extent that this pertains to lay understandings of Muslim women. In particular, David Cameron was, in 2016, ridiculed for referring to the 'traditional submissiveness of Muslim women.' Linked to this, in discussing their findings, Bagguley and Hussain (2007; 34) state that:

In relation to their experiences at school the young women talked about the stereotypes that some teachers had of them. These assumptions in some cases were seen as being buttressed by the public comments of some prominent local politicians, again illustrating the ways in which schools and universities are not insulated from the outside world.

As such, commonly held understandings of Pakistani, and specifically Pakistani Muslim women are just as damaging, or more so, than familial concerns about marriageability. While women's experiences of education in general might be shaped by concerns about fulfilling gender roles, which is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 6, the experiences of Pakistani women in the British education system, and their subsequent participation in higher education, must be considered in terms of the broader climate of Islamophobia, whereby anti-Muslim hostility stems from '...a symbolic order that places Muslims, as a group, in direct, inevitable opposition to the liberal freedoms and values of secular European societies' (Britton, 2015; no pagination).

Support from teachers, careers advisors, and peers is particularly important for those whose parents do not understand the British education system. In this case, they become an invaluable source of information for those who are unable to rely on their parents for it. Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) said that her parents, who were from a city, knew that education was important and helped her where they could but that this became harder as she left primary school, because they did not know the curriculum. She said that because of this, she did not have all the options she could have had, and that the education system should provide support, and further said that those from rural areas might not be as aware of the importance of education as those from cities. Whilst Dale et al. (2002b; 953) find parents to be influential in terms of take-up of higher education, they also suggest that '...a lack of dialogue

between the Careers Service and parents may result in young people applying for courses without the necessary A-level grades to gain acceptance.' Further, encouragement from parents might be gendered (e.g. Turner and Wigfield, 2012) with boys, rather than girls, encouraged to pursue their education, and a preference for girls to leave school and pursue an early marriage (Dale et al., 2002b). In this instance, again, a lack of external support might disempower girls and women from pursuing their education.

This section has argued that, while teachers and careers advisors are vital in supporting trajectories from school to higher education for Pakistani girls, particularly where parents are unfamiliar with the British education system, they may provide inadequate support due to their understandings of Pakistani culture and what it means to be a Pakistani woman. Whilst cultural preferences for early marriage, and a focus on family formation, are likely to hinder participation in higher education (though not just for Pakistani girls), the context of Islamophobia in Britain, which in turns identifies Pakistani, and specifically Pakistani Muslim women as being 'submissive', continues to create a barrier to the way Pakistani women participate in both education and the labour market. Indeed, many families encourage female members to pursue their education and view it as an asset, which is discussed in Section 7.3.

7.3 Education as an asset

Contrary to the idea that Pakistani girls are being prepared for marriage and therefore are neither encouraged to, nor expected to participate in the labour market, many parents view education as an asset for their daughters. Indeed, Dale et al. (2002b) suggest that some girls are pressured to pursue their education even if they would have preferred not to, which reflects the experience of Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds), who said that she had little choice in the way she pursued her education, and that her studying medicine was a 'foregone conclusion'. Afshar (1989; 262) writes that 'in many ways academic achievement is perceived as the best strategy for success both economically and even in terms of dealing with racism', whilst Shaw (2001; 177) stated that education can be '...an asset in marriage' and Ahmad (2001; 137) described it as '...a necessary asset in maintaining and gaining social prestige.' Decisions about participation in noncompulsory education are, therefore, extremely complex for Pakistani women. Such decisions are linked both to an awareness of the importance of education in social mobility (Ahmad, 2001), and the labour market (Afshar, 1989), as well as

marriageability (Shaw, 2001). The potential conflict between pursuing education and marriage was highlighted by Ahmad (2001; 147) who argued that:

Muslim daughters (and their parents) are thus faced with a set of conflicting interests, a double-bind situation. Too little education and the family could be viewed by the rest of the community as 'backward' and 'old fashioned'; too much education and daughters could risk 'pricing themselves outside the marriage market' and 'going past their sell-by date.

In a similar vein, within this research, Mahira (ESOL coordinator, Leeds) said that her husband wanted to marry her because she was 'both intelligent, and traditional and domesticated', further highlighting the delicate balance between academic attainment and marriageability.

Other participants reported being encouraged to pursue their education by their parents, seemingly separate from any concerns about marriage. For example, Hadiqa's (University employee, Kirklees) parents encouraged all their children to continue their education, saying 'education will get you somewhere.' They did not mind what she studied in higher education as long as she could get a career; they wanted her to 'stand on my own two feet and not be controlled by a husband.' Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) was strongly encouraged by her parents to pursue a career in medicine, saying that if she became a doctor, 'it will be your meal ticket...it's a good career for a woman. You will be able to stand on your own two feet.' Both these accounts reflect an awareness of the role of participating in the labour market in the UK; this is reflected in research by Dale et al. (2010) who argue that second generation Pakistani women view education as an important route into employment, and Shaw (2000) who argued that awareness of higher divorce rates in the UK, compared to in Pakistan increases parents' concerns about what their daughters will do should their marriage fail. Such concerns are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3. Parents' experiences, aspirations, and missed opportunities, have also been linked to their daughters' experiences of education. For example, Hadiga (University employee, Leeds) said that her parents, who migrated to the UK from Pakistani in the 1960s, wanted her to have the opportunities they did not have.

This section has explored the accounts of participants who were encouraged to pursue their education, and more specifically higher education. However, despite the ever-increasing participation of Pakistani women in higher education, and despite changing attitudes that might lead to greater mobility (e.g. Aston, 2007),

Chapter 6 argued that many Pakistani women still have difficulty translating their qualifications into jobs. This is discussed in Section 7.4.

7.4 Translating qualifications into jobs

Section 7.2 highlighted the link between qualifications and participation in the labour market, as well as demonstrating a qualifications gap between white British and Pakistani men and women, with Pakistani women being least likely to have qualifications above degree level. Despite this, some of this gap can be accounted for by age profile and generation, whereby first generation Pakistani migrants are less likely to have qualifications than second generation Pakistanis (CoDE, 2014b). Furthermore, education was viewed positively by some of the participants, and recent research suggests that Pakistani women are increasingly likely to participate in non-compulsory education (see Table 24).

However, increasing participation in higher education, and a change in attitudes towards girls participating in higher education is not necessarily reflected in Pakistani women's labour market participation. Section 6.5.3 of Chapter 6 argued that Pakistani women might have difficulty utilising their qualifications, and linked this to Islamophobia and associated discrimination in the labour market. Indeed, Table 22 showed that, even with the same qualification levels, Pakistani women do not participate in the labour market at the same rate as their white British counterparts. Therefore, this section will explore the extent to which Pakistani women are able, should they wish, to translate their qualifications into jobs.

7.4.1 University attendance and the under-valuing of post-1992 universities

A key consideration, raised in Chapter 6, is that despite increased participation in higher education amongst Pakistani women, not all universities are 'equal'. Coffield and Vignoles (1997) report that ethnic minority groups are now better represented in higher education than white groups, but add that '...this encouraging development needs to be tempered by the persistently low participation of specific ethnic groups in the pre-1992 universities.' Further, they argue that:

... ethnic minority students remain concentrated in certain post-1992 universities...This may reflect a positive decision by these students to attend institutions that they perceive as more diverse, more multi-racial, and more access 'friendly', as well as being nearer family and other support networks (Modood, 1993). However, the concentration of these students in the post-

1992 universities may also be partly explained by these universities accepting, on average, greater numbers of students with non-standard entry qualifications and the fact that ethnic minority students are more likely to fall into this category (Taylor, 1992).

This was only mentioned by one participant, Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) who, as already discussed, was not permitted to travel further than to the University of Huddersfield. She chose not to attend, and felt that a degree from Huddersfield would hold less currency than a degree from the University of Leeds. Therefore, an awareness of the difference between pre and post-1992 Universities appeared to be a factor in her decision not to pursue higher education. As she said, 'The university you go to affects your job prospects.'

For Farzia, her options were limited because she was not allowed to travel far on her own, but access to more prestigious universities is complicated by other factors too. Russell Group Universities, for example, have higher entry requirements, and in Chapter 6 a link was drawn between locational factors and educational attainment. Therefore, some students are at a disadvantage before they begin their university application process. Further, where school staff assume that people don't send their Pakistani girls to university (as suggested by Hadiqa, University employee, Leeds), this is not likely to facilitate applications to more prestigious universities.

7.4.2 Discrimination in the labour market

Another issue affecting labour market participation amongst university educated Pakistani women relates to discrimination in the workplace, which has already been discussed in this thesis, in Sections 4.4. and 6.5.3. This was experienced by Ayeshah (Teacher, Kirklees), who said that in a previous role she had experienced stereotyping and institutionalised racism, where, for example, a colleague expressed concern that she was going to 'Islamify the school', whilst one of the teaching assistants had been worried that she would 'make everyone wear a headscarf.'

Turner and Wigfield (2012) also found that female Pakistani graduates experienced discrimination at work, even where jobs were perceived as being readily available. Further, some of their participants reported being overlooked for promotions, or finding it harder to get promotions than their white counterparts. This was also suggested by Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees), who said that, although ethnic minority

teachers are good role models, they often do not get promoted, and that most head teachers were white and middle class.

Related to the suggestion, in Section 7.2.2, that careers advisors can sometimes overlook Pakistani students, based on the assumption that they will not pursue non-compulsory education, some participants questioned the types of support available to help them into the labour market. For example, although it was generally agreed in one of the Kirklees focus groups that support is better in the UK than in Pakistan, Sadia (Not economically active, Kirklees) said that she did not know where to look for a job, and that she felt as though she received more guidance in Pakistan.

So far, this chapter has focused on educational attainment. It has supported prior research in demonstrating that, although Pakistani women benefit from qualifications in the same way as white British women, even those educated at university level are less active in the labour market. This chapter has also shown that, although some women might be discouraged from pursuing education, particularly at University level, many are in fact encouraged to attend university, and education is viewed positively. Nonetheless, even with qualifications, women might experience difficulty in the labour market. In exploring the link between ethnicity and attainment, it was suggested that the gap can partially be explained by age and migration status, whereby women who migrated to the UK as adults are less likely to hold qualifications at above degree level. Furthermore, this chapter has not yet considered the experiences of women whose qualifications fall into the 'other' category, which includes qualifications at degree level that have been obtained overseas. Additionally, differing English skills have been identified as affecting access to the labour market. Therefore, Section 7.5 explores the experiences of migrants in terms of attainment, qualifications, and English skills.

7.5 Migration and academic attainment

This chapter has already highlighted the attainment gap between Pakistani women who were born in the UK and first generation migrants. Table 25 shows that people born in the UK are more likely to have below degree level qualifications than people born outside the UK (51.9% compared to 30.7%), and less likely to have degree level and above qualifications, or 'other' qualifications (29.6% compared to 38.6%, and 2.8% compared to 15.3% respectively). Further, migrants from outside the UK are more likely to have 'other' qualifications in comparison to those born in the UK (15.3%, compared to 2.8%). Therefore, there is a relationship between birthplace

and qualifications, though it is not always the case that migrants from outside the UK have lower qualifications than their UK-born counterparts.

Table 25: Qualification levels for adults aged 16-64 born in the UK and outside the UK

	UK born	Migrant from outside UK
None	15.7	15.4
Below degree level	51.9	30.7
Degree level and above	29.6	38.6
Other ⁸	2.8	15.3
Total	100.0	100.0

Table 26 shows that the relationship between migration status and qualification level varies with gender and ethnicity. Amongst those born in the UK, Pakistani men and women are slightly less likely to have no qualifications, or qualifications below degree level, and more likely than UK-born white British men and women to have qualifications at degree level and above, with a percentage point difference of 5.7 for men, and 5.1 for women. For those born outside the UK, there are much larger gender and ethnic differences in qualification levels; white British men and women are more likely to have higher qualifications than Pakistani men and women, whilst Pakistani women are more likely than Pakistani men to have no qualifications (39.5% compared to 27.3%), and less likely to have qualifications at degree level and above (17.7% compared to 27.2%). This indicates that the migration profile of Pakistani women in the UK goes some way towards explaining the attainment gap illustrated in Section 7.2 of this chapter.

⁸ Vocational qualifications and overseas qualifications above degree level.

Table 26: Qualifications according to gender, ethnicity, and place of birth for white British and Pakistani women in England and Wales

		V	White British		
		Male	Female	Male	Female
UK born	None	15.5	15.9	13.6	13.9
	Below degree level	51.9	52.0	48.4	48.6
	Above degree level	29.4	29.7	35.1	34.8
	Other ⁹	3.3	2.3	2.9	2.7
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Born outside the UK	None	9.8	8.3	27.3	39.5
	Below degree level	36.5	31.9	23.3	21.1
	Above degree level	42.1	46.0	27.2	17.7
	Other	11.6	13.9	22.2	21.6
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

The data presented in Table 26 presents two key issues. The first is that Pakistani men and women born in the UK are more likely to have qualifications at above degree level than white British men and women born in the UK. This supports the argument, already made in Section 7.4, that under-qualification cannot be assumed to account for the lower labour market participation rates amongst Pakistani women. The second issue raised is that Pakistani migrants born outside the UK are less likely to have qualifications above degree level. This therefore indicates that the academic attainment gap demonstrated in Table 21 can partially be accounted for by the migration profile of the British Pakistani community. The third issue is the greater likelihood of migrants having 'other' qualifications which, as demonstrated in Table 22, are associated with lower rates of participation in the labour market compared to qualifications above or below degree level obtained in the UK.

In terms of lower levels of academic attainment amongst migrants, this is in keeping with the suggestion that marriage migrants in particular do not necessarily anticipate participating in the labour market once they move to the UK. Dale (2005; 13) states that 'qualifications are also strongly related to whether a woman did her schooling in the UK...', and found similar or higher attainment levels amongst Pakistani women who '...have experienced the same educational system as white

.

⁹ Vocational qualifications and overseas qualifications above degree level.

women.' In turn, it is probable that having been brought up in the UK, and having experienced the UK education system, will have shaped expectations regarding labour market participation making those women, as stated by Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees) 'a step ahead'. Similarly, Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) said she felt lucky that she'd moved to the UK at a young age (when she was 5).

Nonetheless, some women have qualifications obtained overseas that they are not able to use, or do not hold the same currency as qualifications obtained in the UK. Reema (Not economically active, Kirklees) said that she had a degree from Pakistan that she was unable to use in the UK, whilst Atiqa (Teaching assistant, Kirklees) benefited from having a Masters from Pakistan, since this was equivalent to a degree in the UK. Having a post-graduate qualification from Pakistan therefore enabled her to pursue a PGCE in the UK and become a teacher (she returned to work as a teaching assistant after taking time off to care for her daughter). Utilising overseas qualifications was perceived by Reema as being complex; qualifications need to be translated from Urdu into English before being recognised as their UK equivalent by UK NARIC (National Recognition Information Centre). Building on existing qualifications by pursuing post-graduate education in the UK was also perceived as expensive. Further, for some women it is likely that having overseas qualifications is a less pressing issue than developing English fluency, and this is discussed in greater detail in Section 7.5.1.

7.5.1 Language: ability and ESOL access

Chapter 6 outlined regulations that mean, for the most part, Pakistani women migrating to the UK will need to have some degree of English. Nonetheless, lack of English fluency remains a barrier to the labour market for many first-generation Pakistani women (e.g. Evans and Bowlby, 2000; Dale et al., 2010; Turner and Wigfield, 2012). Further, many of the participants in this research cited English fluency, and improving their English fluency as a key concern. Table 27 shows differences in levels of English fluency for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16–64 in England and Wales, according to place of birth. Pakistani women born outside the UK have lower levels of English fluency than Pakistani men, or white British men or women who were born outside the UK. This provides further support to the suggestion that English fluency is a key concern for first-generation Pakistani women. To an extent the lower levels of English fluency can be linked to the nature of day-to-day activities that mean interactions are limited to those with other Pakistani women (Shaw, 2000). Furthermore, for female marriage migrants, '...many join their husbands and language ability may not be a crucial

factor in their migration decision.' (Leslie and Lindley, 2001; 588). However, this section also considers that role of access issues that mean women struggle to attend classes or access services that might improve their English fluency.

Table 27: Place of birth and English proficiency according to gender and ethnicity for white British and Pakistani men aged 16-64 in England and Wales

		White British				
	English proficiency	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Migrant	Good	80.5	72.3	63.7	58.1	
	Poor	19.5	27.7	36.3	41.9	
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	
UK born	Good	82.5	83.6	83.0	71.4	
	Poor	17.5	16.4	17.0	28.6	
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	

Table 28: Economic activity for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales, according to English proficiency

		W	White British		Pakistani	
		Male	Female	Male	Female	
Good	In employment	84.2	68.4	82.3	33.7	
	Unemployed	6.7	7.7	7.9	7.3	
	Retired	1.9	5.9	2.1	2.7	
	Looking after home/family	1.0	11.9	2.4	50.3	
	Sick or disabled	6.3	6.2	5.3	6.0	
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Poor	In employment	66.5	49.3	67.7	10.2	
	Unemployed	5.6	6.3	8.3	5.1	
	Retired	3.2	4.6	4.1	6.8	
	Looking after home/family	1.9	14.6	4.3	62.0	
	Sick or disabled	22.8	25.2	15.6	16.0	
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	

Having established lower rates of English fluency amongst female Pakistani migrants in Table 27, and having also argued that low English fluency is a barrier to

labour market participation, Table 28 shows that employment rates are higher for those with good English proficiency, although Pakistani women in this group still have the lowest employment rates, at 33.7%. Nonetheless, for Pakistani women with poor English proficiency, employment is decreased to 10.2%. Poor English proficiency decreases employment for all groups, however for each group there remains a majority in employment, apart from Pakistani women. Further, for white British men and women, and Pakistani men with poor English fluency, those who are not in employment are most likely to be sick or disabled, whilst Pakistani women remain most likely to be inactive due to looking after home/family. In sum, good English proficiency is positively associated with economic activity for all groups, and should therefore remain a key consideration when exploring labour market participation. Nonetheless, the overall lower rates of employment amongst Pakistani women support the idea that language is only one factor, amongst many, that affects their labour market participation, irrespective of their English proficiency.

English proficiency was recognised by many participants as a barrier to the labour market, affecting participation in numerous ways. In particular, it was recognised that language fluency affected the types of work available, with the jobs available for those who were not yet fluent in English, perceived to be limited to private, insecure positions. With this type of work, participants were aware that their rights as employees might be limited. When faced with such a limited labour market, participation becomes a far less attractive prospect. Indeed Sanam (Not economically active, Leeds) said that she would be happy to work as a hospital cleaner, but not as a cleaner in a household, because her job would be more secure. Table 29 shows occupation types for white British and Pakistani men and women, according to their English proficiency, and demonstrates both a decreased likelihood of working as a 'manager, director, or proprietor' for those with poor English, and an increased participation in 'Elementary' occupations, which are those at the lowest skill level (ONS, 2010).

Table 29: Occupation type for white British and Pakistani men and women aged 16-64 in England and Wales according to English proficiency

		White British male	White British female	Pakistani male	Pakistani female
Good English proficiency	Managers, directors, proprietors	11.9	7.5	9.7	5.7
	Professionals	14.8	18.3	10.1	12.5
	Associate professionals	11.0	9.5	4.8	6.3
	Administrative and secretarial	5.0	17.3	3.2	13.8
	Skilled trades	20.1	2.9	11.0	2.8
	Caring, personal service, leisure	4.3	15.5	2.6	16.4
	Sales and customer service	5.0	8.8	10.7	15.9
	Process, plant and machine operatives	11.9	4.3	31.6	8.7
	Elementary occupations	15.8	16.0	16.3	17.8
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Poor English proficiency	Managers, directors, proprietors	5.5	2.6	3.9	5.2
	Professionals	8.1	9.1	2.7	6.5
	Associate professionals	7.8	7.8	1.3	3.7
	Administrative and secretarial	2.9	9.5	0.9	6.2
	Skilled trades	24.4	3.9	20.0	6.4
	Caring, personal service, leisure	4.9	9.5	3.1	11.8
	Sales and customer service	3.3	6.9	10.4	10.1
	Process, plant, and machine operatives	15.6	12.1	32.7	20.0
	Elementary occupations	27.4	38.8	25.1	30.1
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

7.5.2 Accessing ESOL classes

Language proficiency was also discussed by participants in relation to the availability and accessibility of ESOL classes. Issues with ESOL accessibility were also outlined in Chapter 6, particularly in relation to recent cuts made to ESOL funding, which were argued to disproportionately affect women, given that women make up two thirds of ESOL learners (Moore, 2011), as well as stigmatising Muslim women specifically (NATECLA, 2016).

One issue with accessing ESOL classes was costs: some participants viewed the costs of ESOL classes as being prohibitive, and stated that they would need affordable, or free, classes. Similarly, Stiell and Tang (2006; 13) reported that their participants in Leicester had '…limited access to free ESOL classes, citing long waiting lists and complex eligibility rules affecting some recent immigrant groups', and also recommended that:

Free access is needed in community based centres providing opportunities to develop skills and confidence in a safe environment, alongside basic skills/IT training to enhance employability (Stiell and Tang, 2006; 19).

Costs are not the only barrier to attending ESOL classes. Those who can afford to attend them may require crèche facilities too. This was identified as an issue by Liz and James (ESOL teachers, Leeds). They found that it was not practical or cost effective to provide crèche facilities for the classes they ran, and recognised that this was likely to have prevented some women from attending. This was echoed by Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees), who agreed that crèche facilities can be difficult to provide. When courses were held at the school she worked at, the crèche facilities were only available for children over the age of three, which would rule out women with young babies, particularly given issues with childcare accessibility outlined in Chapters 3 and 5. The availability of crèche facilities was not, however, raised as a barrier to attending classes by any of the participants for whom English was not their first language. However, because of the sampling strategy used for this research (outlined in Chapter 2), most of the participants were recruited via links with community centres, and therefore had access to free classes either through the community centres or, in some cases, via their children's schools. They agreed that English classes were well publicised, through their children's schools, and through the community centres they used, where there were leaflets and posters. Participants also saw their English-speaking children as valuable for developing their English skills. It is harder to explore this for women who are neither engaged

with the labour market, nor community centres and schools that act as invaluable sources of information.

In addition to potential issues with accessing childcare, there are likely to be other factors affecting ESOL accessibility. Again, such issues were not raised by the Pakistani participants, but were raised by Liz and James (ESOL teachers, Leeds), who had observed that some Pakistani women do not feel comfortable going too far from home, and therefore even relatively local classes might be perceived as inaccessible. As well as childcare and caring responsibilities, they cited the availability of public transport as a potential barrier to attending ESOL classes. Further, they said that many of the women they had worked with would not travel independently, and particularly not to unfamiliar places. Again, within this research it has been difficult to consider the experiences of women who are perhaps more isolated, since it is unlikely that they would have wanted to participate in this research.

Another issue raised by Liz and James related to husbands' statuses as 'dominant decision makers', which relates to the potential for strict observance of gender norms discussed in Chapters 3 and 4. They said that the husbands of potential ESOL attendees often make the initial contact, rather than the woman who will be attending the class. Access to ESOL classes should, therefore, alongside access to the labour market, be considered in terms of gender roles, and particularly those who adhere to stronger gender roles. This was highlighted by Nadia (Administrator, Kirklees), who argued that a crucial step in enabling Pakistani women to access the labour market was to educate husbands 'to let their wives out and about'. Indeed, attendance at ESOL classes was perceived by Liz and James as valuable in terms of confidence building and encouraging participation in the wider community. The organisation they work for runs an 'ESOL for Work' course, which gives women experience of practicing interviews in an environment they perceived as safe. Similarly, Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) viewed ESOL courses as being a good way of building women's confidence. Highlighting the strengths of ESOL as a way of building confidence and providing experience is likely to be useful given the decrease in accredited ESOL courses.

The reluctance of some women to travel to unfamiliar locations relates to another issue; that of the uneven distribution of ESOL classes. This may firstly make it harder to attend, and secondly prevent people from finding out about such classes. Mahira (Third sector employee, Leeds) said, in relation to attending ESOL courses, that Pakistani women can be 'stuck in their own little bubble' and 'usually live in

their own communities'. Related to this, James and Liz (ESOL teachers, Leeds) said that people often find out about them through word-of-mouth, whilst it has already been noted that some participants were recruited through schools and community centres. This is a problem where ESOL classes are not always nearby. Hashem and Aspinall (2015), for example, found that there was variation in ESOL access across four different boroughs in London, with some areas less well provided for due to lack of funding or a change in funding arrangements that affected ESOL participation levels.

This section discussed the important role of ESOL classes, not just in terms of improving access to the labour market but in terms of general confidence building, and has also considered some of the issues women might face in accessing ESOL classes. However, academic attainment and English proficiency were not the only skills gaps discussed by the participants of this research, and therefore Section 7.6 considers other skills that might facilitate participation in the labour market.

7.6 Other (employability) skills

Turner and Wigfield (2012; 642) suggest that Pakistani and Bangladeshi women tend to fall into three categories: 'Women who are some distance from the labour market; women who wish to enter paid work; and women who do currently work but require support.' They argued that, for women in the first category, who are most likely to be first generation migrants:

A large amount of pre-interventionist support would be needed before these women are in a position to even think about entering paid employment. More appropriate policies for these women in the short term would be to assist them to develop their language skills, provide them with initiatives that help them engage in society, building on skills and interests that they already have such as cooking, sewing, childcare, providing meeting places and peer support structures so that they can develop as individuals, providing confidence building, assertiveness and motivation support so they can start to think that a different route is possible (Turner and Wigfield, 2012; 660).

This perspective was certainly evident in the data collected for this research. Indeed, Section 6 has already highlighted the role ESOL courses play in confidence building and potentially enabling attendees to engage in society more broadly. Further, participants who were not economically active, many of whom were also, in

keeping with Turner and Wigfield's (2012) research, first generation migrants, also spoke of additional skills they felt they would benefit from developing.

Some of the skills viewed by participants as having the potential to improve employability are those that are likely to be taken for granted by those who have been educated to a high level, or who have grown up in the UK and experienced the British education system. For example, Rubya (Economically inactive, Kirklees) viewed her lack of computer literacy as a considerable barrier to employment. Not only do many jobs expect applicants to be able to use computers, but, increasingly, job searches and job applications are to be completed online. Further, James and Liz (ESOL teachers, Leeds) stated that, whilst not an issue for the younger generation, computer literacy remained an issue for the older generation, whilst Nadia (Third sector employee, Leeds) expressed concern that mothers' relationships with their children will be affected by a lack of IT skills, when children are so 'media oriented'. Other research has demonstrated this link between computer literacy and labour market participation. The BCS (2015) surveyed HR professionals and employees, 90% of whom viewed digital literacy as an important component of the majority of jobs within their organisation. Furthermore, they found that prospective employers wanted employees who already possess these skills so that they can be 'productive straight away.' Similarly, Knight (2011) estimates that 90% of jobs now require computer competency, while BIS (2012) report that the majority of full-time workers are required to use computers at work, with the majority of those in higher managerial and professional occupations (93%) having a computer at work and at home, and the highest percentage of those with neither a computer at work nor at home being in routine occupations (10% compared to 4% on average).

This is relevant because it not only indicates that employers are likely to favour computer literate employees, but that lack of computer literacy may exclude some Pakistani women from certain jobs; this may well be reflected in data analysis that has shown Pakistani women to be concentrated in certain sectors of employment. The extent to which women access support with this is likely to be uneven. At one of the community centres through which some of the participants were recruited, there was a weekly 'job shop' where attendees could use the computers to apply for jobs and improve their CVs, and this was a service that had been used by some of the participants. Similarly, the community centre in Leeds where James and Liz were based offered a computer skills course.

Aside from computer skills, other vocational skills were perceived by participants as potentially helping them to obtain employment. When asked what single thing would help them to obtain employment, participants from one of the focus groups held in Leeds agreed that short, affordable courses that taught them new transferable skills would be beneficial, especially if these skills could be practised from home. As well as being affordable, the participants said that such courses would need to be local to them, preferably within walking distance. One of the community centre employees involved with this focus group said that there had been a centre that offered such courses, but that this was closed down due to a lack of funding. One participant specifically said that she would like to do a cake-making course, and this was met with enthusiasm from the other participants. The opportunity to participate in such courses could also play a key role in developing confidence in participating in activities outside the home, as well as enabling women to develop their conversational English skills and so, in this way, could prove invaluable. This was expressed by Turner and Wigfield (2012; 660) where they link the provision of meeting places to 'confidence building' and 'assertiveness'.

7.7 Conclusion

This chapter has considered how education, qualifications, language proficiency, and opportunities to build other skills affect labour market participation for Pakistani women. In considering academic attainment, this chapter argued firstly that academic attainment and participation in higher education are both increasing amongst Pakistani women, secondly that education is often viewed as an asset, and thirdly that much of the attainment gap can be explained by the migration profile of the Pakistani community in the UK. Although there are no doubt issues that affect Pakistani women's educational trajectories, some of which arise from cultural preferences and pressures, and some of which relate to others' perceptions of the Pakistani community, a larger issue is that Pakistani women appear more likely to struggle to utilise their qualifications to access the labour market. Here, both a greater likelihood of attending less prestigious universities, and discrimination in the labour market, which has been discussed throughout this thesis, have been cited as contributing factors.

First generation migrants were discussed, firstly in terms of their lower levels of academic attainment, and secondly in terms of language ability and access to ESOL classes. It was argued that, although women might struggle to attend ESOL classes, they are invaluable in terms of confidence building, as well as providing a

stepping stone to the labour market if desired. Finally, this chapter has suggested that there are other key skills that some Pakistani women would benefit from developing, not least IT skills, which are now taken for granted in the UK. Chapter 8 concludes this thesis, summarising the key arguments made, identifying research limitations and scope for future research, and making policy suggestions based on the findings of this project.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Introduction

This mixed-method project has drawn on secondary data from the 2011 Census, and primary data collected from Pakistani women of working age in Leeds and Kirklees, as well as two ESOL teachers, in order to explore Pakistani women's labour market participation. More specifically, this project aimed to answer the following questions:

- What are the key factors affecting labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees?
- What is the influence of structure on labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees?
 - To what extent are Pakistani women able to exercise choice within the labour market?
- What are the policy implications of these findings for local, regional, and national policy makers?

This concluding chapter will begin by outlining the main findings of this research, directly linking them to the research questions outlined above. Following this, the wider contribution that this project makes to existing research is discussed. Finally, this chapter will outline some of the limitations of this project, which are discussed in conjunction with possible directions for future research.

8.2 Key factors affecting labour market participation for Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees

If you want to do one thing there's about five things pulling you back (Mahira, Third sector employee, Leeds)

The introduction to this thesis, drawing on research by Salway (2007) argued that the key factors affecting Pakistani women's labour market participation could be loosely divided into two themes: life-stage factors; and factors pertaining to skills, education, and qualifications. In this research, life-stage factors were taken to mean those relating to migration, cultural preferences, and family formation (Giele and Elder, 1998; Dale et al., 2002). Nonetheless, in practice, many of these factors

proved to be inter-related, which is reflected in this synthesis of the main findings of this research.

8.2.1 Culture

'Cultural preferences' have long been linked to Pakistani women's labour market participation (e.g. Shaw, 2000). More broadly this relates to the role of women in maintaining *izzat*, or family honour, and the ways *purdah* is observed (e.g. Papanek, 1971). Related to this, adhering to a male breadwinner model ensures that women do not *have* to work, but places pressure on men to do so, and therefore men and women are interdependent in ensuring they each fulfil the 'correct' role; this is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3.

In this research, several participants, even if not explicitly, linked culture to labour market participation. For example, some of the participants who were distanced from the labour market and said that they were not permitted to work, reflecting an adoption of traditional gender roles that led them not to participate in paid employment. Similarly, this might be reflected in the data analysis that shows Pakistani women are less likely to participate in the labour market than women of most other ethnic groups (illustrated in Table 1).

However, many of the participants in this research were either participating, or keen to participate in the labour market and instead spoke of more structural constraints preventing or at least hindering them from doing so. Furthermore, it is hard to distinguish the effects of one culture from another, and Pakistani women are often navigating between three: Pakistani culture, Islamic culture, and British culture. In negotiating between different sets of cultural norms, there was a lot of variation in experiences of, and engagement with, the labour market. Indeed, some participants were keen to distinguish between culture and religion, and it was a common perception that Pakistani culture was less permissive, whilst the influence of religion was highly variable, and open to interpretation. As such, Pakistani women might find themselves orienting between different sets of norms as best they can, and this is likely to affect how they engage with the labour market. The myriad of ways the women in this research engaged with the labour market serve as a caution against adopting entirely "culturalist' explanations' (Brah, 1993; 44). Nonetheless, Brah (1993; 443) also states that:

...structure and culture are enmeshing formations. The one is not privileged over the other. What is of greater significance is how structures – economic,

political, ideological – emerge and change over time in and through systems of signification, and how they in turn shape cultural meanings.

Therefore, the reciprocal influence of culture and structure on one another should not be overlooked in their abilities to shape and inform one-another.

8.2.2 Marriage

Related to cultural preferences, it was postulated that marriage shapes Pakistani women's labour market participation from an early age (Bhopal, 1997, and see Chapter 3), which could be reflective of an 'old fashioned' family formation type (Robson and Berthoud, 2003; 3). This research demonstrated that marriage contributed to labour market participation but not in an obvious way. Analysis of data from the 2011 Census was consistent with prior research in showing a link between marriage and employment rates that was particularly pronounced for Pakistani women, and certainly some of the participants stated that they were not permitted to work by their husbands. Alternatively, Nadia (Administrator, Leeds) said that although her husband did not initially want her to work, he had no access to money when he arrived in the UK so realised it was a necessity for her to do so. This suggests that although cultural preferences pertaining to women not working once they are married are likely to shape labour market participation, it might also be an outcome of a multitude of other conflicting factors, including domestic economics. Pakistani women were distinct from white British women in terms of the impact of marriage on labour market participation, however exploring the effects of marriage whilst accounting for age illustrates that there is scope for change, particularly as the Pakistani community becomes more enmeshed with other communities, and as Pakistani women are increasingly likely to have been educated in the UK.

Chapters 3 and 7 demonstrated that marriage, and expectations of marriage, didn't just affect women's labour market participation per se, but also shaped the how women engaged with education. Prior research suggests that concerns about a woman's marriageability might complicate participation in education, but that women might find themselves faced with a double bind where both too little and too much education was not desirable (Ahmed 2001). This was exemplified by Mahira (Third sector employee, Leeds) who said that her husband liked the fact that she was both traditional and 'domesticated.' Indeed, another participant, Mehreen (Doctor, Leeds) spoke of pursuing her education once she was engaged, with the support of both her parents, and her future parents-in-law. As such, decisions relating to marriage are often a factor that shape how women participate in the

labour market, as well as in formal education, but it does not necessarily follow that such decisions will cause women to opt out of either. Again, analysis that considers age shows that the younger cohort of Pakistani women in the UK are more likely than their older counterparts to have qualifications at degree level and above, even if they are married.

8.2.3 Children and work-care consolidation

As demonstrated in Chapter 5, analysis of data from the 2011 Census showed that having dependent children affected labour market participation for men and women, Pakistani or white British. However for men, having children was more likely to lead to increased employment, whilst for women, having children was more likely to lead to decreased employment. Furthermore, the relationship between dependent children and labour market participation was far more pronounced for Pakistani women, indicating that dependent children present a greater barrier to their labour market participation.

This was considered in terms of the role of motherhood in Islam. For example, Hadiqa (University employee, Leeds) felt that 'motherhood is more valued in Islam', and this is consistent with other research that suggests strongly entrenched motherhood roles for Muslim women, and an emphasis on the role of the family (e.g. Brown, 2006). Nonetheless, Hadiqa was still active in the labour market, which suggests that the value placed on motherhood is not necessarily associated with opting out of the labour market.

The role of dependent children in shaping labour market participation was also considered in terms of work-care consolidation. For example, some of the participants described what Daly (2011) terms 'complex care packages', combining part-time working with formal or informal childcare, or combining informal childcare with formal childcare. Here, the cost of formal childcare was mentioned as a disincentive, though this is certainly not exclusive to Pakistani women; cost is commonly cited as a disincentive for all women (Viitanen, 2005). However, participants also spoke of cultural preferences, and a lack of 'cultural sensitivity' in formal childcare, which was reflected in other research (e.g. Bell, 2005; Clark and Drinkwater, 2007). This suggests that Pakistani women might have additional reasons for not wishing to use formal childcare (which was demonstrated to be the case in Chapter 5).

Finally, this research demonstrated that employed Pakistani women are as likely to work part-time as their white British counterparts, but argued that, when considered

in terms of the lower labour market participation rates of Pakistani women overall, this could indicate that some Pakistani women might opt out of employment entirely rather than trying to find part-time or flexible work. Where perceived opportunities for labour market participation are limited, it might be preferable not to work at all; in particular this is framed by what is evidently a labour market that discriminates not only against women, but more specifically against Pakistani women. Further, the option of negotiating part-time or flexible employment is associated with certain types of job and is, to some extent, a privilege, as demonstrated by the Work-Life Balance Employee Survey (2012). As such, not all women are equal in the extent to which they are able to work on a flexible basis.

8.2.4 Migration

Although a detailed exploration of the role of migration (in terms of the difference between being a first or second generation migrant) was beyond the scope of this thesis, it would be remiss not to consider the difference in experiences between first generation and second generation Pakistani women. Further, in Chapter 1 it was argued that migration processes have contributed a great deal to the way Pakistani women participate in the labour market, and continue to do so. The benefits associated with being a second generation migrant were expressed by Farzia (Administrator, Kirklees), who felt that, having been born in the UK, she was 'a step ahead.'

Chapter 4 suggested that women who migrated for marriage purposes run the risk of being socially isolated. This is likely to affect the types of support these women require, not only when it comes to the labour market, but also other aspects of participation in social life. Furthermore, in Chapter 7 it was demonstrated that first generation Pakistani women were found to be at a disadvantage in comparison to those who were educated in the UK. Their participation in the labour market is likely to be shaped by slightly different sets of concerns, in that they do not benefit from having experienced the British education system nor, necessarily, fluency in English.

8.2.5 Skills and qualifications

Chapters 6 and 7 considered the relationship between skills and qualifications and labour market participation, showing it to be complex and shaped by many of the life-stage factors already outlined. Being under-qualified was found to be an issue for first generation Pakistani women, but not necessarily for those who had experience of the British education system. Further education was both seen as an

asset and potentially a hindrance to married life, particularly in relation to concerns about daughters moving away for university, a concern that was expressed by Ayesha's parents. Despite this, several participants discussed having been encouraged to pursue their education by their parents.

Another key issue was the extent to which Pakistani women are able to capitalise on their pre-existing qualifications. It is generally harder to get employment with overseas qualifications, so some migrants, even if they are not under-educated, might have their access to the labour market limited in this way; this was certainly the case for Reema (Not economically active, Kirklees). However, Pakistani women born in the UK with above degree level qualifications were still less likely to be in employment than white British women at the same qualification level. Although preferences to prioritise domestic labour should not be overlooked, this thesis has suggested that the employment gap between Pakistani women and white British women qualified at the same level is likely to be partially attributable to racial discrimination in the labour market.

For women who were distanced from the labour market, Turner and Wigfield (2012) argue that other types of support are needed that focus on the development of other types of skills, and this was echoed by some of the participants in this research who said they would like the opportunity to do short, affordable courses. In relation to this, a gap in IT skills was reported, whereby some women lack information literacy and are therefore reliant on services that provide support with computer usage. This is an issue where employees are increasingly expected to have access to computers at home and be able to use them in the work-place, and indicates that, for some women, there are additional skills beyond just formal qualifications and language proficiency that need to be built in order to increase their options.

8.2.6 Language proficiency and ESOL access

Language proficiency was commonly cited as a key issue for the first generation Pakistani women who participated in this research, though it should be noted that many of these participants were recruited via community centres on the basis that they were already participating in ESOL classes they provided. The relationship between language proficiency and labour market participation is discussed in Chapters 6 and 7.

Whilst most of the participants in this research, as a result of the recruitment techniques, were quite engaged with and knowledgeable about their communities

and services available to them, including ESOL classes, the two ESOL teachers interviewed raised issues of access for their female attendees. In particular, they spoke of households where the husband, as the key decision maker, had the final say in his wife's attendance at ESOL classes. The suggestion here was that, where *purdah* is strictly observed in these households, it affects women's mobility outside the home too, making it more likely that these women will struggle to access these classes. This is not helped by cuts to ESOL funding that have affected the availability of local ESOL classes, and in particular accredited ESOL classes.

Participants were also aware of the expenses associated with some ESOL classes, which should be considered in the context of recent reductions to ESOL funding. In addition to the expense of taking a class, the ESOL teachers suggested that being unable to access classes closer to home also prevented some women from attending. As such, there is evidently an issue relating to access to and availability of ESOL classes.

8.2.7 Discrimination

It is probable that factors affecting Pakistani women's labour market participation remain underpinned by Islamophobia and discrimination in the labour market, and this has been made evident throughout this thesis. The labour market already discriminates against women, but where gender intersects with ethnicity, discrimination is likely to be exacerbated. Such discrimination doesn't just occur within the labour market, but also in the build up towards participation. For example, participants spoke of teachers' assumptions that they would leave school and get married, and it is probable that this affected the types of support and advice they received at school. Brah (2005; 134) argues that:

This social imagery of Asian women as hapless dependants who would most likely be married off at the earliest possible opportunity has played an important role in constructing the 'commonsense understandings' which teachers, employment advisers, training officers and other professionals might hold of young Muslim women's education and employment prospects.

It is evident that Pakistani women, particularly if they opt to wear traditional dress, are discriminated against in the labour market. For example, Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) said that her colleagues expressed concern that she would 'Islamify the school'. To a certain extent, employers justify such discrimination by relying on what Brah calls 'common-sense' understandings of Pakistani and Islamic cultural practices, in which women are read as submissive, something that was echoed by

former Prime Minister David Cameron in 2016. This is in spite of the fact that for participants in this research, religion was less of a factor in the way they participated in the labour market, whilst the way they negotiated between different cultures was much more complex.

8.3 Structure and choice

Where the labour market is both gendered and potentially underpinned by Islamophobia, it becomes difficult for many women to make unconstrained choices. This research has demonstrated that women wishing to participate in the labour market are already facing limited options as a result of a labour market that is persistently gendered (e.g. Brah, 1993; Daly, 2011). Pakistani women must not only contend with this gendered labour market, but also with inherent racism; factors which are compounded by the failure of the labour market to fully take account of their needs. Until policy makers are fully aware of the impact of belonging to intersecting categories, many women's choices are limited by such structural constraints.

Where Pakistani women experience discrimination in both the education system and the labour market, their choices are reduced by an uneven playing field. This is reflected by findings from Dale et al. (2002b) whose participants felt that '...if you were Asian, you would only succeed by being better qualified than your competitors.' Furthermore, Tomlinson (2006) suggests that women can only exercise choices given the information that is available to them. For first generation Pakistani women, they may be contending with a lack of understanding of British education and employment systems, and possibly less engagement with their local communities, where community centres, for example, are invaluable in imparting information about services that might support them.

The role of culture should not be overlooked when considering choice, but structural inequalities in Britain will affect the types of choices that can be made: as such, women can only choose within the context of: a labour market that is persistently gendered; a climate of discrimination and Islamophobia, which affects experiences of both education and the workplace; a lack of suitable services that take into account a wide diversity of needs.

In sum, women's choices in the labour market are constrained by a multitude of factors. Women of differing ethnicities, class backgrounds, and so on are likely to experience different sets of constraints.

8.4 Policy implications and recommendations

Employers, and employment policy, need to continue considering how labour market inequalities might best be addressed. This thesis has demonstrated that the labour market is gendered, and that ethnicity (as well as other factors that were not the focus of this thesis) affects experiences of the gendered labour market. As such, a 'one size fits all' approach won't be affective; policy makers always need to consider a multitude of complex factors. A key issue identified in this research, as well as prior research, is that there is inequality in people's abilities to capitalise on skills and qualifications. Although some migrants might be under-qualified (or, at least, might not yet have navigated the process for transferring their qualifications to their English equivalents), other participants were encouraged to pursue their education. If this is a common experience, then focus should be on demand rather than supply. Further, clarity is required regarding flexible working practices; this research has argued that there is inequality in who can access flexible working arrangements, and this might reflect types of work undertaken as well as certain privileges.

Childcare providers need to take into account a wide variety of childcare preferences, and need to demonstrate that they are able to do so, given concerns raised about a lack of 'culturally sensitive childcare' (e.g. Clark and Drinkwater, 2007). Doing so might encourage more women to utilise formal childcare, and this may, in turn, serve to simplify their caring arrangements. The provision of childcare has changed, and parents are now entitled to 30 free hours of childcare per week. Nonetheless, the rules surrounding childcare use and provision of free childcare can be difficult to navigate, and furthermore even small costs can be difficult to cover in households where adults are earning low wages, which is more likely to be the case for those in Pakistani households. Further, Hall et al. (2004) suggest that childcare arrangements can be difficult to navigate for ethnic minority groups specifically, and this should be addressed.

Schools need to know how best to support *all* their students, parents need to be involved in this too. Careers advisors and teachers are invaluable sources of information for students when they make decisions about further education and employment. One participant praised her careers advisors at school, who supported her to apply for an apprenticeship, while others said that school staff assumed they would leave school to get married and have children. In educational facilities, lay understandings of ethnicity, cultural 'preferences', and religious practices need to be addressed and students need to be clear about the multitude of options

available to them, and supported in making decisions regarding educational and labour market trajectories.

People who are distanced from the labour market, in particular, need support developing a wide array of skills, not just formal qualifications and English fluency but other skills that night help with building confidence and wider participation. The aim need not be a job but simply more ease of participation in social life. Participants in this research felt they would benefit from access to short courses that would enable them to develop new skills. This was also identified by Wigfield and Turner (2012). Further, inequality in information literacy should be addressed, taking into account people's differential access to computers, and variation in ability to use them, since this might hinder people from participating in the labour market.

8.5 Contribution

This research is timely given firstly a policy focus on work as a route out of poverty (as discussed in Chapter 1) and secondly a climate of heightened Islamophobia, where Muslim women in particular are viewed as oppressed and submissive despite the fact that this is often not the case. Indeed, some of the findings in this research challenge and problematise commonly held conceptions of Muslim women. For example, Ayesha (Teacher, Kirklees) was interviewed for her job while pregnant, stating that it 'wouldn't stop a man.' Furthermore, in drawing distinctions between Islamic and Pakistani culture, Mahira (Third sector employee, Leeds) stated that 'Islam is free'. Both these accounts challenge the idea that Islam is always associated with women being oppressed and submissive.

Furthermore, this research highlights ways in which labour market participation is still gendered whilst demonstrating not all women experience this gendering in the same way, and not all women have the same opportunities to participate. In addition, this research has used secondary quantitative data, as well as original data collected specifically for this project. As such one of the key contributions of this project is in its use of an original dataset.

Finally, this research also contributes to a wider body of research that focuses on intersectionality, and in particular that brings intersectionality to the fore and makes it a key concern when researching labour market participation. Although the theory of intersectionality is not new, awareness of it within the labour market is. The fact that Pakistani women, for example, face additional constraints in accessing the labour market indicates that policy makers, workplaces, and service providers are

either unaware of concerns associated with intersectionality, or not prepared to develop systems to deal with it.

8.6 Limitations and scope for future research

A limitation of this research lies in the data collection techniques and the use of focus groups in particular. A general issue with using focus groups is that participants might be less likely to be honest when in a group, and although there was a good rationale for using focus groups, as discussed in Section 2.3.2, the accounts of the participants might overlook issues that they were uncomfortable discussing in a group setting. This is particularly an issue given the close-knit nature of Pakistani communities; concerns about observing certain cultural norms might lead participants to present themselves a certain way. Furthermore, the focus group participants were selected by staff from the community centres, likely based on their perceived willingness to participate and also potentially on the basis of having participated in similar groups before. As such, there is a missing group of women that it would be much harder to obtain data on – those with greater levels of social isolation. Therefore, future research could benefit from adopting different recruitment processes, perhaps through building up relationships within the relevant communities over time.

Although some women who were active in the labour market were interviewed for this research, the questions asked focused on initial labour market access, rather than experiences within the workplace. Future research could therefore consider Pakistani women's experiences once in the workplace, which might shed light on some of the ways employers can ensure that they are providing an accessible workplace for everyone. Similarly, research that considers experiences of Pakistani students and staff within educational institutions, and how Pakistani students interact with careers advice services, would be beneficial given accounts of students being discriminated against, which could potentially affect the types of support they receive.

In this research, the scope was narrowed to Pakistani women living in Leeds or Kirklees. Future research could explore a wider range of ethnic groups, and particularly focus on the different ways people perform care, and the ways this differentially affects labour market participation, drawing on research by Duncan and Irwin (2004). Similarly, the scope of this research could also incorporate an understanding and analysis of class, which has been hinted towards, particularly in Chapters 6 and 7 but not discussed explicitly in this research.

Despite some (inevitable) limitations, this project has collected new data and analysed existing data that continues to problematise the role of intersectionality in shaping experiences of the labour market. In this respect, and in the potential for this project to lead to future avenues of research that might influence policy makers, this research provides another step in the direction towards a fairer labour market.

Bibliography

Abbas, T., n.d. Islam and Muslims in the UK [WWW Document]. URL https://www.academia.edu/379636/Islam_and_Muslims_in_the_UK (accessed 9.26.17).

Afshar, H., 1989. Gender roles and the "moral economy of kin" among Pakistani women in West Yorkshire. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 15, 211–225. doi:10.1080/1369183X.1989.9976111

Ahmad, F., 2001. Modern Traditions? British Muslim Women and Academic Achievement. Gender and Education 13, 137–152.

doi:10.1080/09540250120051169

All Party Parliamentary Group on Race and Community, 2012. First Report of Session 2012–2013 All Party Parliamentary Group on Race and Community. Runnymede: London

Anthias, F., Yuval-Davis, N., 1983. Contextualizing Feminism: Gender, Ethnic and Class Divisions. Feminist Review 62–75. doi:10.2307/1394792

Anwar, M., 1979. The myth of return: Pakistanis in Britain. Heinemann: London

Arber, S., Ginn, J., 1995. The Mirage of Gender Equality: Occupational Success in the Labour Market and within Marriage. The British Journal of Sociology 46, 21–43. doi:10.2307/591621

Aston, J., Hooker, H., Page, R., Willison, R., 2007. Pakistani and Bangladeshi women's attitudes to work and family (No. 458), Department for Work and Pensions Research Report. Department for Work and Pensions.

Athwal, Bal, Quiggin, Mike, Phillips, Deborah, Harrison, Malcolm, 2011. Exploring experiences of poverty in Bradford, JRF programme paper: Poverty and ethnicity.

Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016. ABS releases Standard for Sex and Gender Variables [WWW Document]. URL

http://abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/latestProducts/1200.0.55.012Media%20Releas e12016 (accessed 2.15.17).

Badawi, J.A., September 1971. The status of women in Islam. Al-Ittihad Journal of Islamic Studies 8 (2). Available: http://iaislam.tripod.com/TSOWII.htm

Bagguley, P., Hussain, Y., 2007. The role of higher education in providing opportunities for South Asian women. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Bakker, I., 1988. Women's employment in comparative perspective. In: Jenson, J., Hagen, E. and Reddy, C. (Eds.) Feminization of the labour force: paradoxes and promises. Polity: Cambridge

Ballard, R., 1990. Migration and Kinship: The Differential Effect of Marriage Rules on the Processes of Punjabi Migration to Britain. South Asians Overseas: Migration and Ethnicity, 219–49.

Barnados, 2012. Paying to work: childcare and child poverty [WWW Document]. URL http://www.barnardos.org.uk/ptw_childcare_and_child_poverty.pdf (accessed 9.20.17).

Barrett, M., 1988. Women's Oppression Today: The Marxist/Feminist Encounter, Revised edition. Verso, London; New York.

Basit, T.N., 2012. Educational capital as a catalyst for upward social mobility amongst British Asians: a three-generational analysis. British Educational Research Journal 1–19. doi:10.1080/01411926.2012.677414

Battu, H., Sloane, P.J., 2002. Overeducation and Ethnic Minorities in Britain [WWW Document]. URL http://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/20843/1/dp650.pdf (accessed 2.19.14).

Battu, H., Belfield, C.R., Sloane, P.J., 2000. How Well Can We Measure Graduate Over- Education and Its Effects? National Institute Economic Review 171, 82–93. doi:10.1177/002795010017100107

Baumberg, B., Bell, K., Gaffney, D., Deacon, R., Hood, C., Sage, D., 2012. Benefits Stigma in Britain [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.turn2us.org.uk/T2UWebsite/media/Documents/Benefits-Stigma-in-Britain.pdf (accessed 4.14.16).

BCS, 2015. Digital skills are key to employment according to BCS [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bcs.org/content/conwebdoc/52627 (accessed 9.18.17).

Bell, A., Bryson, C., Barnes, M., O'Shea, R., 2005. Use of childcare among families from minority ethnic backgrounds. National Centre for Social Research, Annesley.

Bell, L., Casebourne, J., 2008. Increasing Employment for Ethnic Minorities: a summary of research findings [WWW Document]. URL

http://cesi.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/NAO_increasing_employment_ethnic_minorities_summary_0.pdf (accessed 8.19.15).

Berthoud, R., 2003. Multiple disadvantage in employment [WWW Document]. URL http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/multiple-disadvantage-employment (accessed 10.11.13).

Berthoud, R., 2005. Family Formation in Multicultural Britain: Diversity and Change, in: In Glenn C. Loury, Tariq Modood and Steven M. Teles (Eds) Ethnicity, Social Mobility and Public Policy: Comparing the US and UK. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge

Bhattacharyya, G., Ison, L., Blair, M., 2003. Minority ethnic attainment and participation in education and training: the evidence. DfES Publications Nottingham.

Bhopal, K., 1997a. Gender, "Race" and Patriarchy: A Study of South Asian Women. Ashgate: Farnham

Bhopal, K., 1997b. South Asian Women within Households: Dowries, Degradation and Despair. Women's Studies International Forum 20, no. 4 (July 1997): 483–92. doi:10.1016/S0277-5395(97)00037-X.

Bhopal, K., 1998. How Gender and Ethnicity Intersect: The Significance of Education, Employment and Marital Status. Sociological Research Online 3.

Bingham, J., 2016. Hijab-wearing Muslim women being passed over for jobs in last form of "acceptable" discrimination – MPs. *The Telegraph.* 11.08.2016. Available at: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/08/11/hijab-wearing-muslim-women-being-passed-over-for-jobs-in-last-fo/. Accessed 26.09.2017

Bloor, M., Frankland, J., Thomas, M. and Robson, K., 2001. Focus Groups in Social Research. SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Bolognani, M., 2007. Islam, Ethnography and Politics: Methodological Issues in Researching amongst West Yorkshire Pakistanis in 2005. International Journal of Social Research Methodology 10, 279–293. doi:10.1080/13645570701546570

Borghans, L., Groot, L., 1999. Educational presorting and occupational segregation. Labour Economics 6, 375–395. doi:10.1016/S0927-5371(99)00009-3

Botcherby, S., 2006. Pakistani, Bangladeshi and Black Caribbean women and employment survey: aspirations, experiences and choices, Moving on up? Ethnic Minority Women and Work. Equal Opportunities Commission

Bourdieu, P., 1984. Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste. Harvard University Press: Harvard

Bourdieu, P.,1986. The forms of capital. In J. Richardson (Ed.) Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education. New York, Greenwood. 241-258

Bowlby, J., 1952. Maternal Care and Mental Health, 9th Impression Aug 1960 edition. ed. World Health Organization.

Boyatzis, R.E., 1998. Transforming Qualitative Information: Thematic Analysis and Code Development. SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Bradley, S., Taylor, J., 2004. Ethnicity, educational attainment and the transition from school. The Manchester School 72. 317–346.

Brah, A., 1993. "Race" and "culture" in the gendering of labour markets: South Asian young Muslim women and the labour market. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 19, 441–458. doi:10.1080/1369183X.1993.9976376

Brah, A., 2005. Cartographies of Diaspora: Contesting Identities. Routledge: Abingdon

Brah, A. and Shaw, S.,1992. Working Choices: South Asian Women and the Labour Market. Research Paper No. 91. London: Department of Employment.

Brauns, H., Müller, W., and Steinmann, S. 1997. Educational expansion and returns to education: A comparative study on Germany, France, the UK and Hungary, Arbeitspapiere Mannheimer Zentrum für

Europäische Sozialforschung, Arbeitsbereich 1, Nr. 23

Briar, C., 1997 Working for women?:gendered work and welfare policies in twentieth-century Britain. UCL Press: London

Britton, J., 2015. Muslims, Racism and Violence After the Paris Attacks. SRO 20, 1.

Brown, K., 2006. Realising Muslim Women's Rights: The Role of Islamic Identity among British Muslim Women. Women's Studies International Forum 29, no. 4 (July 2006): 417–30. doi:10.1016/j.wsif.2006.05.002.

Brown, P., 1995. Cultural Capital and Social Exclusion: Some Observations on Recent Trends in Education, Employment and the Labour Market. Work Employment and Society 9, 29–51. doi:10.1177/095001709591002

Browne, I., Misra, J., 2003. The Intersection of Gender and Race in the Labour Market. Annual Review of Sociology 29, 487–513.

doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.100016

Brynin, M., Longhi, S., 2015. The Effect of Occupation on Poverty Among Ethnic Minority Groups [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/occupation-poverty-ethnic-minority-full.pdf (accessed 9.15.17).

Buckner, L., Yeandle, S., Botcherby, S., 2007. Moving on up? Ethnic Minority Women and Work. Great Britain: Equal Opportunities Commission.

Bunglawala, Z., 2008. Valuing family, valuing work: British Muslim women and the labour market (No. B10987). Young Foundation: London Development Agency.

Burgess, S., McConnell, B., Propper, C., Wilson, D., 2004. Girls Rock, Boys Roll: An Analysis of the Age 14–16 Gender Gap in English. Scottish Journal of Political Economy 51, 209–229.

Burton J, Nandi A, Platt L., 2008. Who are the UK's minority ethnic groups? Issues of identification and measurement in a longitudinal study. ISER Working Paper Series. Available at: https://www.iser.essex.ac.uk/files/iser_working_papers/2008-26.pdf

Caplan, P., 2000. Risk Revisited. Pluto Press: London

Catney, G., Sabater, A., 2015. Ethnic Minority Disadvantage in the Labour Market: Participation, skills and geographical inequalities. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Census, 2011, 2012. 2011 Census user guide [WWW Document]. Office for National Statistics. URL http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/census-data/2011-census-user-guide/index.html (accessed 11.17.14).

Chakraborti, N., Zempi, I., 2012. The veil under attack: Gendered dimensions of Islamophobic victimization. International Review of Victimology 18, 269–284. doi:10.1177/0269758012446983

Charsley, K., 2005. Vulnerable Brides and Transnational Ghar Damads: Gender, Risk and "Adjustment" among Pakistani Marriage Migrants to Britain. Indian Journal of Gender Studies 12, 381–406. doi:10.1177/097152150501200210

Charsley, D.K., 2006. Risk and Ritual: The Protection of British Pakistani Women in Transnational Marriage. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 32, 1169–1187. doi:10.1080/13691830600821877

Chevalier, A., 2003. Measuring Over-education. Economica, 70: 509–531. doi:10.1111/1468-0335.t01-1-00296

Chevalier, A., Viitanen, T.K., 2002. The causality between female labour force participation and the availability of childcare. Applied Economics Letters 9, 915–918. doi:10.1080/13504850210138469

Childcare Act, 2006. (c21). The Stationery Office Limited: London

Choo, H.Y., Ferree, M.M., 2010. Practicing Intersectionality in Sociological Research: A Critical Analysis of Inclusions, Interactions, and Institutions in the Study of Inequalities. Sociological Theory 28, 129–149. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9558.2010.01370.x

Citizens Advice, 2016. Getting a visa for your spouse or partner to live in the UK [WWW Document]. URL http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/immigration/visas-family-and-friends/getting-a-visa-for-your-spouse-or-partner-to-live-in-the-uk/ (accessed 9.15.17).

Clark, K., Drinkwater, S., 2007. Ethnic minorities in the labour market: dynamics and diversity. Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Bristol, UK.

Coffield F & Vignoles A., 1997. Widening Participation to Higher Education by Gender, Ethnicity and Age, Report 5 of the National Committee of Inquiry into Higher Education

Collingwood, A., 2012. In-work poverty outstrips poverty in workless households [WWW Document]. JRF. URL https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-poverty-outstrips-poverty-workless-households (accessed 9.9.17).

Connolly, P., 2006. The effects of social class and ethnicity on gender differences in GCSE attainment: a secondary analysis of the Youth Cohort Study of England and Wales 1997–2001. British Educational Research Journal, 32: 3–21. doi:10.1080/01411920500401963

Connolly, S., Gregory, M., 2008. Moving Down: Women's Part-Time Work and Occupational Change in Britain 1991–2001. The Economic Journal 118, F52–F76. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0297.2007.02116.x

Connolly, S., Gregory, M., 2009. The Part-Time Pay Penalty: Earnings Trajectories of British Women. Oxford Economic Papers 61, 1 (April 1, 2009): i76–97. doi:10.1093/oep/gpn043.

Crenshaw, K., 1991. Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. Stanford Law Review 43, 1241–1299. doi:10.2307/1229039

Crompton, R., 2002. Employment, flexible working and the family. The British Journal of Sociology 53, 537–558. doi:10.1080/0007131022000021470

Crompton, R., 2008. Class and Stratification. Poliy: Cambridge

Crompton, R., Harris, F., 1998. Explaining women's employment patterns: "orientations to work" revisited. British Journal of Sociology. 49, 118–136.

Cuádraz, G.H., Uttal, L., 1999. Intersectionality and In-depth Interviews: Methodological Strategies for Analyzing Race, Class, and Gender. Race, Gender & Class 6, 156–186.

Dahya, B., 2013. The Nature of Pakistani Ethnicity in Industrial Cities in Britain. In: Cohen, A., 2014. (Ed.) Urban Ethnicity. Routledge: Abingdon

Dale, A., 1985. Integrating women into class theory. Sociology 19, 384–409. doi:10.1177/0038038585019003004

Dale, A., 2002. Social Exclusion of Pakistani and Bangladeshi Women. Sociological Research Online 7. doi:10.5153/sro.741

Dale, A., 2005. Combining family and employment: evidence from Pakistani and Bangladeshi Women [WWW Document]. In: D Houston, editor(s). Work-Life Balance in the 21st Century. Palgrave Macmillan; 2005.. URL https://www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/uk-ac-man-scw:3b4927 (accessed 10.9.13).

Dale, A., 2008. Pakistani and Bangladeshi Women's Labour Market Participation (No. 02), CCSR Working Paper.

Dale, A., Ahmed, S., 2011. Marriage and employment patterns amongst UK-raised Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi women. Ethnic and Racial Studies 34, 902–924. doi:10.1080/01419870.2011.564058

Dale, A., and Holdsworth, D.,1998. Why don't minority ethnic women in Britain work part-time? Part-time prospects: an international comparison of part-time work in Europe, North America and the Pacific Rim, Part-time prospects: an international comparison of part-time work in Europe, North America and the Pacific Rim. - London [u.a.]: Routledge, ISBN 0415156696. - 1998, p. 77-95.

Dale, A., Fieldhouse, E., Shaheen, N., Kalra, V., 2002a. The Labour Market Prospects for Pakistani and Bangladeshi Women. Work Employment Society 16, 5–25. doi:10.1177/09500170222119227

Dale, A., Shaheen, N., Kalra, V., Fieldhouse, E., 2002b. Routes into education and employment for young Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in the UK. Ethnic and Racial Studies 25, 942–968. doi:10.1080/0141987022000009386

Dale, A., Lindley, J., Dex, S., 2006. A Life-course Perspective on Ethnic Differences in Women's Economic Activity in Britain. European Sociological Review 22, 323–337. doi:10.1093/esr/jci060

Daly, M., 2011. What Adult Worker Model? A Critical Look at Recent Social Policy Reform in Europe from a Gender and Family Perspective. Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society 18, 1–23. doi:10.1093/sp/jxr002

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, 2010. Family friendly working – next steps [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/government/news/family-friendly-working-next-steps--2 (accessed 9.20.17).

Department for Business Innovation and Skills, 2011. English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) Equality Impact Assessment [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3229 7/11-1045-english-for-speakers-of-other-languages-equality-impact.pdf (accessed 9.26.17).

Department for Business Innovation and Skills, 2012. 2011 Skills for Life Survey: A Survey of Literacy, Numeracy and ICT Levels in England (No. 81), BIS Research Paper.

Department for Business Innovation and Skills, HM Revenue and Customs, 2015. 2010 to 2015 government policy: labour market reform - GOV.UK [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-labour-market-reform/2010-to-2015-government-policy-labour-market-reform (accessed 9.9.17).

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, 2016. Graduate Labour Market Statistics: 2015 [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5186 54/bis-16-232-graduate-labour-market-statistics-2015.pdf (accessed 9.18.17).

Department for Education and Skills, 2007. Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England [WWW Document]. URL

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130401151715/https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/00389-2007BKT-EN.pdf (accessed 5.6.14).

Department for Education, 2015. GCSE and equivalent attainment by pupil characteristics: 2014 [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gcse-and-equivalent-attainment-by-pupil-characteristics-2014 (accessed 9.20.17).

Department for Education, 2016. Childcare and early years survey of parents: 2014 to 2015 [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-and-early-years-survey-of-parents-2014-to-2015 (accessed 9.16.17).

Department for Education, 2016. School Workforce in England: November 2016 [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6208 25/SFR25_2017_MainText.pdf (accessed 9.26.17).

Department for Work and Pensions, The Rt Hon Stephen Crabb (2016).

Unemployment down as more people in work than ever before. [online] Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/unemployment-down-as-more-people-in-work-than-ever-before [Accessed 9 Sep. 2017].

Dex, S., 1985. The Sexual Division of Work: Conceptual Revolutions in the Social Sciences. St. Martin's Press: New York

Dolton, P., Silles, M., 2001. Over-Education in the Graduate Labour Market: Some Evidence from Alumni Data [WWW Document]. URL

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.472.7665&rep=rep1&type =pdf (accessed 9.18.17).

Duncan, S., Edwards, R., Reynolds, T., Alldred, P., 2003. Motherhood, Paid Work and Partnering: Values and Theories. Work Employment and Society 17, 309–330. doi:10.1177/0950017003017002005

Duncan, S. and Irwin, S., 2004. The social patterning of values and rationalities: mothers' choices in combining caring and employment. Social Policy and Society, 3,4, 391-400.

Dwyer, C., 2000. Negotiating Diasporic Identities: Young British South Asian Muslim Women. Women's Studies International Forum 23, no. 4 (July 2000): 475–86. doi:10.1016/S0277-5395(00)00110-2.

Economic and Social Research Council, n.d. Our principles: researchers and research teams [WWW Document]. URL http://www.esrc.ac.uk/funding/guidance-

for-applicants/research-ethics/our-principles-researchers-and-research-teams/ (accessed 2.20.17).

Emmel, N., 2013. Sampling and Choosing Cases in Qualitative Research: A Realist Approach. SAGE Publications Ltd: London.

ESRC Centre on Dynamics of Ethnicity (CoDE), 2013. Ethnicity and deprivation in England [WWW Document]. URL https://www.ukdataservice.ac.uk/use-data/data-in-use/case-study/?id=155 (accessed 5.16.17).

ESRC Centre on Dynamics of Ethnicity (CoDE), 2014a. How have people's ethnic identities changed over time? [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.ethnicity.ac.uk/medialibrary/briefingsupdated/how-have-people's-ethnic-identities-changed-in-england-and-wales.pdf (accessed 9.11.17).

ESRC Centre on Dynamics of Ethnicity (CoDE), 2014b. How are ethnic inequalities in education changing? [WWW Document]. URL

http://www.ethnicity.ac.uk/medialibrary/briefingsupdated/how-are-ethnic-inequalities-in-education-changing.pdf (accessed 6.17.16).

Exley, C., Sim, J., Reid, N., Jackson, S., West, N., 1996. Attitudes and beliefs within the Sikh community regarding organ donation: a pilot study. Soc Sci Med 43, 23–28.

Evans, S.L., Bowlby, S., 2000. Crossing boundaries: Racialised gendering and the labour market experiences of Pakistani migrant women in Britain, in: Women's Studies International Forum. Elsevier, pp. 461–474.

Evans, D., 2015. ESOL funding cuts will have "devastating" impact on thousands of learners, charity warns [WWW Document]. tesconnect. URL

https://www.tes.com/news/further-education/breaking-news/esol-funding-cuts-will-have-devastating-impact-thousands (accessed 9.2.15).

Feilzer, M., 2009. Doing Mixed Methods Research Pragmatically Implications for the Rediscovery of Pragmatism as a Research Paradigm. Journal of Mixed Methods Research XX, 1–11.

Fevre, R., 1984. Cheap Labour and Racial Discrimination. Avebury: Aldershot

Fereday, J., Muir-Cochrane, E., 2006. Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 5, 80–92. doi:10.1177/160940690600500107

Fisher, P., Nandi, A., 2015. Poverty across ethnic groups through recession and austerity [WWW Document]. JRF. URL https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-across-ethnic-groups-through-recession-and-austerity (accessed 9.20.17).

Foreign and Commonwealth Office, 2013. Human Rights and Democracy: The 2012 Foreign & Commonwealth Office Report. The Stationery Office.

Franks, M., 2000. Crossing the borders of whiteness? White Muslim women who wear the hijab in Britain today. Ethnic and Racial Studies 23, 917–929. doi:10.1080/01419870050110977

Gibbs, A., 1997. Focus Groups. Social Research Update Issue 19. Available: http://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU19.html

Giddens, A., 1984. The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration. John Wiley & Sons: Oxford

Giele, J.Z., Elder, G.H., 1998. Methods of Life Course Research: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Goldthorpe, J.H., 1987. Social Mobility and Class Structure in Modern Britain. Clarendon Press: Wotton-Under-Edge

Gorard, S., Rees, G., Salisbury, J.,1999. Reappraising the Apparent Underachievement of Boys at School, Gender and Education, 11(4), pp441-454

Gorard, S., Rees, G., Salisbury, J., 2001. Investigating the Patterns of Differential Attainment of Boys and Girls at School. British Educational Research Journal 27, 125–139. doi:10.1080/01411920120037090

GOV.UK, 2016. Flexible working [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/flexible-working (accessed 9.26.17).

GOV.UK, 2017a. Shared Parental Leave and Pay [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/shared-parental-leave-and-pay (accessed 9.13.17).

GOV.UK, 2017b. Help paying for childcare: 15 and 30 hours free childcare for 3 and 4-year-olds [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/help-with-childcare-costs/free-childcare-and-education-for-2-to-4-year-olds (accessed 9.13.17).

GOV.UK, 2017c. Prove your knowledge of English for citizenship and settling [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.uk/english-language (accessed 9.26.17).

Grant, L., Yeandle, S., Buckner, L., 2005. Working below potential: women and part-time work. Equal Opportunities Commission: Manchester.

Guba, E.G., Lincoln, Y.S., 1994. Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research, in: Major Paradigms and Perspectives. SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Guillemin, M., Gillam, L., 2004. Ethics, Reflexivity, and "Ethically Important Moments" in Research. doi:10.1177/1077800403262360

Hakim, C., 1982. Secondary Analysis and the Relationship between Official and Academic Social Research. Sociology 16, 12–28.

doi:10.1177/0038038582016001005

Hakim, C., 2001. Work-Lifestyle Choices in the 21st Century: Preference Theory. Oxford University Press: Oxford

Hakim, C., 2006. Women, careers, and work-life preferences. British Journal of Guidance & Counselling 34, 279–294. doi:10.1080/03069880600769118

Hall, K., Bance, J., Denton, N., 2004. Diversity and difference: Minority ethnic mothers and childcare. Women & Equality Unit: London

Hancock, A., M., 2007. When Multiplication Doesn't Equal Quick Addition: Examining Intersectionality as a Research Paradigm. Perspectives on Politics 5, 63–79. doi:10.1017/S1537592707070065

Hammersley, M., 1992. What's Wrong with Ethnography?: Methodological Explorations. Psychology Press: Hove

Hardill, I., Watson, R., 2004. Career priorities within dual career households: an analysis of the impact of child rearing upon gender participation rates and earnings. Industrial Relations Journal 35, 19–37. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2338.2004.00298.x

Hartmann, H.I., 1979. The Unhappy Marriage of Marxism and Feminism: Towards a more Progressive Union. Capital & Class 3, 1–33.

doi:10.1177/030981687900800102

Hashem, F., Aspinal, P., 2010. What kind of language services should public authorities provide to minority ethnic groups: the case of Bangladeshis in London. The Nuffield Foundation, University of Kent.

Holdsworth, C., Dale, A., 1997. Ethnic differences in women's employment [WWW Document]. Work Employment and Society 11,3, 435-457. URL https://www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/uk-ac-man-scw:1b104 (accessed 10.9.13).

Hollander, J.A., 2004. The Social Contexts of Focus Groups. Journal of Contemporary Ethnography 33, 602–637.

Honeyman, K., 2000. Well Suited: A History of the Leeds Clothing Industry, 1850-1990. Pasold Research Fund: Edinburgh

House of Commons, Women and Equalities Committee, 2017. Employment opportunities for Muslims in the UK: Second Report of Session 2016-17.

Husband, C., Alam, Y., 2011. Social Cohesion and Counter-Terrorism: A Policy Contradiction? Policy Press: Bristol

Hussain, Y. and Bagguley, P. 2012. Securitized Citizens: Islamophobia, Racism and the 7/7 London Bombings. The Sociological Review 60, no. 4 (November 1, 2012): 715–34. doi:10.1111/j.1467-954X.2012.02130.x.

Iannelli, C., 2007. Inequalities in Entry to Higher Education: a Comparison Over Time between Scotland and England and Wales. Higher Education Quarterly 61, 306–333. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2273.2007.00357.x

Iqbal, Gulnaz., Gumber, Anil., Johnson, Mark R.D., Szczepura, Ala., Wilson, Sue., and Dunn, Janet A., 2009. Improving ethnicity data collection for health statistics in the UK. Diversity and Equality in Health and Care, 6 (4), 267-285

IPSOS MORI, 2006. Londoners' Attitudes to Wearing Veils [WWW Document]. Ipsos MORI. URL https://www.ipsos.com/ipsos-mori/en-uk/londoners-attitudes-wearing-veils (accessed 9.15.17).

Jayaratne, T.E., 1999. The Value of Quantitative Methodology for Feminist Research. In: Hammersley, M. (Ed.) Social Research: Philosophy, Politics and Practice. Sage Publications Ltd: London. 109-124

Jin, W., Muriel, A., Sibieta, L., 2010. Subject and course choices at ages 14 and 16 amongst young people in England: insights from behavioural economics [WWW Document]. www.gov.uk. URL

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1826 77/DFE-RR160.pdf (accessed 1.31.14).

Jivraj, S. and Khan, O. (2013) Ethnicity and deprivation in England: How likely are ethnic minorities to live in deprived neighbourhoods? Centre on Dynamics of Ethnicity briefing paper. Retrieved 25 March 2014 from http://www.ethnicity.ac.uk/census/CoDE-Deprivation-Census-Briefing.pdf

Johnson, R.B., Onwuegbuzie, A.J., 2004. Mixed methods research: A research

paradigm whose time has come. Educational researcher 33, 14–26.

Johnson, R.B., Onwuegbuzie, A.J., Turner, L.A., 2007. Toward a Definition of Mixed Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research 1, 112–133.

Joshi, H., 1998. The opportunity costs of childbearing: More than mothers' business. Journal of Population Economics 11, 161–183. doi:10.1007/s001480050063

Joshi, H., Macran, S., Dex, S., 1996. Employment after childbearing and women's subsequent labour force participation: Evidence from the British 1958 birth cohort. Journal of Population Economics 9, 325–348.

Joshi, H., Paci, P., Waldfogel, J., 1999. The wages of motherhood: better or worse? Cambridge Journal of Economics. 23, 543–564. doi:10.1093/cje/23.5.543

Kalra, V.S., 2000. From Textile Mills to Taxi Ranks: Experiences of Migration, Labour and Social Change. Ashgate Publishing Limited: Aldershot

Kelle, U., 2001. Sociological Explanations between Micro and Macro and the Integration of Qualitative and Quantitative Methods. Qualitative Social Research 2, 1, Art. 5

Kelliher, C., Anderson, D., 2008. For better or for worse? An analysis of how flexible working practices influence employees' perceptions of job quality. The International Journal of Human Resource Management 19, 419–431.

doi:10.1080/09585190801895502

Kennedy, S., Wilson, W., Keen, R., 2016. The Benefit Cap [WWW Document]. URL http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06294 (accessed 9.9.17).

Kemp, P.A., Bradshaw, J., Dornan, P., Finch, N., Mayhew, E., 2004. Routes out of Poverty: A Research Review [WWW Document]. URL https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/routes-out-poverty (accessed 4.14.16).

Khattab, N., 2012. "Winners" and "losers": the impact of education, ethnicity and gender on Muslims in the British labour market. Work Employment and Society 26, 556–573. doi:http://0-dx.doi.org.wam.leeds.ac.uk/10.1177/0950017012448225

Khattab, N., Johnston, R., 2012. Ethnic and religious penalties in a changing British labour market from 2002 to 2010: the case of unemployment. Environment and Planning A 45, 1358–1371. doi:10.1068/a45454

Killick, L., Hall, H., Duff, A.S., Deakin, M., 2015. The census as an information source in public policy-making. Journal of Information Science 1–10. doi:DOI: 10.1177/016555151 0000000

Kitzinger, J., 1994. The methodology of Focus Groups: the importance of interaction between research participants. Sociology of Health & Illness 16, 103–121. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.ep11347023

Kitzinger, J., 1995. Qualitative research. Introducing focus groups. British Medical Journal 311, 299–302.

Knight, S., 2011. Digital literacy can boost employability and improve student experience. *The Guardian*. 15.12.11. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/higher-education-network/blog/2011/dec/15/digital-literacy-employability-student-experience

Krueger, R.A., 2009. Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research. SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Lambert, H., Moy, C., 2013. Social Grade Allocation for 2011 Census.pdf [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.mrs.org.uk/pdf/Social%20Grade%20Allocation%20for%202011%20Ce nsus.pdf (accessed 11.14.14).

Lalani, M., Metcalf, H., Tufekci, L., Corley, A., Rolfe, H., George, A., 2014. How place influences employment outcomes for ethnic minorities. Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Leslie, D., Lindley, J., 2001. The Impact of Language Ability on Employment and Earnings of Britain's Ethnic Communities. Economica 68, 587–606.

Lewis, Jane (2001) The decline of the male breadwinner model: implications for work and care. Social Politics, 8 (2). pp. 152-169. ISSN 1072-4745

Li, Y., 2004. Samples of Anonymized Records (SARs) from the UK Censuses: A Unique Source for Social Science Research. Sociology 38, 553–572. doi:10.1177/0038038504043218

Lindley, J., 2007. The Incidence and Effect of Over-Education amongst UK Immigrants: Evidence from the Labour Force Survey (No. 2007013).

Lindley, J.K., Dale, A., Dex, S., 2006. Ethnic differences in women's employment: the changing role of qualifications. Oxford Economic Papers 58, 351–378. doi:10.1093/oep/gpl005

Martin, W., 2016., Cameron's new English courses for women "don"t make up for £160m Esol cuts', colleges warn. *TES.* 18.01.2016. Available at: https://www.tes.com/news/further-education/breaking-news/camerons-new-english-courses-women-dont-make-ps160m-esol-cuts

Martin, J., Heath, A., Bosveld, K., 2010. Is ethnicity or religion more important in explaining inequalities in the labour market? (No. 2010-02), Sociology Working Papers.

Mason J..1997. Qualitative researching. SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Mason, J., 2006. Six strategies for mixing methods and linking data in social science research, Real Life Methods Working Papers.

McBride, A., Hebson, G., Holgate, J., 2014. Intersectionality: are we taking enough notice in the field of work and employment relations? Work, Employment & Society 1–11

McCall, L., 2005. The Complexity of Intersectionality. Signs 30, 1771–1800

McDowell, L., Rootham, E., Hardgrove, A., 2014. Precarious work, protest masculinity and communal regulation: South Asian young men in Luton, UK. Work Employment and Society 28, 847–864. doi:10.1177/0950017013510757

McGuinness, S., 2003. University quality and labour market outcomes. Applied Economics 35, 1943–1955. doi:10.1080/0003684032000158442

McLean, C.A., Campbell, C.M., 2003. Locating Research Informants in a Multiethnic Community: Ethnic Identities, Social Networks and Recruitment Methods. Ethnicity & Health 8, 41–61. doi:10.1080/13557850303558

McNabb, R., Pal, S., Sloane, P., 2002. Gender differences in educational attainment: the case of university students in England and Wales. Economica 69, 481–503.

McRae, S., 2003. Constraints and Choices in Mothers' Employment careers: a Consideration of Hakim's Preference Theory. The British Journal of Sociology 54, 317–338. doi:10.1111/j.1468-4446.2003.00317.x

Metcalf, H., Rolfe, H., 2010. Women's choices in the labour market, National Institute of Economic and Social Research

Metso, M., Le Feuvre, N., 2006. Quantitative Methods for Analysing Gender, Ethnicity and Migration. University of York

Migration Observatory, 2017. Settlement in the UK [WWW Document]. Migration Observatory. URL

http://www.migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/briefings/settlement-in-the-uk/ (accessed 8.10.17).

Mitchell, M., and Howarth, C., 2009. Trans Research Review. Equality and Human Rights Commission. Research report 27

Modood, T., 2004. Capitals, ethnic identity and educational qualifications. Cultural Trends 13, 87–105. doi:10.1080/0954896042000267170

Moore, K., 2011. Language cuts "affect women most." BBC News. 18.05.2011

Morgan, D.L., 1996. Focus Groups. Annual Review of Sociology 22, 129–152. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.22.1.129

Nandi, A., Platt, L., 2010. Ethnic Minority Women's Poverty and Economic Well Being. Government Equalities Office

NARIC - Services for individuals [WWW Document], n.d. URL http://naric.org.uk/naric/Individuals/Default.aspx (accessed 8.7.15)

NATECLA, 2016. New ESOL funding for Muslim Women: NATECLA's response [WWW Document]. natecla.org.uk. URL http://natecla.org.uk/news/817/ESOL-Funding-for-Muslim-women (accessed 9.18.17)

Neuburger, J., Joshi, H., Dex, S., 2010. Part-time working and pay amongst Millennium Cohort Study mothers. GeNet Working Paper

Newman, I., 2011. Work as a route out of poverty: a critical evaluation of the UK welfare to work policy. Policy Studies 32, 91–108. doi:10.1080/01442872.2010.533510

Oakley, A., 1998. Gender, methodology and people's ways of knowing: Some problems with feminism and the paradigm debate in social science. Sociology 32, 707–731.

Oesch, D., 2003. Labour market trends and the Goldthorpe class schema: a conceptual reassessment. Swiss Journal of Sociology 29, 241–262.

Office for National Statistics, 2007. Ethnic group, national identity, religion and language consultation - Office for National Statistics [WWW Document]. URL https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/consultationsusersandlocalpartners/2011censusclosedconsultations/ethnicgroupnationalidentityreligionandlanguageconsultation (accessed 9.11.17).

Office for National Statistics, 2010. The National Statistics Socio-economic Classification (NS-SEC rebased on the SOC2010). Available: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/classifications/current-standard-

classifications/soc2010/soc2010-volume-3-ns-sec--rebased-on-soc2010--user-manual/index.html. Last accessed 15/05/2014.

Office for National Statistics, 2012. Households Below Average Income Statistics: First Release [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2006 93/first_release_1011.pdf (accessed 9.20.17).

Office for National Statistics, 2013a. Full Report - Graduates in the UK Labour Market 2013 [WWW Document]. Office for National Statistics. URL http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/lmac/graduates-in-the-labour-market/2013/rpt--graduates-in-the-uk-labour-market-2013.html (accessed 8.25.14).

Office for National Statistics, 2013b. Women in the labour market [WWW Document]. URL http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_328352.pdf (accessed 5.9.14).

Office for National Statistics, 2014. 2011 Census analysis - Office for National Statistics [WWW Document]. www.ons.gov.uk. URL

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/f amilies/articles/2011censusanalysishowdolivingarrangementsfamilytypeandfamilysi zevaryinenglandandwales/2014-06-24#households (accessed 9.20.17)..

Office for National Statistics., 2014. Live Births in England and Wales by Characteristics of Mother 1: 2013 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/bulletins/livebirthsinenglandandwalesbycharacteristicsofmother1/2014-10-

Office for National Statistics, 2015. Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2015 Provisional Results

16 (accessed 9.16.17).

Office for National Statistics. Social Survey Division, Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency. Central Survey Unit. (2015). Quarterly Labour Force Survey, 1992-2015. [data collection]. UK Data Service. Retrieved from https://discover.ukdataservice.ac.uk/series/?sn=2000026

Office for National Statistics., 2015. 2011 Census Microdata Individual Safeguarded Sample (Local Authority): England and Wales. [data collection]. UK Data Service. SN: 7682,http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-7682-1.

Office for National Statistics; National Records of Scotland; Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency, 2016: 2011 Census aggregate data. UK Data Service (Edition: June 2016). DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5257/census/aggregate-2011-1

Office for National Statistics. Social Survey Division. (2017). Annual Population Survey, April 2015 - March 2016. [data collection]. 3rd Edition. UK Data Service. SN: 8003, http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-8003-3

Osborne, H., 2016. Tiny proportion of men are opting for shared parental leave. *The Guardian*. 5.4.2016. Available at:

http://www.theguardian.com/money/2016/apr/05/shared-parental-leave-slow-take-up-fathers-paternity (accessed 5.6.16).

Owen, D., Gambin, L., Green, A., Li, Y., 2015. Projecting employment by ethnic group to 2022. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Papanek, H., 1971. Purdah in Pakistan: Seclusion and Modern Occupations for Women. Journal of Marriage and Family 33, 517–530. doi:10.2307/34984

Papanek, H., 1973. Purdah: Separate Worlds and Symbolic Shelter. Comparative Studies in Society and History 15, 289–325. doi:10.1017/S001041750000712X

Patton, M.Q., 1990. Qualitative evaluation and research methods (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd: London

Peach, C., 2006. South Asian migration and settlement in Great Britain, 1951–2001. Contemporary South Asia 15, 133–146. doi:10.1080/09584930600955234

Peach, C., 2007. Sleepwalking into Ghettoisation? The British Debate over Segregation, in: Schönwälder, K. (ed.) Residential Segregation and the Integration of Immigrants: Britain, the Netherlands and Sweden.

Perrons, D., 2000. Flexible Working and Equal Opportunities in the United Kingdom: A Case Study from Retail. Environmental Planning A 32, 1719–1734. doi:10.1068/a3299

Phillips, D., Davis, C., Ratcliffe, P., 2007. British Asian narratives of urban space. Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers 32, 217–234. doi:10.1111/j.1475-5661.2007.00247.x

Preece, J., 1999. Families into Higher Education Project: An Awareness Raising Action Research Project with Schools and Parents. Higher Education Quarterly 53, 197–210. doi:10.1111/1468-2273.00126

Rabby, F., Rodgers III, W., M., 2010. The Impact of 9/11 and the London Bombings on the Employment and Earnings of U.K. Muslims [WWW Document]. URL http://ftp.iza.org/dp4763.pdf (accessed 3.1.17).

Rafferty, A., 2012. Ethnic penalties in graduate level over-education, unemployment and wages: evidence from Britain. Work, Employment and Society 26, 987–1006.

Rafferty, A., Dale, A., 2008. Ethnic Differences in graduate over-education in the UK. CSSR Working paper 5.

Ramji, H., 2007. Dynamics of Religion and Gender amongst Young British Muslims. Sociology 41, 1171–1189. doi:10.1177/0038038507084832

Reay, D., Davies, J., David, M., Ball, S.J., 2001. Choices of Degree or Degrees of Choice? Class, 'Race' and the Higher Education Choice Process. Sociology 35, 855–874. doi:10.1177/0038038501035004004

Riaño, Y., Baghdadi, N., 2007. Understanding the Labour Market Participation of Skilled Immigrant Women in Switzerland: The Interplay of Class, Ethnicity, and Gender. Journal of International Migration and Integration 8, 163–183. doi:http://odx.doi.org.wam.leeds.ac.uk/10.1007/s12134-007-0012-1

Robson, K., Berthoud, R., 2003. Early motherhood and disadvantage: a comparison between ethnic groups. Institute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex.

Rose, D., Pevalin, D.J., 2005. The National Statistics Socio-economic Classification: Origins, Development and Use. Institute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex.

Rutter, J., Evans, B., 2012. Improving Our Understanding of Informal Childcare in the UK: An Interim Report of Daycare Trust Research into Informal Childcare. The Daycare Trust.

Rutter, J., 2016 Childcare Survey. Family and Childcare Trust.

Salway, S.M., 2007. Economic Activity among UK Bangladeshi and Pakistani Women in the 1990s: Evidence for Continuity or Change in the Family Resources Survey. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 33, 825–847. doi:10.1080/13691830701359256

Savage, M., Devine, F., Cunningham, N., Taylor, M., Li, Y., Hjellbrekke, J., Roux, B.L., Friedman, S., Miles, A., 2013. A New Model of Social Class? Findings from the BBC's Great British Class Survey Experiment. Sociology 47, 219–250. doi:10.1177/0038038513481128

Scott, D., 1972. West Pakistanis in Huddersfield: Aspects of race relations in local politics. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 2, 38–43. doi:10.1080/1369183X.1972.9975171

Seltman, H., J., 2012. Experimental Design and Analysis. Carnegie Mellon University: Pittsburgh.

Shaw, A., 2000. Kinship and Continuity: Pakistani Families in Britain. Routledge: Abingdon

Shaw, A., 2001. Kinship, Cultural Preference and Immigration: Consanguineous Marriage among British Pakistanis. The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute 7, no. 2 (2001): 315–34.

Shaw, A., 2006. The Arranged Transnational Cousin Marriages of British Pakistanis: Critique, Dissent and Cultural Continuity. Contemporary South Asia 15, no. 2 (June 1, 2006): 209–20. doi:10.1080/09584930600955317.

Shields, M.A., Price, S.W., 2001. Language fluency and immigrant employment prospects: evidence from Britain's ethnic minorities. Applied Economics Letters 8, 741–745. doi:10.1080/13504850010038678

Simpson, L., 1997. Demography and ethnicity: case studies from Bradford [WWW Document]. New Community. 1997;23,1:89-107. URL https://www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/uk-ac-man-scw:1b7551 (accessed 10.15.13).

Simpson, L., Purdam, K., Tajar, A., Pritchard, J., Dorling, D., 2009. Jobs deficits, neighbourhood effects, and ethnic penalties: the geography of ethnic-labour-market inequality. Environment and Planning A 41, 946–963. doi:10.1068/a40229

Simon, A., Owen, C., Hollingworth, K., 2015. Provision and use of preschool childcare in Britain. UCL, nstitute of Education Thomas Coram Research Unit..

Singleton, D.A.D., 2012. Educational Opportunity: The Geography of Access to Higher Education. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd: Burlington

Smith, E., 2008. Pitfalls and Promises: The use of Secondary Data Analysis in Educational Research. British Journal of Educational Studies 56, 323–339. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8527.2008.00405.x

Smith, E., 2011. Women into science and engineering? Gendered participation in higher education STEM subjects. British Educational Research Journal 37, 993–1014.

Spencer, I.R.G., 1997. British Immigration Policy Since 1939: The Making of Multi-Racial Britain. Routledge: New York.

Stiell, B., Tang, N., 2006. Ethnic Minority Women and Access to the Labour Market in Leicester, Gender and Employment in Local Labour Markets. Sheffield Hallam University.

Sanghera, G.S., Thapar-Björkert, S., 2008. Methodological dilemmas: gatekeepers and positionality in Bradford. Ethnic and Racial Studies 31, 543–562. doi:10.1080/01419870701491952

Stadelmann-Steffen, I., 2008. Women, Labour, and Public Policy: Female Labour Market Integration in OECD Countries. A Comparative Perspective. doi:10.1017/S0047279408001967

Tackey, N. D., Barnes, H. and Khambhaita, P. (2011). Poverty, ethnicity and education. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/poverty-ethnicity-education-full.pdf

Tell MAMA, n.d. The geography of anti-Muslim hatred in 2015: Tell MAMA Annual Report [WWW Document]. TELL MAMA. URL https://tellmamauk.org/geography-anti-muslim-hatred-2015-tell-mama-annual-report/ (accessed 9.26.17).

Thapar-Bjortkert, S., Sanghera, G., 2010. Building social capital and education: The experiences of Pakistani Muslims in the UK. International Journal of Social Inquiry 3, 3–24.

Thomas, K., 1990. Gender and subject in higher education. Society for Research into Higher Education: Open University Press, Buckingham

Thomas, D., 2006. A General Inductive Approach for Analyzing Qualitative Evaluation Data. doi:10.1177/1098214005283748

Tight, M., 2012. Widening Participation: A Post-War Scorecard. British Journal of Educational Studies 60, 211–226. doi:10.1080/00071005.2012.697541

Tolley, J. and Rundle, J., 2006. A Review of Black and Minority Ethnic Participation in Higher Education, Aim higher National Project. Available on-line from: http://www.ahgtm.ac.uk/uploads/documents/nov_07/aim_1195047372_BMEHEreview_.pdf [Accessed 10.11.09]

Tomlinson, J., 2006. Women's work-life balance trajectories in the UK: reformulating choice and constraint in transitions through part-time work across the life-course. British Journal of Guidance & Counselling 34, 365–382. doi:10.1080/03069880600769555

Tomlinson, J., Olsen, W. and Purdam, K., 2008. Women Returners and Potential Returners: Employment Profiles and Labour Market Opportunities – A Case Study of the United Kingdom. Eur Sociol Re 0: jcn053v1-jcn053

Turner, R., Wigfield, A., 2012. South Asian Women And The Labour Market In The Uk: Attitudes, Barriers, Solutions. Jurnalul Practicilor Comunitare Pozitive 642–666.

Tyrer, D., Ahmad, F., 2006. Muslim Women and Higher Education: Identities, Experiences and Prospects [WWW Document]. URL

https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/31069709/MuslimWomenProject1July2006.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A&Expires=1503754247&Signature=Nly2wOh1dRKakKNbW8LS79rCnd0%3D&response-content-disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DMUSLIM_WOMEN_AND_HIGHER_EDUCATION_IDENTI.pdf (accessed 8.26.17).

UK Data Service, 2014. 2011 microdata plans [WWW Document]. URL http://census.ukdataservice.ac.uk/get-data/microdata/2011-micro-plans.aspx (accessed 8.26.14).

UNICEF, 2013. Report on Out-of-School Children in Pakistan Indicates 3 out of 10 Primary Age Children Not Enrolled in School [WWW Document]. URL https://www.unicef.org/pakistan/media_8442.html (accessed 9.18.17).

UKRIO, n.d. Recommended checklist for researchers [WWW Document]. ukrio.org. URL http://ukrio.org/wp-content/uploads/UKRIO-Recommended-Checklist-for-Researchers.pdf (accessed 9.20.17).

Van De Werfhorst, H., G., Sullivan, A., Cheung, S.Y., 2010. Social Class, Ability and Choice of Subject in Secondary and Tertiary Education in Britain. British Educational Research Journal 29, 41–62. doi:10.1080/0141192032000057366

Vartanian, T.P., 2010. Secondary Data Analysis. Oxford University Press.

Viitanen, T.K., 2005. Cost of Childcare and Female Employment in the UK. LABOUR 19, 149–170. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9914.2005.00325.x

Walby, S., 2007. Complexity Theory, Systems Theory, and Multiple Intersecting Social Inequalities. Philosophy of the Social Sciences 37, 449–470. doi:10.1177/0048393107307663

Waldfogel, J., Garnham, A., 2008. Childcare and child poverty [WWW Document]. URL http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/2267-poverty-children-childcare.pdf (accessed 9.16.17).

Ward, C., Dale, A., Joshi, H., 1996. Combining Employment with Childcare: An Escape From Dependence? Journal of Social Policy 25. doi:10.1017/S0047279400000325

Warren, T., 2004. Working part-time: achieving a successful "work-life" balance?. The British Journal of Sociology 55, 99–122. doi:10.1111/j.1468-4446.2004.00008.x

Warren, T., Rowlingson, K., Whyley, C., 2001. Female finances: Gender Wage Gaps and Gender Assets Gaps. Work, Employment and Society 18, 465–488. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0950017001000319

Wellings, K., Branigan, P., Mitchell, K., 2000. Discomfort, discord and discontinuity as data: Using focus groups to research sensitive topics 2..

Werbner, P., 2007. Veiled Interventions in Pure Space: Honour, Shame and Embodied Struggles among Muslims in Britain and France. Theory, Culture & Society 24, 161–186. doi:10.1177/0263276407075004

West, J., Pilgrim, S., 1995. South Asian women in employment: The impact of migration, ethnic origin and the local economy. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 21, 357–378. doi:10.1080/1369183X.1995.9976497

Westmarland, N., 2001. The Quantitative/Qualitative Debate and Feminist Research: A Subjective View of Objectivity. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research 2.

WHO | What do we mean by "sex" and "gender"? [WWW Document], 2014. WHO. URL http://www.who.int/gender/whatisgender/en/ (accessed 6.6.14).

Wilkinson, S., 1998. Focus groups in feminist research: Power, interaction, and the co-construction of meaning, in: Women's Studies International Forum. Elsevier, pp. 111–125.

WISE, n.d. Women in the STEM Workforce 2016 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.wisecampaign.org.uk/resources/2016/11/women-in-the-stem-workforce-2016 (accessed 9.17.17).

Wright, D., Case, R., 2016. Record employment needs to reach poorest people and places so everyone can contribute to UK's growing prosperity [WWW Document]. URL https://www.jrf.org.uk/press/record-employment-needs-reach-poorest-people-and-places-so-everyone-can-contribute (accessed 3.30.16).

Yeandle, S., Joynes, V., 2012. Challenges in combining work and care: Evidence from investigating women's work in Leeds. Local Economy 27, 816–830. doi:10.1177/0269094212455292

Appendix A

Participants recruited: pseudonym, location, data collection method and occupation

Data collection method	Location	Pseudonym	Occupation
Paired interview	Kirklees	Heera	Teaching Assistant
		Atiqa	Not economically active
Focus group	Kirklees	Reema	Not economically active
		Sadia	Not economically active
		Yasmeen	Carer
		Veena	Third sector employee
		Zeba	Third sector employee
Focus group	Leeds	Sanam	Not economically active
		Rubya	Not economically active
		Meesha	Not economically active
		Zara	ESOL teacher
		Nida	Not economically active
Focus group	Leeds	Zainab	Student
		Ameria	Not economically active
		Noor	Not economically active
		Asma	Not economically active
		Khadija	Not economically active
		Mariam	Not economically active
		Saima	Not economically actrive
Paired interview	Leeds	Liz	ESOL teacher
		James	ESOL teacher
Interview	Leeds	Nadia	Administrator
Interview	Kirklees	Ayesha	Teacher

Adminstrator	Farzia	Kirklees	Interview
University employee	Hadiqa	Leeds	Interview
University employee	Fiza	Leeds	Interview
Doctor	Mehreen	Leeds	Interview
Third sector employee	Mahira	Leeds	Interview

j

Appendix B

Interview schedules

Focus group interview schedule

This is a schedule for interviews with focus groups. The questions do not have to be asked verbatim or in the order they are presented; if the researcher is satisfied the topic has already been discussed without participants being prompted, they may choose to exclude the question. The main questions are in bold, prompts are below in italic.

Introduction

Researcher to introduce themselves and colleague if relevant.

Remind participants of the aims of the project: to explore the link between ethnicity, location, and labour market participation in Leeds and Kirklees.

Discuss ground rules with participants:

- The idea of a focus group is for participants to discuss issues with each other, the role of the facilitator is to provide prompts where necessary
- Confidentiality: participants will not be named in the research, and it will not be possible to identify them from the research findings. Only the facilitator/researcher will have access to focus group notes/transcripts. As participants, you will need to ensure that you do not repeat any of the discussion outside the focus group setting, to maintain the confidentiality/anonymity of the other participants.

Check whether participants have any questions, and remind them that they are free to leave at any time and do not have to provide a reason.

Questions

Introductory questions:

Participants to introduce themselves and their occupational status (they will have already provided this, it's more of a warm up).

Domestic life:

What do you do during the day?

- Do you go to work, do you come to sessions at the community centre, etc?

- What kinds of things do you do in the house? E.g. cooking cleaning, childcare, etc
- Who does most of the housework? Who does the cleaning, who does the cooking, who looks after the children, etc?

What does your husband do during the day?

Does he work?

Experience of employment

Tell me about your experience of employment:

- Are you currently in employment/seeking employment? Have you ever worked
 - If yes, can you tell me a bit more about finding a job/looking for a job etc?
 - Was it easy or difficult to find a job? Or do you think it is easy or difficult to find a job?
- Do you think it's more difficult for women to find work than men?
- Do you think some ethnic groups find it harder to gain employment than others?

Education/Training/Qualifications

Can you tell me about your experience of education?

- Were you educated in the UK?
- What was the highest qualification you obtained?

If you have qualifications, have they helped you to find a job?

- Have you done any training specific to your career?
- Have you done any unpaid work experience?

Local labour market:

What can you tell me about the kinds of work available where you live?

How do you think your area compares to other parts of the UK?
 Better/Worse/about the same?

What could be done to make it easier to find work? Does anything need to be done?

- Do you know what services are available to help you, and have you used them? Could make this specific to the centre that I'm visiting

Specific barriers/concluding comments:

What do you think is the best way to help women who want to gain employment?

- Are there any services that could be provided/improved?

Gatekeeper interview schedule

This is a schedule for interviews with gatekeepers. The questions do not have to be asked verbatim or in the order they are presented; if the researcher is satisfied the topic has already been discussed without participants being prompted, they may choose to exclude the question. The main questions are in bold, prompts are below in italic.

Introduction

Researcher to introduce themselves.

Remind interviewee of the aims of the project: to explore the link between ethnicity, location, and labour market participation in Leeds and Kirklees.

Check whether interviewee has any questions, and remind them that they are free to leave at any time and do not have to provide a reason.

Can you tell me about your charity/service/etc, and what you do?

- Specifically what services do you provide to Pakistani women/how many of the women using your service are Pakistani?

What do you know about Pakistani womens' participation in employment?

How do you think experiences [of Pakistani women participating in the labour market] in Leeds/Kirklees compare to experiences in the rest of the UK?

- Is there a difference? Is it better or worse?
- What do you think the area provides in terms of support/guidance/training for Pakistani women who wish to participate in the labour market?

What do you think are the main barriers faced by Pakistani women who wish to participate in the labour market?

Give examples if necessary.

What do you think needs to be done to assist Pakistani women who would like to participate in the labour market?

- What does your charity/service do?
- Do you know about any other relevant charities/services?

Appendix C Information sheet



Labour market experiences of white and Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees:

Exploring gender, ethnicity and location

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide if you would like to participate, it is important you understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please read the following information carefully, and ask if anything is not clear or if you would like more information. Please take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

For any enquiries, please contact Daisy Payne, D.Payne@Leeds.ac.uk/07921072264

The purpose of the project

The purpose of this project is to explore how gender, ethnicity, and location affect employment, focusing on white British and Pakistani women in Leeds and Kirklees.

You have been invited to participate because your views would be beneficial to the research project.

Do I have to take part?

Participating in this research is voluntary. You do not have to participate, and may withdraw from the project at any time, until 3 months prior to its completion (01/07/2016). If you decide to take part, you will be asked to sign a consent form. Once you have done this, you may still withdraw from the research if you wish. You do not have to give a reason for withdrawing from the research.

What do I have to do?

If you decide to take part, you will be required to attend an interview, either alone or in a small group. Daisy will run the interview, and may be accompanied by a colleague from the University of Leeds. You will not need to do any preparation prior to this discussion, and there are no right or wrong answers. Daisy will either record the interview, or take notes – this is up to you.

It is hoped that this work will give you an opportunity to speak out about employment issues that affect you, and that you will find it rewarding to participate in the project. If you wish, you will be provided with a summary of the key findings of the research, once the thesis has been submitted.

Your participation in this project will be kept confidential, where possible. Although you may be quoted in the research, you will not be referred to by your real name, and no-one will be able to identify you.

Appendix D Consent form

Consent to take part in:

Pakistani women in the labour market: Exploring structure, choice, and constraint

	Add your initials next to the statement if you agree
I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet explaining the above research project and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the project.	
I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without there being any negative consequences. In addition, should I not wish to answer any particular question or questions, I am free to decline.	
I understand that, should I withdraw, I will need to discuss with the researcher what I would like them to do with any data collected up to the point of withdrawal (for example, whether the data should be destroyed or whether the research can still use the data already collected).	
I understand that it may not be possible for me to withdraw from this research 3 months prior to submission of the PhD thesis (01/07/2016).	
I give permission for members of the research team to have access to my anonymised responses. I understand that my name will not be linked with the research materials, and I will not be identified or identifiable in the report or reports that result from the research.	
I understand that my responses will be kept strictly confidential.	
I agree for the data collected from me to be used in relevant future research in an anonymised form.	
I agree to take part in the above research project and will inform the lead researcher should my contact details change.	

Name of participant	
Participant's signature	
Date	
Name of lead researcher	Daisy Payne
Signature	
Date*	

^{*}To be signed and dated in the presence of the participant.

Once this has been signed by all parties the participant should receive a copy of the signed and dated participant consent form, the letter/ pre-written script/ information sheet and any other written information provided to the participants. A copy of the signed and dated consent form should be kept with the project's main documents which must be kept in a secure location.

Appendix E Demographic Questionnaire

You have been given this questionnaire to complete because you have
consented to participate in an interview to discuss your experiences of
employment. The questionnaire asks for some information about you which
will help with the running of the focus groups, as well as contributing to the
research. This will be confidential, and will only be kept until the focus
group data has been analysed. If you have any concerns about any of the
questions, please do not hesitate to contact me, D.Payne@Leeds.ac.uk .
You do not have to respond to any questions you feel uncomfortable with.
Name:
Age
Marital status:
Occupation:
If you are currently in employment, do you work full-time or part-time?
Do you have any dependent children?
If yes, how many?

Do you have any other caring responsibilities for adults or children?

Country of birth:					
Religion:					
Highest qualification level (please circle):					
No qualifications	GCSE	AS/A level	Degree		
Higher degree (PG	SCE, MA,	PhD) Othe	r (please specify):		